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EXHIBIT A 

APPLICATION OF PATHNET, INC. 
FOR AUTHORITY TO PROVIDE 

ALTERNATIVE LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE 
WITHIN THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CAPABILITY 

Pathnet intends to offer point-to-point private line services ranging from DS-0 to 
OC-n and TDM- and DSL-based special access services. Pathnet also plans to offer 
digital subscriber line (xDSL) services to Internet service providers. Pathnet further 
plans to offer link and extended link (including transport) services connecting other 
telecommunications providers’ switches to their end users. Pathnet plans to provide these 
services through its own facilities or in combination with the facilities of other carriers. 
Pathnet will provide these services throughout the area that exactly corresponds to the 
geographic boundary of the State of Florida. 

Pathnet has sufficient financial capability to provide and maintain the proposed 
services throughout the State of Florida. Pathnet also has sufficient financial capability to 
meet any lease or ownership obligations i t  may incur in  providing these services. In 
support thereof, Pathnet provides the following: 

1.  Form I 0 -K ,  including audited financial statements, filed with the Securities 
Exchange Commission for the year ending December 3 1, 1998 

2. Fonn 10-Q filed with the Securities Exchange Commission for the quarter ending 
June 30, I909 

3. Audited Financial Reports for 1996 and 1997 

As of Junc 30, 1999, Pathnet had approximately $204.6 million in cash, cash 
equivalents and marketable securities classified as available for sale to fund future 
operations, including Pathnet’s future operations in the State of Florida. Pathnet expects 
that these resources will be sufficient to fund the implementation of its business plan 
through June 30, 2000. 
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Certain statements i n  this Report. in future tilings by the Company n i i h  the Securities and Evchange Conimisslon. in ihe Company's 
press relcasc'i ~ i i d  i n  oral atei i ients made by or with the approval o f  an authorized evecut i~e officer o f  the Company consrirute 
fonvard-loohinp .itJtcmcnt'i. including statements hich can be identified by the use of forward-looking rcrniinology such a j  
"belie\c.s," 'Jnricipcites." "cvpects." "may." "v.ill." or "should" or the negatlbe of  such terminology or othcr t Liriations on such 
terminology or comparable terminology. or by discussrons o f  strategies that involve risks and uncertainties. ,411 statementj other Than 
statements of historical facts in this Report. including, ir ithout limitation. such statements under the caption "Management's Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results o f  Operations." regarding the Company or any of the transactions described In this 
Report or the tiniing. financing. strategies and effects of such transaction. are forward-looking statements. Although the Company 
beliebes thJ1 the cvpectations reflected in such fonrard-looking statements are reasonable, i t  can give no assurmce that such 
expectations \ b i l l  proie to be correct. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from eypectations include. 
without limitation. [hose described in conjunction i r i th  the fonvard-looking statements in this Report. as well as the amount o f  capital 
needed to deploy the Company's network: the Company's substantial leverage and i ts  need to service i ts  indebtedness: the restrictions 
imposed by the Company's current and possible future financing arrangements: the ability of the Company to successfully manage the 
cost-effective and tiniely completion o f  i ts network and its ability to attract and retain customers for i t s  products 2nd services, the 
ability o f  the Company to implement i ts newly expanded business plan; the ability o f  the Company to retain and attract relationships 
with the incumbent ohners o f  the telecommunications assets with which the Company expects to build i t s  network: the abtlity of  the 
Company to obtain and maintain rights-of-way for the deployment o f  i ts network; the Company's ability to retain and attract key 
management and orher personnel as \vel1 as the Company's ability to manage the rapid expansion of its business and operations: the 
Company's ability to compete in the highly competitive telecommunications industry in te rms of price. service, rcliability and 
technology; the Company's dependence on the reliability of its network equipment. i ts reliance on key suppliers o f  network equipment 
and the risk that i t s  technology w i l l  become obsolete or otherwise not economically viable; and the Company's ability to conduct i ts  
business in ;1 regulated environment. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis o f  Financial Condition and Results o f  Operations - 
Risk Factors." The Company does not intend to update these forward-looking statements. 

I 

I .  BUSINESS 

OVPANY 

. Inc ("Pathnet" or the "Company") was founded in 1995 and i s  a leading "carrier's camier" providing high-qudity, low-cost, digitdl 
munications capacity to under-served and second- and third-tier U S markets The Company's strategy i s  to partner with ouners of  
munications assets, including utility, pipeline and railroad companies ("Incumbents"), to upgrade and aggregate existing infrastructure to 
.the-art SONET network The Company currently has approximately 2,000 route miles of completed network. approrimdtelv 5,000 route 
.network under construction and approximately 10.000 route miles of network under contract The Company or ig indly focused i ts  nctuork 
mcnt efforts on wireless telecommunicdtions technology 
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:r. JS a result o f  customer dciiiantl 2nd market oppoi t t in i ty .  the Conlpany cvpandcd the scope o f  i t s  cvist ing wireless netirork bu j inc j j  jtrategy 
iary 1999 to include fiber optic technology part o f the  C'oinpany's o\erdll digital teleconimunications network. ,As a result. thc Company I S  

cr l imiting the de\clopment ot' i t 5  strategic nct\rork rclationships to incumbents with wireless assets The Company's expanded product line 
ible i t  to dcli\er high bandnidth j cn ices  .IS \ \ .el l  JS dark and dl111 fiber to inter-cuchange carriers ("IXCS"). local exchange carriers, 1ntcmc.t 
probiders ("ISPs"). Regiondl Bell Operating Companies ("RBOCs"). cellular operators and resellers (collectiLely. "Trtlecom Scr\ i c e  

rs"). The bandwidth and dark and dim fiber abailablc on selected routes resulting from deployment o f  Pathnet's integrated netxork is intended 
I C  these Telecom Service Providers to ( I )  dcli\er ddvanccd services to arcas thar are currently under-served by digital nctivorks. ( 1 1 )  aggreg3tc 
‘ram Ci t i es  in second- and third-tier markets and ( 1 1 1 )  obtain dedicated network services in such markets. In addition. upon obtaining the 
e rights-of-\say and othcr required pemiits and licenses. the Company \\ill be able to offer customized builds to such Telccom Sew ice  

:rs. 

impany has held meetings wi th oker 300  potential strategic pdrmcrs ibho own telecommunications assets AS  o f  December 3 1  1908 nine 
5 entities habe entered into ten binding agreements relating to the in i t id  design and construction o f  approximately 10,000 route miles o f  digital 
< Eight o f  these binding agreements are long-term Fixed Point Micro\\ave Services Agreements ("FP,M Agreements") IC ith arfilidtes ot 
ton Northern Sdnta Fe Railroad. Enron. lddho Pouer Company Northcdst Missouri Electric Cooperatibe, lvorthem Indian4 Public Serbice 
ny, Texaco and with tu0 atfiliatcs o f  KN Energy The ninth dgreement i s  a binding t e r m  sheet with Americdn Toiber Corporation. irhich 
s certain telecommunications rlssets including certdin assets divested by CSX Railroad, A R C 0  Pipeline and M C I  WorldCom, Inc ( M C I  ) to 
the Company to utilize tower assets and other facilities The tenth agreement i s  a tower lease agreement with Titan Towers In addition to 
ng i t s  wireless and fiber network to serve under-served and second- dnd third-tier markets by forming long-term relationships with 3trategic 

5, the Company may pursue opportunities to acquire or deploy complementary telecommunications assets or technologies and to 5erbe othcr 
j See "Risk Factors -- Risks o f  Completing the Company's Network. Market Acceptance " 

UCTS AND SERVICES 

Impany offers dedicated pnvdte line access for voice. ddta and video transmission in DS-I ,  DS-3 and OC-3 increments on the wireless 
of  i t s  network and w i l l  offer Iuger  increments o f  dedicated private line dccess on the fiber portion of its network In dddition to bandwidth 

s, the Company plans to offer dark dnd d im fiber to customers Management believes this flexibility together with the scope o f  the Compmy's 
ted wireless and fiber network w i l l  appeal ro d broad vdriety ofcustomers 

ompany also offers telecommunicdtions project management. provisioning services and other customer services The Company expects to 
i a state-of-the-dn operating support system capable o f  supporting on-line order entry and remote circuit provisioning The Company also 
i to employ information systems that permit customers to monitor network quality using benchmarks such as network uptime, mean time to 
installation intervals, timeliness o f  b i l l ing dnd network operating center ("NOC") responsiveness The Company expects that i t s  state-of-the- 
IC'' wi l l  permit pro- 
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n i c e  monitoriny m d  j y j t cm manJgcmcnt on a 1-1 hours per day. m e n  days per week basis The Company expects to combine ner\+ork 
lent. bil l ing and customer c m  on m integrated platform to offer i t s  customers a single point o f  contact. 

OPlIENT OF THE COXIP:\NY'S N E T W O R K  

npany i s  in Larious stages o f  eLaluating and negotiating several agreements and arrangements relating to the deployment o f  i t s  netirork 
;. but not limited to. agreements to obtain rights-of-way, co-development and other partnering arrangements. There can be no assurance. 
, that any of  such potential relationships wil l result in binding agreements or that any o f  the transactions currently being evaluated ~ c i l l  be 
nated. See "Risk Factors- Risks o f  Completing the Company's Network: Market Acceptance." 

b 1  EN T S L P P L Y ,A G R E  E A I E N  'TS 

to a Vaster 4greement entered into by the Company and NEC America. inc and i t  affiliates ("NEC") on August 8. 1997. as amended, 
pany agreed to purchase from NEC by December 3 I ,  2002 a total of 5200 mill ion worth of certain equipment, services and licensed soft\\Jre 
ed by the Company in i ts  network under pricing and payment te rms that the Company believes are favorable based on the prices o f  
ble products in other markets Howerer, in the event the Company fails to purchase all o f  such equipment. NEC has reserved the right to 
J such favorable pricing levels NEC warrants the equipment against defects for three years and has agreed promptly to repair or replace 
: equipment NEC hi11 also maintain for the Company's benefit, a stock o f  critical spare parts for up to IS years The Company's agreement 
C provides for fixed prices during the first three years o f  i t s  t e r m  In addition. pursuant to a Purchase Agreement between Andrew 
ion ("Andrew") and the Company, the Company agreed exclusively to recommend to the Incumbents certain products manufactured by 
and Andrew agreed to sell such products to incumbents and the Company for a three-year period, renewable for two additional one-)iear 
i t  the option of the Company The Company's agreement with Andrew generally provides for discounted pricing based on projected order 

to a supply agreement entered into by the Company and Lucent Technologies ("Lucent") on December 18, 1998, the Company agreed that 
Jould be the Company's exclusive supplier o f  fiber optic cable for i t s  nationwide, Loice and data network The agreement i s  init ially valued at 
l l ion and could grow up to S2 I bil l ion over the l i f e  o f  the seven-year agreement As part o f  the supply agreement, Lucent w i l l  provide a 
del o f  support, including fiber optic equipment, network planning and design and technical and marketing support Certain materiat t e r m s  o f  
pany's agreements with Lucent are currently under review by Lucent m d  the Company There can be no assurance that the transactions 
lated by this supply agreement \.rill be consummated or consummatcd on the t e r m s  and conditions described above Lucent has dlso agreed 
l e  equipment financing in  connection with this supply agreement See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of  Financial Condition and 
I f  Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources" and 'Rish Factors - Reliance on Lucent - Lucent Agreements " 
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. L ECTC.4 L PROPERTY 

mpank uses the name PJthnct J\ i t s  primarv husincss n m e  and service mdrk and has registered that name K i th  the Lnited S t j t e s  Patent 
idemark Officc On f - cb rum 2 0  I O O S  the Company tiled an dpplication to register i t s  scr\icc mark ' A  UETLbORK OF OPPORTL\ITiES 
jnited States Patent m d  T r a d c r n d  O t f i i e  for coinnitmications ,er\ices n m c l y  establishing and operating a neWorh through the use o f  fiber 
i d  high capacity digitdl radio cquipmcnt Kcgistrdtion o f  such SerLicc mdrh i s  cvpectcd by the end o f  I990 The Company reasonably bclle\es 
application  ill mature to rcqistrdtion, but there can bc no assurance that such rcgistrdtion \ \ i l l  actually be issued 

)mpany relies upon d conibindtion ot licenses ionfidcntiality dgrccments m d  other contractual covenants to establish and protect i t s  

ogy and other intellectual property rights These rights arc critical to certain Jspects o f  the design. deployment and operation ot the CompJny s 
< The Company currently has no p m n t s  or patent dpplications pcnding There cdn be no assurance that the steps tahen by the Company \bill 
luate to prebent misappropridtion ot i t s  technology or other intellectual property In addition. the Company depends on the use of intellectudl 
y of others, including the hdrdbare and software used to conwuct. operate and maintain i t s  network Although the Company bellekes that i t s  
s as currently conducted does not intringc on the valid proprietary rights o f  others, there cdn be no assurdnce that third P J ~ I C S  \\il l not assert 
" a t  claims against the Company or that. in the event o f  an unfavorable ruling on such claim, a license or similar agreement to utili/c 
ogy rclied upon by the Company in the conduct o f  i t s  business wi l l  be abailable to the Company on reasonable t e r m s  The Company s 
ent supply contracts u i t h  Lucent. NEC and Andrew provide for indemnification by the supplier to the Company for intellectual propertv 
ment  claims regarding the suppliers' equipment In the w e  o f  the agreement with Andrew. however, such indemnification i s  limited to the 
e price paid for the particular equipment 

IMERS AND SALES AND MARKETING STRATEGY 

mpany primarily targets Tclccom Service Providers as well as smaller carriers and large end-users The Company's marketing focus IS to 
capacity to f i l l  gaps in  i t s  customers' networks. including dedicated network through the sale of dark fiber, (11) provide altemative capacity to 

ent local exchange carriers ("ILECs"). and ( i i i )  capture demand from Telecom Service Providers for the Company's products. including 
j t h  services. as a lower cost provider The Company markets i ts  network to major lXCs such as AT&T Corp ("AT&T"), iMCl and Sprint 
ition ("Sprint") to satisfy their cxpanding nctuork requirements The Company expects that i t  w i l l  be well positioned to provide capacity to 
mand in diverse geographic areas 

npany believes there w i l l  be significant opportunities to market i t s  capacity to RBOCs when they commence long distance service outside o f  
r e n t  service areas Thc Company also plans to market the Company's network to RBOCs or other ILECs for use within their own scrvice 
he Company belieces ILECs wi l l  be attracted to the Company's ability to provide supplemental capacity on a Icased basis. pcrmitting thcm 
:we capital and providing low-cost redundancv alternative The Company believes i ts  network w i l l  allow RBOCs and ILECs to focus on 
i t ies while providing small communities within their service areas with broadband connectivity 
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i ipJny cvpects that mobile \\ireless operators will be attracted to [he Company's ability to provide back h,iul c;~pacity from remote nct\\ork 
i connect i t s  mobilc j\bitchcs i r i th  backbone transport capacity The Company also intends to markct i t s  capacity to competitiLc a c c c j s  
s Jnd competitite local e\changc cxr ic rs  ("CLECs") tvho can utilize the Compnny's network to interconnect \arious st'r\icc areas on an 
,T,\ and inter-LATA basis. .Additionally the Company w i l l  market capacity to lSPs to facilitate the creation o f  additional points o f  presence 
) tor local dial-up connectivity to thc ISPs' customer base. thereby eliininating the ISPs' dependence on IXCs for capacity 

December 3 1 .  I998 the Company \\as probiding commercial telecommunications sercice to three customers \ k i t h  seicral ddditioml 
rs awaiting installation 4s the Company continues to deploy i t s  nationwide netivork and expand i t s  products and services to include dark m d  
'r 2s \\ell as high bandwidth services, the Company expects that i t s  customer base w i l l  materially-grow Although the Company currently 
some retenue from the sale o f  bandwidth serbices. the majority o f  the Company's revenues to date ha\e been deribed from construction 
nent and advisory serbices For a statement o f  the Company's rekenue and operating results for each o f  the three years ended December 3 I .  
) V 7  and 1996. see Consolidated Statement o f  Operations " 

communications industry i s  highly competitive In panicular. price competition in the carrier's carrier market has generally been intense and 
red to increase The Company competes and expects to compete with numerous competitors who have substantially greater financial and 
I resources, long-standing relationships with their customers and potential to subsidize competitive services from less competitike s e n  i ce  
, and from federal universal service subsidies Such competitors may be operators o f  existing or newly deployed hireline or ivireless 
nunications netuorks The Company w i l l  also face intense competition due to an increased supply o f  telecommunications capacity. the 
f deregulation and the development o f  new technologies, including technologies that m i l l  increase the capacity o f  existing networks 

npany anticipdtes that prices for i t s  carrier's carrier services w i l l  continue to decline ober the next several years The Company i s  m a r e  that 
ong distance carriers are expanding their capacity and believes that other long distance carriers, as well as potential new entrants to the 

are constructing new long distance transmission networks in the United States I f  industry capacity expansion results in capacity that 
o\erall demand along the Company's routes, m e r e  additional pricing pressure could develop As a result the Company could face dramatic 
,tanti31 price reductions Such pricing pressure could have a material adkerse effect on the business, financial condition and results of 
is o f  the Company See "Risk Factors Competition. Pncing Pressures " 

e Company generally w i l l  not compete with Telecom Senice Providers for end-user customers, the Company may compete, on certain 
1s a carrier's carrier with long distance carriers such as AT&T, M C I  and Sprint and operators o f  fiber optic systems such as I X C  
iicdtions, Inc ~ The Williams Companies Inc , Qwest Communications International Inc and Level 3 Communications Inc , who would 
e be the Company's customers in under-served and second- and third-tier markets The Company w i l l  also face competition increasingly in 
haul market from local exchange carriers, regional network providers, resellers. sdtellite carriers, public utilities and cable companies In 
r certain ILECs and CLECs are allowed to provide inter-LATA long distance 
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Furthermore. R B O C j  \L i l l  be ~ I l o ~ e d  to pro\ ide intcr-1A'r.A long distance scrvices N ithin their regions after mcetiny certain rcgularory 
nents intended to foster opportuniiics for local tclcphonc competition. Certain RUOCs hdie requested regulatory Approbal to pro\ ide inter- 
data s e n i c e s  ibithin their resioiis rhc  RBOCs a l r c d y  habc extens i re  fiber optic cable. sbbitching. and other network facilities in their 
ve  regions that can be used for Ions di.;tance services After a waiting period. In addition. other new competitors may build additional fibcr 
I in the geographic areas serwd and to be served by the Company See "Risk Factors --Competition; Pricing Pressures." 

nore. although the Company bellekes i t s  strategy v,iII pro\ide i t  with a cost advantage, there can be no assurance that technolosical 
ments uill not result in competitors achieving even grcatcr cost efficiency and therefore a competitive advantage. See "Risk Factors - -  Risk 
1 Tech no logical C h an g cs .  " 

iu ing  trend toward business combinaiions and strategic alliances in the telecommunications industry may create stronger competitors to the 
iy, as the resulting firms and alliances are l ikely to have significant technological, marketing and financing resources greater than thosc 
e to the Company. See "Risk Factors - -  Competition; Pricing Pressures." 

ecember 31, 1998, the Company hdd 144 employees. none o f  h h o m  was represented by a union or covered by a collectice bargaining 
nt. The Company believes that i t s  relationship with i t s  employees i s  good In connection with the construction and maintenance o f  i t s  
and the conduct o f  i t s  other operations. the Company uses third party contractors. some o f  whose employees mdy be represented by unions 

ed by collective bargaining agreements 

. PROPERTIES 

of i t s  network. the Company holds leasehold interests or licenses in the land, towers, shelters and other facilities located at each 
nt's sites at which the Company has an agreement and h i l l  have indefeasible rights to use, leasehold dnd other real estate interests pursuant 
eements with independent tower companies owners o f  rights-of-way and other owners o f  telecommunications assets The Company expects 
license and obtain additional real estate rights to additional facilities from Incumbents, owners o f  rights-of-way and other ohners of  

nunications assets in connection with the planned expansion o f  i t s  digital network 

ipany leases i ts  corporate headquarters space in Washington, D C from 671 5 Kenilworth Avenue General Partnership, a general partnership 
David Schaeffer, a director o f  the Compdny. is Generdl Partner (the "Kenilworth Partnership"), pursuant to d Lease Agreement between the 

y dnd the Kenilworth Pdrtnership, ddted as o f  August 9, I997 (the "Headquarters Lease") The Headquarters Lease expires on August 3 I ,  
j can be renewed at the option o f  the Company for two additional one-year periods on the same terms and conditions See 'Certain 
ships and Related Transactions-Lease from the Kenilworth Partnership " The Company also leases office space in  Richardson, Texas. 
I. Texas, and Independence, Kansas pursuant to leases that expire in 2003, 2001 and 2000, respectively 

ipany believes that all o f  i t s  properties are well maintained 
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Jn licensing and orher reguldory proceedings described undcr "Risk Factors--Regulation," the Company is not currently a p u t y  to Jny I C ~ L I I  
ngs, nhich. indi i  idually or in the dggregate. the Company bclicles \+ill hake a material adlerse effect on the Company's finmcial condition. 
foperations and cash tlo\\s. 

. SII'B\IISSION OF 1IATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

he founh quarter of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form IO-K. the Company held a special meeting of  the Stockholders 
ber 20. 19% ,At such meeting, the following matters were approved by holders o f  the Company's common stock. par value S . 0 1  per share 
immon Stock"). Series h Convenible Preferred Stock, Series B Convertible Preferred Stock and Series C Convertible Preferred Stock 
d y  the "Stockholders") Loting together as a single class. by the votes indicated below: 

,pproval o f  setera1 asreemcnts and arrangements made in the ordinary course o f  the Company's business: For 17.1 I j ,O8I  Against. 0 
I . 6 j  15092, 

( 1 1 )  Approkal o f the  hiring certain new employees For 17.1 15,081 Agdinst 0 Abstain 1,651,991 

On December 2 ,  1998. the Company held a special meeting o f  the Stockholders where the following matters were Jpproved by 
the Stockholders, Loting together as a single class. by the votes indicated below 

proval o f a  loan agreement with K N  Energy For 14,671.900, Against 0, Abstain 4.095.1 73 

Jproval o f  a three-way transaction with K N  Energy, American Tower Corporation and the Company For 14,671,900. Against 0. 
1.095, I73 

proval of a Tower Lease Agreement with Titan Towers. For I 1,771,900. Against: 2,900,000, Abstain: 4,095. I73 

iproval o f  a f leet  leasing arrangement for automobile rentals. For 14,671,900, Against: 0, Abstain. 4,095. I73 

p r o d  of  the grant o f  stock option awards to certain employees o f  the Company For 14,399,344, Against 0. Abstain 4,367,729 

(v i )  
Corporation For I 1,199,344, Agdinst 2,000,000, Abstain 4,367,729 See Exhibits 3 1 and 3 2 attached to this Report 

On December 7, 1998. the Company solicited written consents from the holders o f  its Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. 5Cries 
B Convertible Preferred Stock and Series C Convertible Preferred 

Approval o f  certain amendments to the Company's Certificate o f  lncorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws of the 
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ollccti\ely. the "Preferred Stockholders") to ( 1 )  l tpprotc ccrfltin authoriicd signatories for the transfer and v+iihdrauJl a i  [he Company's iunds  
to approhe the pahnicnt o f  ltn in\oicc for Ic'gltI scr\iccs. hjf'li'cliLL' December 7. 1998, the Company rcceibcd brrirten consents dpprohin? such 
Is from Preferred Stockholders rcprcscntins 10 .7X .6  10 \ o [ e s  

ember 18. 1998. the Company solicited written consents from the Preferred Stockholders to approve the supply ltgreemenr bet\veen thc 
iy  and Lucent and related Commitment Letter by and bcluccn the Company and Lucent signed on December 14, 1998 ( the "Commirnient 
setting forth the proposed terms of equipment financing by Lucent. See "Business -- Equipment Supply .qgreements." Effectibc. December 
8. the Company recciked written consents appro\ ins such proposals from Preferred Stockholders representing I 3 . m . 8 5 3  \ otes i\ i t h  
d Stockholders reprcsenting 2,554$862 bores abstaining. 

ith Preferred Stockholders represenring j~ 144. I o 5  to tes  abstaining. 
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j. \ I - tRKET FOR R E G I S T R  \hT 'S  COtl \ ION EQl'ITV \&I) R E L A T E D  S T O C K H O L D E R  h I A T T E R S  

mpany has au thor ixd  hO.OO0.000 shares o f  Common Stock for \L hich there i s  no established public trading market. As of  March 11, 1000. 
ere 3 record holders of thc Company's Common Stock. A S  ot' December !I. 1998, srock option awards to purchase 2,885,883 sharcs o f  
in Stock werc outstanding. 

has not paid J n y  cash d i ~  idends on i t s  Common Stock in the past and does not anticipate paying any cash dividends on i t s  Common Stock in 
,seeable future. Funher. [he terms o f  the Indenture by And b m e e n  the Company and The Bank o f  New York. dated h p r i l  8, I998 (the 
Jre") relating to the Company's I 7  I 4% Senior Notes due 7008 restrict the ability of the Company to pay dividends on the Common Stock. JS 

:d in Management's Discussion m d  Analysis o f  Financial Condition and Results o f  Operations. as well as in Note I I to the Company's 
1 1  Statements included in Item 1-1 c lswhere in this Annual Report on Form IO-K. 

i. S E L E C T E D  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  D A T A  

ou ing  consolidated balance sheet data AS o f  December 3 I ,  I907 and 1998 and statement o f  operations data for the t \ce lLc  months ended 
er 31. 1996. 1997 m d  I908 and the period August 2 5 .  I995 (date of inception) to December 31, 1998. habe been dcriked from the 
iy's financial statements and the notes thereto, included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form IO-K,  which have been audited by 
terhouseCoopers LLP. independent accountants, as stated in their report included herein Such summary statement o f  operations and balance 
ta should be read in conjunction with such audited financial statements and the notes thereto and "Management's Discussion and Analysis o f  
iI Condition and Results o f  Operations " The following consolidated balance sheet data as o f  December 3 I ,  1995 and 1996 and statements of 
ns data for the period August 25, I995 (date of  inception) to December 31, 1998 have been derived from the Company's audited financial 
i t s  which are not included in this Annual Report on Form IO-K. which have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

1 1  
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TE\I 5. \I-\RKET FOR RECISTR lhT'5  CO\I\ION EQUITY A X D  RELATED STOCKHOLDER \lATTERS 

he Company has authorized 00 000 000 s h m s  o f  Common Stock for ibhich there i s  no established public trading market As ot March I 2  I WO 
iere  ere 3 record holders of the Co inpmys Common Stock As o f  December 31, 1998, stock option dudrds to purchase 2 S S j  883 5hjrcs o t  
ommon Stock irere outstanding 

Jthnet hJs not paid a n \  cash d i~ idends  on i t s  Common Stock in the past and does not anticipate paying m y  cash dividends on i ts  Common Stock in 
le  foreseeJble future Furthcr. the terms o f  the Indenture by and between the Company and The Bdnk of New York. dated Apr i l  8. 1998 ([he 
ndenture") relating to the Conipmy's I 2  I 4% Senior Notes due 1008 restrict the ability of the Company to pay dividends on the Common Stock. JS 
:scribed in Mmagenicnt's Discussion and Analysis o f  Financial Condition and Results o f  Operations. as well as in Note I I to the Companys 
nancial Statements included in ltcm I 4  elseiihere in this Annual Report on Form IO-K 

.E>l 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA 

le following consoliddted balance sheet data JS o f  December 31, 1997 and 1998 and statement o f  operations data for the twel\e months cnded 
:cember 31. 1996? 1997 and I998 and the period August 2 5 ,  1995 (date of Inception) to December 31,  1998. hake been deri\ed from the 
impany's financial statements and the notes thereto. included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which have been audited by 
icewaterhouseCoopers LLP. independent accouniants, as stated in their report included herein Such summary statement of operations and balmce 
:et data should be read in conjunction with such audited financial statements and the notes thereto and "Mdnagement's Discussion and Analysis of' 
iancial Condition and Results of Operations " The following consolidated balance sheet data as of December 3 I ,  1995 and 1996 and statements o f  
:rations data for the period August 25.  I995 (date of inception) to December 3 I, I998 have been derived from the Company's audited financial 
tements which are not included in this Annual Report on Form IO-K, which have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
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The I096 expense relates to the beneficial conversion feature o f  a loan at December 3 1, I996 

\ I  7. XIANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION A N D  ANALYSIS  O F  FINANCIAL CONDITION A N D  RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

I'ompany i s  a leading carrier's carrier providing high-quality. low-cost, digital telecommunications capacity to under-served and second- m d  
.ticr U :',. r,iarkcts. 

'ompmy's business commenced on August 25, 1995 and has been funded primarily through equity investments by the Company's stockholders 
pribafe plJccment (the "Debt Offering") in Apr i l  1998 o f  350,000 units (the "Units"), consisting o f  I2  114% Senior Notes (the "Restricted 

, " )  m d  barrants (the "Warrants") to purchase shares o f  Common Stock On October 2, 1998, the Company completed an exchange (the 
u n g e  Offer") of a l l  outstanding Restricted Notes for S350,000,000 aggregate principal amount of I2  1/4% Senior Notes due 2008 which ha\e 
cgistcred under the 

12 



;ecuritics .Act o f  193.3. 
'Senior Sotes." 

aniendcd ( t h e  "Registered Notes"). The Restricted Notes and the Registered Notes are collecti\ely referred to herein 2s the 

h e  to Pathnet's focus to da te  on t h c l o p i n g  i t s  netbbork. the majority o f  i t s  rebenues reflect certain consulting and project management xrLice) in 
onnection \kith the design. h c l o p n i e n t  and construction o f  digital microwake infrastructure The remainins portion o f  i t s  rebenues h i s  resulted 
rom the sale o f  banduidth x n i i c s  along i t s  net\vor;k The Company has ~ I s o  been engaged in the acquisition of telecommunications nct\\orh 
qtiipment. the debelopment ot opcrding systems. the design and construction o f  the YOC. capital raising and the hiring o f  management and other 
ey  personnel The Company hJs experienced significdnt operating and net losses dnd negatiLe operating cash flow to date and erpccts to continue to 
vperience operating and net losses and negative operdting cash flow until such time as i t  i s  able to generate rebenue sufficient to co ic r  i t s  operating 
vpenses See 'Rish Fx to rs  - jubstantid LeLerage. Abil ity to Service Debt, Restrictibe Covenants " 

ETWORK-RELATED COSTS 

he limited incremental cost of operating and maintaining the wireless portion o f  Pathnet's network. as \vel1 as the financial support o f  Incumbents 
ho \ \ i l l  be responsible for J significdnt portion o f  such operating and maintenance costs. are expected to endble the Company to enjoy operdting 
\erase with respect to the wireless portion o f  Pathnqt's netbbork The Company expects to maintain similar operating leberage with respect to the 
ier portion o f  i t s  network through the use o f  co-debelopment and partnering arrangements. ho\\e\er. there can be no assurance that the Company 
i l l  be able to achieve these operating efficiencies through the use o f  these arrangements The Companys primary netuork operating costs Jre 
pected to be the costs o f  maintenance, provisioning o f  new circuits, interconnection and operation of the NOC See "Risk Factors - Risks o f  
)mpleting the Company's Network, Market Acceptance. Risks Related to Expansion in Strategy, Need to Obtain and Maintain Rights o f  Way. 
sks Relating to Interconnection ' 

X T  OF OPERATIONS 

hnet wi l l  incur costs common to all telecommun~cations providers, including customer service and technical support, information systems, 
l ing and collections. general mamgement and overhead expenses As a facilities-based carrier's carrier, the Company will differ from non- 
ilities-based Telecom Serbice Providers in the scope and complexity o f  systems supporting i ts  business and network The Company anticipates 
t the vast majority o f  i t s  customers w i l l  be Telecom Service Providers purchasing wholesale pribate line transport capacity across multiple 
t i o m  ot the Company's network As such, the Company believes that i t  w i l l  be able to maintain a relatively low ratio o f  overhead expenses to 
enues compared to other Telecom Service Providers 

:s and Mdrketing Costs To attract and retain customers for the Company's digital netbork, the Company has built a sales team that includes a 
c t  national accounts sales force a regional sales force and a sales force dedicated to alternate channels In addition, the Company i s  assembling a 
tralized marketing organitation to focus on product development, market analysis and pricing strategies, as well as customer communications. 
Iic relations. and branding 

ninistration Costs The Compmy's general and administrative costs wi l l  include expenses typical o f  other telecommunications s e n  i ce  
iders, including infrastructure costs, iustomer care, 
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i i l l ing, corporate administration. Jnd human resources. The Company expects that these costs * i l l  grou significantly as i t  cxpands opcrJtions 
Risk Factors - Significant C ~ p i t a l  Rcquircincnts; Uncertainty o f  Additional Financing." 

) E P R EC I A T  I ON ,4 N D A 3 I O R T  I Z:\T I ON 

)epreciation of  the completed communications netuork conimenccs \+hen the network equipment i s  ready for i t s  intended use and i s  computed usins 
l e  straight-line method u ith cstimated useful l i k e s  o f  net\+ork d s w s  ranging between three to ten years Depreciation o f  the office Jnd conipiitcr 
quipment and furniture m d  fixtures is computed using thc straight-line method. generally orer three to f i \e  years. based upon estimated useful I i \ e s  
2mmencing when the assets are aLailable for service Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser o f  the useful I ibes  o f  the assets or the 
ase term Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred 

\ P I T A L  E Y P E h D I T L R E S  

i e  Company's principal capital requirements for deployment o f  i ts wireless nenvork include the costs o f  touer enhancement, si te preparation 
Jrk, base digital \\ireless equipment and incremental digital \\ireless equipment The Company's goal i s  to lebcrage the assets o f  Incumbents to ( I )  

i uce  the capital costs associated with developing long haul, digital network capacity as compared to so-called "green field" netuorlr expansion and 
) improke the Company's speed to market due to the elimination o f  s i te preparation activities. including local permitting. po\\cr connection. 
:uring road access and rights-of-way and tower construction The actual allocation o f  costs between the Company and each Incumbent has baried 
th each o f  the Company's agreements with Incumbents executed to date and i s  expected to vary, perhaps significantly, in the future on case-by- 
,e basis 

e primary capital costs o f  deploying the Company's fiber network w i l l  include the costs o f  fiber, rights-of-way, installation and construction \+ark 
1 optronics equipment used in regeneration facilities and to 'light" the fiber The portion o f  these capital costs that wi l l  be borne by the Company 
hat w i l l  be defrayed by consummating dark fiber sales o f  any fiber network segment wi l l  be determined on a case-by-case basis as the Company 
luates and enters into co-development and other partnering arrangements to deploy i ts nationwide digital network 

S I N ESS D E  V E L 0 P M ENT, C A PITA L EX P E N D I T U  R E S  A N D A C Q  U I S  IT I ON S 

m inception through December 3 I ,  1998, expenditures for property, plant and equipment, including construction in progress, totaled S48 8 
ion In addition, the Company incurred significant other costs and expenses in the development o f  i t s  business and has recorded cumulative losses 
n inception through December 3 I, 1998 of S42 4 mill ion See "Risk Factors--Limited History o f  Operations, Operating Losses and Negative Cash 
Y '* 

IUlDlTY A N D  C A P I T A L  R E S O U R C E S  

Company cxpects to continue to generate cash primarily from external financing and, as i t s  network matures, from operdting acti\ities The 
ipany's primary uses o f  cash wi l l  be to fund capital expenditures, working capital and operations Deployment o f  the Company's digital network 
xpansion of'the Company's operations and services w i l l  require significant capital expenditures. Capital 



:\penditures \\ ill be used prim,iril\ for continued deLelopment and construction o f  i t s  net\rork, implementing the Company j sales Jnd nljrhctlng 
,trategy and constructing and iinprob ing the Company s h O C  

)uring the period from August I995 through June 1997, the Company raised an aggregate of S6 mill ion through the issuance 2nd sale o f  its 
,erles A Convertible Preferred Stock and Series B Conbertible Preferred Stock in a Series of pribate placements See 'Certain Reljtionships and 
{elated Transactions - Series \ Purchase Transactions" and -- 'Series B Purchase Agreement" and Note 9 to the Company s Consolidjted F in jnc i j l  
,tatements that appear elseu here in this Annual Report on Form IO-K 

)n October 3 1 ,  1997, the Company consummated a private offering of  939,850 shares o f  Series c Convertible Preferred Stock for approKimately 
10 million, less issuance costs of 538,780 On April 8, 1998, the Company consummated an additional private offering o f  I 879,699 shares of Series 
Conbertible Preferred Stock lor an aggregate purchase price o f  approximately S20 0 mill ion. bringing the total investment by the Compmy s 

rirate equity inLestors to S36 0 nii l l ion 

n April 8. 1998, the Compmv completed the Debt Offering resulting in net proceeds to the Company o f  approximately 5339 5 mil l ion Jttcr 
duction for offering costs o f  approximately S I0  5 mill ion In addition to the Senior Notes, as part o f  the Debt Offering, the Company issued 
arrants to purchase an aggregate of 1.1 16,500 shares of Common Stock The Company used approximately S81 1 mil l ion o f  the net proceeds ot the 

ebt Offering to purchase securities (the "Pledged Securities") in an amount sufficient to provide for payment in full o f  the interest due on the Senior 
ores through April 15. 2000 The Pledged Securities have been pledged as security for repayment o f  the Senior Notes The Company made i t s  first 
terest payment o f  approximdtely SZZ 3 mi l l ion on October 15. 1998 The  Indenture relating to the Senior Notes contains provisions restricting, 
long other things, the incurrence o f  additional indebtedness, the payment o f  dividends and the making ot  restricted payments, the sale o f  assets Jnd 

creation o f  liens 

i September 2 ,  1998, the Company commenced the Exchange Offer to exchange a l l  outstanding Restricted Notes for Registered Notes The 
ms o f  the Registered Notes are identical in  a l l  material respects to the terms of  the Restricted Notes, except that the Registered Notes habe been 
istered under the Securities Act o f  1933 and are generally freely transferable by holders thereof and are issued without any covenant upon the 
mpany regarding registration under the Securities Act o f  1933 The Exchange Offer expired on October 2, 1998 and all outstanding Restricted 
tes were exchanged for Registered Notes 

: net proceeds from the issuance o f  the Units (after purchasing the Pledged Securities) and the issuance and sale o f  the Series C Conbertible 
ferred Stock are being used for capital expenditures. working capital and general corporate purposes, including the funding o f  operating losses 

May 8, 1998, the Company filed A registration statement under the Securities Act o f  1933 with the Securities And Exchange Commission, 
ting to a proposed init ial public offering o f  the Company's Common Stock (the "Initial Public Offering") On August 13, 1998, the Company 
ounced that i t  would postpone the Initial Public Offering due to general weakness in  the capital markets The timing and size o f  any future initial 
tic offering of the Company s Common Stock are dependent on market conditions and there can be no assurance that the Initial Public Offering 
be completed 



s ot December 3 I .  1908 the Company had capital commitments of  approximately S2S million relating to telecommunications j n d  
jnLimsion equipment I t  i s  anricipatcd thJt these wil l be met u i t h  the current rc5ourccs ofthe Compmy 

of Deccmber !I. IOOS, the Compmy had approximately 5217 million abaihble for the funding o f  future operations The CompJnv cvpc~ts 
ese resources are sutficient to fund the implementation o f  the Company's business plan into 2000 After such time. the Company i s  expected to be 
quired to procure additional financing which may include commercial bank borro\rinys. additional vendor financing or the sale or issuJnce ot 
juity or debt securities Thcre can be no Jssurance the Company \ b i l l  be successful in raising sufficient capital or in obtaining jtlLh financing on 
ms acceptable to the Compmy See "Risk FJctors - Significant Capital Requirements, Uncertainty of  Additional Financing ' 

irsuant to the Commitment Letter in connection with the supply agreement between Lucent and the Compmy. Lucent may probide financing 
up to approximately S400 million for fiber purchases for the construction of  the Company's network and may prokide or arrange financing tor 

turf phases o f  such nct\rork Lndcr the terms o f  the Commitment Letter. the total amount o f  financing provided by Lucent \ \ i l l  not evcced S I  S 
lion of the S2 I billion potontial \ due  of  the supply agreement Certain material t e r m s  o f  the Company's agreements trith Lucent including the 
ms o f  the Commitment Letter. are currently under review by Lucent and the Company There can be no assurance that the transactions. including 
* financing contemplated by Commitment Letter. wil l be consummated or consummated on the terms described above In addition. the Compmy 
y require Jdditional capitdl in the future to fund operating deficits and net losses and for potential strategic alliances, joint bentures and 
Iuisitions See 'Risk Factors Significant Capital Requirements. Uncertainty of  Additional Financing " 

:ause the Company's cost o f  rolling out i t s  network and operating i ts  business, as well as i t s  revenues, u i l l  depend on a bariety o f  fdctors 
:luding. among other things. the ability o f  the Company to meet its roll-out schedules, i ts ability to negotiate faborable prices for purchases of 
+,ark equipment, the number of customers and the serv ices  they purchase, regulatory changes and changes in technology), actual costs and 
mues wi l l  vary from expected amounts, possibly to a material degree, and such variations are likely to affect the Company's future capital 
Iirements. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the Company's actual capital requirements wi l l  not exceed the anticipated amounts 
xibed above 

SULTS OF O P E R A T I O N S  

b1PAHISON OF Y E A R  E N D E D  D E C E h l B E R  31, 1998 W I T H  YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1997 

ng the twelve months ended December 31. 1908, the Company continued to develop relationships with Incumbents, buildout its network and 
lop i t s  infr,structure, including hiring key management personnel The Company also began marketing and sales efforts. and hired Mr Bennis to 
lop and execute i ts  sales efforts and marketing plan 

R E V E N U E  

Substantially a l l  o f  the Company's revenues for the year ended December 3 I ,  1998 consisted o f  fees received in connection with s e n  ices  
provided to Incumbents, including analysis o f  existing facilities and system performance. advisory services relating to PCS relocation 
matters, and turnkey network 
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)nstruction management s e n  i c c s  .The Company expects substantially a11 future raenue to he generated from the sale o f  te1ccommunication.j 
'r\ i ces  For the year cnded Dcccinbcr 3 I .  I 0 0 8  the Company generated rebenues o f  approximately S I .6 million. Jpprouimatcly 51 -I riiiIIIun 
0 ( , O b )  o f  Lthich itere mrihutable to ices  receited in connection with the continued performance of  construction manasement s e n  ices primarily 
om one customer. and approximately S l O 5 . 0 0 0  ( IO 49'0) bere attributable to the sale of telecommunications capacity. For the year ended Decembcr 
' , 1997. the Company gcneratcd rc\cnues o f  approximately S l6?.jOO deribcd from construction management and advisory s e n  ices  

OPE RAT1 NC EN P E N S E S  

For the year ended December 31. 1908 Jnd 1997, the Company incurred operating expenses o f  approximately SI 7 9 mill ion .iiid 
SJ 3 million. respectibely The increase i s  primarily as a result o f  the increased activity in the buildout o f  the Companys netttork m d  
additional staff costs incurred as part the debelopment o f  the Companys infrastructure The Company expects scllin_e. general and 
dmin i i t ra t i ke  ekpcnses to continue to increase as additional staff i s  added in 311 functional areas, particularly in sales and marketing 
Cost of  re\ enue rcllccts direct costs associated with performance of construction management services and costs incurred in connection 

ith the pro\ ision o f  telecommunications services Cost o f  rercnue reflects direct costs associated with performance of construction 
management Serb ices and costs incurred for telecommunications services such as network operations. net\\ork interconnections and 
provisioning o f  capacity for customers These costs include salaries and other employee expenses o f  the new employees hired durins the 
second quarter to s t d f f  the NOC. costs for leased telecommunications capacity used to monitor the net\iork, maintenance fees paid to 
Incumbents and other overhead expenses 

I N T E R E S T  E X P E N S E  

Interest expense for the year ended December 3 I .  10'98 was approximately S32 6 mill ion Interest expense primdrily represents interest 
on the Senior Notes issued in Apr i l  1998 together wi th financing costs associated with obtaining debt financing arrangements and the 
amortiiation expense related to bond issuance costs in respect o f  the Senior Notes The Company did not incur an interest expense 
during 1997 

I N T E R E S T  I N C O M E  

Interest income for the year ended December 31, I998 and 1097 was Jpproximately S I 3  9 mi l l ion and 5159,300. respectively rhis 
increase primarily represents interest eamed on the proceeds o f  the Senior Notes issued in Apr i l  1998 

INITIAL P U B L I C  O F F E R I N G  COSTS 

During the third quarter o f  19'98, the Company recorded a one-time write o f f  o f  costs of approximately SI 3 million, Jssociated with the 
postponed Initial Public Offering o f  the Company's Common Stock These costs consisted primarily o f  legal m d  Jccounting tccs. 
printing costs, and Securities and Exchange Commission and Nasdaq Stock Market fees 
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'O I IP \R ISOU OF 1 EAR E\I)ED DECEFIRER 31, 1997 \ \ ITH YEAR ENDED DECE;LIBER 31, 1996 

)uring the bear ended Decciiiber :I I097 the Company initiated construction on the first segment o f  i t s  nettrork. and additional engineering 
nd management personnel \\c'rc recruited. including M r  Jalkut The Company's principal acti\. i ty through the third quarter o f  I906 i n ~ o l ~ e d  the 
Itroduction of  i t s  business plan to Incumbents A 5  the Companv began to enter into formal relationships with Incumbents in I906 additional 
Iglneering, legal, and financial personnel were rccruitcd to support the increased workflow and to negotiate Incumbent contracts 

I n  establishing relationships with Incumbents, the Company acted ds a provider o f  services for transitioning the Incumbents from their 
old net\cork systems onto the Company's network These services included analysis o f  existing facilities and system performance. 
ad\ isory s e n  ices  relating to PCS relocation matters, and turnkey network construction management Revenues for the year ended 
December 3 I 1907 consisted o f  9 100,000 deribed from construction management s e n  ices and 562.500 from PCS relocation adbisory 
s e n  ices as compared ith re\ enues for the v e x  ended December 3 I, I996 o f  5 1.000 generated from PCS relocation ad) isory services 

0 P E RAT I N G EXPENSES 

For the year ended December 31. 1997, the Company incurred operating expenses o f  approximately 54 3 mill ion compared to 
operating expenses o f  S I  3 mil l ion for the year ended December 3 I, I996 This increase was directly related to an increase in selliny. 
general and administratibe expenses as the Company eypanded i t s  engineering, technical. legal, finance, and general management 
personnel in connection with the continued signing o f  new Incumbent agreements and the ongoing construction o f  the Company's 
network 

A R  ZOO0 

a Year 2000 issue ex is ts  because many computer systems and software applications use two digits rather than four digits to designate an 
licable year As a result. the systems and applications may not properly recognize the Year 2000, or process data that includes that date, 
m i a l l y  causing data miscalculations or inaccuracies or operational malfunctions or failures 

ne fourth quarter o f  I998 the Company begm a corporate-wide program to ready i t s  technology systems and non-technology systems and 
ware applications for the Year 2000 The Company's objective i s  to target Year ZOO0 compliance for a l l  o f  its systems, including network and 
omer interfacing systems Due to the development stage status o f  the Company, few legacy systems or applications ex is t  However, the Company 
entifying a11 o f  i t s  systems and Jpplicdtions that may need to be modified or reprogrammed in  order to achieve Year 20bO compliance 

)art o f  i t s  Year 2000 plan, the Company i s  seeking confirmation from its communications equipment vendors and other suppliers, financial 
tutions and customers that their systems w i l l  be Year 7000 compliant There can be no assurance that the systems o f  companies with which thc 
ipany does business w i l l  be Year ZOO0 compliant If the bendors important to the Company fail to provide needed products and serbices, the 
pany's network buildout and operations could be atfected and thereby have a materidl adverse effect on the Company's results o f  operations. 
di tv  and financial condition Moreover, to the extent that significant customers are not Year 2000 compliant and that 



f fects  their net\\ork needs. ihc Company's sales could be lower than otherwise mticipated 

he Company does not belie\c i t s  c\penditurcs to implement i t s  Year 2000 stntegy \\il l be material Because i t s  existing systems .ire r c I ~ t i \ c I v  
e u  i t  does not e\pect that i t  \ b i l l  hJ ie  to replace any of  i t s  systems To the evtent i t  trould hake to replJce a significant portion of i t >  technolog\ 
istems, i t s  expenditures could hJ\c material adberse effect on the Companv The Company has hired an outside consultant to assist i t  v.ith i t s  'r'cJr 
000 compliance. but the CompJnv h a  relied primarily on i ts  existing employees to debelop and implement i t s  Year 2000 compliance strategy \ 5  J 

~ l t  I t 5  cxpenditurcs to ensurc Year 2000 compliance ha\e not been materid to date The Company expects to continue to use ex is t ing eniplo\ees 
)r the siynificant pan o f  i t s  L e x  2000 compliance cfforts in the future 

he Companv does not currently habe a contingency plan in the ebent that i t  or i t s  suppliers or customers are not Year 2000 compliant Ho\\c\er. 
e Compmy expects to de\ clop J contingency plan to deal with potential Year 2000 related business interruptions 

ISK FACTORS 

LIMITED HISTORY OF OPERATIONS: OPERATING LOSSES AND NEGATIVE CASH FLOW 

The Company I ~ J S  formed in August 1995 to begin de\elopment o f  i ts digital netbkork As o f  December 3 I ,  1998. the Compmy 
had completed approximately 2,000 route miles o f  network. an additional approximately 5,000 route miles o f  network are under 
construction and approximately 10.000 route miles o f  network are under contract I n  addition, the Company was only probiding 
commercial telecommunications service to three customers with several additional customers awaiting installation There can be no 
assurance that the Company w i l l  enter into any additional contracts with Incumbents or other owners o f  telecommunications assets to 
obtain rights-of-way or rights to sites, towers and other assets for the construction o f  additional network or wi th customers for the 
purchase and sale o f  bandwidth services or dark or dim fiber As a result o f  development and operating expenses. the Company has 
incurred significant operating and net losses to date The Company's operations have resulted in cumulative net losses of SJ2 4 mill ion 
and cumulative net losses before interest income (expense) and income tax benefit of  S23 6 mill ion from inception in 1995 through 
December 3 I, I998 

* Company expects to incur significant operating losses. to generate negative cash flows from operating activities and to invest substantial funds 
onstruct i t s  digital network during the next several years There can be no assurance that the Company w i l l  achieve or sustain profitability or 
erate sufficient positive cash flow to meet i t s  debt service obligations, capital expenditure requirements or working capital requirements 

SUBSTANTIAL LEVERAGE; ABILITY TO SERVICE DEBT; RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS 

The Company i s  highly leveraged As o f  December 31, 1998. the Company had 5346 2 mill ion o f  indebtedness outstanding The 
Company w i l l  likely incur substantial additional indebtedness (including secured indebtedness) for the development o f  i t s  network and 
other capital and operating requirements The level o f  the Company's indebtedness could adversely affect the Company in a number o f  
w ~ y s  For example, (I) the ability o f  the Company to obtain necessary financing in the future for working capital. capital expenditures. 
debt service requirements or other purposes may be limited, (11) the Company's level o f  indebtedness could l imit i t s  flexibility in 
plmning for. or reacting to, changes 
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i t s  business ( i i i )  the Compdnv \ \ i l l  be more highlq leveraged t h m  some o f  i t s  competitors. Lrhich may place i t  at a competiti\e disdd\dntjse ( I \ )  

e Compdnv's degree ot indcbtednesj indv make i t  more vulnerdble to a downturn in i t s  business or the economy generdllv. ( L  the terms 01 [he 
isting dnd future indebtedness restrict or may restrict. the payment o f  dividends by the Company. and ( v i )  a substantial portion o f  the ConipJnv 5 

sh flow from operations mu3t be dedicated to the payment o f  principal and interest on its indebtedness and w i l l  not be abailable tor other purposes 

ie Indenture reldting to the Senior Votes Jnd certain o f  the Company's agreements with Incumbents contain, or \ril l contdin. restrictions on the 
)mpany Jnd i ts  subsidi'iries thJt \v i11 affect. and in certain cases significantly l imit or prohibit. among other things, the ability o f  the Companv d n d  
subsidijries to create liens. nukc  investments, pay d i i  idends and make certain other restricted payments, issue stock o f  substdimes consolidJtc. 

:rge, sell dssets Jnd incur additiondl indebtedness There can be no assurance that such covenants and restrictions \vi11 not ddiersely affect the 
impany's ability to finance i t s  future operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities that may be in the interest of the Compdny 

addition, m y  future indebtedness incurred by the Company or i t s  subsidiaries i s  likely to impose similar restrictions Failure by the Companv or 
subsidiJries to complv \\ i th these restrictions could lead to a default under the terms o f  the Senior Notes or the Company's other indebtedness 
irithstanding the ability o f  the Company to meet i ts  debt service obligations In the ecent o f  such a default, the holders o f  such indebtedness could 
c t  to declare all such indebtedness due and payable. together \\ ith accrued and unpaid interest I n  such event, 3 significant portion ot the 
mpany s indebtedness may become immediately due and payable. and there can be no assurance that the Company would be able to make such 
ments or borrow sufficient funds from alternative sources to make any such payments Even i f  additional financing could be obtained. there cdn 
IO assurance that i t  trould be on terms that would be acceptable to the Company 

b successful implementation o f  the Company's strategy, including expanding its digital network and obtaining and retaining a sufficient number 
:ustomers, and significant and sustained growth in the Company's cash flow w i l l  be necessary for the Company to meet its debt senice 
iirements The Company does not currently, and there can be no assurance that the Company w i l l  be able to, generate sufficient cash flows to 
t i t s  dcbt service obligations If the Company is unable to generate sufficient cash flows or otherwise obtain funds necessary to make required 
nents, or i f  the Company otherwise fails to comply with the various covenants under the terms of i t s  existing or future indebtedness, i t  could 
;er a default under the terms thereof, which would permit the holders o f  such indebtedness to accelerate the maturity of such indebtedness and 
d cause defaults under other indebtedness o f  the Company The ability o f  the Company to meet i t s  obligations wi l l  be dependent upon the future 
ormance of the Company, which be subject to prevailing economic conditions and to financial, business, regulatory and other factors 

SIGNIFICANT C A P I T A L  R E Q U I R E M E N T S ;  UNCERTAINTY O F  ADDITIONAL FINANCING 

Deploymcnt of the Company's network and expansion o f  the Compdny's operations and services  ill require significant capital 
expenditures, primarily for continued development and construction o f  i t s  netuork and implementation of  the Company's sales and 
marketing strategy The Company nil1 need to seek additional financing to fund capital expenditures and working capital to expand i ts  
network further T h e  Company may also require additional capital for activities complementary to its currently 
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anncd businesses 

le  actual amount o f  thc Company's future capital rcquiremcnts w i l l  depcnd upon many factors. including the costs of  net\\ork deplo>ment in 
ch of  i t s  markets. the speed o f  the development o f  the Company's nctibork. the extent o f  competition and pricing o f  telecommunications s e n  ices i n  

markets. other strategic opportunities pursued by the Company and the acceptance of  the Company's services. Accordingly, there can be no 
surance that the actual amount o f  the Company's tinancing needs \ b i l l  not cyceed, perhaps significantly, the current estimates. 

icre can be no assurance that the Company wi l l  be successful in raising additional capital or on te rms that i t  tvill consider acceptable. that the 
ms of such indebtedness or other capital \vi11 not impair the Company's ability to dekelop i t s  business or that all available capital wi l l  be sufficient 
service i t s  indebtedness. Sources o f  additional capital may include equipment financing faci l i t ies and public and private equity and debt financing. 
ilure to raise sufficient funds may require the Company to modify. delay or abandon some of  its planned future expansion or eypenditurcs. t ihich 
JId hate a material adberse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results o f  operations. 

RISKS OF COXIPLETING THE COMPANY'S NETWORK; MARKET ACCEPTANCE 

The Company's ability to achieve i ts  strategic objectibes RIII depend in large part upon the successful. timely and cost-ettecti\e 
completion o f  i t s  netbork, as well as on selling a substantial amount o f  i t s  products, including bandbidth s e n i c e s  The ~ c c c s s f u l  
completion of the Company's network may be affected by a iariety o f  factors, uncertainties and contingencies. many of  irhich dre 

beyond the Company's control The Company has gained experience in budgeting and scheduling as i t  has completed segments o f  I t s  
network, and although the Company believes that i t s  cost estimates and buildout schedules relating to the currently planned portions o f  
i t s  network dre reasonable, only approximately 2,000 route miles under contract have been completed as o f  December 31.  1998 There 
can be no assurance that the Company's network wil l be completed as planned at the cost and within the time frame currently estimated, 
if at a l l  In addition, although the Company recently began providing commercial telecommunications service to three customers 
with several additional customers awaiting installation. there can be no assurances that the Company wi l l  attract additional purchasers of  
i t s  products, including bandwidth services 

successful and timely construction o f  the Company's network w i l l  depend upon, among other things, the Company's ability to (I) obtain 
tantial amounts o f  additional capital and financing at reasonable cost and on satisfactory te rms m d  conditions. ( 1 1 )  manage effectively and 
iently the construction o f  i t s  network, ( i i i )  enter into agreements with Incumbents and other owners of telecommunications assets that w i l l  endble 
'ompany to leberage the assets o f  Incumbents and of other owners of telecommunications assets, (IV) access markcts and enter into customer 
acts to sel l  bandwidth services and other products on i ts  network. (v)  integrate successfully such networks and associated rights acquired in 
x t i on  with the development o f  the Company s network, including cost-cffectivc interconnections, (vi) obtain necessary Federal Communication 
nission ( 'FCC") licenses and other approvals and (v i i )  obtain adequate rights-of-way dnd other property rights necessary to install and operate 
ber portions of the Company's network Successful construction of  the Company's network also wil l  depend upon the timely performance by 
party contrdctors of their obligations There can be no assurance that the Company wi l l  achieve any or a l l  o f  these objectibes Any fdilure by the 
)my  to accomplish these objectives may have J material adverse Jffect on the 
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I'ompany's business. financial condition and results o f  operations 

;he de\elopment o f  the Company's network and the expansion o f  the Company's business may invol\e acquisitions of o1ht-r 
clccommunications businesses and asscts or implementation of  other technologies either in lieu of or as a supplement to the technologics 
ontemplated by the Company's current business plan. In addition, the Company may enter into relationships with Telccom Service Pro\ iders or 
ther entities to manage existing assets or to deploy altemative telecommunications technologies. Furthermore, the Company may seck to w r \e  
iarkets uhich are not under-serbcd or second- or third-tier and which may present differing market risks (including as to pricing m d  competition) 
f pursued, these opportunities could rcquirc additional financing. impose additional risks (such as increased or different competition. additional 
:gulatory burdens and network economics different from those described elsewhere herein) and could divert the resources and management t i m e  o f  
i e  Company. There can be no  assurance that any such opportunity, i f  pursued. could be successfully integrated into the Company's operations or thdt 
i y  such opportunity would perform as expected. Furthermore, as the Company builds out i t s  nework, there can be no assurance that the Conlpany 
i l l  enter into agreements \\ ith the best-suited Incumbents or such other owners of  telecommunications assets, as the case may be. XloreoLer. 
ere can be no assurance that the resulting network wi l l  match or be responsive to the demand for telecommunications capacity or \vi11 maximize the 
issible revenue to be earned by the Company. There can be no assurance the Company w i l l  be able to debelop and expand i t s  business and cnrer 
'LV markets as currently planned. Failure of the Company to implement i t s  expansion and growth strategy successfully could hake a matcrial 
verse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations. 

RISKS RELATED TO EXPANSION IN STRATEGY. 

On February 3, 1999, the Company announced i t  had expanded i ts  business strategy to include construction and deployment o f  digital 
networks using both wireless and fiber optic technologies The Company has limited experience in designing and budgeting, deployiny. 
operating and maintaining a fiber network In addition. the Company could encounter customers with preferences in employing one 
technology over another There can be no assurance the Company uill effectively design and budget, deploy, operate or maintain such 
facilities or that i t  wi l l  be able to address such potential customer preferences Further, there can be no assurance that the fiber net\cork 
deployed by the Company wi l l  provide the expected functionality 

the evtent that the Company enters into co-development or other partnering arrangements where the Company's partner has primary 
)onsibility for key network development matters such as perfecting rights-of-way or project management, there can be no assurance that such 
ners wi l l  perform such tasks adequately or that any failures in such performance w i l l  not Jdbersely e f fec t  the Company's financial condition, 
iness or results o f  operations. 

DENDENCE ON RELATIONSHIP WITH INCUMBENTS; RIGHTS OF INCUhlBENTS TO CERTAIN ASSETS 

.e can be no assurance that existing long-term relationships with the Company's Incumbents wil l be maintained or that additional long-term 
ionships w i l l  result on te rms acceptable 10 the Company, or at  a l l  If the Company is not successful in negotiating such agreements, i t s  ability to 
oy i ts  network would be adversely affected. 
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'he Compmb does not t ~ p i i ~ l l \ .  mpcct to o n n  the underlving si tes and facilities upon nhich the \<ireless portion ot i t s  nctv.orL 1 5  d c p l o ~ ~ d  
nhtcjd the C ompdnv tir ib cntcrccf into Jnd cvpccts to cnter into long-term relationships \\ ith Incumbents tbherebv e ~ c h  such Incumbent asrcc, 
rJnt 10 the Companv 2 IcJschold interest in or J similar right to use such Incumbent's facilities and infrastructure as i s  required for the CompJn\ to 

cploy i t \  nctnork In  ,ome cases b ~ s t e i n  J ~ W S  may be held by subsidiaries in which both the Company and the Incumbent 0v.n Jn interest - \s  J 

the Coinpmy \+ i l l  depend on the tacilitics Jnd intrastructure of i t s  Incumbents for the operation o f  i t s  business Lony-term relationships \ \ i t t i  

icumbcnts may c\pire or terniiiljte i t  thc C ompdny does not sJtisfy certain performance targets \bith respect to sales o f  telecommunicationS cJpJc i rv  
r falls to conimission Jn initi,il iommunicJtions svstem \tithin specified time periods In such cases, certain equipment relating to the ifliliJ1 

ImmunicJtions s ~ ~ t c n i  \<il l  be trmstcrrcd to the Incumbent Any such evpiration o f  ,I relationship with an Incumbent. and the rcsultiny 10s ot L I W  

I the correspondins 3\.wm m d  opportunity to u t i l i l e  such segment o f  i t s  net~bork, could result in the Company not being able to recoup i t s  initid11 

IpitJl clpenditurc \kith rcspcrt to such iegment dnd could have a material adkerse effect on  the business and financial condition o f  the Compmy In 
Idition. 5uch a loss under certain circumstances could result in Jn o e n t  o f  default under the Company's debt financings There can be no "trice 

~t the Compjnv \ ( i l l  continue to hJ\c  Jccess to such Incumbent's si tes and facilities after the evpiration o f  such agreements or in the e \cn t  t hd  an 
cumbent elects to terminate i t s  aprecmcnt \kith the Company If such an jgreement \\ere termindted or evpire and the Compmv \\ere torccd to 
-nobe or abandon J significant portion 0 1  i t s  network. such termination or evpiration, JS the case may be. could hdce a material adicrsc etfect on the 
siness. t inmcid condition and rcsults o f  operations o f  the Company 

e Compdnv expects to rely significmtly on i t s  Incumbents for the maintenance Jnd probisioning o f  circuits on the itireless portion of i t 5  

uork  The Company has entered into maintenance agreements with SIT Incumbents and evpects to enter into agreements u ith d d i t i o n a l  
umbents pursuant to ithich. among other things. the Company \ti11 pay the Incumbent 3 monthly maintenance fee and a probisioning services fee 
zvchange for such Incumbent providing maintenance and provisioning services for that portion o f  the Company s net\vork thJt primJrilv resides 
ng such Incumbent's system Failure by the Compdny to enter successfully into similar agreements with other Incumbents or the cancellation or 
i-renewal ot Any ot such existing agreements could have a mdterial adverse effect on the Company's business To the evtent the Company i s  
ble to establish similar arrangements in new markets with additional Incumbents or establish replacement arrangements on systems \$here a 
ntenance agreement with a particular Incumbent is canceled or not renewed. the Company may be required to maintain i t s  network and provision 
uits on i ts  network through establishment o f  i ts own maintenance and provisioning *orkforce or by outsourcing maintenance and provisioning to 
ird p ~ r t y  The Company's operating costs under these conditions may increase 

NEED TO OBTAIN AND hlAINTAIN RIGHTS-OF-WAY. 

The Company expects to obtain easements. rights-of-way, franchises and licenses from various pribate parties, ILECs, utilities. 
railroads. long distance companies, state highway authorities, local governments and transit Authorities in order to construct and mintd in  
i t s  fiber optic network I f  the Company were to acquire right-of-way directly from a governmental authority. i t  would be directly dffected 
by state and local law To the evtent that the Company obtains rights-of-way from others, i t  would be indirectly affected by state and 
local IJW There is a possibility that disputes may arise with 
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he licensing Juthority or J competitor. the result o f  irhich may fator a competitor o f  the Company. Such disputes could impose lc.ga1 Jnd 
dministrati\e costs on the Conipan?.  including out-of-pocket expenses and lost market opportunity because of  delays. Further, the Comp.mv I ~ J V  

'e subject to franchise fees iii:posed by state and local gocemments. In addition. the Company may require pole attachment agreements \rith utilities 
nd lLECs to operate existiny and future nc.t\\orks. and there can be no assurance that such agreements wil l be obtained on rexonable terms 

here can be no assurance that the Company \vi11 be able to obtain and maintain the additional rights and permits needed to build i t s  fiber optic 
et\\ork and othenbise implement i ts  business plan on acceptable ferms. The failure to enter into and maintain required arrangements for thc 
ompany's netuork could have J material adverse effect on the Company's business. financial condition and results o f  operations. There can bc no 
isurance that, Once obtained, the Company \\ i l l  continue to have access to existing rights-of-way and franchises after the expiration of  such 
;reements. I f  a franchise, liccnse or lease agreement were terminated and the Company were forced to remove or abandon a significant portion o!' i t s  

:t\cork. such termination could hJLe a material adierse effect on the Company. 

'.AN.AGEXIENT OF C;RO\VTH .AND RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH POSSIBLE ACQUISITIONS, STRATEGIC .ALLI.ANCES .ASD 
11 3.r v E NT L' RES. 

ie Company's evpanded business pldn m y .  if successtully implemented. result in rapid expansion o f  i t s  operations Rapid evpansion of  the 
impany s operdtions may ptdce a significant strain on the Company's management, financial and other resources The Company s ability to manage 
ure grou th. should i t  occur. \ \ i l l  depend upon i ts ability to monitor operations. control costs, maintain regulatory compliance, maintain effectire 
dity controls and cxpmd significantly the Company's intemal management. technical, information and accounting systems and to attract and retain 
iitiondl qudificd personnel Furthermore. as the Company s business decelops and expands, the Company wil l need additional facilities for i t s  
iwing workforce There can be no assurance that the Company wil l successfully implement and maintain such operational and financial systems or 
cessfully obtain. integrate and utilize the employees and management, operational and financid resources necessary to manage a deceloping and 
landing business in dn evolving and increasingly competitive industry which i s  subject to regulatory change Any failure to expand these areas and 
mplement and improve such systems, procedures and controls in an efficient manner at a pace consistent k i t h  the growth o f  the Company's 
iness could have J material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results o f  operations o f  the Company 

Company belieces that a part o f  i t s  future growth may come from the formation of strategic alliances with other telecommunications companies 
gned to m i s t  and accelerate the building of the Company's digital net-ork to provide serv ices  to customers o f  the Company Lchich are 
plementary to those provided by the Company The Company intends to pursue joint ventures with, or acquisitions of, companies that have an 
ting network infrastructure or customer base in order to increase the Company's penetration o f  i ts  markets or accelerate entry into new markets 
itations under the Indenture may sigif icantly limit the Company's ability to make acquisitions and to incur indebtedness in connection u i th  
iisitions Such transdctions commonly involve ccrtain risks, including, among others the difficulty o f  assimilating the acquired operations and 
3nnel. the potential disruption o f  the Company's ongoing business and diversion o f  resources and management time, the possible inability o f  
igement to mdintain uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies, the risks o f  entering 
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ijrl\ers In ithich the Companb has little or no direct prior experience and the potential impairment o f  relationships isith emplobccs or cu,iomcrs 
result ofchanges in nianigcnicnt [ticre can be no assurance that any acquisition or joint Lenture \ b i l l  be made that the Companv \ \ i l l  [X ih le  10 

)[din &iitionil finincing nccded to f in incc  iuch Jcquisitions and joint Lentures and i f  m y  acquisitions are so made that the icquired busine\s \ \ i l l  
b successfully integrated into the C onipany 5 operitions or that the acquired business \c1I1 perform as expected The Companv has no dc t in i t i \ c  
reemen[ with respect to any acquisition. although i t  has had discussions h i th  other companies and \ b i l l  continue to a s s e s  opportunities o n  Jn 
igoing basis 

DEPENDEYCE Oh K E Y  PERSONNEL; N E E D  FOR ADDITIONAL PERSONNEL 

The success o f  the Company \\il l depend to a significant extent upon the abi l i t ies and continued efforts o f  i t s  senior m i n d =  ~'cmcnt, 
particularly members of  i t s  senior management team, including Richard A Jalkut. President and Chief Executiie Otficcr. Kc\  in J 
Bennis. Eyecutike Vice President sercing d s  President o f  the Company's Communications Sercices Dikision. 'A i l l i m  R Smcdbcrg V 
Executire L ice President. Corporate Debelopment. and Michael L Brooks, Vice President o f  Nehbork Debelopment Other than i ts  

Employment Agreement \kith Richard A Jalkut. the Compmy does not hake any employment agreements v.ith. nor does the Company 
maintain "key man" insurance on, these employees The loss o f  the serrices of  any such indibiduals could hake a material Jdkerse effect 
on the Company's business, financial condition and results o f  operations The success o f  the Company wi l l  also depend, in p ~ r t .  upon the 
Company's ability to identify, hire and retdin additional key management personnel, including the senior manasement n ho are also 
being sought by other businesses Competition for qualified personnel in the telecommunications industry i s  intense The inability to 
identify, hire and retain such personnel could have J material ad\erse e f fec t  on the Company's results o f  operations 

COMPETITION; PRICING PRESSURES 

The telecommunications industry i s  highly competitive In particular, pnce competition in the carrier's carrier market has generally 
been intense and i s  expected to increase The Company competes and expects to compete with numerous competitors who have 
substantially greater financial and technical resources, long-standing relationships with their customers and potential to subsidize 
competitive services from less competitibe service re\ enues and from federal universal service subsidies Such competitors may be 
operators o f  existing or newly deployed wireline or wireless telecommunications networks The Company wi l l  also face intense 
competition due to an increased supply o f  telecommunications capacity, the effects o f  deregulation and the development of  new 
technologies, including technologies that wil l increase the capacity o f  existing networks See "Business - Competition " 

IANCE ON EQUlPXlENT SUPPLIERS FOR THE WIRELESS PORTION OF THE COMPANY'S NETWORK 

Company currently purchases most o f  i ts  telecommunications equipment pursuant to an agreement with NEC from whom the Company has 
d to purchase S200 million o f  equipment by December 31, 2002 and has 
lion or interruption in supply from either supplier or any increase in prices 
ntly NEC and Northern Telecom Ltd are the only 
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n3nuf~ct~irers of SOYET radios that are compatible with the Company's proposed system design and reliability standards relatins io the \\ Irc/csj 
)ortion of  i t s  nctnork. Jlthough Harris Corporation and Alcatel Alsthom Conipagnie Gcnerale d'Electricite S A  are in the process ot'dc\doplns J ~ I ~ ]  

csting similar and compJtibk products Further. the Company does not manufacture. nor does i t  ha\e the capability to manufacture. ,my o f  the 
clecoinrnunications equipment used on i t s  netibork. As a result, the failure of the Company to procure sufficient equipment at reasonable prices anti 
n a timel:, manner could adversely affect the Company's successful deployment o f  i t s  network and results o f  operations. 

RELI,4;YCE O N  L U C E N T :  L t i C E N T  ,ACREEAIENTS.  

The CompJny Jnd Lucent habe entered into a supply agreement under \bhich Lucent wil l probide m d  \ \ i l l  dcploy personnel to ~ s h i b t  in, 
Jmong other thing,. the design and marketing o f  the Company's netnork Any fdilure or inability by Lucent to perform these functions 
could CJUSC delJcs or Jdditional costs In providing services to customers and building out the Company's netivork in specific rnJrkcts 
Anv such fJilure could materially and adversely a f fec t  the Company's financial condition. business and results o f  operations 

+e CompJny Jnd Lucent hJ\c entered into the Commitment Letter ibhich i s  contingent upon barious conditions. including the execution ot J 

t f i n i t i b e  finmcing Jyreement, compliance with financial covenants, completion o f  due diligence and the absence of  any material adbersc chmge in 
e Company There can be no assurance that a definitive agreement wil l be executed with respect to the financing contemplated by the Commitment 
'tter or that the financing contemplated by the Commitment Letter wil l be consummated Any failure to consummate the financing contcmplJted by 
2 Commitment Letter could materially and adversely effect the Company's financial condition, business and results o f  operations 

T E C H N I C A L  L I h I I T A T I O N S  OF T H E  W I R E L E S S  N E T W O R K  

L 

The Company wi l l  not be able to offer route diversity until such time as i t  has completed a substantial portion o f  its mature network In 
ddi t ion,  the wireless portion o f  the Company's network requires a direct line of sight between two antennae (each such inrenal 
comprising a "path") which is subject to distance limitations. freespace fade, multipath fade and rain attenuation In order to meet 
industry standards for reliability, the maximum length of  a single path similar to those being designed by the Company i s  generally 
limited to 40 miles and. as a result, intermediate sites in the form o f  back-to-back terminals or repeaters are required to permit digital 
wireless transmission beyond this l imit based on the climate and topographic conditions of each path In the absence of a direct line of  
sight. additional si tes may be required to circumvent obstacles, such as tall buildings in urban areas or mountains in rural areas 
Topographic conditions o f  a path and climate can c u s e  reflections of signdls from the ground, which can affect the transmission quality 
of d i g i t i  wireless services In addition, in areas o f  heavy rainfall, the intensity o f  rainfall and the size o f  the raindrops can affect the 
trdnsrnission quality o f  digital wireless services Paths in these areas are engineered for shorter distances to maintain transmission quality 
Jnd U ~ C  bp~ce diversity, frequency diversity, adaptive power control m d  forward error correction to minimize transmission errors Thc 
use of Jdditional si tes and shorter paths to overcome obstructions. multipath fade or rain attenuation wil l increase the Company's capital 
costs While these increased costs may not be significant in a11 cases. such costs may render digital wireless services uneconomical in 
ccrtain circumstances 
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ue to line o f  sight limitations. the Company currently insfalls i t s  anfennae on totrers. the rooftops o f  buildings or other t311 structurcs Line o f i l g h t  
I d  distance limitations generally do not present problems because Incumbents have already selected. debeloped and constructcd unobstrucrcd 
insmission sites. In certain instances. ho\\cver, the additional frequencies required for the excess capacity to be installed by the Conlpany not 
: abailable from Incumbents' eyisting sites In these instances. the Company generally expects to use other developed s i t e s  already o\\ncd or Ica.;cd 
I such Incumbent. In some instances. however. the Company has encountered. and may in the future encounter. line o f  siyht. frequency bloc.l,Jsc 
d distance limitations that cannot be solved economically. b'hile the effect on the financial condition and results of operations o f  the C'otnp;iriy 
jult ing from such cases has been minimal to date. there can be no assurance that such limitations \ \ i l l  not be encountered more frequently as the 
impany eypands i t s  neniork.  Such limitations may have a material adverse effect on the Company's future detelopment costs Jnd rcsultj ot' 
,eratlons. In addition. the current lack o f  compression applications for wireless technology limits the Company's ability to increase capacity on the 
rcless portion o f  i t s  netivork without significant capital expenditures for additional equipment. 

R I S lis R E LA T I N G T 0 I N T E R C 0 N N E C T I 0 N 

In order to obtain the necessary access to install i t s  radios, antennae and other equipment required for interconnection o f  the Company's 
netnork to the public switched telephone network or to POPS o f  the Company's customers. the Company must Jcquire the nccessarl 
rights and enter into the arrangements to secure such interconnections and deploy and operate such interconnection equipment There can 
be no assurance that the Company \v i11  succeed in obtaining the rights necessary to secure such interconnections and to deploy i t s  
interconnection equipment in i ts market areas on acceptable terms, i f  at all, or that delays in or t e r m s  for obtaining such rights u i l l  not 
have a material adverse effect on the Company's debelopment or results o f  operations 

DEPEYDENCE ON INFORMATION AND PROCESSING SYSTEMS 

Sophisticated information and processing systems are vital to the Company's growth and i ts  ability to monitor network performance. 
provision customer orders for telecommunications capacity, b i l l  customers accurately, provide high-quality customer senice and achieve 
operating efficiencies As the Company grows, any inability to operate its bil l ing and information and processing systems, or to upgrade 
intemal systems and procedures as necessary, could have a material adverse impact on the Company's ability to reach i t s  objectives, or 
on i ts  business. financial condition and results o f  operations 

RISK OF M P I D  TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES 

The telecommunications industry is subject to rapid and significant changes in technology Although the Company has expanded its 
business pldn to include fiber optic technologies, uh ich  may diversify the Compdny's exposure to the risk o f  such technological changes. 
their effect on the business o f  the Company cannot be predicted There can be no assurance that (I) the Company's network w i l l  not be 
economically or technicdly outmoded by technology or services now existing or dekeloped and implemented in the future. (11) the 
Company w i l l  have sufficient resources to develop or acquire new technologies or to introduce new services capable of competing \ r i th 
future technologies or service offerings or (ii i) the cost o f  the equipment used on i ts  network w i l l  decline as rapidly as that o f  competitive 
Jlternatices The occurrence o f  any o f  the foregoing events may have a materidl ddverse 
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Ycct on the operations o f  the Coiiipanv 

RISKS R E L A T I h G  r 0  REGULATION OF \.b IRELESS NETWORK The Company's arrangements icith Incumbent5 cor1tcmpl.w 
that the \elreless portion o f  the Company's d ig i td  neticork \e111 probide Ixge ly  "common carrier fived point-to-point micron.]\ c 
telecommunications services under Part 101 ("Part 101") o f  the rules o f  the FCC, \chich services are subject to regulJtion by fcdcrJl, 
State and local go\crnmentdl iyencics Changes in existing federal, state or local laws and regulations. including those rclJtin3 to thc 
proi is ion o f  Part 101 telecommunications services, any failure or significant delay in obtaining (or complying \cith the tcrms of) 
necessary licenses. permits or renewals. or any evpansion o f  the Company's business that subjects the Company to additional regulatory 
requirements could habe a material adberse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, and results o f  operations 

C LICECSE REQLIRE\ IELTS Prior to applying to the FCC for JuthorizJtion to use portions o f  the 6 GH7 bmd.  the Compmv m u b t  

irdinate i t s  use o f  the frequcncy \kith m y  existing licensees, permittees. and applicants in the same area uhose facilities could be subject to 
:rference as a result of  the Company's proposed use o f  the spectrum There can be no assurance in any particular case that the Company \+ i l l  not 
ounter other entities m d  proposed uses o f  the desired spectrum that v.ould interfere with the Company s planned use, and thJt the Conipmy \ \ i l l  
able to coordinate successfully such usage with such entities In addition, as part o f  the requirements o f  obtaining a Part IO1 license the FCC 
uires the Company to demonstrate the si te owner's complidnce with the reporting, notification and technical requirements o f  the Fcderd Aviation 
ninistration ( "FAA")  with respect to the construction, installation. location. lighting and painting o f  transmitter to\cers and antennae. such as 
,e to be used by the Company in the operation o f  i t s  network Furthermore, in order to obtain the Part 101 licenses necessary for the operdtion of 
ietwork. the Compdny. and in some cases Incumbents, must file applications with the FCC for such licenses and demonstrate complimce \kith 
ine technical and legal qualification to be an FCC licensee The Company must also obtain FCC authorization before transferring control o f  any 
s licenses or mdking certain modifications to a licensed facility There can be no assurance that the Company or any Incumbent who desires to be 
licensee with respect to i ts  portion of the Company's network w i l l  obtain all of the licenses or approvals necessary for the operation of the 
ipanyc business. the transfer o f  any license, or the modification of any facility, or that the FCC wi l l  not impose burdensome conditions or 
tations on m y  such license or approval 

<S RELATING T O  REGULATION OF FIBER NETWORK Pursuant to the interconnection provisions o f  the Telecommunications Act o f  
' (the "1996 Telecom Act"). the FCC identified a minimum l is t  o f  unbundled network elements that ILECs must make mmlable to other 
ommunications carriers The FCC declined to include incumbent ILECs' dark fiber in this list, finding that i t  d id not h n e  adequate information 
(ermine whether dark fiber qualifies as a network element The FCC indicated that i s  would continue to review or revise i ts  rules reguding 
ndled network elements as necessary State commissions, however. have the authority to impose additional unbundling requirements so long as 
Squirements are consistent with the 1996 Telecom Act and the FCC's requirements, which could include requiring incumbent JLECs to unbundle 
dark fiber 

e recent Supreme Court decision regarding the FCC's interconnection and unbundling rules, 
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+ e  Supreme Court tacated the FCC"s rule establishing the l i s t  of unbundled net\vork elements. The Supreme Court found that the FCC had not 
iterpretcd the terms ot' the I000 rclcconi Act regarding an incumbent ILEC's duty to provide network elements in a reasonable fajhlon [ h e  
upreme Court found thdt the l . C ~ ' ( '  h d  gi \en telecommunications carriers blanket access to unbundled network elements. The statute, ho\ \c\cr .  
mits telecommunications carriers' access to net\\ork elements to those that are "necessary" or to those where failure to hake access \rould "iiiipdir 
i e  ability of  the telecommunications carrier" to protide services i t  seeks to offer. The FCC plans to commence a rulemaking proceeding to .&pt 
:\v requirements regardine unbundled net\\ork elements that properly consider the "necessary and impair" standard in the I996 Telecom ,+\ct. 

decision by the FCC or .;I,IICS to rcquirc unbundling o f  incumbent ILECs' dark fiber could increase the supply o f  dark fiber and Jccrcasc 
:mand for the C'onipany's dark tiber. and thereby ha\e an adberse ef fec t  on the Company' business, financial condition and results ofoperations 

G E N E R A  L 

PROVISIO\ OF C'OLILIOC A C D  PRIVATE CARRfER SERVICES The Company IS currently offering. and eKpects to offer in 
[he future, i t s  scr\icc> on J pribate carrier basis The Company's private carrier senices are essentially unregulated, \chile any common 
cxr icr  offerings uould be subject to additional regulations and reporting requirements including payment o f  additional fees and 
coniplimce u i t h  additional rules and regulations including that any such services must be offered pursuant to filed tariffs and non- 
discriminatory terms. rates Jnd practices There can be no assurance that the FCC \ 4 i l I  not find that some or a l l  o f  the priiate cdrrier 
services offered by the Company are in fact common carrier services. and thus subject to such additional regulations Jnd reponing 
requirements including the non-discrimination and tariff filing requirements imposed on common carriers, in uhich case the Company 
may be required to pay additional fees or adjust, modify or cease provision of  certain o f  i t s  services in order to comply \cith m y  such 
rcgul~tions, including offering such services on the same terms and conditions to al l  of those seeking such services. and pursuant to rates 
mdde public in tariff filings at the FCC 

l E l G N  OWNERSHIP As the licensee o f  facilities designated for common carriage, the Company i s  subject to Section 310(b)(4) o f  the 
imunications Act of 1934, as amended (the "Communications Act"), which by i t s  terms restricts the holding company of an FCC common carrier 
isee  (the Company i s  such a holding company, because i t  expects to hold a l l  FCC licenses indirectly, through subsidiaries) to a maximum o f  2 5 O 6  
ign ownership and/or voting control The FCC hrls determined that i t  wi l l  authorize a higher level of foreign ownership (up to 100%) on a 
mlined basis where the indirect foreign investment in the common carrier licensee is by citizens of, or companies organized under the laws of  
Id Trade Organi/Jtion ("WTO") member countries Where the foreign ounershtp i s  by citizens or corporations o f  non-WTO nations. FCC 
)rimtion to e.tceed the 25% limitdtion must be obtained on a non-streamlined basis and the licensee must meet a more demanding puMic interest 
ing The Compmy is presently ui th in the 25% foreign ownership limitation in connection with m y  future financings. the Company wi l l  hace 
3nitor foreiyn inrestment to ensure that i t s  foreign ownership does not exceed the 25% limitation I f  i t  appeared that foreign ownership of  the 
Dany was coming close to exceeding this benchmark, the Company would hare to obtain FCC authorization prior to exceeding the 25% 
ition In dddition, i f any Incumbent elects to be the licensee on the portion of the Company's network relating to i ts  system, such Incumbent 
f also be subject to such 
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foreign o\rncrship restriction5 It' such JrIalvSiS sho\\cd that such Incumbent had more than 3% foreign o\+nership, the Incumbents ibould ha\e 10 
;cck authori/ation from the FC'C' to cvceed the 25% Iiniitation or i t  uou ld  have to reduce i ts  foreign oLbnership. 

n the e\ t .nt  that an Incumbent \\ere to choose to hold the relevant Part 101 license itself, and not through a holding company, that lncuriibcnt \\auld 
)e subject to Section 3 I O ( b ) ( ? )  o i  thc Communications Act .  ibhich l i m i t s  direct foreien ownership of  FCC licenses to 20?o. The FCC docs not h j \ c  
Iiscretion to \\aive this limitation I f  an lncumbcnt cvccedcd the 10°,n l imitation i t  \bould be required to reduce i ts  foreign oisnership in order to 
rbtain or retain i t s  Pan 101 license. 

TATE A\D LOCAL REGLL \TION Although the Company eypects to pro\ide most o f  i t s  serLices on an interstate basis. in those instances 
here the CompJnv pro\ides scrLice on Jn intrastJtc bJsis the Company may be required to obtain a certification to operate from state uti l i ty 

ommissions in ccrtJin o f  the i t ~ t ~ ~  \\here such intrstdte services are probided, and may be required to f i l e  tariffs cokering such intrastate xi-\ ices 
1 Jddition. the CompJnv be required to obtdin authorirdions from or notifv such states tvith respect to certain transfers or issuances o f  capital 
ocL o f  the Compdny I he Compmv does not expect any such s t ~ t e  or IOCJI requirements to be burdensome. houe\er,  there can be no assurance that 
e Company \ \ i l l  obtdn all ot the necessary stdte and local approvJls and consents or that the failure to obtain such approbals and consents \ b i l l  not 
i \ e  a material adberse affect on the Company's business, financial condition and results o f  operations In addition. there can be no assurdnce thJt 
ite or local au~horities w i l l  not impose burdensome taxes, requirements or conditions on the Incumbent or the Company 

INVESTMENT COMPANY .ACT CONSIDER\TIONS 

The Company has substantid cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments The Company has inbested and intends to inbest the 
proceeds o f  its financing activities so as to preserve capital by investing primarily in short-term instruments consistent with prudent cash 
management and not primarily for the purpose of achieving investment retums Investment in securities primarily for the purpose o f  
achieving investment retums could result in the Company being treated as an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act 
o f  I940 (the "I940 Act") The 1940 Act requires the registration of, and imposes various substantive restrictions on, investment 
companies that are. or hold themselves out as being, engaged primarily, or propose to engage primarily in, the business of investing, 
reinbesting or trading in securities. or that fail certain statistical tests regarding the composition o f  assets and sources of income and are 
not primarily engaged in businesses other than investing. reinvesting, owning, holding or trading securities 

Company believes that i t  i s  primarily ensaged in a business other than investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading securities and, 
cfore, i s  not Jn investment company within the meaning of the I940 Act I f  the Company were required to register ,IS an investment company 
:r the I940 Act, i t  would become subject to substantial regulation with respect to i ts cdpital structure, management, operations, transactions with 
iJted persons (as  defined in the 1940 Act) and other matters Application o f  the provisions of the 1940 Act to the Company would have a material 
n e  e t fec t  on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations 
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P \ K l  I l l  

ITE\I IO. I)IKC.( IOKS \ \ D  EkECLTIC E OFFICERS OF THE REClSTRlYT 

E\cititi\  c ( i I t i i c r \  

Thc t,lIiIc t i c / ~ \ t  IOrth certain information concerning the dircotors dnd e.tecuti\e officers of the Company Directors of  the Companv Jre e l o ~ t t . d  
J t  thc L i n i i t i , l l  liicctilic o f  ,tockholders Erecutike officcrs of thc Company generally are appointed at the Board of Directors' first meeting after cdch 
m n u . i l  riiccting 0 1  Sroikholdcrs 

\ \\I1 \ ( J E  PO5ITIOU(S) M ITH COVP \\Y 
KILI1.1111 \ 1 J 1 1 \ L l i  ( I  1 i1 Prcsident Chiet E Y C L U ~ I \ ~  Otticer and Director 
kLLlI1 I l iL l l i l l \  15 L \ e c u t i \ r  L i c e  President and Preaidrnr. 

\', i11i.iiii I< \i i icdhcrp \ 37 F ~ e i u t i ~ e  L ice  President. Corpurate Dc\clupment 

\.lirhacl 1 I uhin 10 Vice President. General Cuun,el and Seiretary 
\ l i i / l d L /  I I3ioohs ._ ii L i ie Prcsideni \ct\\orh De\elopmrni 
I)a\id 9ch.wilcr ( I )  42  Director 
Pcter J l 3ar r i5  ( 2 i  17 Llirector 
Ke\ in  J Varoni ( 2 ) ( . 3 )  3 0 Director 
Patrich J Kenn, ( 3 j  13 Director 
Riihard K Prin, ( ? ) ( 3 )  11 Director 
Stephen 1 Keinbtadilcr - !? Director 

( I  ) Mcmbcr of Contract Committee 

( 2 )  Member of Compensation Committee 

(3) Llember of Audit Committee 

Set forth bclou is the background of  e x h  of  the Company's executive officers and directors 

RICHARD A J 4 L K U T  h a  served as President, Chief Executike Officer and director of the Company since August 1397 Mr Jalkut has o \ e r  3 0  
years of telecommunications experience From 1995 to August 1997, he served as President and Group Executive of N Y h E X  Telecommunications 
Group, u h c r c  he was responsible for all activities of  the NYNEX Telecommunications Group. an organization with over 60,000 emploqres Prior to 
t h d .  Llr JJlhut w k c d  as President and Chief Executive Officer of New York Telephone C o  I n c ,  the predecessor company to \\\E\ 
Telecommunications Group, from 1991 unt i l  1995 Mr Jalkut currently serves as a member of the Board of Directors of Marine Llidland Bmk.  J 

commcrciJl b m k .  lhon Office Solutions, Inc , a company engaged in uholesale and retail office equipment, and Home Wireless LetirorAs. a start-up 
company developing ,I uireless product for home and business premises 

KECIU J BE'rh lS has serked as Executive Vice President. serbing as  President of the Company's Communications Senices  Division since 
February IO08 From IO96 unt i l  hejoined the 

C ommuniidtionb benice,  Di\ibiun 

Treawrer and h i s t a n t  kiretary 
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C'o i i i l>L i~ i \  \ I r .  I3cri i i i5 sened JS President o f  Frontier Communications. a long distance communications company. \r here he  \ \ J S  rc jponj ib lc for the 
j L I I c s ,  111.11 hciit i i : .iiid cLi4toiiicr < e n  i ce  a C t i \ i t i e S  of  3 3 1 0  employees. Prior to that. L l r ,  Bennis scr\cd in Larious positions for 7 I hears JI \ I C ] .  
l n ~ l ~ l c j i t l <  ,I, pic\iticrii o f  \lCI'.; lntcgrated Client Ser\.ices Dirision from I995 to 1096. as President and Chief Operating Officer o f  , \ \ j n t c l  
T ~ l c ~ c , i l u r ~ ~ l i i i ~ ~ l [ ~ c ~ i ~ ~ ,  \ \ C I ' j  p i n t  Jcnture \$ith Banamex in Llexico, from I994 to 1905. and as Senior Vice President o f  Llarketing from I{)()? to 
10" 

\ i ' l l , l  I \ \ I  K C;\I[:[)[3ERG. V joined the Company initially as a consultant in 1996. sened as Vice President. Finance and Corporate Dciclopinent 
froill jJilu,iiy l o o ?  I,'cbruary I000 and assumed the position o f  Euecutibe Vice President. Corporate Debelopment in March 1990. Prior to Joining 
the ( ' o i n p j r i y %  Jlr Silicdbcry scrkcd in iar ious financial and planning positions at the James River Corporation of Virginia. Inc. ("James RiLcr") for 
nine \.cars In I > , I I . ~ I ~ L I ~ ~ ~ .  he scr\ed as Director. Strategic Planning and Corporate Development for Jamont, a European consumer products joint 
\ent t i rc  Jill~>il& \d,1j 0). \lontcdison S.p..A. and James Riber. from 1991 to 1996, where he ~ 4 a s  responsible for Jamont's corporate finance. stratesic 
plJniiing j t i d  corpor.i1c 

\ l I ~ ' t l ~ \ t . : L  .\ I.[.UI\ has je r \ed  2s \ ' i ce  President. General Counsel and Secretary of the Company since i t s  inception in August 1005. Prior to 
joining thc ('onipany. L l r  Lubin bras an attorney-at-law at Michael .A. Lubin, P.C.. a l aw  firm. \thich he founded in 1985 Llr. Lubin has c\perience 
in telecommunications matters. copyright and intellectual property matters, corporate and commercial law, construction claims adjudication and trial 
no rk  EJrlicr he scricd as a Federal prosecutor with the Fraud Section. Criminal Division, Cnited States Department of Justicc. 

M I C H A E L  L BROOKS has serbed as Vice President, Network Derelopment o f  the Company since June 1996. M r .  Brooks has eYtensi\c 
eupcriencc in boice and data communications. From 1992 through May 1906, blr. Brooks served as Vice President. Engineering for Ilielhn. Inc 
lkelyn provided system design and technical support for telecommunication systems and support facilities. From 1082 to 1902. ,Mr. Brooks norked 
for Q\vcst Microwave Communications, a predecessor o f  Qwest, where he directed the initial construction of a 3.500-mile digital network. 

D A V I D  SCHAEFFER founded the Company in August 1995 and has been a director o f  the Company since i ts  inception. Mr. Schaeffer serred as 
Chairman of the Board and Treasurer o f  the Company from August 1997 to February 1999, and served as President, Chief Executive Officer and 
Treasurer of  the Company from August 1995 until August 1997. From 1986 to the present, Mr. Schaeffer has also served as President and Chief 
Euecutire Officer o f  Empire Leasing, lnc., a specialized mobile radio licensee and operator. I n  addition. Mr. Schaeffer founded and, since 1992, has 
serked as President and Chief  Executive Officer o f  Mercury Message Paging, Inc., a paging company hh ich  operates networks in Washington, D C., 
Baltimore and Philadelphia. 

PETER J. BARRIS has been a director of the Company since August 1995. Since 1992. Mr .  Barris has been a partner, and, in 1994, was appointcd 
a General Partner of New Enterprise Associates, a firm that manages venture capital investments. Mr. Barris i s  also a member of the Board of  
Directors o f  Mobius Management Systems, Inc. and pcorder.com, Inc. each of which are quoted on the Nasdaq National Market. 

K E V I N  J M A R O N I  has been a director o f  the Company since August 1995. Since 1994, Mr. Maroni has been a principal. and. in 1995, \\.IS 

appointed JS a Gcneral Partner o f  Spectrum Equity 

clopnicnt Prior to that. b i r ,  Smedberg worked in the defense industry as a consultant and enginecr for TRLL'. Inc. 
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I n \ c \ i { i r \  I I' \ \  t i iL t i  iiim,iScs pr i \ J te  equit) funds focused on ?mirth c ~ p i t ~ l  for telecommunicJtions compmies From i ~ l  to I O O A  he ,c.r\cd .,, 
\ I J I ~ . I : C I  I ii1.inLc .ind De\ t lopmcnt at Time \IJr(>nl 
acr\cti J\ .I Coi i \dt . int  Jt t l .mJrd LlmJgement Company from 1990 to 1992. \+here he irorked in the pr i iJ te equitb group \ I r  \fJroni 1, J,() 
ct i r rc i i i l i  oi l  i l i c  Iio,iiil of  dircctors of ,c\tri l l  pri\dte iompmies  m d  CTC Communications Corp m inteyJted communicj t ionj  pro\ idcr rhJ[ 1, 

quoted o n  [ t i c  \ . I W I , I ~  \Jtiondl \ lJrhct  

P \ I  R I C  K J hl ] { I \ \  hJs becn J director of the Compmy since July I997 Llr Kerins hJs s m c d  JS Vanaging Director o f  Grotech C ~ p l r a l  Group 
\\ hiLh i s  eiie,ig:ctl in icnture cJPitd1 m d  other pri\ate equity InLcstments. since Llarch 1997 From 1987 to M x c h  1997 he \+orked in  the in\CStniCnt 

b,inhing l i i u s i o n  \ l e \  Bro\+n & Sons, IncorporJted, including serting JS Liandging Director beginning in JmuJry I994 Cir Kcrins 1 5  ~ 1 3 0  J 

ineiiihcr ot  the ljo.ird o f  Directors of  CDnov.. Inc . dn online retailer o f  compact discs and other music-related products. t ihich is quoted on the 
\Aq \JtionJl \lLirhct 

R I <  I 1  \KD K PR1\4  hJ j  bccn ,I dircctor o f the  Compdny since 1095 Since 1996. Clr Prins has sened as Senior L i c e  President o f  Ferris Bjhcr 
L i J t t s  1ncorpor.itcd. \\here he heads the technology and communicJtion prdctice in the inbestment banhing diLision From 1986 to 1006. he \ \ J>  

Senior L ice  President Jnd ClmJging Director in the inkestment bmk ing  dibision o f  Crestx Financial CorporJtion Clr Prins i s  currcntl) J dircctor o f  
Stxtcc b l o b ~ l  C oniniunicJtions Corporation. a communicmons compdny that i s  quoted on the \Jsdaq \dtional Clarhet 

S T E P H E U  A REICSTADTLER has been a director o f  the Company since October 1997 Clr Reinstadtler hJs serbed JS L i c e  President j nd  
Director Jt Toronto Dominion C ~ p i t a l  (c1 S A ) Inc , \+here he has been involbed in priLate equity and mezzanine debt in\estments. since August 
1995 From 4pr i l  I904 to July 1995, he serked as Manager at The Toronto-Dominion Bank. where he u a s  incol \ed i n  commerc i i  lending J C ~ I \  i t i cs  

to the telecommunications industry From August 1992 to Apr i l  1994, M r  Reinstadtler also served as Associate at Kansallis-Osake-Pankki, \\ here he 
was involved in commercial lending a c t i ~  ities to the telecommunications industry 

DIRECTOR COhlPENSATlON 

Llr Prins, a director o f  the Company, *as granted options to purchase 70,131 shares o f  Common Stock in 1995 See "Security Ownership of  
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management ' Directors o f  the Company are currently neither compensated nor reimbursed for their out-of-pocket 
expenses incurred in connection u i t h  attendance at meetings of, and other activities relating to serving on, the Board o f  Directors and any committees 
thereof The Company may consider additional compensation arrangements for i t s  directors from time to time 

LII\IITATION OF LIABILITY AND INDEhlNlFlCATlON 

The Restated Ccnificjte o f  Incorporation o f  the Company limits, to the fullest eytent permitted by law, the l iabil i ty o f  directors to the Company Jnd 
i t s  stochholders for monetary damages for breach o f  directors' fiduciary duty This provision IS intended to afford the Compmy's directors benefit o f  
the DclJbLare Gcncral Corporation Law (the "DGCL"). which provides that directors o f  Delaware corporations may be relieced o f  monetxy  IiJbilitc 
for breach o f  their fiducidry duty o f  care, except under 

m e r  TeIeu"unicJt ions 16 here he \!ds in\.ol\.ed i n  corporJte de\ elopment project, 
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ccrt.iiii c i i c i i i i i \ i . i i i c ' e>  I'his l imitation on liabilities does not evtcnd to including m y  breach of  a director's duty o f  loyalty. J C ~ S  or omissions not in 
 COO^ I'.i ih o r  t \ t i i c l i  i i i \ o l i c  intentional misconduct or a knowng  \ioIation o f  la\\, \ioIations o f  the DGCL rey rd ing  the improper pJhnicnt of 
&\lLlciidb 0 1  .iii\ ti.iii,xtion from v, h ich the director denbed any improper personal benefit. In addition. the Certificate o f  IncorporJtion of  thc 
('~IIII~III~ pia\ I I ~ C ~  th. i t  thc Coinpany \L i l l  indemnify i t s  directors and officers to the fullest eFtent authorized or permitted by law. 

ITt:l 1 I .  t :Xt: ( ' [ i ' l lL 'E CO>IPESSATION 

Thc t'oIlwii1q i . i b l ~  forth certain information concerning the cash and non-cash compensation earned by or warded  to the Chief E\ecuti\e 
Ot'liccr ,iiid Ihc t i i ~ i r  oihcr most highly conipensated euecutive officers o f  the Company (the "Named Euecutive Officers") for services rendered in JII 
c ~ p ; i c i i i c ~  in cJch ot'tlie >cars ended December 3 I .  I998 and 1997. 

Long - Term 
C'onlpensation 

Secuntirs 
:\nnual Compensation * Orher [ 'nder ly ing 

\ a  iiir :\ nd l'ri i i c i p ~  I Po\ i tiun - Year Salnry Bonus Comoensation Ooilons Granted 

KicliJrd :\ . l d h u i  I098 s400.000 S-- S40.289( I ) _ _  
Pre>idcnt  and ('hiet' l:yscu!i\.e Ol'ticer 1997 Ih6 . l%(2)  -_ 9.85?(3) 85S.754 

[)a\ id Schael'l'er I998 !00.000 _ _  -- -_  
Chairman otrhe h a r d  and lreasurer I907 216,923(4) _ -  -- -130.41 3 

Kctin J I jcnnis I098 246,353(5) _- I85.602(6) 382.500 
E u e c u t i ~ c  Vice President and President 
Communications S e n  i c c s  

LIichael A I.ubin I908 I36.8JO 5.000 _ _  I5.000 
Vice President. (icneral Counsel and I907 136.1 15 _ _  _ _  _ _  

_- _ _  _ _  I907 

Secretary  

M i c l i a e l  L Brooks I998 102.000 38.780 -- 85,732 
._ - _ _  L'icc I'rcsideni. Nciuork Operations - I097 103,077 - 

* Except as stated herein. none o f  the above Named Executive Officers 
rcceibcd perquisites or other personal benefits in  excess o f  the lesser 
o f  S50,OOO or IO% o f  such individual's salary plus annual bonus. 

( I ) 

( 2 )  
in 1997. 

Consists o f  S 16,277 for club dues; S7,756 for lodging; SI  1,685 for airfare; and S4571 for other transporration. 

Lfr ,  Jalkut commenced employment with the Company in August 1997, and was compensated at a rate o f  S100.000 per annum 

( 3 )  Rciniburscmcnt for travel expenses. 

( 4 )  

( 5 )  

( 6 )  Consists of  SJ8.093 in residence settlement charges in Georgia; 599,319 in  residence settlement charges in Virginia; S22,780 i n  othcr 
mov ing eupenscs; and 5 I5,4 I O  in rent. 

k l r .  Schacffer's salary increased to S300,OOO per annum from S I  50,000 per annum in August 1997. 

blr. Bennisjoined the Company in  February 1998. 
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STO( h Ol'i'lO\ ( ;H. \NTS \ND ESERCISES 

Ti i t  t o l l o \ i  i i i c  t , i t i l t  , , c t j  t'urth thc  Jggregatc number o f  stock options granted to each o f  the Zuined Euccutike Officers during the t l s c ~ l  !cur ended 
Dci.L%trilici I I ,  100s siock options Jre cucrcisable to purchusc Common Stock of the Company. 

OPTION GRANTS IN LAST FISCAL YEAR 
\ 11 m her I) t' 
h u r i r i c s  loial Options .\.ciumed .\nnual Rate ol 'Stock 
I r iJcr l>iny iirantcd IO Exercise Price -\ppreciation h r  (hc Opiion 

Pcrccni o f  Potential Renli/Jhlr \ ' due  Jr 

OptlUIlS t(mplo)ees in Price Expirarion rcm 
F i x 3 1  \'car m e  Dure !& - i o o  y& 

l < i L h . i r L l  \ 1. i lL i11 5- S-. 5.- 5.. 

I).)\ i d  \LII.W tcr 

K c i i n  .I I k n t i i \  !bZ.50013) .- 1 7  '40a I 13 3 2 1  2008 l ,175,3-5 1.6(10841 1.4-9 5x1) 
20.000( 3 )  I S I " %  5 20 I 2  2 2008 b5.4i) j  I 0 5  ,-4O 

\ l i c h X  \ I u h n  I 5,000(31 l 3 5 " O  5.20 11.2 2008 49,!154 114.3 I1 

I S.OOOC3) - - 5 20 I 2  2 2008 - - \.lichJcl 1. l3rooks '0.73212) (1 39% I I3  3 24'2008 519.191 3 -8.5 (1 7 

( I ) The information disclosed assumes. solely for purposes o f  demonstrating potential realizable value o f  the stock options. that the 
fair niarkct value per share o fCommon Stock uas $5.20 per share (the fair markct value per share o f  Common Stock approbed by the 
Board of Directors in connection with stock option auards granted on December 2, 1998 and January 26. 1999, uh ich  awards had an 
cycrcise price cqual to the fair market value per share on the date o f  grant) as o f  December 3 1 ,  1998 and increases at the rate indicated 
during thc option term.  See Note I O  to the financial statements included elsewhere in this Report. 

(1) The options vest ratably over a three year period. The option may be transferred only by w i l l  or by the laws of descent and 
distribution. Upon a change o f  control o f  the Company and termination o f  optionee's employment without cause, the options that 
ibould otherwise become vested within one year w i l l  be deemed vested immediately before such optionee's termination. 

( 3 )  The options vest ratably over a four year period. The option may be transferred only by w i l l  or by the laws o f  descent and 
distribution. Upon a change of control of the Company and termination o f  optionee's employment without cause. the options that 
nou ld  otherwise become vested within one year will be deemed vested immediately before such optionee's termination. 

. 

Option Evcrciscs and Fiscal Year-End Option Values 

None ot'thc Named Euecutibe Officers exercised any options during the fiscal year ended December 3 I ,  1998. The following table sets forth as o f  
Dccciiibcr 3 I ,  1098. the aggregate number o f  options held by each o f  the Named Executive Officers. 

36 



FISCAL \ E \ R - E \ I D  O P T I O Y  C ALLES 
LunihLr u i  h c u r i t i e s  

i n i l c r l \ i n ~  i nexerciwd L d u e  0 1  1 nL ' ;L rL ixd  In- rhe-  
O m o n \  JI DecLniher 3 I ,  IOOX ! l i ~ n ~ \  Opiioiir i I j 

[ r i c x L r i i u b l i  \ 1 1 l l L  k i e r L i \ d i l c  I neierci,ablr 

I h L i 1  11,l \ I l l k ! l l  24(1 2 5  I j - 2  501 > I  I6C042 

\ l l L t l I L I  \ I1111111 111 465 I i I)l)O '31 3-1 
DJU~I 4 t h  i L t l L r  4104Ij ( 2 ,  

k ~ i  i r i  J I k r i r i i \  011 6 2 5  291 S-5 768 844 I l ob  < ? I  
\I lLil I L I  I l ~ l l l l l L \  - I C  1(10 I I ?  9411 

( I Lhd oil &iii ,i,,~iiiicd iniarkct price o f  the Common Stock of S5 2 0  per share 

( 2 )  One-hjlt ot \ l r  Schxffer's options. or 215 206 Lbould \ e s t  on January I. I999 at an cycrc ise  price o f  53 67 per shxe in  the 
c \cn t  that icrtain performance criteria related to 19'98 earnings habe been met The Board ot Directors' i s  currcntlv rc\ icning \\hcthcr 
these critcria &rere met See Cote 10 to the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements that appear clsc\bhcre in this A n n u l  Report on 
Form IO-K 

J A L K L T  E V P L O Y I l E N T  A G R E E M E N T  

The Employment Agreement among the Company and Richard Jalkut (the 'Jalkut Employment 4greement' ) took effect on August -I I997 m d  
expires on 4ugust 4. 2000 The Jalkut Employment Agreement \\ill renew automatically for successibe one-year terms unless terminated by either 
party Under the Jalkut Employment Agreement, Mr Jalhut is entitled to an annual base salary o f  S-100.000. subjcct to increase at the discretion o f  
the Company In dddition, Mr  Jalkut i s  entitled to participate in the Company's benefit plans on the same basis as other salaried employees of the 
Company and on the same basis as other senior executives o f  the Company and i s  entitled to reimbursement up to a total o f  S50.000 per year for 
ccrtain expenses including an apartment in the Washington D C area, club memberships and the expenses incurred by Mr  Jalkut commuting 
betbceen his Washington D C and 'dew York residences 

In addition. pursuant to the Jalkut Employment Agreement, on August 4, 1997 M r  Jalkut received nonqualified stock options on 858.754 shares ot 
Common Stock at an exercise price o f  S I  13 per share Such options wil l  vest ratably ober three years Under the Jalkut Employment Agreement. 
upon the election of Clr Jalkut within 10 business days after the date o f  termination o f  M r  Jalkut's employment with the Company, the Companv 
\rill be required to pay. subject to the te rms o f  the Indenture, to Mr  Jalkut the aggregate Fair Value (as defined in the Non-qualified Option 
Ayrcemcnt by dnd between the Company and Mr Jalkut dated August 4, 1997) o f  the options then vested or held by Clr Jalkut on the date of such 
termination of employment k i t h  the Company 

The Jalkut Employment Agreement (other than certain restrictive covenants o f  Mr  Jalkut that are described below and an o b l i g t i o n  of the 
company to pay scberance for one year following the termination o f  M r  Jalkut's employment with the Company) may be terminded ( I )  bk the 
Company ( a )  v.ithout cause by gibing GO days' prior written notice or (b) for cause upon the Board o f  Directors' confirmation that Mr  JJlkut has 
failed to cure the grounds for termination ikithin 30 days o f  notice thereof and (11)  by Mr  Jalkut (a) \cithout cause by giving I S O  davs' prior ibrittcn 
notice and (b)  immediately upon a 'Constructive Termination" (as defined below) The Jalkut Employment 4greement prohibits disclosure by L l r  
Jalkut ot m y  of the Company's confidential information at any time In 
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. i c i ~ ~ ~ i ~ , ~ ~ l ,  \ \ t l i l ~  t ic I \  s i i ip lo~cd by  the Company and for t n o  >car thereafter. J l r .  jalkut I S  prohibited from cnsayiny or signif i iantlb in\csting In 
~ ~ ) 1 1 1 ~ ~ i 1 1 i ~ :  I N I , I I I L , \ \  x r i ~  i t i c s  m d  frorn joliciting any Company employee to be employed elseuhcre. The C o m p m y  has granted \Ir J , i l k u t  
r~~i , I r , i l ion ii::lii\ \\ i i l i  respect to the shares he u i l l  receite upon cuercise o f  his options. "Coristructi\c Termination" i s  dctincd in thc JJlhLlt 
~ i l l ~ ~ l , ) \ l ! l c i i i  \ c i c c i i i c i i t  to n icm the occurrence. without \ l r  J d l k u t ' s  prior nritten consent. o f  one or more of the fol lo\ \ ins cbcnts' ( I J reduction In 
\ f r  J , I / ~ L I I ' ~  iJicI1 "tirrCiit Jni i i l j l  bJse salary or the termination or material reduction o f  any employee benefit or perquisite enjoyed by him (other t h m  
JS p ~ r t  0 1 '  .lii ,icross-thc-bodrd reduction applicable to 311 euecutire officers of the Company); ( 2 )  the failure to elect or reelect l l r .  J u l h u t  to the 
p~,it ion o t ' c l i i c i  c \ c c t l t i i e  officer or rcmolal  of  him from such position; ( 3 )  3 material diminution in Jlr. Jalkut's duties or the assignnlent to \ l r  
j u l k t ~ t  0 1 '  ~ i ~ i t i c 5  \ \ l l l c l l  are niaterially inconststent \kith his duties o f  nhich materially impair 41r. Jalkut's ability to function JS the chief c \ c c u t i \ c  
ufficcr o f  i l ic ('0111p11iy; ( 4 )  thc failure to continue Mr.  Jalkut's participation in any incentive compensation plan unless a plan pro\ d i n g  a 
j i 1 b j t ~ i i i i J l l >  \iriiil,ir opp,jrtunitk i j  substituted. or under certain other limited circumstances; or (51 the relocation o f  the Company's principal office 

o r  t I E K ,A(; H E E \ I  E \'IS 

\Ic.;srs Schaef'fkr, [,tibin. Brooks. Bcnnis m d  Smedberg each hare entered into Employee .Agreements Regarding Yon-Disclosure. .Ajsignn>ent o f  
In \en t ion j  m d  \on-('onipetition \ \ i th  the Company in Lrhich such persons agreed ( I )  not to disclose m y  o f  the Company's contidentid m d  
proprietary information to third parties. ( 1 1 )  to assign a11 work products to the Company as "norks for hire." and ( i i i )  not to compete JgJinjt  rhe 
Conipmy for J tno->car period folio\\ iny the termination ofthe respective person's employment ir ith the Company. 

In cuchanyc for the non-compete covenant and 3 restriction on soliciting any employee o f  the Company to be cmplo)cd e l s e n  here. the 
Company has agreed to pay Llr. Bennis a severance payment in the aggregate amount of S275,OOO paid over one hear if his employment t i  ith the 
Company i s  terminated for any reason. 
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I ' I ' ~ ' , \ I  I 2 .  st:('l HI'I'V O\\\;ERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFIC'I..\L OM SERS A N D  \I.ANAGE\IENT 

I.lic  illon on i r i l :  i,iI)lc \et.; tilrth cerfarn 1 ,  
100s h k  I I c x h  ~ C I \ N ,  hno\\n b) the Company to be the beneficial w n e r  of  more than f i \e  percent of the outstanding cJpital stock o f t h e  c o I 1 , p ~ n ~ .  

( 1 1 1  c,icIi h r c c t o r  o t  [ t ic  C'urnpJny. ( i i i )  cach o f t h e  Named Euecutr\c Officers m d  ( I \ )  a l l  directors and Named Euecutr\e Officers of  the Conlpanv J j  

n group [ ' i i l c \ s  othcr\\ isc indicJtcd. each of  the stockholders listed belo\\. hJs sole votiny and intestment power b b i t h  respect to the shjres jho \ \n  2s 

h c n c ~ f i c i ; i l l ~  o\\ rlcd b y  thcrn 

\ d l l l C  J11d \< ld l c r ,  Scrius /\  Prcli.rrcd Series B Prrt'erred Series c' Pretierrcd 

information concernins beneficial o\rnership of the capital stock of the Company a j  of  December 

.................. .................. .................. Coninion 
- Stock Share.( 2 )  Pcrci.n!ane Shares( ? Perccnrao_t. Shares( 2 Prrcentaze 

\pL,clrLllTl I t l \ l l i> l l l \ c ~ i , ~ l , ,  I I )  i l> l  _ _  l . 27~1 . l lO~l  440"h 1.1!4.175 13 7"" 1.363.4~10 16 T " , )  

Sptctrurii I q i i i l b  I i i i c ~ i ~ i r \  I I .  I I' 101 _ _  _ _  _ _  1,363,406 I ( ,  i",, 
Y e n  l.iiicipri\c \ , \ t ic ia ic\  \ ' I .  I i i i i i t cd  

Parrncr\hip ( 7 1  5'2.000 IX0"'o 685.014 I4 3":) 1.374.051 108"; 
Onset l:nlcrpri>c ,\b\ociaic< I I .  I. P (81 _ _  5 2 2 .ooo I Y 0'6 463.076 0 7"" 8 17.07' I O  O ' h  

Oi ihc t  I iitcrpriw , \ \wciarcs I l l . 1. I' 

272.553 3.3% _ _  -_  _-  -- _ _  
1 . 7 0 b  _ _  _ _  C'ornian l.'ouiidatioii Iiicorporatud ( 0 )  . . . . .  _ _  O(i.O68 3 3'31 85.924 

I:\I In\cbtmcnt Funda VIII .  Inc ( l A l  
L'alur Fund)(lO) . . . . . . .  _- '00.000 I O  0% I25.143 2 6'!6 
Thomas Domcncich ( I  I ) . . . .  _ _  I45.000 j 014 62.573 I 3% 
F B R  Technology Vcnrure Parmcrs 1. P 
( I ? )  . .  . . . . . . . .  _ _  _- -- _ _  272.550 3 3 O . h  

roronio Dominion ('apital (I ;St\)  Inc ( I  3 )  _ _  884.146 I 8  5% I ,006.jOO 12.3% 
884.146 18 5% 1.006.500 1?.3ii;1 t i rorcch Partners IV. L P ( 1 4 )  .- _ _  

L,'tcch C'limate ('hallcnge Fund. 1. P (15) _ _  _- 442.076 9.2%0 136.276 I 7?/u 
I:riiity C'onipctiti\c ,\d\antage Fund. LLC' 
( 1 5 )  . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  _ _  _ _  _ _  _ _  366,980 4 j o b  
Dab id Schael'kr( 16) 2.900.000 _-  _ _  
Richard A Jalkut  _ _  _ _  _ _  
Ke\ in  J Xlaroni ( I 7 1  . . _- _ _  _ _  _ _  _ _  
Petcr J I l a r r i s  (18)  ._ _ _  _ _  _- 
Parrick J Kcrins ( I C ) )  _ _  _ -  _ _  _ _  
Stephen h Kcinstadtler (20) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  _ _  _ _  _- _ _  _- _ _  .- 
blichael A I tlhin _-  _ _  _- _ _  _ _  _ _  ._ 
Ku\ in I knn is  _ _  -_ _- _ _  _ -  _ _  _ _  
L l ichael  I l3rooks. _-  -_ _ _  _ _  -_ _-  
Richard K f'rins . . _ _  _ _  _- -_ _ _  .- _ _  
:\I1 1)ircctors and Nanicd Execu t i \ e  

. . . . . .  _ _  _ _  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

_- 
_- -- _- _ _  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  _ _  _- _ _  _ _  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

_ _  _ _  . . . . . . . . . . . .  
_- _ _  _- . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
_ -  _ _  _ _  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

- . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  _ _  - -_ - _ _  - -- - -- Ot'ticurs as  a (;roup ?.000.000 - 
Beneficial Ownership 

Name 2nd Address of Common Stock ( I )  
Percentage ----------.__-_- ____----___-----___ 

Total Percentage on a 
-_-_-----_ Diluted Stock ____-  

ODtions(3] Shares !d Basis ( 5 )  

Spectrum Equity Investors. L.P. ( 6 ) .  ............................ -- 3,773,581 56.5?6 10.2% 
Spcclrum Equity In~estors I f .  L.P. ( 6 )  ................ -- I .363.406 3 1.796 6.096 
Sew Entcrprisc Associates VI. Limited 

.................................. -_  2.581.065 47.I?h I 3 .O?'o 

Onset Entcrprisc Associntcs I I .  L.P. (8)  -- I.503.648 3S.3% 9.2% 
Onset Enterprise .-\ssociaies Ill. L.P. 

( 8 )  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  -_ 272,553 8.6% I.I?/o 

L-\I Investment Funds VIII .  Inc. (IAl  
Comian Foundation Incorporated (9) ............................ -_  182.592 5.0% 0.9% 

Value Fund) ( IO) ................................ _ -  415.143 12.5% 2.1% 
'Tllorlias Domcncich ( I  I ). ...................... _ _  207.573 6.796 1 .O% 
FBR Tcchnoloyy Venture Partners L.P. _ _  272.556 8.646 I .4?6 
( 1 2 )  
Toronto Dominion Capit31 (USA) Inc. (13)  _-  I .890.646 39.4% 9.696 
Grotech Partners IV. L.P. (14 )  ............. _-  1,890,646 3').4% 9.6% 
Ufcch Climate Challcnye Fund. L.P. ( 1 5 )  _ _  578.352 16.6% 2.9% 
Ulility Competitive Adbantage Fund. LLC 
( 1 5 )  .... ................................................... _ _  366.980 I 1.2% I .8% 
D a k  id .................................................... _-  2.900.000 00.9% 14.7% 
Richard A .  Jalkut ........................................................ 256.25 I 286.25 I 9.0% 1.406 
Kekin J. Maroiii ( 1 7 )  _ _  -- _-  _ -  
Pctcr 1. Barris ( 1 8 )  -_  -- -- -- 

................................................... 
....................................................... 





j I I ( ' o i i s i \ t s  of thc s t i i n  o f  the shares o f  Common Stock o\\ned and shJrcs o f  Common Stock issuJblc upon the c\crcijc of  jtocl\ 
o p t l c m s  .iid upon the  con\c rs ion  o f  the Series Conicrtible Prcfcrred Stock Series. B Con\crtiblc Preferred srock j n d  ScrIcj c 
c o i i \ ~ r t i l ~ l c  Prcl'crrcd Stock that are evercisable or con\ertiblc \\ithit- 60  da)s d te r  December 3 I .  I W S .  

i 2 )  
\i irh [he pro\ i j i o n j  of the Company's Certificate o f  Incorporation and stock option plans. 

1.tlc shjrcs rcprcscnt the product o f  a stock split and the numbers shonn here are rounded to the \\hole number in jccordancc 

(4) I.hc ptrccntaye o f  beneficial o\\ncrship as to each person. entity or group assume the exercise or conbersions of  JII 
out<t,iiiihns options. \\Jrrants and consertible securities held by such person, entity or group ibhich are evercisable or con\ertiblc 
\ \ i i t i i i i  oi l  d J > j  .IS ot' Dcccniber ! I .  l9OS. but not the eYercise or contersion o f  options. v.arrants and con\ertible sccuritics hcld b)  
other hol i lc r j  j \ \  hcthcr or not  e\crcisable or conicrtible \\ ithin 60 days after December 3 I ,  1998.1 

( 5 )  \S J perccntJgc o f  the sum o f  the post split m d  rounded Common Stock. Scries A Conbertible Preferred Stock. Scries B 
C on\crrible Preferred Stock, Series C ConLertible Preferred Stock and options grmted m d  e\ercisable n i th in  60 d j q s  j t t c r  
Dcccnibcr ? I ,  I008 \ s  of December 3 I .  l O O & ,  91 5,765 options granted by the Company \bere e\ercisable 

( 6 )  
021 10 

The addrcss for Spectrum Equity InLestors. L P m d  Spectrum Equity Investors 1 1 .  L P i s  One International P l ~ c e  Bohron. \ I  A 

( 7 )  The address o f  h e w  Enterprise Associates VI, Limited Partnership i s  I I 19 Saint Paul Street, Baltimore. WD 11201 

( 8 )  The Jddress for Onset Enterprise Associates 11, L P m d  Onset Enterprise Associates I l l .  L P is 891 I Capital of  Teyas 
High ivq .  Austin, T.Y 78759 

( 9 )  
Thc address for IAl Investment Funds VII I ,  lnc. ( I A I  Value Fund) i s  
3700 First Bank Place. ,Minneapolis, %IN 55440. 
The address for Thomas Domencich i s  IO4 Benevolent Street, 
R I  02906, 
The address for FBR Technology Venture Partners L.P. i s  1001 19th 
Street North, ,Arlington. V A  22209. 
Thc address for Toronto Dominion Capital (USA)  Inc. i s  3 I West 52nd 
Street, New York. N Y  10019. 
.The address for Grotech Partners IV, L.P. i s  9690 Deereco Road, 
Timonium. MD 21093. 
The address for Utech Climate Challenge Fund, L.P. and Ut i l i ty  
Compctitipc Advantage Fund, L .L .C.  is c;o Arete Ventures, Two  Wisconsin 
Circle. Chevy Chase, )ID 20815. 
One-half of M r .  Schaeffer's options, or 21 5.206. 

certain performance criteria related to I998 earnings have been met. 
The Board of Directors' i s  currently reviewing whether these criteria 
\&ere met. See Note I O  to the Company's Consolidated Financial 
Statements that appear elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form IO-K. In 
the u c n t  that the Board of Directors determines that these stock 
options habc iested. Mr. Schaeffer's percentage held on a diluted basis 
\bould be I 5  7?/o.  
Clr. Maroni, \LhO i s  a l imited partner o f  the general partner o f  Spectrum 
and a general partner o f the  general partner of Spectrum Equity 
lnbestors If. L.P.. 
by  Spectrum Equity Investors, L.P. 
and Spectrum Equity Investors 11, L.P. 
,Vr.  Barris, i c  ho i s  general partner of the general partner o f  New 
Enterprise Associates VI,  Limited Partnership, disclaims beneficial 
ownership o f  the shares owned by New Enterprise 
Partnership. 
Mr. Kerins, Managing Director o f  the general partner of Grotech 
Partners JV, LP, disclaims 
Grotech Partners IV,  LP. 
Mr. Rcinstadtler, Vice President and Director of Toronto Dominion 
Capital ( U S A )  Inc., 
by Toronto Dominion Capital (USA)  Inc. 

The address for Corman Foundation Incorporation i s  100 Brookwood Road. Atmore, A L  36502 

Providence, 

would Vest on January 
I ,  1909. at  an exercise price o f  S3.67 per share, in the event that 

disclaims beneficial ownership o f  the shares owned 

Associates VI, Limited 

beneficial ownership of the shares owned by 

disclaims beneficial ownership o f  the shares owned 
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Pur.;ii,iiit I O  ,in I i i \c\t i i icnt j nd  Stockholders' .Agreement, dated as o f  August 2 s .  1995 (the "Series A Purchase Agreement"). by m d  Liiliong the 
('oiiip,iny ,iiitf \;l)cctrtim Equity Intestors. L.P., Sew Enterprise Associates \'I. Limited Partnership. Onset Enterprise Associates 11. L P . [..\I 
In\c\ t i i icnt  I~ii1t1, L'III. Inc , 'Thomas Domencich. Dennis R. Patrick and the C o r "  Foundation Incorporated. (together. the "Series -\ 
Ptirciiascrs") , in t [  [ ) d \ i d  Schacffer. the Series A Purchasers made their initial inbestments in the Company. The Series A Purchasers ( 1 )  jgrccd.  
,uI)Jcct tu the s.it i \ l~ction 01' ccr t j in  conditions, to purchase in the aggregate 1,000.000 shares o f  Series A Conbertible Preferred Stock for j n  
JilcrcgJrc _. purch,i\c price o f  S I  0 million. ( 1 1 )  purchased jOO.000 shares o f  such 1.000.000 shares o f  Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for j n  
Jc:rcgJtc - _  purch,isc p l c c  o f  S ~ r ) ~ ) , ~ ) ~ ) ~ )  m d  ( 1 1 : )  agreed to make a\ailable to the Company. under certain circumstances. bridge loans in an jggrcgj tc 
principJl ,inioiint 01' $jo() ,o i )O ( the "Bridge Loan Commitment"). Pursuant to Amendment No. I to the Investment and Stockholders' Agreement. 
d j tcd  Js o f  I . ' cb ruq  S .  10%. the Series .A Purchasers purchased the remaining 500,000 shares of Series ,A Conwxtible Preferred Stock for j n  
Jggregatc purchjsc price o t  jSoO.oo0. Pursuant to Amendment So. 2 to the Iniestment and Stockholders' .Agreement dated ,ls o f  .August 2, 1900, the 
Series ;I Purchdscrs. among other things. increased the amount o f  the Bridge Loan Commitment to an aggregate principal amount o f  S700,oi)i) j nd  
ad\anccd s u c h  m o u n t  to the Company. such loans being evidenced by bridge loan notes (collectively, the "Bridge Loan Notes"). The Bridge LoJn 
Uotcs carried an interest rate o f  1296 per annum and \bere due and payable in full on the earlier to occur of the first anniLcrsary o f  the issuance of  the 
Bridge Loan Notes or the closing date o f  the Company's next equity financing. The Bridge Loan Notes uere to be con\crtiblc into m> future cquit? 
security issued by the Company at 73% o f  the price to be paid for such security by other investors. In addition. the Series ,A Purchasers Jgreed to 
make abailable to the Company, upon the occurrence of certain events, additional bridge loans in an assregate principal amount of S!OO.oO( )  (the 
"Additional Bridge Loan Commitment"). 

SERIES B PURCHASE .ACREE.MEYT 

The Company. each of thc Series A Purchasers and seberal ddditional purchasers (together, the "Series B Purchasers") and Mr Schxffer entered 
into an Inkestment m d  Stockholders' Agreement, dated as o f  December 23, 1996 (the "Series B Purchase 4greement"). pursujnt to ikhich. a " g  
other things. the Series B Purchasers agreed to acquire in the aggregate I ,65 1.046 shares o f  Series B Conbertible Preferred Stock for an qgregate 
purchase price o f  S5 0 mi l l ion O f  these amounts, 609.756 shares o f  Series B Convertible Preferred Stock were purchased on December 23, I996 for 
an aggregate purchase price o f  S2 0 mi l l ion  In  addition. the S700,OOO principal amount o f  Bridge Loan Notes, plus S33,367 of accrued interest. uere 
converted into 306.242 shares o f  Series B Convertible Preferred Stock At  the same time. the Series A Purchasers paid S300.000 representing the 
committed but undra\\n portion of the Additional Bridge Loan Commitment to the Company for the sale of 125,292 sharcs o f  Series B Conkertiblc 
Preferred Stoch The Series B Purchmrs  purchased the remaining 609,756 shares of Series B Conkertible Preferred Stock subject to the Series B 
Purchase Agrccment for S2 0 mi l l ion on June 18. 1997 See Note 9 to the financial statements included elsewhere in this Report 



SEHIES ( '  1'1 H ( ' I I  \ S E  . . I C R E E \ I E S T  

I ' i lc ( ' ( i i i ip , iny,  itic \;cries .\ Purchasers. the Series B Purchasers m d  one additional purchaser (together the "Series C Purchasers") j n d  \ l r  
\ch,ict't'cr c , i i t c ic I l  into the I n \  cst i i icnt 2nd StocLholdcrs' .Agrccmcnt. dated October 3 I .  1997. ;IS amended ( the " I n \  estnient 2nd StockholJcrs' 
. \grcci i icnt").  l> i i r j i i , i i i t  io i i h i c h .  among  other things. the Series C Purchasers agreed to Jcquire 2.819.549 shares o f  Series C Con\er t ib lc  Preferred 
Stvch t'ur ,111 , icgrcgj lc purchj?;c pr ice o f  S30.0 mi l l i on .  The Series C Purchasers purchased 939.850 shares of Series C Con\cr t ib le  Preferred Stock 
for an ,icgrcg,irc p\lrchusc price or' S10.0 million on October 3 1 ,  1097, 2nd purchased an additional 1.879.699 shares o f  Series C Con \c r t i b l c  
Prcfcrrccl S tock  ['or ,In 2 g g r ~ ~ ~ t c  purchase price o f  S20.0 mi l l i on  simultaneously \cith the closing o f  the Debt O f fe r i ng  In connection n i t h  the 
I n \  cst i i icnt jnci \tocl\holdcrs' ..\Srccmcnt. the Company. the holders o f  Preferred Stock ( co l l ec t i~~e ly .  the "In\estors") and Clr.  Schaeft'er agreed to 
Ji l lcnd Jnd rc\tatc. 111 part. tllc Series ,A Purchase Agreement and the Series B Purchase Ayreement. These amendments restated the pro\isions o f  
,uch acrcciiicnts rcidring to J f f i rmat i i  e and negative covenants. transfer restrictions, rights to purchase and registration r ights. These sections o f  each 
or' the Scrics .\ I'iirc/i.isc .\srccment. the m e n d m e n t s  thereto, and the Series B Purchase .Agreement \bere similar in a l l  material respects In  order to 
ren io \c  j n )  h i h t  JS io this fact. to j in ip l i f \ .  matters and for conbenience ( t o  have in one agreement the material prot is ions that j u n i \ c  the purchase 
and d c  o t r h c  Scrics A ( 'on\cr t ib lc  Preferred Stock, Series B Conbert ible Preferred Stock and Series C C o n ~ e r t i b l e  Preferred Stock ( c o l l c c t i ~ e l \ .  the 
"Series Prcfcrrcd Stock") and the c los ing o f  an init ial  publ ic  o f fer ing) .  the aforementioned sections i tere amended and restated in  the Investment m d  
S t oc k h o Id c r s'  :\ g rcc nic n t , See " - - I n v e st me  n t and S toc k ho  I d ers' A g ree me n t . " 

T E R h I S  O F  T H E  SERIES P R E F E R R E D  STOCK 

EJch share o f  Scrics Preferred Stock i c i I I  dutomatical ly be conberted into Common Stock immediately upon the closing o f  a q u d i t i e d  public 
o f fer ing o f  cJpitJI stock o f  the Company  A qual i f ied publ ic  o f fer ing IS defined as ( I )  the Company i s  Lalued on  a pre-money basis at g r u t e r  t h m  
S50,000,000, ( i i  j the gross proceeds received b y  the Company e w e e d  SZO.000.000. and (iii j the Company uses a national ly recognired undenvriter 
Jpproved b y  holders o f  J. major i ty  interest o f  the Series Preferred Stock As o f  December 3 I ,  1908, the Series Preferred Stock \bas conLertible into m 
dggregJte o f  I j .S61,715 s h m s  o f  C o m m o n  Stock 

E x h  share o f  Series Preferred Stock entitles its holder to a number o f  botes equal to the number o f  shares o f  Common Stock into \b hich such share o f  
Series Preferred Stock i s  convert ible With respect to the Board o f  Directors o f  the Company, pr ior  to the complet ion o f  a qual i f ied publ ic  offering ( I )  

the holders o f  Series 4 Conbert ible Preferred Stock are enti t led to vote separately as a class to elect t w o  directors o f  the Company ( the "Series A 
Inkcstor Directors"). ( 1 1 )  the holders o f  Series B Convert ible Preferred Stock are entitled to vote separately as a class to  elect one director (the "Series 
B Inbestor Director"),  (ii i) the holders o f  the Series C Convert ible Preferred Stock are entitled to vote separately as a class to  elect one cfirector ( to 
"Series C In tcs to r  Director"),  ( iv)  the holders o f  the C o m m o n  Stock are entitled to bote separately as a class to elect t h o  directors (the "Common 
Stock Directors"). ( b )  thc ch ief  euecutive off icer (the "CEO") o f  the Company i s  Jppointed b y  the df f i rmdt ibe bote o f  the Common Stock Directors 
m d  the Scrics A Inbestor Directors, Series B Investor Director and Senes C Investor Director, vot ing together. and ( v i )  the CEO wi l l  be elected to the 
B o d  of Directors o f  the Company b y  the holders o f  C o m m o n  Stock and Series Preferred Stock, vot ing together 
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['tic t io l t lc i ,  t ~ i ' i t i c  Ycrics Prctcrrcd Stock are entitled to receibe dikidends in preference to and at the same rate as d i \  idends j r c  pJ1d \$ Ith rcspcct 
io i t i c  ( ' o i i i i i i t r r i  \ i ock  In  the c i c n t  o f  j n y  liquidation. dissolution. \t inding up or deemed liquidrttion of the Company. \\herher \oluntary i)r 
i n ~ o l u f l i J r ~ ,  c.icl i Iiolticr o t j  \ n x e  o!'Scrics Preferred Stock outstandins i s  entitled to be p i d  before any paynent ma> be niade to [he holders L~(~~l \ .  

~IJ,,  ot ' ( 'or i i i i iot1 Stock or stock rmk ing  on liquidation junior to the Series Preferred Stock. an amount. in cash. equal to the original purchjjc. 
price p.iid t7) \tic11 holder. Jppropriatel) adjusted for stock splits. stock dib idends and the like. plus any declared but unpaid di\.idends. 

'rile Series ,\ ( 'o i l \cr t ib lc Preferred Stock. Series B Conbcrtiblc Preferred Stock 2nd Series C Conbertible Preferred Stock ,A,  Series B m i  
Series ( '  f'ictkrrctl Stock \\ere SI. i )o i l .OOO. Sj,033,367,  and S3O.OOO.Oj2. respectively. as o f  December 31,  1998. In the w e n t  the ;1sSets of  the 
('onipany in4iit ' t ' icicnt to pay liquidation preference amounts. all o f  the assets abailable for distribution shall be distributed to each holder o f  Series 
PrcVcrrcd Stock pro r,ttj in pruportion to the number ofshares o f  Series Preferred Stock held by such holder. 

Shjrcs of the Series I'rcfcrrcd Stock may be conierted at any time. at the option o f  the holder, into shares o f  Common Stock. The number o f  jharcs 
of \orins C'oiiinion Stock to be rccci\ed upon conbersion i s  subject to adjustment in the ekent of  stock dividends m d  subdi\idends. cumin  
conibinations ot'('onimon Stock. Jnd isstiances o f  Common Stock and o f  securities convertible into Common Stock that habe a dilut i \e  ef fect .  ,AS of  
Dccciiibcr 3 I ,  1008. cJch share o f  Series Preferred Stock \ \as convertible into 1.9 shares of Common Stock. 

I N \' E S T  1 1 E N T , \ N D S TOC K H 0 L D E R S  ' A G RE E .\I EN T 

Pursuant to the te rms o f  thc Inbestment and Stockholders' Agreement. the Investors and M r  Jalhut are entitled to certain rcyistrdion rights t i l th  
respect to securities of  the Company On  any three occasions at the option o f  the holders, the holders o f  a majority of the securities registrable under 
thc t e r m s  of  thc Inbestment and Stockholders' Agreement ("Registrable Securities") may require the Company to effect 3 registration under the 
Securities Act of  1933 o f  their Registrable Securities. subject to the Company's right to defer such registration for a period of  up to GO days In 
Jddition, i f  the Company proposes to register securities under the Securities Act of 1933 (other than a registration relating either to the s ~ l e  of  
securities to cmployces pursuant to 3 stock option, srock purchase or similar plan or 3 transaction under Rule 145 o f  the Securities Act). then any o f  
the holders of  Registrable Securities have the right (subject to certain cut-back limitations) to request that the Company register such holder's 
Registrable Sccurirics 411 registration erpenses o f  the Inbestors (erclusive o f  underwriting discount m d  commissions) up to S60.000 per offering 
w i l l  be bome by the Company The Company has agreed to indemnify the Investors against certain liabilities in connection with any registration 
effected pursuant to the foregoing terms. including liabilities arising under the Securities Act 

LEASE F R O M  T H E  K E N I L W O R T H  PARTNERSHIP 

The Company has entered into the Headquarters Lease for approximately 10.195 square feet of office space from the Keni luorth Partnership, J 

gcnerd partnership of uh ich  David Schaeffer, a director of the Company, i s  general partner Tne rental rate i s  approximately S20 per square foot. 
plus fccs to cobcr the Company's proportional share of real estate tares and insurance premiums relating to the 
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ITt:\l 14. t:NlllBl'l'S, FIS.-\SCI.AL STATE\IENT SCHEDULES .AND REPORTS ON FORhI 8-K 

(4) I tic l ' o l lowng documents arc filed as part o f  this report 

( I ) I ' i i imci,i l  Statcnicnts 

( ' onw l id~ tcd  l3alancc Sheets as o f  December 3 I ,  I098 and I997 

C'onsolidatcd Statements of Operations for the years ended December 3 I 1998. 1997 And 1996. and for the period .August 25 .  1095 idJtc 
o f  inccption) i o  Dcccinbcr 3 I ,  I ( N 8  

Consolid.iteJ Statenients o f  ComprehensiLe Loss for the years ended December 31. 1008, I997 and 1996. and for the period . \ u y s t  2 5 .  
I 9 0 5  ( h t c  ot inccpt ion) to December 31, I998 

Consolidated Statements o f  C s h  Flows for the years ended December 3 I, 1998. I997 and 1996, and for the period August 35. 1 0 0 5  (&tc 
of inception) to December 3 I ,  I998 

Consolidatcd Statement of Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) for the years ended December 31,  1998. 1997 and 1996. and for the period .Auyust 
25. I995 (date o f  inccption) to December 3 I, 1908 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

( 2 )  Finmcial Statement Schedules 

A l l  schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or not required or because the required information i s  incorporated herein by 
reference or included in  the financial statements or notes thereto included elsewhere in this report. 

( b )  Reports on Form 8-K. 

On October 6, 1998% the Company filed a report on Form 8-K probiding information under Items 5 and 7 The Report, dded October 
6 ,  I998 announced the expansion o f  the Company's management team to include three new additions to i ts  nationdl sales force 

( e )  Exhibits 

The following exhibits are filed as a part o f  this Annual Report on Form 
IO-K: 

EX H I BIT NU >I BER 'DESCRI PTlON OF DOCU 11 ENT 

3 , l ( l )  Amended and Restated Certificate o f  Incorporation o f  the 
Company and Certificate o f  Amendment to such Certificate o f  
I ncorpora t ion. 

3 . 3  I ) Amended and Restated Bylaws o f  the Company. 

l . l +  Indenture between the Company and The Bank o f  New York. 
trustee. dated Apr i l  8, 1998. 

Pledge Agreement by and among the Company, The Bank o f  New 
York. as 
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trustee, and The Bunk of Ucw York. as securities intermediary, 
dated April S. 1998 

10.3(2)* 

I O  o *  

10.7* 

I0.8* 

Form o f  New bote. 

Form of Existing Note (included in Exhibit 4 I )  

Lldsrer Agreement by m d  between the Company and NEC America. 
Inc , dxed August 8, 1997, as amended by Amendment Yo I ,  
d m d  Yo\ember 9, 1997 and Amendment No 2, dated April 2. 
I008 

Amcndmcnt So 3. dated May 1, 1998 to Master 
bet\\ecn the Company and NEC America, lnc. 

Agreement by and 

Amendment Yo 4. dated July I O ,  I998 to Vaster Agreement by 
and bemeen the Company and YEC America, Inc 

Amendment No 5 ,  dated C'ovember 20, I998 to Master Agreement 
by m d  between the Company and NEC America, Inc 

EmploymentAgreement by and between the Company and Richard 
A Jalkut, dated August 4, 1997, as amended by Amendment to 
Employment Agreement, dated April 6, I998 

Non-Disclosure, Assignment of Inventions and Non-Competition 
Agreement by and between the Company and Kevin Bennis, dated 
February 2, I998 

Pathnet, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan. 

Pathnet, lnc. 1097 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended by 
Amendment No. I to 1997 Stock Incentive Plan. 

Notes Registration Rights Agreement by and among the Company 
and Merrill Lynch & CO., Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith 
Incorporated, Bear, Steams & Co. Inc., TD Securities (USA) 
Inc. and Salomon Brothers Inc (collectively, the "Initial 
Purchasers"), dated April 8, 1998. 

Warrant 
New York, as warrant agent, dated April 8, 1998. 

Warrant Registration Rights Agreement by and among the 
Company, Spectrum Equity Investors, L.P., New Enterprise 
Associates VI, Limited Partnership, Onset Enterprise 
Associates 11, L.P., FBR Technology Venture Partners, L.P., 
Toronto Dominion Capital (U.S.A.) Inc., Grotech Partners IV. 
L.P., Richard A. Jalkut, David Schaeffer and the Initial 
Purchasers, dated April 8, 1998. 

Investment and Stockholders Agreement, dated as of October 3 I ,  
1997 (the "Investment and Stockholders' Agreement"), by and 
among the Company and certain stockholders of the Company. 

Agreement by and between the Company and The Bank of 

Consent, Waiver and Amendment, dated as o f  March 19, 1998, 
relating to the Investment and Stockholders' Agreement. 
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t\nicndmcnt Yo I to the Inbestment and Stockholders' Agreement, 
h t c d  ~ s o f X p r i l  I ,  1998. 

IO IO* 

21 I ( I )  

2 7 , I ( l )  

+ 

++ 

* 

* I  

Lcasc .-\greemcnt. by and betibeen 671 5 Kenil\corrh Abenue General 
Pxtncrship and the Company. dated August 9, 1997, as amended 
by Amendment to Lease, dated March 5 ,  I998 

Sccond Amendment to Lease, dated June I .  I998 

Third Amendment to Lease. dated September I 1998 

Con-Qudlificd Stock Option Agreement by and 
C onipmy m d  Richxd A Jalkut, dated August -1, 1997 

Non-Qudified Stock Option Agreement by and 
Company and Dab id Schaeffer, dated October 3 I, 1997 

Subsidiaries of the Company 

Financial Data Schedule for the year ended December 3 1, I998 

IncorporJted by reference to Exhibit 10 I9  to the 

between 

between 

the 

the 

Company's 
Registration Statement on Form S - l  (Registration NO. 
333-52247) filed by the Company \kith the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 8, 1998 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 20 to the Company's 

333-52247) filed by the Company with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 8, 1998 

Incorporated by reference to the corresponding 
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-I (Registration No 
333-52247) filed by the Company with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 8, 1998, as amended by Amendment 
No I to such Registration Statement filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on July 16, 1998, as further amended 
by Amendment No 2 to such Registration Statement filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 27, 1998, and 
as further amended by Amendment No 3 to such Registration 
Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
August I O ,  1998 

Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration N O  

exhibit to the 

Incorporated by reference to the corresponding 
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No 
333-53467) filed by the Company with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 22, 1998, as amended by Amendment 
Yo I to such Registration Statement. 

exhibit to the 

Filed herewith. 

Constitutes management contract or compensatory arrangement. 
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SIGN .AT Li RES 

Pursuant to the requirements o f  Section 13 or l 3 d )  o f  the Securities Exchange 
lct ot I ' ) lJ itic Kcgi j t r jnt  hJs du ly  c u s e d  this report to be signed on i ts  behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authowcd, in the District ot 
ColunihiJ on this IOrh d ~ y  o f  M x c h  1999 

PATHNET, INC. 

B v  SI Michael A Lubin 

Came Michael A Lubin 
Title L i c e  President. General Counsel And 

Secretary 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Pursuant to thc requirements o f  the Securities Exchange Act o f  1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behd f  of the 
Registrmt and in the capacities and on the dates indicated 

S IGNATLRE T I T L E  D A T E  

si  Richard A Jalkut 
____-_______-___-_____ Chief  Executive Officer and 
R ichxd  A Jalkut Director 

i s /  Wil l iam R Srnedberg V 
......................... Corporate Development 
Wi l l iam R Smedberg, V 

March 16, 1999 

Executive Vice-president 

(Principal Accounting and 
Financial Officer) March 16, 1999 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  Director March , I999 
David Schaeffer 

/ s /  Peter J B~ r r i s  Director March 17. 1999 

Peter J Barris 

/ s /  Kevin J Maroni D i rector 

Kevin J Maroni 

/s/ Patrick J Kerins 

Patrick J Kerins 

is/  Richard K. Prins 

Richard K Prins 

i s /  Stephen A Reinstadtler 

Stephen A Reinstadtlcr 

March 1 I .  I999 

March 17. 1999 

March 15. I999 
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F- I 
PATHNET, INC. 

INDEX TO FIN.ANCI. - \L STATElIENTS 

Itcport ot' Independent ,Accountants 

( ' o r i ~ l i d ~ i t c d  Bdldncc Sheets JS o f  December 3 I ,  I908 dnd 1097 

( ' o i i ~ o l i h t c d  Statements of Operations for the years cnded December 3 I .  
I l)%s, I007 and iOO6, and for the period August 25.  1995 (date o f  
inccption) to December 3 I .  199s 

( o i i d h t c d  Ctdtcnients o f  Comprehensibe Loss for the yexs  ended 
1)cccnibcr 3 I .  1008. I997 and 1996, dnd for the pcriod August 25, I995 
( d d c  o f  inception) to December 3 I ,  1998 

C'onsol idnd Statemcnts o f  Cash F1ov.s for the years cnded December 3 I, 
IOO8, I907 and 1996, and for the period August 2 5 ,  1995 (date o f  
Inception) to December 3 I .  1998 

Consoliddted Stdtement o f  Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) for the years 
ended December 3 I ,  1998. I907 and 1996, and for the period August 25 ,  
I995 (date of inception) to December 3 I ,  1998 

Votes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
F- I 

Page 
F-2 

F-3 

F-4 

F-5 

F-6 

F-7 

F-8 



Report o f  Independent ,Accountants 

1'0 rhc llo.ird of  Dirccrors Jnd Stockholders Pathnet. Inc 

In  our  opinion. ihc consolidJtcd financial statements listed in the Jccompanying index present fairly. in all material respects. the financial posirlon 
of' Pjihnct. Inc m d  i t s  subsidiaries ( the Company) at December 3 I ,  1908 and 1997. and the results o f  their operations and their cash tlo\\s for each of  
the rhrce )crlrs in the period ended December 3 I, I908 and for the pcriod August 2 5 ,  I995 (date o f  inception) to December 3 I. 1998, in conformity 
\\ irh generally ~ c c c p t c d  Jccounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility o f  the Company's management: our responsibility IS 

to express Jn opiriiun on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance \ \ i th generally 
acccptcd Litiditins \tanJards. \\ hich require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
arc free o r  riiatcrial iiiisjtatcment. ,An audit includes examining. on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statcmcnts, assessins thc accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management. and ebaluating the o\erall financial statement 
presentation I k ' c  bclic\c that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 

PriceuaterhouseCoopers LLP 

ClcLean. V A  
February 1-1, IO09 
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Re\ ctit ic 

Operating c x p c i i w  
C ' i h t  (11 r c \c i iuc  
Scl l ing.  y i i c r a l  arid adniinihtrati\c 
KcIcarch and dc\cli ipinent 
Llcprccialion ctpci i>c 

r(1tai iincratine exot'nses 

Net operating loss 
Interest evpeiise 
Interest income 
W rt te-o l't' of in i t  i a1 pub I IC o I't'eri ng costs 
Other income (expense). net 

Net loss 

Basic and diluted loss per 
commiin share 

Weighted aberagr number of 
common >hares outstanding 

P.4THNET. INC. 
( ,A  Development Staye Enterprise) 

CON SOL I DATED STAT E3l ENTS OF OPERATIONS 
For [he period 
.August 2 5 .  1905 

(date of inception) 
lo December 3 I ,  

For [he !car ended 
1)ccenibc.r 3 I ,  
________________________________________-- - -  

I oox  - I"? I 008 

51,583,539 5 I 62.300 s1.ooo SI .747,0?9 

- 

7.547.620 _- _ -  7.547.6?0 
0.615.867 4.?47.101 1.333294 l5,6?5.!40 

732.813 .10.632 ').021 '58.83 I 
_ _  

17.896.300 4,293,743 1,312.3 I8 13.06l .XOO 

(16.3 I 2.761 ) (~ .131 .?43)  ( I  ,341.3 18)  ( 2 2 . 1  14.761 ) 
(32.572.154) -_ ( 4  15,357) (32.987.81 I )  
13.940.240 159,343 I 3.040 14.1 15.136 
( I  ,354534) _ _  -- ( I  ,354,5343 

?.913 L.5500) - -_ (?.j87) 

S( 36.296596) SC 3.977.400) S( 1.743.635) s(42.444.457) 

2.902.029 2.900.000 2.900.000 2.900.60S 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

F - 4  



P \THNET, IYC. 
A Debclopmcnt Stage Enterprise) 

COSSOLlDATEd STATE3IENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

For the period 
At~gust  2 5 .  1905 

(date of inception) 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  to December 3 I ,  

I007  I908 - I008 - 

I or the year ended 
December 3 i I 

S(36.296.596) S( 3.977.400) S ( i  ,743.635) S(42.444,457) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
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PATHNET, INC. 
( .A Development Stage Enterprt 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF C 

i 

10()8 

( J, l i  Ihi\r.; filii11 i ipcr . i i i t ig  x r i \  i t ics 

\cr l O \ S  506,296,596) 
\ , l~u~ in icn t  lo  r c c o i i c i l e  ilct lo \ \  io  nct c%h uqed in oper3ling 

I)eprcciJtion cxpcnw 732.5 I 3  
\moni/.min ~i1 '~Ietk i rcd tinanciny cu5ts 842.790 
L o 5 3  011 I I I > ~ ' \ a l  \)l'.i\\ct 
\Vri IC-O 1 f o I( tie t'erred t i  inane in$ cosis 581,334 
Inrcre\t cxpen\e rcsiilriny t'rom ;lmoniLation of discount on 
the h n d a  pJy;lble 307.125 
Sroch baaed compensation 70 1.295 

d C I I \  I I 1 L . C  

Interest expense for benelicial con\crsion feature of 
hridye l o m  
Accrued intercst satislied by contersion o f  bridge loan to 
Series B contcniblc preferred stock 
C'hanycs in assets and liabilities: 
Interest receibable (4346.952) 
Prepaid erpenses and other current assets (156.935) 
Accounts payable 6.709 
Accrued interest 8.932.294 
Deferred rebcnue 
Accrued erptnses and other liabilities 339.688 

\e t  cash used in operating acribities 

('ahh Ilour from investing actib i t ies. 
t xpnd i tu rcs  b r  netuork in progress (33.619.342) 
Erpcnditures for propeny and equipment (2,769,076) 
Purchase of markctahle securities available for sale (169.587.3 19) 
Purchase of marketable securities - pledged as collateral (83.097.655) 

22.271,181 
Kchirictcd cash (9.971.142) 
Irsuancc o f  note receivable to incumbent (3.206.841) 

(28.856.435) 

Salc t i l  markehble \ecurities - pledged as collateral 

Kcpiiymcnt 01' note rccei\nble L).ooo 

\et cash used in inicsting acti\ i t ies ~279.971.194~ 

Issuance u f \o t i ng  Jnd non-boring common stock 
Cash I l o i b s  from linancing x t i b  i t ies: 

Proceeds from sale o f  preferred stock 
Procceds from sale o f  Series B conbertible 
representing the conbersion of committed bur undrawn portion 
ofbndge loan to Series I3 con\ertible prererred stock 
Proceeds from bond offering 
Proceeds from bridge loan 

Pakment of issuance costs for preferred stock offerings 
Payment of deferred financing costs 

_- 
19.999.998 

preferred stock 

3 50.000.000 

8 1  Exercise ofemployee common srock options 

I I .68 1.947) 

\e t  cash probided by linnncing activities 

\ e t  increase in cash and cash equi~alenrs 
Cash and c a h  equibalents a t  the beginning ofperiod 

('Jhh and cash cquibalents JI the end ot'penod 

Supplemental disclosure: 
C'Jsh paid for interest 

Uoncash in\  esting and tinanciny transactions: 
('onbersion ol'bridge loan plus accrued interest to 

358.3 18. I32  

49.490.503 
7.83 1.384 

557.32 1.887 

522.27 1.234 

Series B con\cnihle prckrred stock 

yo on\ ersion of non-voting common stock to voting common stock 

Issuance ofboting and non-\oting common stock 

- L- 
- k 
& 

.\cquisition o fnc tuork  equipment financed by accounts payable 

Thc accompanying notcs arc an integral part of these consolidated financial 

5 10.200.650 

statements. 

se ) 
:ASH FLOWS 

For the period 
,\ugu,t 2 5 .  1005 

(date ot'inceprion) 
to December 3 I 
- 1098 

year ended 
ecember 3 I .  

- I997 - I996 

S(3.977.400) 

46.642 

5,500 

9.024 

307.  I25 
' 0  1.295 

3 8 1,990 381.990 

33.367 33.367 

( I  ,695) 
I 10.094 

(4.846.952) 
(205.505) 
507.614 

8.932.294 

639.687 
_- 

133.775.087). 

(46.376) 
386.106 

269.783 

(3,3 16.245) [ 1,193,283) 

(1.739.782) 
(381.261) _- 

(760.2 I I ) _ _  
_- - 

(46.653) _ _  
(35,359,124) 

(3.205.893) 
(169.587.319) 

(83,007,655) 
?2.271.181 

( 10.731.353)  
(3.206.841) 

').ooo 

1 !82.908.004) (46,653) (2.88 1.254) 

I.000 
35.000.052 12,000.054 

_ _  
2.500.000 

300.000 

700.000 

(25.000) 
_ _  
_ _  - 

300.000 
3 50.000.000 

700.000 
81  

(63.780) 
( 1  1.932.375) 

374,004.978 

_ _  
_- 

(38.780) 
(2.50.428) 

3,475.000 

2.235.064 
Xz.073 

92.3 18.037 

I1.710.846 

5 . 5  13.347 
2.3 18.037 

$7.831.384 

57.32 1.887 _ _  - 
557,32 1.887 

$22271.234 

5733.367 

SIJ.500 

& 

5733.367 

5500 

5'),ooo 

- 
- 

5 10.?00.650 
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P..\TkINET INC. 
( A  De\elopment Stage Enterprise) 

ST.4TEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) 

for the years ended December 3 1 ,  1906. I997 and 1998 
i'crioil !'tom .\ugu.;r 2 5 ,  1005 c h t c  of inception) to December 3 I I995 and 

De tic i t  

\ole ~\ccumulated Accumulated 
Kcccitable :\dditional Other During 

C'ommon Stock From Deferred Paid-in Comprehensiie Debelopment 
SharL.s .Amount Stockholder Comoensation C ' a ~ i t a l  -e & - Tot31 

ILl.incc Jt \cigtirt  2 5 ,  i l l 0 5  s-- s--  S--  5.- 5- s--  s--  
I \ \u.mcc i l l ' \  i t t ing Lo i i i r i i un  .;lock I .450.1)00 I4.500 (4.500) ( 9.500 ) 5i )O 

I \ \  iirl nc L' ( I  I '  \ ( 1  n. i t I t I 11 i: L O  in miin c t tic h (9.5110) 5 0 0  
\ct loss  - - - - - - (4?6.8?6) L 1 2 6  X!b) 

( ' ance i l~ t i on  o I ' \ o n - i o i ~ n g  common stock ( I  .-l50.000) ( l4.500) ( l4 .500)  
Isuance v i  L'IIII~LJ common \rock I .450.000 I4.500 l4.SOO 

Uct loss - - - - - - (1,743,6351 [ I ,74.?,(1.?5) 

I.450.000 I4.500 14.500) _ _  

t lalance .I[ I)cccnihcr i I ,  1905 2.900.000 29.000 19.000) (445,826) (425.Y26) 

Interest cipcnse ior heneticial conbusion 
feature oi 'hridse loan 381.990 3 8  1.990 

Balance at December 3 I. I996 
\et loss 

Balance 31 December 3 I, 1097 
Exercise ol'srock options 
Kepaymcnt of note receibable 
Deferred compensation expense related to 
issuance ot'rmployee common stock options 
('ompensation expense related to issuance of 
employee common stock options 
Fair balue ot'i~arrants to purchase common 
stock 
\ e l  unrealtied gain on marketable cecurtlies 
a ia i lab ie  l i ir s ~ l e  
Set 10% 

2.900.000 
2.358 

29.000 
24 _ _  

(9.000) 

9.000 

_- 381.990 _ _  5 7  _- 

( I  ,679,359) 1.679.359 

70 1.295 

4.095.000 

2.902.358 s29.ozJ a, 5(978.0641S6.156.406 - 

208.2 I I _- - 

(6.166.861) (5,764.871) 
81 

9.000 
_- 

70 1,295 

4.09 5.000 

208.2 I I 
(36,296,506) 06.296.596) 

5?08,2 I I S(42.463.457 S(37.04".SSO) 

Thc accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
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P..\THNET, IYC. 
( ,A DE \.'E L 0 P > I  E N  T ST. l  G E ENTERPRISE) 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCI.1L STATEbIENTS 

PJlhnct lllc ( (  u l i i p j n y )  IS J icdding "carriers cdrrier", probiding high-quality, low-cost digital fiber and hireless communications capacitk to 
Llndcr-scr\cd JI~J ,ciond- Jnd third-tier U S markets The Compmy's strategy i s  to partner \kith ouners o f  telecommunication assets. includins 
utlllty plpcllnc Jnd rJllroJd compmies (Incumbents). to upgrade and aggregdte existing infrastructure to a state-of-the-art SONET netuork 4s o i  
Dcccmbcr 3 [ o o y  the Conipmy had approximately 2.000 route miles of completed netuork, approvimately 5.000 route miles o f  netxbork under 
COn\trUction dnd Lipproximtcl\ IO 000 route miles of nettvork under contract Due to demand and opportunity, Pathnet expanded the scope o f  i t s  
c x ~ s t ~ n g  buslnc\, strdtcgv to include fiber Pathnet offers telecommunications service to inter-exchange carriers, local exchange cxriers. internet 
5 c n  ice probider\ RcgionJl Bell OpcrJting Compdnies, cellular operators and resellers 

The Company s business has been funded primarily through equity inbestments by the Company s stochholders and a pribJte placcmcnt in April 
1098 of units consisting o f  I2 I 4% Senior Notes due 2005 (Restricted Uotes) and LIarrants (Warrants) to purchase Common Stock (Debt Offering) 
On September 2 ,  1998. the Compmy commenced an offer to exchange (Exchange Offer) a11 outstanding Restricted Notes for up to S350  0 million 
dggregdte principal amount of I2 I Job Senior Notes due 2008 (Registered Uotes) uhich have been registered under the Securities Act o f  I933 JS 

amended (Sccuritles Act) The terms o f  the Registered Notes are identical in all material respects to the terms o f  the Restricted Uotes. except that the 
Registered Notes habe been regrstered under the Securities Act and are generally freely transferable by holders thereof and are issued Lvithout m y  
cocenant upon the Company regarding registration under the Securities Act The Exchange Offer expired on October 2 ,  1338 and all outstanding 
Restricted Notes were exchanged for Registered Notes (The Restricted Notes and the Registered Notes are collectively referred to herein as the 
'Senior Notes" ) 

A substantial portion of  the Company's activities to date has involved developing strategic relationships with Incumbents and building i ts  netuork 
Accordingly, a mdjority of i ts revenues to dare ref lect only certain consulting and advisory services in connection with the design, debelopment and 
construction of  digital microwave infrastructure The remainder o f  i t s  recenues to date (approximately IO per cent o f  i ts total revenues) was deribed 
from the sale o f  bandwidth along the Company's digital network The Company has also been engaged in constructing network, deceloping operating 
systems, constructing a network operations center, raising capital and hiring management and other key personnel The Company hds experienced 
significant operating m d  net losses and negative operating cash flow to date and expects to continue to experience operating and net losses and 
ncgatibc operjting cJsh flow until such time as i t  i s  able to generate revenue sufficient to cover i t s  operating expenses 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 

While the Company recently commenced providing telecommunication services to customers and recognizing the revenue from the s d e  of such 
telecommunicafion services, i t s  principal activities to date have been securing contractual alliances with Incumbents, designing and constructing 
n et i v  or I\ 
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P.\THNET, INC. 
(A DEVELOP.\IENT STAGE ENTERPRISE) 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEhIENTS 

~ c g i i i c n t ~  ohraining cdpital and planning i t s  proposed s e n  ice Accordingly. the Company's consolidated financial statements are presented ~j 

dciclopmcnt s taqe  cnterpr ibe as prescribed by Statement of Financidl Accounting Standards Uo 7 .  "Accounting and Reporting by DeLclopmcnt 
Strigc I ntcrpriscs ' \ S  a Jcbclopment s t q e  enterprise. the Company has been relying on the issuance of equity and debt securities, rathcr t h m  
rc~i irr ing rc\.cnucs lo r  i t s  primary sources of cash since inception 

CO \. SOL I D -\T IO \I 

Thc consolidated f i i i m c i a l  >tatenwits include the accounts o f  Pathnet, Inc and i ts  uholly-owned subsidiaries. Pathnet Finance I .  LLC, Pathnet Idaho 
P w e r  Liccnw. L L C ' ~  Parhnet Fiber Optics. LLC and Pathnet BhSF Equipment. LLC ,411 material intercompany accounts and transactiops have been 
eliminated in consoliddtion 

USE OF ESTIhIATES 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity bvith generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions thJt dffect the reported amounts o f  assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of rcbenues 
and expenses during the reported period The estimates inbolve judgments with respect to. among other things. karious future factors ichich are 
difficult to predict and are beyond the control o f  the Company Actual amounts could differ from these estimates 

LOSS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings (loss) per shdre i s  computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number o f  shares o f  Common Stock 
outstanding during the applicable period Diluted earnings (loss) per share i s  computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted acerage 
common and potentially dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding during the applicable period For each of the periods presented, basic and 
diluted loss per share are the same The exercise of 2,885,833 employee Common Stock options, the exercise of warrants to purchase I , I  16,500 
shares o f  Common Stock, and the conversion o f  5,470,595 shares of Series A, B and C convertible preferred stock into 15,864,715 shares of 
Common Stock as of December 3 I ,  1998, which could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future were not included in the computation 
o f  diluted loss per share for the periods presented because to do so would have been antidilutive in each case 

FAIR VALUE O F  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Compmy believes that the carrying amount o f  certain o f  i ts financial instruments, which include cash equivalents and dccounts payable. 
approximdte fair value due to the relatively short maturity o f  these instruments As of December 31, 1998, the value of the Company's 12 I -loo 
Scnior Notes WJS dpproximately 5215 million 

C.\SH EQUIVALENTS 

The Company considers a11 highly liquid instruments with an original maturity o f  three months or less to be cash equivalents. 
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P.4THYET. ISC. 
(,4 DEVELOPVENT STAGE EYTERPRISE) 

KOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ST.\TE\IENTS 

~cc t ln1 t l l~ tcd  Jcpiccijt ion Jre rcmobcd from the accounts, and m y  resulting gdin or loss i s  recognved in operations for the period 

I 11 PA I K 11 EN T ( ) F L 0 S G- L 1 V E D A S S  ETS 

Thc Conlp,my PcriodicJIli cvdludtes the recoierability o f  i t s  long-liked assets This ekaluation consists of a comparison o f  the carrying ~ a l u e  of the 
J,,cts \rith [he .~,,cii cvpccted future cash flo~vcs, undiscounted and tkithout interest costs Estimates o f  expected future cdsh f lo~vs represent 
mjnJgemcnt s bc\t cstimdtc b m d  on reasondble dnd supportable assumptions and projections If the expected future cash flow. undiscounted m d  
wthout  interest chdrgcs cvcucds the c a n i n g  value o f  the asset. no impairment is recognized Impairment losses are measured as the difference 
bctnecn the cj r rv inp \ ~ I u e  ot long- l i \ed assets dnd their fdir \ d u e  

DEFERRED IYCO\IE TAXES 

The Company uses the Ii,ibility method o f  accounting for income taxes Deferred income taxes result from temporary differences bctirecn the tJv 
bases o f  assets m d  Iidbilities and their financial reporting amounts at each year-end, based on enacted l a w  and statutory tax rates Jpplicable to the 
periods in ikhich the differcnces Jre expected to affect taxable income Valuation allowances are established \+hen nccessq .  to reduce net deferred 
tax assets to the amount expected to be redized The provision for income tdxes consists o f  the Company's current probision for fcderd and state 
income taxes and the change in the Company's net deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period 

REVENUE RECOGNITION 

The Company earns revenue from the sale o f  telecommunication capacity and for project management and consulting services Rekenue from the 
sdle of' telecommunications capacity IS earned when the service i s  provided. Revenue for project management and consulting services IS recognized 
over the related project period as milestones are achieved. The Company defers revenue when contractual payments are received in advance of  the 
performance of  services Dur ing 1998. one customer accounted for 98 per cent o f  the Company's total revenue 

DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS 

The Compdny has incurred costs related to the Debt Offering together with costs associated with obtaining future debt financing arrangements 
Such costs are amortized over the t e r m  o f  the debt or financing arrangement other than when financing has not been obtained, in hh ich  case. the 
co3ts dre expensed immediately 

CORIPREHENSIVE LOSS 

Effective March 3 I, 1998, the Company adopted Statement of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No I30 hh ich  requires Jdditiond 
reporting with rcspcct to ccrtain chmges in assets and liabilities that previously were reported in stockholders' equity (deficit) Accordingly. the 
Company has included Consolidated Statements o f  Comprehensike Loss for the years ended December 3 I ,  1998, 1997 and 1996, m d  for the period 
August 2 5 .  1995 (date of  inception) to December 31, 1998 in the accompanying financial statements 
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P \ THhET. IhC. 
( A  DEVELOPbIEhT STAGE ENTERPRISE) 

\OTES TO CONSOLIDATED FIVANCI4L STATEhIEYTS 

I 3. \ I . \ R K E ' f  \ H I . E  SECLRITIES 

The Coiiipany's iii,lrl\ctablc securities are considered "available for sale." and, as such, are stated at market \ due .  The net unreali/ed gains and 
Iosjcs on marhclablc wur i t i es  arc reported as part o f  accumulated other comprehensive income. Realized gains or losses from the sale of marketable 
sccuritics arc b a w l  on ihc specific identification method. 

The follorr ins i s  LI stiriimary o f  the inbesfments in marketable securities at December 3 I ,  1998: 
Gross IJnrealized 

- (‘est ( ;a lnS u s  Llarket \.'alutl 

520.684.791 511,436 S-- S 2 0,696.2 2 7 

7.09835 I16 878  7,097,463 
I4I.YO4.302 225.972 zs,J35 142.00 1.840 

~169.587.319 $237.524 5 160.795.530 529.3 13 

Proceeds from the sales of available for sale securities and gross realized gains and gross realized losses on sales o f  available for 
sale securities were immaterial during the year ended December 3 I, 1998 

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of available for sale securities by contractual maturity at December 31, 1998 IS as 
follows 

cost Market Value 
Due in one year or less S97,863,395 597,895,773 
D-2 71.723.924 7 I .899.757 

S 169.587.3 I9 S I69.795.53Q 

Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because the issuers o f  the securities may have the right to prepay obligdtions tci thout 
prepayment penaltics 

In addition to mJrkctJble securities, the Company has investments in pledged marketable securities that are pledged as collateral for repayment o f  
interest on the Company's Senior Notes through Apr i l  2000 (see note 8) and are classified as non-current assets on the consolidated balance sheet A s  
o f  December 3 I. 1908 pledged marketdbk securities consisted o f  U S Treasury securities classified as held to maturity with an amortized cost o f  
approximately S60 8 million, interest receibable on the pledged marketable securities of approximately 5998.000 and cash and cash equibalents of 
approximJtely SJI ,000 Approximately 540 I mil l ion of the incestments contractually mature pnor to December 31, 1999 and approxinutely 
S20 7 mill ion contrxtual ly mature after December 3 I ,  1999 and prior to Apr i l  30, 2000 

F-12 



P A T H N E T ,  INC. 
(.A D E V E  L 0 P > I  E ;Y T ST ,A G E E Y T E R P R I S E )  

h O T E S  TO C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E > l E Y T S  

4. N O T E  RE('EI\ . ' .ABLES 

I ndcr [he tcrm5 ot .I promissory note \bith an incumbent, the Company agreed to advance up to SI0 million principal for the purpose of Fundin2 
the inLumbent'5 cquipmcnt cvpenditures under a Fixed Point 'vlicrouabe S e n i c e s  agreement Evpenses are initially incurred by the Compmy m d  Jrc 
rcchjrgcd ~t coq to (he incumbent JS principal under the promissory note The principal amount of the promissory note i s  due and payJble on ClJrch 
3 I 1000 Intcrc\t or1 (he promissory note accrues at the rate o f  5 per cent per annum computed from the date o f  commissioning o f  the net\\ork, i b h i c h  
hJd not occurred ~5 of  December 3 I 1998 Commissioning o f  the netuork occurs \\hen the netlvork has been completed and IS performing in 
JccordJncc \\ ith .igrccd upon spccificJtions Approximately 53 2 million uds outstanding under the promissory note as o f  December 3 I .  I908 

5. PROPt:R'r\.  \ h D  E Q 1  I P \ I E N T  

Property and equipment, stated ~t cost, i s  comprised of the follouing at December 31. 1998 and 1997 
- I908 1997 

Net~cork in progress 
Communications network 
Office and computer equipment 
Furniture and fivtures 
Leasehold imDrocements 

Less: accumulated deoreciation 

Propertv and eauioment. net 

S38,669,088 
6,890.686 
2267,647 

766,O I3 
166.733 

-18,760,167 
f788.83 I )  

9 7 . 9 7  I .336 

S6,83 1.795 

2-18,880 
120,093 
62.334 

_- 

7,163,l 12 
(56.0 I81 

57.207.094 

Network construction costs include all direct material and labor costs together with related allocable interest costs, necessary to construct 
components o f  J high capacity digital network which i s  owned and maintained by the Company During 1998, a portion of network was completed 
Jnd nude Jvailable for use by the Company, and was transferred from network in process to communications network Network construction in 
progress at December 3 I ,  1998 and I997 respectively included approximately SI0 2 million and 95 I million, respectively, o f  telecommunications 
equipment not yet pJid for by the Company Corresponding amounts are included in accounts payable at December 3 I. 1998 and 1997, respectibely 

6. D E F E R R E D  FINANCING COSTS 

During 1998. the Compmy incurred total issuance costs of approximately SI I 3 million in connection with the Debt Offering For the year cndcd 
December 3 I, 1998, amortization o f  the costs of approximately 5843,000 was charged to interest expense. 
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UOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

ot r)cccnlbcr A 1 1097. debt-finmcing costs compnsed Jpprovimately S250.000 related to costs incurred in anticipation o f  obtaining debt- 
tinjncing Jrrangcnicnts Lbith J bendor During the year ended December 3 I ,  1998. these costs, together with additional debt finmcing costs incurred 
during the ycJr ot aIq>roviniJtcIy S364.000, liere charged to interest expcnse JS the related financing arrangements were not consummated 

7. R E S T R K  r t . D c \ ~ ~  

Restricted cJsh coiiipriscs amounts held in escrow to collateralize the Company's obligations under certain o f  i t s  Fived Point Xlicro\+aie Sen i ces  
( F P L 1 )  agrccmcnts I he t'iinds in c x h  escrow Jccount are a\ailable only to fund the projects to hhich the escrow i s  related Generally, funds Jre  
released from c\cro\i to pa) project costs JS incurred During the year ended December 3 I .  1998, the Company deposited approvimately S I 0  3 
million in cscro\\ JnJ no lunds \\ere released from escrow 

8. LONC-'TER>I DEBT 

During 1998, the Company completed the Debt Offering for total gross proceeds of 5350.0 million less total issuance costs o f  approvimately SI I .3 
million. Upon issuance, approximately S345.9 million of the gross proceeds were allocated to the Senior Notes and approximately S4. I million \\ere 
allocated to the Warrants based upon estimated fair values. The Warrants expire on April 15. 2008. The estimated value attributed to the Warrants 
has been recorded as a discount on the face value o f  the Senior Notes and as additional paid-in capital. This discount is amortized as an increase to 
interest evpense and the carrying value o f  the debt over the related t e r m  using the interest method. The Company has recorded approximately 
S307.000 o f  evpense for the year ended December 3 I. 1998, related to the amortization of this discount. Interest on the Senior Fiotes accrues at an 
annual rate o f  12 I'4 Yo, payable semiannually, in arrears, beginning October 15, 1998, with principal due in full on April 15, 2008. Interest expense, 
exclusive of the amortization o f  the discount. for the year ended December 3 1, I998 was S3 I .3 million. The Company used approximately S8 I ,  I 
million of  the proceeds related to the Debt Offering to purchase U.S. Government debt securities, which are restricted and pledged as collateral for 
repayment o f  a11 interest due on the Senior Notes through April 15, 2000. The Company made its first interest payment of approximately S22.3 
million on October 15, 1998. The Senior Notes are redeemable, in whole or part, at any time on or after April 15, 2003 at the option of the Company, 
at the following redemption prices plus accrued and unpaid interest (i) on or after April 15, 2003; 106% o f  the principal amount, ( i i )  on or after April 
15. 2004: IOJV0 of the principal amount, (i i i) on or after April 15, 2005; 102% of the principal amount and ( iv) on or after April 15, 2006; 100?/o o f  
the principal amount. In addition, at any time prior to April 15. 2001, the Company may redeem within sixty days, with the net cash proceeds o f  one 
or morc public equity offerings. up to 35% o f  the aggregate principal amount o f  the Senior Notes at a redemption price equal to 112.2596 o f  the 
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest provided that at least 65% o f  the original principal amount of the Senior Notes remain outstanding. 
Upon a changc in control, as defined, each holder of the Senior Notes may require the Company to repurchase all or a portion of such holder's Senior 
Notes at a purchase price o f  cash equal 
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U OT ES TO CON SOL I DAT E D FINANCIAL ST;\T E X I  EN TS 

to l ~ ) l O o  of  the principal m o u n t  plus accrued and unpaid interest and liquidated damages i f any  

The \enlor \ o r e s  cont,iin ccrtJin coicnants n hich restrict the mi\ i t ies  of the Company including limitations o f  indebtedness. restricted 
p,i\nic.nts. is4u.iiiIcs ,ind \JIGS of capital stock, affiliate transactions. liens. guarantees. sale o f  assets and dibidends 

9. c w r  \I. sroc K T R ~ ~ S A C T I O N S  

CO\IXION STOC'K 

The init ial  capitali/ation o f  the Company. on August 28. l9'95? occurred through the issuance by the Company o f  I.450.000 shares of \oting 
common stock and I ,45( ) ,0( )0  shares o f  non-voting common stock. 

On \lay 6 .  I 0 0 8  the Company filed a Registration Statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission for an init ial  public offering of  
common stock (Init ial Public Offer ing) See "Item 7 Vlanagement's Discussion and Analysis o f  Financial Condition and Results o f  Operations - -  
Liquidity and Capitd Resources" for a discussion o f  the Company's decision to postpone the Initial Public Offering In relation to the postponement 
o f  the In i t i d  Public Offering, the Company wrote o f f  approximately S I  1 mil l ion in expenses, consisting primarily o f  legal and accounting tees 
printing costs. and Securities m d  Exchange Commission and Nasdaq Stock Market fees On July 21. 1998, the Company's stockholders approbed a 
7 9-for- I  stock split f ihich was effected on August 3, 1998. the record date A l l  share information has been adjusted for this stock split for al l  periods 
presented 

PREFERRED STOCK 

As part o f  its initial capitalization on August 25, 1995. the Company initiated a private offering o f  1,000,000 shares o f  Series A convertible 
preferred stock for Sl.OOO.000 Pursuant to the te rms o f  the Incestment and Stockholders' Agreement by and among the Company and certain 
stockholders o f  the Company (Investment and Stockholders' Agreement), the offering closed in two phases of S500,OOO each As of  the signing of  the 
lnccstment and Stockholders' Agreement. the Company received S500,000, representing the first closing on this offering in 1995 In addition, the 
offering provided for a convertible bridge loan in the amount o f  Sl,O00.0OO The bridge loan carried an interest rate o f  1296 per annum and was due 
and pJydbk in full on the earlicr to occur of the anniversary date o f  the bridge loan issuance or the closing date o f  the Company's next equity 
f inmcing Thc bridge loan WJS concerted into Series B preferred stock at 73% o f  the price o f  the Series B convertible preferred stock issued in the 
ncyt cquity finmcing 

In  February 1996? the Compdny issued 500,000 shares o f  Series A convertible preferred stock to the original inbestors in exchange for 
SjO0,OOO. representing the second closing under the Investment and Stockholders' Agreement In August 1996, the Company drew S700.000 on a 
bridge lodn with the original incestors 

On December 23, 1996, the Company consummated a private offering o f  609,756 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock for 52.000 000 
Ichs issumce costs o f  575,000 pursuant to the lncestment and Stockholders' Agreement In  addition, simultaneously. the S700,OOO bridge loan plus 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ST.ATE.\IENTS 

$~] , jo ;  of jcc r t i cd  ititcrest \+as  conicr ted into 306,242 shares o f  Series B convertible preferred stock. The Company recognized 5271 . I 0 7  of  inrcrcst 
c.\pcnsc. to accotiilt l'or thc beneficial conversion feature o f  the bridge loan. In addition, 5300.000 representing the committed but undraicn portion o f  
the bridge loan. \ \ , IS paid to the Company for the sale o f  125292 shares o f  Series B Convertible preferred stock at a discounted rate. The Company 
rccocni/cd S I  ~cr.xsj o f  interest cvpcnse to account for the beneficial conversion feature o f  the committed but undrawn bridse loan. On June i s .  
IO()?, pursuant to t l ie Inicstmcnt and Stockholders' ,Agreement. the Company received an additional S2.000.000 in a second closing in cvchanye for 
Oo0.756 shares o f  $cries B conicrtiblc preferred stock. There ivere no issuance costs associated tcith the second closing. 

On October 3 I 1097 puriuant to the Investment and Stockholders' 4greement, the Company consummated J pricate offering o f  939,550 shares 
of  Scrics C conicrtiblo prcfcrrcd 3tock for approximately SI0 million, less issuance costs o f  538.750 On April 8. 1995. pursuant to the Iniestmcnt 
Jnd StocLholdcrs' \grccmcnt. the Company consummated a second closing o f  1.879,699 shares o f  Series C convertible preferred stock tor m 
aggresate purchdsc price ot approximately $20 0 mill ion There icere no issuance costs associated with the second closing 

Each share o f  Series A ,  Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock entitles each holder to a number of botes per share equal to the number o f  
shares of  Common Stock into which each share of Series A, Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock i s  currently con\crtible 

The holders o f  the Series A, Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock are entitled to receive dii idends in preference to and at the same 
rate ds dividends are paid u i t h  respect to the common stock In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up o f  the Company, Ibhethcr 
voluntary or inioluntary, holders o f  each share o f  Series A, Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock outstanding are entitled to be paid 
before any payment shall be made to the holders o f  any class o f  common stock or any stock ranking on liquidation junior to the conkertible preferred 
stock. an amount, in cash, equal to the original purchase price paid by such holder plus any declared but unpaid diridends 

In  the ecent the assets of  the Company are insufficient to pay liquidation preference amounts, then all o f  the assets available for distribution 
shd l  be distributed pro rata so that e x h  holder receives that portion o f  the assets available for distribution as the number o f  shares o f  conbertible 
preferred stock held by such holder bears to the total number o f  shares o f  convertible preferred stock then outstanding 

ShJrcs o f  the Series A. Series B, and Series C convertible preferred stock may be converted at any time, at the option o f  the holder, into i o t i ng  
common stock The number o f  shares of voting common stock entitled upon conversion i s  the quotient obtained by dividing the face value o f  the 
Series A. Series B Jnd Series C convertible preferred stock by the Applicable Conversion Rate, defined as the Applicable Conversion Value of SO 34? 
S I  I3 or 93 67 per share, respectively 

Edch share o f  convertible preferred stock shall automatically be converted into the number o f  shares of voting common stock ichich such shares 
are convertible upon application of the Applicable Conversion Rate immediately upon the closing o f  a qualified underwritten public offering 
coccring thc offcr and sale of  capital stock hh ich  i s  defined as (I) the Company is valued on a pre-money basis at greater than 550 0003000. ( 1 1 )  the 
gross proceeds received by the Company exceed S20,000,000, and ( 1 1 1 )  

F-I6 



P.ATHSET, INC. 
( A  DEVELOPMENT STAGE ENTERPRISE) 

SOTES TO CONSOLID,ATED FIN.\YCI.AL STATEhlENTS 

the ( oiiipmv u4c\ ,I ii,itiondlly recogi red undencriter approied by holders of a majority interest o f  the Series 4, Series B and Series C conrertiblc 
prctcrred stoch tot ing together 

It the Conipjnv I ~ S U ~ S  jny dd i t ional  shares of common stock o f  any class at a price less than the Applicable Conversion Value, in etfect for the 
scr ics  A Series 13 (11 Scr ics  C conbertible preferred stock immediately prior to such issuance or sale. then the Applicable Conbersion Value shall be 
J d J U d  Jccordinclv 

In the cicnt J q ~ ~ l i i i c d  ptlblic offering has not occurred prior to December 23. 2000. the holder o f  shares o f  Series A or Series B preferred stock 
cJn require the Cuiiipanv to rcdccm the shares o f  Series A and Series B conkertible preferred stock After receipt from any one holder o f  an election 
to hJic m y  shxcs rcdecmed. the Company i s  required to send a notice to the Series A and Series B preferred stochholders on December 2 1  2000 o f  
the redemption price I f  Jtter bending the redemption notice to Series A and Series B preferred stochholders. the Company recei\es requests for 
rcdcmption on or prior to JJnudry I I ,  200 I .  from the holders o f  at least 67O/0 o f  the Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock taken together 
the Company must rcdcem a11 shares o f  Series A and Series B conbertible preferred stock Payment of the redemption price i s  due on JanuJry 23. 
2001, for a cash price equal to the original purchase price paid by such holders for each share of Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock JS 

adjusted for any stock split, stock distribution or stock dividends with respect to such shares The successful completion of a qualified public offering 
i s  not within the control o f  the Company Therefore, the Company does not present the Series A and Series B preferred stock as a component of 
stockholders' equity 

In the event that a qualified public offering has not occurred prior to November 3. 2001. the holder o f  shares o f  Series C preferred stock c m  require 
the Company to redeem the shares o f  Series C convertible preferred stock After receipt from any one holder o f  an election to have any shares 
redeemed, the Company i s  required to send a notice to the Series C preferred stockholders on November 4, 2001 o f  the redemption price If after 
sending the redemption notice to Series C preferred stockholders, the Company receives requests for redemption on or prior to November 2 I, 310 I. 
from the holders of at least 67O6 o f  the Series C convertible preferred stock, the Company must redeem all shares o f  Series C convertible preferred 
stock PJyment o f  the redemption price i s  due on December 3, 2001 for a cash price equal to the original purchase price paid by such holders for each 
share o f  Series C convertible preferred stock as adjusted for any stock split, stock distribution or stock dividends with respect to such shares The 
successful completion o f  a qualified public offering i s  not within the control o f  the Company Therefore, the Company does not present the Series C 
preferred stock as a component o f  stockholders' equity 

Uotwithstandiny the provisions for optional redemption described abobe, pursuant to a Consent Waiver and Amendment effective March 24, 1998 
among the Company and certain stockholders o f  the Company, the holders o f  the Series A, Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock agreed 
that no optional redemption o f  the Series A, Series B or Series C convertible preferred stock may be made by the Company prior to 90 days after ( I )  
the final maturity dated of the Senior Notes (11) or such earlier date (after the redemption date specified for such preferred stock) as the Senior Lotes 
shall be paid in full  
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On \ugust 28% 1005, thc Compmy Jdopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan (I995 Plan). under ichich incentice stock options m d  non-qualified stock 
options could bc erJntcd to the C o m p m y s  employees and certain other persons and entities in accordance u i t h  law The Compensation Committee. 

hlch Jdmini$tcr\ rhc 1995 Plm,  determined the number o f  options granted. the Lesting period and the exercise price o f  each w a r d  made under rhc 
\ O O ~  Plan I h c  i 0 ' )5  P l m  \ b i l l  terminate 4uyust 28. 2005 unless terminated earlier by the Board o f  Directors During 1908. the Compensation 
Committee dctcrniincd thJt no turther atcards i rould be granted under the 1995 Plan 

Options grdntcd to d ~ t e  under the I905 P l m  generally \es t  over a three period and evpire either 30 days after termination o f  employment or IO y e x s  
Jtter date o f  g rmt  4s of  Dccembcr 3 I .  1998, a total o f  70.73 1 non-qudlified stock options and 424.393 incentire stock options \\ere issued J t  an 
evercise price ot SO 0 3  per share, an m o u n t  estimated to equal or exceed the per shdre fair value o f  the common stock at the time of  g rmt  45 of  
December 3 I. the options issued at an exercise price o f  SO 03 had a weighted average contractual l i fe  o f  6 68 years As o f  December 3 I, IW& 
490,410 o f  tho options issued Jt an exercise price o f  SO 03 were exercisable 

On August I. 1097. the Company Jdopted the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (1997 Plan). under which incentive stock options, non-qualified stock 
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, performance awards and certain other types o f  awards may be granted to the Compmy s 
employees and certain other persons and entities in accordance vcith the law To date, only non-qualified stock options have been granted under the 
1997 Plan The Compensation Committee, which administers the 1997 Plan, determines the number of options granted, the vesting period and the 
evercise price of each Jward granted under the 1997 Plan The 1997 Plan w i l l  terminate July 31, 2007 unless earlier terminated by the Board of  
Directors. 

Options granted under the 1997 Plan generally vest over a three to seven year period and expire ( I )  ten years after the date o f  grant, ( 2 )  two years 
after the date o f  the participant's termination without cause, disability or death, (3) three months after the date of the participant's resignation, (4 )  on 
the date o f  the participant's termination wi th cause or (5) on the date o f  any material breach o f  any confidentiality or non-competition covenant or 
agreement entered into between the participant and the Company 

The options issued on October 31, 1997, at 53 67, vest on October 31. 2004 provided, however (I) i f  the Company has met 80% o f  i ts  revenue m d  
Edmings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA)  budget for the calendar year ending December 3 I ,  1998, which budget is 
jpprobed by  the Board of Directors o f  the Company, 50% o f  the shares covered by the options shall vest and become evercisable on January I. 1999 
( 1 1 )  i f  the Company has met 80% o f  its revenue and EBITDA budget for the calendar year ending December 31, 1999, uh ich  budget is approked by 
the Board of  Directors of  the Company, the remaining 50% o f  the shares covered by the options shall vest and become exerciwble on Jmuary I .  
2000. m d  ( 1 1 1 )  in the event that the first 50% of the shares covered by the options did not vest on January 1, 1999 as set forth in (I) dbobe And the 
Company not only meets 80% o f  i t s  revenue and EBITDA budget for the year ending December 3 I, 1999 but exceeds 80% of i t s  
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rc\cnuc Jnd k l { l l [ )  \ hudgct for the year ending December 31. l999* which budget i s  approbed by the Board o f  Directors o f  the Compdny, in an 
jI11Ount Jt least clltIJI to the deficiency that occurred in the year ending December 3 I ,  1998, 1OOo/0 o f  the shares covered by the options shall b e s t  Jnd 
beconic cycrci$,ihIc on JJnuJry I ,  2000 Lnlested and unc~ncelled options issued at S3 67 immediately become fully bested and eyercisable upon a 
change o f  control or J qwli f icd public offering. as defined in the option agreement 

The options I ~ S U C C !  .it SI I! i o t  ratJbly over three or four consecutive years subject to certain acceleration provisions set forth in an emploqmcnt 
Jgreement such ,I$ t he  immediate lesting upon a change in control or a qualified initial public offering Under certain circumstances and subject to 
the terms of thc 5cnior \otcs. upon the election o f  the employee upon termination o f  employment, the Company wi l l  be required to pay the emplo)iee 
the fJir \aIue ot the bchted options held on the date o f  such termination 

,As o f  Dxembcr 3 I ,  1008, a total o f  2.390,707 non-qualified options were issued and outstanding. 1,523.323 at an exercise price o f  SI, 13 per 
share. jlO.134 at an exercise price o f  S3.67 per share and 347.250 at an exercise price of S5.20 per share. O f  the options issued at SI, i 3. 425.790 
shurcs were exercisable ut December 3 I, 1998. None o f  the options issued at 53.67 or S520 were exercisable at December 3 1 ,  1998. As of December 
3 I ,  1998, the tc.cightcd average contractual l i f e  o f  the options issued at SI. 13, S3.67 and S5,20 was 8.9 and 8.9 and 9.9 years, respectively. 

During the year cndcd December 3 I, I O 9 &  667,373 and 89,72 I options were issued at an exercise price o f  SI. 13 and S3.67 per share, respectively. 
The estimated fair \due o f  the Company's underlying common stock in each case was determined to be 51.99 per share and 516.00. respectively. 
Accordingly, the Company calculated deferred compensation expense o f  approximately SI .7 million related to the options granted during the year 
and recognized compensation expense o f  approximately S701,OOO. The Company wil l  recognize the balance of the compensation expense over the 
remainder of the vesting period of the options. 
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\ OT E S TO C 0 N SOL I Dh T E D F I N A Y C I A L STAT E \1 E N TS 

1 Pursuant to a Xlastcr \grecmcnt entered into by the Company and \EC on August 8. 1997, as amended, the Company has the option to acquire bv  
LlJrch 3 I .  2003 J toid ot 5200 mill ion Lrorth o f  certain equipment, services and licensed software to be used by the Company in i ts  netibork undcr 
pricing Jnd pavriicnr terms that the Company beliebes are faorable In  addition, UEC has agreed. subject to certain conditions. to \\arrJnt\ 
equipment purchJscd by thc Company from \EC for three years, i f defectibe. to repair or replace certain equipment promptly and to maintdin a stock 
of critical spare pJrts for up to 15 years The Company's agreement with UEC probides for fixed prices during the f irst three yu rs  o f  i t s  term 4s of 
December 31 1008, the Compmy had purchased S31 1 million o f  equipment under this agreement 

Pursuant to a supply agreement entered into by the Company and Lucent Technologies (Lucent) on December 18. 1998. the Company agreed that 
Lucent should be i ts  exclusive supplier o f  fiber optic cable for i t s  nationwide, voice and data network Lucent may probide financine of up to 
approximately SJOO million o f  fiber purchases for the construction o f  the Company's network and may probide or arrange financing for future phases 
o f  the fiber portion of the Company's network The total amount of financing over the life of this seven-year agreement i s  not to exceed 5 I S billion 
Certain material terms of the Company's transactions with Lucent are currently under review by Lucent and the Company There can be no assurance 
that the financing contempldted by the supply agreement wil l  be consummated or, i f consummated, consummated on the terms and conditions 
described above The supply agreement provides that Lucent wi l l  provide the Company with a broad level o f  support, including fiber optic 
equipment, network planning and design, technical and marketing support, and financing As of December 3 I ,  1998, no purchases were made by the 
Company under this agreement 

. A S  o f  December AI ,  I O O S  and 1997. the Lleighted alerage remaining contractual life o f  the options I S  8.63 years and 9.21 >cars. respectiLcIy A S  
of December 31. 1008 Jnd I997 the pro forma tax effects would include an increase to the deferred tax asset and the baluation allo\vance of  
approximately 5 2 2 5 . 1 1 ~ ) ~ ) .  .mi S!00 rcspectkely; therefore. there i s  no pro forma tax effect .  

I I .  C'ESDOR ..\GREE>IENTS 

I ? .  C0MhllTMENT.S AND CONTINGENCIES 

The Company maintains office space in Washington, D C , Kansas and Texas The most significant lease relates to the Company's headquarters 
facility in WJshington, D C The partnership leasing the space in Washington, D C i s  controlled by a director o f  the Company The lease expires on 
August 31, 1090, and i s  renewable by the Company for two additional one-year periods Rent paid to this related party during the year ended 
Decumber 3 I, 1998, 1997 md 1996, was $28 1,890, 560,980 and SO, respectively The Company has no amounts due to the related party as o f  
Dcccmber 3 I ,  I998 

On Dccember 3 0 .  1998, the Company entered into a lease agreement for the lease of tower site space, sufficient to perform i ts  obligations under a 
fixed point microwave agreement (FPMA)  with an incumbent. Under the terms of the lease, the Company IS obligated to rent of S130.000 per month 
for a period expiring on the later o f  (I) the expiration o f  the FPMA as to that site, or (11) ten years from the 
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ctfccti\c date ot' ihc Jgrccment. The agreement provides for an increase in the rent payable commencing on December 1 %  IO99 Jnd on eJch 
succeeding year thcrcat'tcr to Dcccinber I ,  2008, by an amount equal to 4 per cent ofthe rent then in effect. 

The Company's I'iiti irc minimum rental payments under noncancellable operating leases are as follows: 
I 0')') S2,I77,440 
3 N ) O  I .9 13.822 
2001 1.967.2 I4 
70(11 2,033,577 
2l)l)? m d  thcrcal'tcr 12.089.432 

Rent expense for the years ended December 3 I 1998, 1997, and 1996 was S389,969. SI 14.673 and S4.399? respectively 

The Company cdms microwave telecommunication capacity rebenue under an indefeasible right o f  use (IRU) agreement dJted 
December I, 19083 o f  S 137,000 per month commencing December 1998 and expiring on the later o f  ( I )  the expiration o f  the F P V A  JS to 
that site, or ( 1 1 )  ten years from the ef fect ice date of  the agreement The IRU agreement provides for an increase in the rent r e c e i ~ ~ b l e  
commencing on December I ,  1999 and on each succeeding year thereafter to December I ~ 2008, by an amount equal to 4 per cent of the 
rent then in effect 

In exchange for a non-compete agreement, the Company has agreed to pay a senior management employee a severance payment o f  
S275.000, i f  such employee's employment with the Company i s  terminated. 

As at December 3 I ,  1998, the Company had capital commitments o f  approximately 528.0 million relating to telecommunications Jnd 
transmission equipment. 

13. INCOkIE TAXES 

The tax effect o f  temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax asset at December 3 I ,  1998 and 1997, is as follows: 
December 3 I ,  

1998 - I997 

Deferred revenue 

C,ipitali/ed research and debelopment costs 
Net operating loss cmyforward. 

CdpitJli/Cd StJrt-Up COStS 

Less valuation allowance 

Net deferred tax asset 
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s949 S 1 17,000 
1,370,937 I ,27 1.227 

66,l  I1 79,333 
15.325.484 754.458 

I6,763,48 I 2 ,222 ,o  I8 
(16.763.481) [2.222.018) 



C . I ~ I L I I , T ~  i 'o\t\ rc'prcscnt c tpcnscs  incurred in the organiiation and start-up of  the Company For federal income tax purposes. these 
bciny .irnorti/cii o b c r  s i \ [ ?  months. 

fllc Ulilnlatc rc;ili/.ition o f  deferred tax Jssets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income in the periods in  irhich those tcniporary 
dlffcrcnces arc i l~duct ib lc . .  The Company has provided a valuation aIlo\rance against its deferred tax assets as they are long-term in nature and their 
u I t i ilia te real i / a t  I  on c m n o  t be de term i ned. 

j r c  
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Evhibit 3 1 
CERTIFIC.ATE OF .AhlEND%IENT 

OF 
R E S T  A T  E D C E R T  I FICA T E 0 F IN C 0 R P O  RA T I 0 N 

OF 
P A T H N E T .  INC. 

Adopted in accordance with the provisions o f  Section 212. of 
the General Comoration Law of the State o f  Delaware 

h'c3 IL'il l iam R Siiicdberg, V,  Vice President, Finance and Corporate Development? and Michael A. Lubin, Vice President. General Counsel and 
Secretary. of Puthnct. Inc . J corporation organilred and existing under and by virtue o f  the General Corporation Law of the State of De lware  (the 
"Corporation"). DO t I E R E B Y  CERTIFY as f01l0ws: 

FIRST. The Restated Certificate of Incorporation o f  the Corporation i s  hereby amended by deleting the current Section I O  thereof i t  in i t s  
entirety and renumbering Section I I as new Section IO.  

SECOND: This .Amendment has been duly adopted in accordance with the provisions o f  Section 212 of the General Corporation Law of the State 
of Delaware. 



i ~ ' l - r \ E , s S  \\ t j l ;Rf . :Of I ,  the C'orporation has caused this Certificate to be sipned by Ki l l lam R.  Smedbcrg. \', Vice President. FinJncc 
C'l,rporate Dc\clopriicnt. ~ i i d  Jttcstcd to by hlichael A .  Lubin, Vice Presidcnt, General Counsel and Secretary, on this Sth day of December. IWS 

P A T H N E T ,  INC. 

Bv s, William R.  Smedberc. V 

William R. Smedberg, V 
Vice President, 
Finance and Corporate Development 

,ATTEST: 

By s Michael A Lubin 

Llichael A Lubin 
Vice President. 
General Counsel and Secretary 



4 ,\ 1 E N D E  D 4 3 D R ES'r.4 T E D C E R T I F I C ,4 T E 0 F I N C 0 R PORA T ION 
OF 

PATHNET,  IYC. 

PJthnct. Inc., a coiporJtion duly incorporated under the laus o f  the State o f  Delaware. hereby cer t i f ies  as follows: 

FIRST The nai l i t  o f  the corporation i s  Pathnet, Inc. (the "Corporation"). The original Certificate o f  Incorporation o f  the Corporation !\as tiled 
Ith the Secretary ( 1 1 '  Stdtc o f the  State o f  Delaware on 25th day o f  ,August. 1995. under the name PathNet, Inc. 

SECOND: This .\inended Jnd Rcstated Certificate o f  Incorporation has been duly adopted in accordance with Sections 2-12 and 2-15 of  the 
Dela\+are Genural Corporation Law (the "General Corporation Law"). 

THIRD:  This ..\illcndcd Jnd Restated Certificate o f  Incorporation hereby restates. integrates and amends the certificate of  Incorporation. JS 

amended, o f  the Corporation as follows: 

I ,  NA.LlE. The name of the corporation is PATHNET, INC.  (the "Corporation"). 

2. ADDRESS; REGISTERED OFFICE .4ND AGENT. The address o f  the Corporation's registered office i s  1013 Centre Road. Wilmington. Sew 
Castle County, Dclaware 19805. The name o f  i ts  registered agent at such address i s  The Prentice-Hall Corporation System. Inc. 

3. PGRPOSE. The purpose o f  the Corporation is to engage in, carry on and conduct any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be 
organired under the General Corporation Law. 

4. NUMBER O F  SHARES. The total number o f  shares o f  stock that the Corporation shall have authority to issue is 75,470,595, divided as follows: 
10.000.000 shares o f  Preferred Stock, par value o f  S0.01 per share (the "Preferred Stock"), I .000.000 shares o f  Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. 
par Lalue of  S0.01 per share (the "Series A Preferred Stock"), l.651,046 shares o f  Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. par value of  S0.01 per share 
(the "Series B Preferred Stock"), 2,819,549 shares o f  Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, par value o f  90.01 per share (the "Series C Preferred 
Stock," and together with the Series A Preferred Stock and the 



5 [ ) ks [Gy t \ . l ' [ (  ) \  01: c'L..\SSES: RELATIVE RIGHTS, ETC. The designation, relatibe rights. preferences and limitations o f  the shares of  
each class are :is t l ) l l o \ c s :  

5 I pREFERR[ 1) $rO[-K The \ h x e s  o f  Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series o f  any number of shares probided 
thj t  the jsgregLitc number o f  shJres issued and not canceled o f  any and dlI such series shall not exceed the total number o f  shares o f  Preferred Stock 
hcrcinjbobe j t l l l lo r l /cd j n d  \t ith such po\ters. preferences and rights and qudifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, and such distinctihe seriJl 
dcilgnjtions, JII J$ \ hd l  hercJftcr be stated and expressed in the resolution or resolutions providing for the issue o f  such shares o f  Preferred Stock 
f rom time to tirnc dop tcd  bv the B o x d  of Directors o f  the Corporation (the "Bodrd of Directors") pursuant to authority so to do i th ich i s  hcreby 
\e\ tcd In the Ro,ird 01 DircLtors Each series o f  shares o f  Preferred Stock (J)  may hake such boring rights or pouers. full or limited. or may be 
\\lthout Lotins right> or po\tcr> ( b )  mJy be subject to redemption at such time or times and at such prices, ( c )  may be entitled to receibe dibidends 
( i th ich  mJy be ~ u m t r l ~ t i k e  or non-cumulatibel at such rate or rates. on such conditions and dt such times, and payable in  preference to, or in such 
rclJtion to thc diLidends pdyJble on any other class or classes or series o f  stock, (d) may hake such rights upon the boluntary or inboluntarv 
liquidation. \rindins up or dissolution of, or upon any distribution o f  the dssets of, the Corporation. (e) may be made conbertible into or exchmgeable 
for. s h m s  o f  m y  other CIJSS or classcs or of  m y  other series of  the same or any other class or classes o f  stock o f  the Corporation dt such price or 
prices or at such rdes o f  exchange m d  with such adjustments. (0 may be entitled to the benefit o f  a sinking fund to be applied to the purchdse or 
redemption o f  shares of  such series in such amount or amounts. (g)  may be entitled to the benefit o f  conditions and restrictions upon the creation o f  
indebtedness o f  thc Corporation or m y  subsidiary, upon the issue o f  any additional shares (including additional shares o f  such series or o f  any other 
series) and upon the payment o f  dibidends or the making o f  other distributions on, and the purchase, redemption or other acquisition by the 
Corporation or any subsidiary of, any outstanding shares o f  the Corporation and (h) may have such other relative, participating, optional or other 
special rights, qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, all as shall be stated in said resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of  such 
shares o f  Preferred Stock Any o f  the boring powers, designations, preferences, rights and qualifications, limitations or restrictions o f  any such series 
o f  Prefcrrcd Stock may be made dependent upon facts ascertainable outside o f  the resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of such Preferred 
Stock adoptcd by the Board of Directors pursuant to the authority vested in i t  by this Section 5 I, provided that the manner in uh i ch  such facts shall 
operate upon the koting powers. designations, preferences, rights and qualifications, limitations or restrictions o f  such series of Preferred Stock i s  
c l ex l y  m d  expressly set forth in the resolution or resolutions providing for the issue o f  such Preferred Stock The te rm "facts" as used in  the next 
prcccding sentence shall hake the meaning given to i t  in Section 151(a) of the General Corporation Law Shares o f  Preferred Stock o f  any series that 
have been rcdcemed (whether through the operation o f  a sinking fund or otherwise) or that i f  



con\crtiblc or c\CIiLIi1gcJble h a b e  b c m  conberted into or evchanged for s h m s  o f  any other class or classes shall hace the s t m h  ofauthori/cd j n d  
unisjucd shares ot I'rctcrrcd Stoch undcsiynded as to series and may be rcissued as a part o f  the series o f  tchich they !\ere or ig indly a p x t  or j j  p x t  
ot J new series ot jh,ircs of  Pretcrred Stock to be created by resolution or resolutions o f  the Board o f  Directors or as part o f  m y  othcr series o f  bhxes 
of Preferred Stock. JII subject to the conditions or restrictions on issuance set forth in the reso!ution or resolutions adopted by the B o u d  of  Directors 
pro\ iding for thc i j w c  of m y  series o f  shares o f  Preferred Stock 

j 2 COclClOU \TO( 'K Subject to the provisions of  any applicable law or o f  the Bylacs o f  the Corporation, as from time to time amended (the 
'BLIJNS"). \kith respect to the closing o f  the transfer books or the fixing o f  a record date for the determination o f  stochholders entitled to bote and 
cvcept as othcr\ri\c probided herein \ \ i th  respect to any shares o f  Series Preferred Stock, by law or by the resolution or resolutions proriding for the 
issue of a n v  scric5 ot  $hues o f  Prcferrcd Stock. the holders o f  outstanding shares o f  Common Stock shall evclusicely possess boting pouer for the 
election of  directors and tor JII other purposes. each holder o f  record o f  shares of Common Stock being entitled to one kote for each share of  
Common Stock standing in his or her name on the books o f  the Corporation Evcept as otherwise provided herein with respect to any shares o f  Series 
Preferred Stock or by the resolution or resolutions providing for the issue o f  any series o f  shares o f  Preferred Stock, the holders o f  shares of  Common 
Stock shall be cntitlcd. to the eyclusion o f  the holders o f  shares of Preferred Stock o f  any and a l l  series. to receice such dibidends as from time to 
time may be dcclared by the Board o f  Directors In the event o f  any liquidation, dissolution or winding up o f  the Corporation. whether voluntarv or 
inboluntary. after payment shall have been made to the holders o f  shares o f  any Series Preferred Stock and any Preferred Stock o f  the full amount to 
tchich they shall be entitled pursuant to this Amended and Restated Certificate o f  Incorporation or the resolution or resolutions prociding for the issue 
of  any series o f  shxes o f  Preferred Stock, the holders o f  shares o f  Common Stock shall be entitled, to the evclusion o f  the holders o f  shares o f  Series 
Preferred Stock and Preferred Stock of any and all series, to share, ratably according to the number of shares o f  Common Stock held by them, in dl 
remaining assets o f  the Corporation abailable for distribution to i ts  stockholders 

5 3  SERIES PREFERRED STOCK 

5.3.1 SHARES 

(a) AUTHORIZED SHARES The Corporation shall have authority to issue Five Mi l l ion  Four 
Hundred Seventy Thousand Five Hundred Ninety-Five (5,470,595) shares o f  Series Preferred 
Stock, o f  which One Mi l l ion  (1,000,000) shares shall be designated the Series A Preferred Stock, 
One Mi l l ion  Six  Hundred Fi f ty One Thousand Forty SIX ( I  ,65 1,046) shares shall be designated the 
Series B Preferred 



Stock m d  T\\o ' 
Prctcrrcd Stock 

r l l l l l O n  t.lght Hundred Nineteen Thousand Fibe Hundred Forty-Nine (1319.549) shares shall be dcsignatcd ;IS the Series C 

(b) DlVlDEhDS The holders of the Series Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive. out of 
funds legally available therefor, dividends (other than dividends paid in additional shares of 
Common Stock) in preference to and at the same rate as dividends are paid ~41th respect to the 
Common Stock (treating each share o f  Series Preferred Stock as being equal to the number of 
shares o f  Common Stock into uhich each such share o f  Series Preferred Stock could be con\crtcd 
pursuant to the probisions of Section 5 3 4 hereof. u i th  such number determined as o f  the record 
date for the determination o f  holders of Common Stock entitled to receive such dib idend) 

5 , ? , 2  LIQUIDATION. DISSOLUTION OR WINDING UP 

(a) DISTRIBUTIONS TO HOLDERS OF SERIES PREFERRED STOCK In the ekent o f  any 
liquidation. dissolution or winding up o f  the Corporation, whether boluntary or involuntary, the 
Series A Preferred Stock, the Series B Preferred Stock and the Series C Preferred Stock shall rank 
on a parity with each other and shall rank pnor to the Common Stock or any class o f  stock ranking 
junior to the Series Preferred Stock Upon such liquidation. holders o f  e x h  share of Series 
Preferred Stock outstanding shall be entitled to be paid, out o f  the assets of the Corporation 
available for distribution to stockholders and before any payment shall be made to the holders of 
any class o f  Common Stock or o f  any stock ranking on liquidation junior to the Series Preferred 
Stock, an amount in cash equal to the original purchase price paid by such holder for each such 
share o f  Series Preferred Stock held (appropriately adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends and the 
like) plus any declared but unpaid dividends thereon. If upon any liquidation. dissolution or 
winding up o f  the Corporation, the assets to be distributed to the holders of the Series Preferred 
Stock under the foregoing sentence shall be insufficient to permit payment to such stockholders of 
the full preferential amounts aforesaid, then al l  o f  the assets of the Corporation available for 
distribution to such holders under such sentence shall be distnbuted among the holders o f  Series 
Preferred Stock, pro rata in accordance with the total amount o f  preference which would have been 
payable to such holders i f  funds had been available to pay the full preference under the previous 
sentence After such payment shall have been made in full to such holders o f  Series Preferred 
Stock, or funds necessary for such payment shall have been set aside by the Corporation in trust for 
the account of such holders so as to be available for such payment, the holders o f  the outstanding 
shares of Common Stock and any class of stock ranking junior to the Series Preferred Stock shdl 
share ratably in the distribution o f  the remaining assets and funds of the Corporation acailable tor 
distribution to shareholders 

(b) DEEMED LIQUIDATIONS. In the case o f  (I) a consolidation or merger o f  the Corporation 
(other than a consolidation or merger upon 



ionbummation ot \\ h L h  [lie holders o f  Lotiny securities o f  the Corporation immediately prior to such transaction. continue to o \ \n  direcrlb or 
Indirectly not le$$ iii,in J niJjoritv o f  the boting power o f  the sur\ i \ ing corporation) or a sale of  a l l  or substantially dlI o f  the assets of the Corporation 
or other similar ir,ii i\dLiion m d  ( 1 1 )  either receipt by the Corporation of  ( u )  consideration less than the equivalent o f  S I 00 per shjre (jpproprrjtcI> 
adjusted for stoch >~JlItS, $rock dibidends and the like) of Series A Preferred Stock plus m y  declared but unpaid dibidends, ( y )  consideration less  t hm 
the cqui \dent 0 1  j \  2s per , h m  (appropriately ~d jus ted  for stock splits, stock dikidends and the like) of Series B Preferred Stock plus d n y  declJred 
but unpaid dik idcntlr. or ( / )  consideration less than the equivalent o f  S I O  64 per share (appropriately ddjusted for stock splits. stock dividends m d  the 
l ihc) o f  Series C I’rctsrrcd Stock plus m y  declared but unpaid dibidends, such ekent shall be regarded. at the option o f  the holders o f  a majority o f  the 
then outstanding \ti,irss of Series Preferred Stock, as a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affdirs o f  the Corporation within the meming of 
this Section 5 3 2 

Vot\+ithstanding the foregoing. c x h  holder of Series Preferred Stock shall have the right to elect the benefits o f  the probisions o f  Section 5 3 J (h)  
hereof in lieu of rcLciLing pdyment in liquidation, dissolution or \binding up o f  the Corporation pursuant to this Section 5 3 2(b) For purposes o f  this 
Section 5 3 2 m d  5cction 5 3 6 hereof, a sdle o f  substantially all o f the  assets of the Corporation shall m e a  (u) the sale or other disposition other thm 
in the ordindry coursc o f  business o f  more than 5O06 o f  such assets, as determined by reference to either ( A )  the book balue or (B) the fair mnrhet 
value. o f  such dsscis. or ( y )  m y  issudnce o f  Common Stock by the Corporation or transfer o f  Common Stock by the holder thereof to any person or 
persons acting in concert or D group o f  affiliated persons, ~vh ich  issuance or transfer results in such person or persons or group holding in the 
aggregate more thdn 50% of the issued and outstanding Common Stock after giving effect to such issuance or transfer 



( c )  hOC-CASH DlSTRlBLTlOhS In the e\ent of  a IiquidJtion dissolution or \ \ inding up of 
the Corporation resulting in the J\ailJbility of assets other than cash for distribution to the holders 
of the Series Preferred Stock, the holders of the Series Preferred Stock shall be cntirlcd to J 

distribution of cash and or assets equal in ba lue  to the liquidation preference and other distr~bution 
rights stated i n  Section 5 3 2 ( ~ )  and Section 5 3 3 b )  hereof In the e\ent thdt buch distribution to 
the holders of the Series Preferred Stock shall include any assets other t h m  cash. the follo\\ing 
probisions shall yobein The Board of Directors shall first determine the \ d u e  of such assets for 
such purpose. and shdl  notify all holders of shares of Series Preferred Stock of such determination 
The calue of such assets for purposes of the distribution under this Section 5 3 2(c) shall be the 
value as determined by the Board of Directors in good faith and uith due care. unless the holders of 
a majority of the outstanding shares of Series Preferred Stock shall object thereto in uriting i r i t h i n  
15 days after the date of such notice In the ecent ofsuch objection. the valuation of such 



I S 

.I,,~ts tor purpo\c\ 111 m h  distribution shall be determined by an arbitraor selected bv the objecting stockholders and the Board o f  Directors. or ~n 
I h C  c\cnt a single , i i l i i t rmr  i a n n o t  be q r c e d  upon Lbithin I O  days after the iLritten objection sent b> the objecting stockholders in accordance tcIth 
the prc\ious scntcilic the tduat ion  of  such assets shall be determined by xbitration in Lihich ( I )  the objecting stockholders shall name in their notice 
of&Jcction onc ~ ~ t i i i r ~ t ~ r ,  ( 1 1 )  thc Board o f  Directors shall name a second Jrbitrator \+ithin 15 days from the receipt of such notice, ( i l l )  the 
arbitrjtors thus ,cIc i tcd $hall select a third arbitrator u i th in  I 5  days thereafter, and ( 1 ) )  the three arbitrators thus selected shd l  determine thc 
\ j l i l j t i o n  of  such L I j $ c t h  \r ithin 15 days thereafter for purposes of such d imbu t ion  by majority bote The costs o f  such arbitrdtion shall be borne by 
[he Corporation 01 I i v  the holders o f  the Series Preferred Stock (on J. pro tat4 basis out of the m e t s  othenvise distributable to them) as follo\bs ( I )  i f  
the \ ~ I u ~ . t i o n  a> dcicrmincd bq the arbitrators i s  greater than 95% o f  the \ .dwt ion  as determined by the Board of Directors, the holders of  the Series 
Prcfcrrcd Stock ~ l iL1 l /  p ~ y  thc c o \ t b  of the Jrbitration, and ( 1 1 )  othen\ ise. thc Corporation shall bear the costs of the arbitration 

5 3 3  VOTING RIGHTS 

(a) GEUERAL Exccpt JS othemise expressly probided herein or as required by I m ,  the 
holder of each share o f the  Series Preferred Stock shall be entitled to bote on any matters presented 
to the holders of the Common Stock Each shdre of Series Preferred Stock shd l  entitle the holder 
thereof to such number o f  votes per share as shall equal the number of shares o f  Common Stock 
into Rhich such share of Series Preferred Stock i s  convertible in accordance ibith the te rms of  
Section 5 3 4 hereof at the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to bote on  such 
matter or, if no record date is established, at the date such vote i s  tahen or any \vritten conscnt of 
stockholders i s  solicited Except as otherwise expressly provided herein (including. u ithout 
limitation. the provisions of Section 5 3 6 hereof) or as required by law, the holders of shares of 
Series Preferred Stock and the Common Stock shall vote together as a single class on any matters 
presented to the holders of the Common Stock 

(b) BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

(I) INVESTOR DIRECTORS The 
holders of the Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to vote as a class separately from all other classes of stock of the Corporation in any bote for 
the election o f  directors of the Corporation, and shall be entitled to elect by such class vote two directors (the "Series A Investor Directors"), one of 
\bhich Scries A Inkestor Directors to be designated by Spectrum Equity Investors, L P ("Spectrum") for so long as i t  owns shxes of Series A 
Prcferred Stock and thereafter by the holders of a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock, and the other to be 
dcsignJtcd by New Enterprise Associates VI.  L imited Partnership or i t s  affiliates (collectively, "NEA VI")  



for so long JS 11 o\\  ns \hares o f  Series 4 Preferred Stock and thereafter by the holders o f  a majority o f  the issued and outstanding shares of  Series 
Preferred Stock I l l s  holders ot the Series B Preferred Stock shall be entitled to Lote as a class separately from all other CIJjses of  stoil\ of  [he  
Corporation in j n v  bote for the election o f  directors o f  the Corpormon, m d  shall be entitled to elect by such class bote one director (the Sericj B 
Inkcstor Director ) to be Jesignatcd by  Crotech Capital Group IV. LLC ( Grotech IV")  for so long as i t  ouns  shares of Series B Preferred Stock j n d  
[hereafter by thc holders of a majority o f  the issued and outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock The holders o f  the Series C Preferred Stock 
shall be entitled 10 tote Jj a c h s s  separately from al l  other classes o f  stock o f  the Corporation in any cote for the election o f  directors o f  the 
Corporation, j n d  \ h d l  be entitled to elect by such class cote one director (the 'Ser ies C Itnestor Director ' )  to be designated by the holders o t  a 
majority o f  thc Iswed and outstanding shares o f  Series C Preferred Stock. probided. houecer. that if the holders o f  J majority of the issued Jnd 
outstanding shjrcs ot Scries C Preferred Stock designate for election JS the Series C Inbestor Director an individual u h o  i s  not a partner or asjociJte 
o f a  Series C Inkcstor or m entity under substantially the same management as a Series C Inkestor. such designee shall be elected 3s a director only 
\kith the bote ot  J i n ~ j o r i t \  ot the Common Stock Directors and InLestor Directors. voting together Initially. the Series C InLrstor Director v,ill be 
designated by Toronto Dominion Capital ( U  S 4 ), Inc In  no ebent shall the Series C Inbestor Director be (I) a parmer or dssociate of Spectrum or m 
entity under substanti~lly the same management as Spectrum for so long as Spectrum has designation rights under this Section 5 5 3(a). ( 1 1 )  J. partner 
or associate o f  Y E A  VI or an entity under substantially the same management as Y E A  \I for so long as YEA V I  has designation rights under this 
Section 5 3 3(a).  m d  (i i i) a partner or associate of Grotech IV or an entity under substantially the same management ,is Grotech IV for so long as 
Grotech IV has dcsiynation rights under this Section 5 3 3(a)  

( 1 1 )  COMMON STOCK DIRECTORS For so long as any Series Preferred Stock 
remains outstanding, the holders o f  Common Stock shall be entitled to tote as a c I m  
separately from all other classes in  any cote for the election o f  directors o f  the 
Corporation, and shall be entitled to elect by such class vote two directors (the 
"Common Stock Directors") 

( i i i )  APPOINTMENT O F  CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE OFFICEWOFFICER DIRECTOR Upon the termination or resignation o f  the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, the 
Corporation wi l l  select and hire a successor Chief Executive Officer (and any successor thereto) by the affirmative vote o f  a majority o f  the Common 
Stock Directors, the Series A Investor Directors, the Series B Investor Director and the Series C Investor Director, boting together The Chief 
Evecutive Officer (and any replacement or successor Chief Executive Officer) as so selected and hired shall be elected to the Corporation's Board of  
Directors by the holders o f  the Series Preferred Stock and the Common Stock voting together as a single class (the "Officer Director") Dacid 
Schacffer may serve as Chief Executive Officer o f  the 



IO 

Corporjtion i n  thc di,iiction of the B a r d  of Directors, but in no ebent shall David Schaeffer be elected as the Officer Director 

( i v )  
shall be as set forth in the Bylaws of the Corporation 

REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS The removal of any director of the Corporation 

(c) 
the special voting rights set forth in Section 5 3 6 hereof 

SPECIAL VOTING RIGHTS The holders of the Series Preferred Stock shall be entitled to 

5 3 4  CONVERSION The holders of the Series 

Preferred Stock shall hakc the following conbersion rights: 

( d )  RIGHT TO CONVERT Subject to and in compliance with the provisions of this Section 
5 3 4, any shares of the Series Preferred Stock may, at any time or from time to time at the option 
of the holder, be converted into fully-paid and non-assessable shares of Common Stock. The 
number of shares of Common Stock to which a holder of the Series Preferred Stock shall be 
entitled upon conversion shall be the product obtained by multiplying the Applicable Conversion 
Rate (determined as provided in Section 5 3 J (c ) )  by the number of shares of Series Preferred Stock 
being converted. 

(b) AUTOMATIC CONVERSION. 

( i )  Each share of the Series Preferred Stock outstanding shall automatically be converted into 
the number of shares of Common Stock into which such shares are convertible upon application of 
the then effective Applicable Conversion Rate (determined as provided in Section 5,3,4(c)) 
immediately upon the closing of an underwritten public offering pursuant to an effective 
registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or under such other applicable 
securities regulations covering the offer and sale of capital stock of the Corporation (other than a 
registration relating solely to Rule 145 under such Act (or any successor thereto) or to an employee 
benefit plan of the Corporation) ( i )  immediately prior to the consummation of which, the 
Corporation is valued (based on the per-share price paid in such public offering, but without regard 
to any proceeds to be received by the Company in connection with such offering) at greater than 
S50,000,000, ( i i )  in which the gross proceeds received by the Corporation exceed S2O,OOO.OOO. and 
( i i i )  in which the Corporation uses a nationally recognized underwriter approved by holders of a 
majority in interest of the Series Preferred Stock (a "Qualified Public Offering"). 

( 1 1 )  Upon the occurrence of an 
ebent specified in  Section 5 3 4(b)(i), the outstanding shares of Series Preferred Stock shall be converted automatically without any further action by 
the holders of such shares and whether or not the certificates representing such shares are surrendered to the Corporation or its transfer agent, 
provided. however, that the Corporation shall not be 



ObliSJted to ISUC L c i t i l i c J t c s  cbidcncing such shares of  the Common Stock unless certificates ebidencing such shares of the Series Prefcrred Stock 
bcins  c0nbertc.d ,irc either Jcli\cred [o the Corporation or any transfer agent. as hereinafter probided, or the holder notifies the CorporJtion or a n v  
trjnsfer Jgent, J\ licrcinafter pro\. ided, that such certificates habe been lost, stolen or destroyed and executes an agreement satisfactory to the 
Corporation to indciiinify the Corporation from any loss incurred by i t  in connection therewith 

Lpon the occurrence of the utomatic conversion of al l  o f  the outstanding Series Preferred Stock, the holders o f  the Series Preferred Stock shJt1 
surrender the Lcrt i t icJtes representing such shares at the of f ice of the Corporation or o f  any transfer agent for the Common Stock Thereupon. there 
shJll  be issued Jnd  deIi\cred to each such holder, promptly at such office and in his name as shoun on such surrendered certificate or cert i f icates.  
certificate or ccrtific,itcs for the number o f  sh~res of  Common Stock into uhich the shares o f  the Series Preferred Stock surrendered \cere con\cnible 
on the date on \thiLh such JutomJtic con\.ersion occurred and cash as prokided in Section 5 3 J(k) below in respect of any fraction of a share of 
Common Stoch iwiable upon such automatic conbersion 

( c )  The conversion rdte in effect at any time for the 
applicable series o f  Series Preferred Stock (the "Applicable Conrersion Rate ' )  shall equal the 
quotient obtained by dibiding SI 00 in the case o f  Series A Preferred Stock, S3 78 in the case o f  
Series B Preferred Stock or SI0 64 in the case o f  the Series C Preferred Stocb by the Applicable 
Conversion Value, calculated as hereinafter provided 

APPLICABLE CONVERSION RATE 

(d) APPLICABLE CONVERSION VALUE. The Applicable Conversion Value in ef fec t  
initially, and until first adjusted in accordance with Section 5 3 4(e) or Section 5 3 4(f) hereof. shall 
be SI 00 in the case o f  Series A Preferred Stock. 53 28 in the case o f  Series B Preferred Stock and 
S I O  64 in the case of the Series C Preferred Stock 

(e )  ADJUSTMENT FOR COMMON STOCK DIVIDENDS, SUBDIVIDENDS AND 
COMBINATIONS OF COMMON STOCK, ETC Upon the happening o f  any o f  the following (I) 
the issuance of additional shares o f  Common Stock of any class as a dividend or other distribution 
of outstanding Common Stock, (11) the subdivision of outstanding shares of Common Stock of any 
class into a greater number of shares of Common Stock, or (111) the combination of outstanding 
shares o f  Common Stock of any class into a smaller number of shares o f  Common Stock (each an 
"Extraordinary Common Stock Event"), the Applicable Conversion Value shall, simultaneously 
with the happening of such Extraordinary Common Stock Event, be adjusted by dividing the then 
effective Applicable Conversion Value by a fraction. the numerator o f  which shall be the number o f  
shares o f  Common Stock outstanding (excluding treasury 
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5tc3ck) immediately J l t u  u h  Eutrmrdinary Common Stock Ekent and the denominator of uhich shall be the number o f  shares o f  Common Stock 
outstanding (excludiiis trcasury stock) inimediately prior to such Eytraordinary Common Stock Ekent. and the quotient so obtained shall thcredfrcr be 
the Applicable Conccr5ion \ d u e  The Applicable Conkersion Value. ,is so adjusted, shall be readjusted in the same manner upon the happcniny of  
any  juccessi\e kxtraordinary Common Stock Ebent or Ecents 

(f) ADJUSTMENTS FOR DILUTING ISSUES 

(I) Except as provided in 
Section 5 3 4(e)  a b w c  or for Excluded Shares (as defined below), i f  the Corporation shall issue any additional shares of Common Stock o f  any class 
for no consideration or Jt a price per share less than the Applicable Conversion Value in effect for each applicable series o f  Series Preferred Stock 
immediately prior to 5uch i w . m c e  or sale, then in each such case such Applicable Conkersion Value shall be reduced to such lower price 

For purposes of this Section 5 3 - I (Q.  "Excluded Shares" shall mean (I) shares issued or delivered from treasury or stock options (and shms of 
Common Stock issued upon the exercise thereof) granted by the Corporation, with the approkal of the Board of Directors. to directors, officers, 
employees, agents or consultants of the Corporation for up to an aggregate of 1,325.212 shares of the Common Stock ( d s  adjusted for stock splits. 
stock dividends and the like), ( t i )  warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock (and any shares o f  Common Stock issued upon the eyercise thereof) 
issued by the Corporation in connection with the Corporation's offering o f  units. each such unit consisting of S1.000 principal amount at maturity of 
Senior Notes due 2008 (the "Notes") of the Corporation and warrants to purchase shares o f  Common Stock. and (iii) warrants to purchase shares of 
Common Stock (and any shares of Common Stock issued upon the exercise thereof) issued by the Corporation in connection with the credit facilities 
among the Corporation and/or i t s  subsidiaries, i t s  equipment vendors and certain other senior lenders 

For purposes o f  this Section 5 3 4(0,  i f  a part or al l  of the consideration received by the Corporation in connection with the issuance of shares of the 
Common Stock or the issuance o f  any o f  the securities described below in paragraph (11) of this Section 5 3 4(f) consists o f  property other than cash, 
such consideration shall be deemed to have the same value as i s  determined by the Corporation's Board of Directors with respect to receipt of such 
property so long as such determination was made reasonably and in good faith, and shall otherwise be deemed to have a value equal to i ts fair market 
value 

(11) For the purpose of this 
Section 5 3 J(0, the issuance o f  any warrants, options or other subscription or purchase rights with respect to shares of Common Stock o f  any class 
md the issuance of any securities convertible into shares o f  Common Stock of any class (or the issuance of m y  warrants, options or any rights with 
respect to such convertible securities) shall be deemed an issuance at such time of such Common Stock if the Net Consideration Per Share which may 
be rcccived by the Corporation for such Common Stock (as hereinafter determined) shall 



being able to coiitcrt into \hares o t  Common Stock o f  the Corporation or the successor corporation the holders o f  the Series Preferred Stocl\ 
(including j n v  ' I U C I ~  prctcrrcd stock ),sued upon concersion o f  the Series Preferred Stock) shall thereafter be entitled to receite upon coniersion o t  
the Series Prclerrcd j t o c k  (including any such preferred stock issued upon concersion o f  the Series Preferred Stock) the number o f  shares o f  stock or 
other securitic\ or I)ropcrty of the Corporation or of the successor corporation resulting from such merger or consolidation or sale. to \I hich a holder 
of  the number of  \h,ircs of  Common Stock deliberable upon conversion o f  the Series Preferred Stock immediately prior to the capital reorgani7dtion 
merger, COn5[)lldJ(lOn or sale \could hake been entitled on such cdpital reorgdnization, merger, consolidation. or sale In any such cdse, appropride 
procisions shJil he r n d c  Lrith rcspcct to the rights o f  the holders of the Series Preferred Stock (including any such preferred stock issued upon 
con\ersion ot rhc $cries Preferred Stock) after the reorganization, merger. consolidation or sale to the end that the provisions o f  this Section 5 3 4 
(including. Irlthout limitation. procisions for adjustment o f  the Applicable Conkersion Value and the number o f  shares purchasable upon conlersion 
o f the  Series Prctcrrcd Stock or such preferred stock) shall thereafter be applicable, as nearly as may be, with respect to any shares o f  stock, securities 
or assets to bc Jcli\srdblc thereafter upon the conkersion o f  the Series Preferred Stock or such preferred stock 

E x h  holder ot Series Prcfcrred Stock upon the occurrence o f  a capital reorganization, merger or consolidation o f  the Corporation or the sale o f  a l l  or 
substantially all o f  i t 5  assets and properties as such eients are more fully set forth in the first paragraph o f  this Section 5 3 4 h ) ,  shall habe the option 
o f  electing treatmcnt o f  his shares of Series Preferred Stock under either this Section 5 3 4(h) or Section 5 3 2(b) hereof. and evcept as otherwise 
probided in said Scction 5 3 2(b) ,  notice o f  Shich election shall be submitted in Lcriting to the Corporation at i t s  principal offices no later than I O  
days before the effectice date of such event. provided that any such notice shall be effective if gicen not later than 15 days after the date o f  the 
Corporation's notice, pursudnt to Section 5 3 8, with respect to such ebent 

(I) CERTIFICATE AS TO ADJUSTMENTS In each case of an adjustment or readjustment o f  
the Applicable Conversion Rate, the Corporation w i l l  promptly furnish each holder o f  Series 
Preferred Stock with a certificate. prepared by  the chief financial officer o f  the Corporation, 
showing such adjustment or readjustment, and stating in detail the facts upon which such 
adjustment or readjustment i s  based 

0) MECHANICS OF CONVERSION T o  exercise i t s  conversion privilege, a holder of Series 
Preferred Stock shall surrender the certificate or certificates representing the shares being conkerted 
to the Corporation at its principal office, and shall give written notice to the Corporation at that 
office that such holder elects to convert such shares Such notice shall also state the name or names 
(wi th address or addresses) in  which the certificate or certificates for shares o f  Common Stock 
issuable upon such conversion shall be issued The certificate or 
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icrtit ic~tes tor \liJrc\ ot Scrics Preferred Stoch surrendered for conkersion shall be accompanied by proper assignment thereof to the Corporation or 
in blank Thc tlatc nhcn such trrittcn notice i s  receibed by the Corpordion together with the certificate or certificates representing the ,hares o f  
Sc.ries Prefcrrcd \lock being conicrtcd. >hall be the 'Coniersion Date As promptly as practicable after the Conbersion Date, the Corporation >hall 
1hsue and shd l  dcl i rcr  10 thc holder o f  the shares o f  Series Preferred Stock being conberted, a certificate or certificates in such denominations as i t  

may request in \rrit ing for the number o f  full shares o f  Common Stock issuable upon the conversion o f  such shares o f  Series Preferred Stock in 
dccordjnce \r i th tlic pro\isions o f  this Section 5 3 4 m d  cash as probided in Section 5 3 -t(k) below in respect o f  any fraction o f  a share of Common 
Stock issuable upon such conLcrsion Such ConLersion shd l  be deemed to have been effected immediately prior to the close o f  business on the 
ConLersion DdtC and JI u h  time the rights o f  the holder as holder o f  the con\erted shares o f  Series Preferred Stock shall cease and the person or 
persons in v, hosc n m c  or naiiics any certificate or Certificates for shares o f  Common Stock shall be issuable upon such conversion shall be deemed 
to habe bccomc the holder or holders o f  record o f  ,hares o f  Common Stock represented thereby 

( k )  h o  fractional shares o f  Common Stock or scrip representing 
fractional shares shall be issued upon conversion o f  Series Preferred Stock Instead o f  any 
fractional shares o f  Common Stock that uou ld  othenrise be issuable upon conversion o f  Series 
Preferred Stock, the Corporation shall pay to the holder o f  the shares of Series Preferred Stock thJt 
\+ere converted a cash adjustment in respect o f  such fraction in an amount equal to the s m e  
fraction o f  the market price per share o f  the Common Stock (as determined in a manner prescribed 
in good faith by the Bodrd o f  Directors) at the close o f  business on the Conversion Date 

( I )  In the event some but not all o f  the shares o f  Series Preferred 
Stock represented by a certificate or certificates surrendered by  a holder are converted, the 
Corporation shall execute and deliver to or on the order o f  the holder, at the eypense of the 
Corporation, a new certificate representing the number o f  shares o f  Series Preferred Stock which 
were not converted 

FRACTIONAL SHARES 

PARTIAL  CONVERSION 

(m) RESERVATION OF C O M M O N  STOCK The Corporation shall at all times reserve and 
keep available out o f  i t s  authorized but unissued shares o f  Common Stock, solely for the purpose o f  
effecting the conversion o f  the shares o f  the Series Preferred Stock, such number o f  i t s  shares o f  
Common Stock as shall from time to time be sufficient to effect the conversion o f  all outstanding 
shares o f  the Series Preferred Stock, and if at any time the number o f  authorized but unissued 
shares o f  Common Stock shall not be sufficient to effect the conversion o f  all then outstanding 
shares o f  the Series Preferred Stock, the Corporation shall take such corporate action as may, in the 
opinion o f  its counsel, be necessary to increase its authorized but unissued shares o f  Common 
Stock to such number o f  shares as shall be sufficient for such purpose 



5 3 5  R E DE ,V PT I ON. 

(a )  OPTION,AL REDEMPTION. 

(I) OPTIONAL REDEVPTION OF 
SL RIES ,\ PREFFRKED STOCK A N D  SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK In the ebent thdt there shall not hate occurred a closing o f  a Qualified 
public Offcriny (as dctincd in Scction 5 3 3(b) hereon prior to December 23 2000. at the election of any holder of shares of Series A Preferred Stock 
or d n y  holder of Scrics B Prcfcrrcd Stock outstanding as of December 23 2000. the Corporation shall redeem all (but not part) o f  the shares o f  Series 
.i Prcfcrrcd Stock ,ind Series B Preferred Stock then held by such holder Payment o f  the Series A Redemption Price (as defined below) to the 
holders ot Scries A Prefcrrcd Stock and the Scries B Redemption Price ( d s  defined below) to the holders of shares o f  Series B Preferred Stock. shall 
be m d c  b\ thc Corporation on Jmuary 23. 2OOI, for a cash pnce equd to the original purchase pnce paid by such holders for each share o f  Series .i 
Prcfcrrcd Stoch and Series B Prcterred Stock outstanding. adjusted for any stock split, combined consolidation or stock distribution or stock 
dibidends with rcspect to such ,hares (the 'Series A Redemption Price' m d  the 'Series B Redemption Price," respectitely) On or prior to December 
24 2000 the Corporation shall gibe written notice (the "Series A and Series B Redemption Notice") by mail. postage prepaid, to the holders of thc 
thcn outstanding shms o f  Serics A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock at the address of each such holder appearing on the book o f  the 
Corporation or given by such holder to the Corporation for the purpose of notice Such notice shdll set forth the Series A Redemption Price and the 
Series B Redemption Price, as the case may be, and shall further state that any holder of shares of Series A Preferred Stock or Series B Preferred 
Stock who intends to request redemption o f  i ts Series A Preferred Stock or Series B Preferred Stoch, respectively, pursuant to this Section 5 3 j ( a )  
must give written notice to the Corporation of i ts  request for redemption on or before January I I, 2001 On or after January I I ,  200 I each holder of 
shares o f  Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock who requested that such holder's shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B 
Preferred Stock be so redeemed, shall surrender the certificate or certificates evidencing such shares to the Corporation In the case of any cert i f icate 
or Cert i f icates which have been lost, stolen or destroyed, the holder o f  such certificate or certificates shall make and deliver an affidavit of that fact to 
the Corpordtion without the necessity of giving the Corporation a bond 

(11) MANDATORY REDEMPTION OF 
SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK A N D  SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK If after sending the Series A and Series B Redemption Notice, the 
Corpordtion receives requests for redemption on or prior to January 1 1 ,  2001 from the holders of at least sixty-seven percent (67%) o f  the Series A 
Prefcrred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock taken together, it shall give written notice by mail, postage prepaid, to the holders of Series A Preferred 
Stock Jnd Series B Preferred Stock that all shares of the Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock then outstanding wil l  be redeemed on 
Jdnudry 1 3 .  2001 (the "Series A 



dr id Series B Rcdcriiption D a t e " )  for a per share cash price equal to the Scrics ,A Redemption Price and the Series B Redemption Price, 3s [he 
n 1 ~ y  be. 'The notice k i l l  furthcr call upon such holders to surrender to thc Corporation on or before the Series A and Series B Redemption Date Jt the 
p l ~ c ~  designated in thc notice such holder's certificate or certificates representing the shares to be redeemed. On  or after the Series A and Series B 
Rcdcmption Date. each holder o f  shares o f  Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock called for redemption shall surrender the certificate 
or certificates c\idcncing such sharcs to the Corporation. In the case o f  any certificate or certificates which have been lost, stolen or destroyed, the 
holder o f  such certificate or ccrtificates shall make and deliver an affidavit o f  that fact to the Corporation without the necessity o f  gibing the 
Corporation J bond 

1 1 1 1 )  OPTIO\AL  R t D E M P T l O N  OF 
SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK In the ebcnt there shall not hdve occurred a closing o f  a Qualified Public Offering (as defined in Section 5 3 4(b) 
hercot) prior to Co\cnibcr 3 2001 ,I[ the election o f  each holder o f  s h m s  o f  Series C Preferred Stock outstanding as o f  Vokember 1. 2001, the 
Corporjt ion shd l  rcdccm dl1 (but not part) o f  the shares o f  Series C Preferred Stock then held by such holder Payment o f  the Jpplicable Series C 
Redemption Price (JS defined bclow) to the holders o f  Series C Preferred Stock shdll be made by the Corporation on December 3. 1001, for a c s h  
price cqud  to the original purchdse price paid by such holders for each share o f  Series C Preferred Stock outstanding, adjusted for any stoch split, 
combincd consolidJtion or stoch distribution or stock dividends with respect to such shares (the "Series C Redemption Price") On or prior to 
Uovember 4, 2001, the Corpordtion shall gike written notice (the "Series C Redemption Notice") by mail, postage prepaid. to the holders o f  the then 
outstanding sharcs o f  Series C Preferred Stock at the address o f  each such holder appearing on the books of  the Corporation or given by such holder 
to the Corpordtion for the purpose o f  notice The Series C Redemption Notice shall set forth the Series C Redemption Price and shall further state that 
m y  holder o f  shdres o f  Series C Preferred Stock who intends to request redemption o f  i t s  Series C Preferred Stock pursuant to this Section 5 3 5(,) 
must gibe written notice to the Corporation of  i t s  request for redemption on or before November 21. 2001 On or after December 3, 7001, each holder 
o f  shares o f  Series C Preferred Stock who requested that such holder's shares o f  Series C Preferred Stock be so redeemed, shall surrender the 
certificate or certificates evidencing such shares to the Corporation In the case o f  any certificate or certificates which have been lost. stolen or 
dcstroyed, the holder of  such ccrtificate or certificates shall make and deliver an affidavit o f  that fact to the Corporation without the necessity of  
giving the Corporation a bond 

( i v )  M A N D A T O R Y  REDEMPTION OF 
SERfES C PREFERRED STOCK If after sending the Series C Redemption Notice, the Corporation receives requests for redemption on or prior to 
Uovcmbcr 21, 7001 from the holders o f  at least sixty-seven percent (67%) o f  the Series C Preferred Stock, it shall give written notice by mail, 
postage prcpaid. to the holders of Series C Preferred Stock that al l  shares o f  Series C Preferred Stock then outstanding w i l l  be redeemed on 
December 3. 
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' 2001 (the 'Scrics Rcdcriiption DJ te ' )  for a per share cash price equil to the Series C Redemption Price The notice shill further C J I I  upon such 
holJcrs to surrender 10 the Corporaion on or before the Series C Redemption Dire at the place designated i n  the notice such holder's certificJtc or 
ccrtificitcs rcprcscnting thc shires to be redeemed on or after the Series C Redemption Date. each holder of shares of Series C Preferred Stock cJ1lc.d 
for redemption shJll surrcndcr the certificate or certificates ebidencing such shares to the Corporation In  the case of any certifiute or certificdtcs 
\+hich hibe been log.  stolen or destroyed, the holder of such certificate or certificates shdll make and deliver an affidavit of t h a  f x t  to the 
Corpordtion uithout the necessity of giving the Corporation a bond 

( b )  EXTENSION OF REDEMPTION DATES Notwithstanding the foregoing cliuses 
( I )  through (iv), i n  the event any indebtedness under the Notes remains outstanding. the 
holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C 
Preferred Stock shall not have the right to require the Corporation to redeem any of such 
shares un t i l  ninety (90) days after the later of ( K O  the date on uhich such \otes shill be 
indefeasibly paid in full and (y)  the applicable Redemption Date 

(b )  TERMINATION OF RIGHTS From and after the Series A and Series B Redemption Date 
or the Series C Redemption Date (each a "Redemption Date"), as the case may be, unless there 
shall have been a default in payment or tender by the Corporation of the Series A Redemption Price 
and the Series B Redemption Price or the Series C Redemption Price (each a 'Redemption Price').  
as the case may be, all rights of the holders *ith respect to such redeemed shares of the Series 
Preferred Stock (except the right to receive the applicable Redemption Price upon surrender or their 
certificate) shall cease and such shares shall not thereafter be transferred on the books of this 
Corporation or be deemed to be outstanding for any purpose whatsoever 

(c) INSUFFICIENT FUNDS If the funds of the Corporation legally available for redemption of 
shares of the Series Preferred Stock on the applicable Redemption Date are insufficient to redeem 
the total number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock or Series C 
Preferred Stock, as the case may be, on such Redemption Date, the Corporation will use its best 
efforts to engage in a recapitalization or the sale of its business or businesses to generate sufficient 
funds to redeem all of the shares of the Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock or 
the Series C Preferred Stock, as the case may be The Corporation shall use those funds which are 
legally available to redeem the maximum possible number of such shares ratably among the holders 
of such shares to be redeemed At any time thereafter when additional funds of the Corporation are 
legally available for the redemption of shares of the Series Preferred Stock, such funds v.111 
immediately be used to redeem the balance of the shares which the Corporation has become 
obligated to redeem on the applicable Redemption Date but which i t  has not redeemed ~t the 
applicable Redemption Price If any shares of the Series Preferred Stock are not 



redeemed tor the lorcgoing rcdson or because the Corporation otherwise failed to pay or tender to pay the aggregate applicable Redemption Price on 
JII outsunding 5hrlrc4 ot Series Preferred Stock, all shares which haLe not been redeemed shall remain outstanding dnd entitled to 311 the rights dnd 
prcfcrcnccs probidcd hcrcin, m d  the Corporation shall pay interest on the Jpplicable Redemption Price for the unredeemed portion ;It an aggregate 
per Jnnum rate eqii,il to the greder of  (I)  tuelve percent (12%) or ( 1 1 )  the Base Rate or any similar lending rate announced from time to time by The 
First \rJtional Bmh 01 Boston or any successor entity plus five percent (5"'"). increased, in each case. by one percent ( 1 % )  at the end of each calendar 
qudncr thcreaftcr ,111 probisions hereof are hereby evpressly limited so that in no contingency or ebent whatsoerer shall the m o u n t  paid or agreed to 
be p ~ i d  to thc holdcrc of the Series Preferred Stock evceed the maximum amount which the holder is permitted to receive under applicable law I f  
fultillmcnt of m y  probision hcrcof shall involve exceeding such amount. then the obligation to be fulfilled shall automatically be reduced to the limit 
ofbuch maximum miount 4s used herein. the term "applicable law" shall mean the law in effect as of the date hereof, provided, however, that in the 
ckcnt t h d  there is J chJnge in  thc I N  \\hich results in a higher permissible rate of interest. then these provisions shall be gocemed by such new law 
JS of its cffcctiLe d ~ r c  

5.3.6 RESTRICTIONS AND LIMITATIONS. The 

Corporation shall not without the affirmative vote or written consent of the holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of the Series 
Preferred Stock: 

(I) Redeem. purchase or otherwise acquire for value (or pay into or set aside for a sinking fund for 
such purpose), any share or shares of Series Preferred Stock other than pursuant to Section 5.3 5 
hereof; 

( 1 1 )  Redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire for value (or pay into or set aside for a sinking fund 
for such purpose) any of the Common Stock of any class or any other capital stock of the 
Corporation other than the Series Preferred Stock or any of the Corporation's options, warrants or 
convertible or exchangeable securities, except that these provisions will not prohibit the 
Corporation from repurchasing or redeeming any shares of capital stock from indikiduals and 
entities who have entered into stockholder agreements, stock option agreements, employment 
agreements or other similar agreements with the Corporation in each case approved by a majority 
of the Series A Investor Directors, Series B Investor Director and Series C Investor Director under 
which the Corporation has the option to repurchase such shares upon the occurrence of certain 
events, including the termination of employment and involuntary transfers by operation of law (and 
their permitted transferees), provided, however, that any such agreement between such individual 
and the Corporation under which the Corporation has such options to repurchase, must be approved 
by the affirmative vote or written consent of the holders of a majonty of the then outstanding Series 
Preferred Stock before such agreement is executed by the Corporation; 
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( 1 1 1 )  .\Lithori/e or i \ w c %  or oblipde itself to issue, m y  other debt or cquity security. other than as provided in that certain Inkestment j n j  
Stockholder's i\grcciiicnt, b) m d  among the Corporation and the Incestors named therein. dated as o f  October 31. 1997 (the "[ncestment 
Agrccmcnt"). 

( I \ )  Increase or dccrcase (other than by concersion as permitted hereby) the total number o f  
authorized shares of Series Preferred Stock; 

(v) Pay or declare any dicidend or distribution on any o f  i ts capital stock: 

(ci) Authonze any merger. consolidation o f  the Corporation with or into any other company or 
entity, or authorize the reorganization or sale of the Corporation or the sale o f  substantially a11 of 
the assets o f  the Corporation, 

( k i i )  Amend the chxtcr documents o f  the Corporation or amend the Bylaws o f  the Corporation in any manner that Jdkersely affects the 
preferences. pouers. rights or prib ileges of the holders of Series Preferred Stock, 

(ci i i )  Authorix any reclassification or recapitalization o f  the outstanding capital stock o f  the Corporation; 

( ix) Approve the annual operating budget o f  the Corporation, 

(x) 
provided in the Investment Agreement, or 

(xi) Incur, create, assume, become or be liable in any manner with respect to, or permit to exist, 
any new or additional indebtedness or liability in excess o f  SSO,OOO, except as provided in the 
Investment Agreement. 

Change the composition or compensation of management o f  the Corporation except as 

5 3 7  NO REISSUANCE OF SERIES PREFERRED STOCK No  

share or shares o f  the Series Preferred Stock acquired by the Corporation by reason o f  redemption, purchase, conversion or otherwise shall be 
reissued. Jnd all such shares shall be canceled, retired, and eliminated from the shares which the Corporation shall be authorized to issue The 
Corporation may from time to time take such appropriate corporate action as may be necessary to reduce the authonzed number o f  shares o f  the 
Series Preferred Stock accordingly 

5 3 8  NOTICES OF RECORD DATE. In the event (I) 

thc Corporation establishes a record date to determine the holders of any class o f  securities who are entitled to receive any dividend or other 
distribution, or (11) there occurs any capital 



rcorgani/ation of thc Corpordion. m y  reclassification or recapitalization of the capital stock of the Corporation. any merger or consolidation o f  the 
Corporation. or any trmstcr ot JII or substantially all of the assets o f  the Corporation to any other company, or any other entity or person or j n v  
\ ~ ~ ] t i n t a r y  or in\oluntLiry dissolution. liquiddtion or winding up o f  the Corporation. the Corporation shall mail to each holder of  Series Preferred 
Stock at least 2 0  days prior to the record date specified therein, a notice specifying (a) the date of such record date for the purpose of such di\  idend or 
dijtribution and a description o f  such dividend or distribution, (b) the date on which any such reorgdnization, reclassification, transfer. consolidation. 
merger. dissolution. l iquid~tion or winding up i s  expected to become effectice. and (c) the time, ifdny, that i s  to be fixed. as to \+hen the holders o f  
record o f  Common Stock (or other securities) shall be entitled to exchange their shares o f  Common Stock (or other securities) for securities or other 
property deli\ crablc upon such reorganization, reclassification, transfer, consolidation, merger, dissolution, liquidation or winding up 

5 3 9 OTHER RIGHTS Except 3s otherwise procided 

in this Amended and Restated Certificate o f  lncorporation shares o f  each series o f  the Series Preferred Stock and shares of Common Stock shall be 
identical in ~ l l  respects (each share of Series Preferred Stock having equivalent rights to the number o f  shares o f  Common Stock into tbhich i t  i s  then 
contcrtible), shall hdce the same pouers. preferences and rights, uithout preference o f  any such class or share over any other such class or shdre, and 
shall be treated as J single class o f  stock for all purposes 

5 3 10 RANKING Each series o f  Series Preferred Stock shall rank on a parity with the other series of Series Preferred Stock as to the distribution o f  
assets on Iiquiddtion, dissolution and winding up o f  the Corporation The Series Preferred Stock shall rank senior to the Common Stock as to the 
distribution o f  assets on liquidation, dissolution and winding up o f  the Corporation 

5.3.1 1 ,MISCELLANEOUS. 

(a) A l l  notices referred to herein shall be in writing, and all notices hereunder shall be deemed to 
have been given. upon the earlier of delivery thereof by hand delivery, by courier, or by standard 
form of telecommunication, addressed. (I) i f  to the Corporation, to i ts principal executive office 
(Attention President) and to the transfer agent. if any, for the Series Preferred Stock or other agent 
o f  the Corporation designated as permitted hereby or (i i) if to any holder of the Series Preferred 
Stock or Common Stock, as the case may be, to such holder at the address o f  such holder as listed 
in the stock record books of the Corporation (which may include the records o f  any transfer agent 
for the Series Preferred Stock or Common Stock, as the case may be) or (111) to such other address 
as the Corporation or any such holder, as the case may be, shall have designated by notice similarly 
given. 

(b )  
be payable in  respect o f  any issuance or 

The Corporation shall pay any and all stock transfer and documentary stamp taxes that may 



& l ~ \ c r )  of  shjrcs 0 1  Scrics Prcfcrrcd Stock or shares of Common Stock or other securities issued on account o f  Series Preferred Stock pursuant 
hccc[o or certificates representing such shares or securities. The Corporation shall not. however, be required to pay any such tax lbhlch may be 
payable in rcspcct o t ' m y  transfer involved i n  the issuance or delivery o f  shares o f  Series Preferred Stock or Common Stock or other securities in a 
naillc other than that in \{hich thc shares o f  Series Preferred Stock with respect to which such shares or other securities are issued or delivered \\ere 
rcgistcrcd. or in respect of  any payment to any person with respect to any such shares or securities other than a payment to the registered holder 
thereof. and shall not be required to make any such issuance, delivery or payment unless and until the person otherwise entitled to such issuance. 
dcli icry or payment has paid to the Corporation the amount o f  any such tax or has established, to the satisfaction o f  the Corporation, that such tax has 
been paid or IS not payable ( c )  The Corporation may appoint. and from rime to time discharge and change. a transfer agent of the Series Preferred 
Stock. Upon any such appointment or discharge o f  a transfer agent, the Corporation shall send notice thereof by hand delivery. by courier. by 
standard form oftclccommunication or by first class mail (postage prepaid), to each holder o f  record of the Series Preferred Stock. 5.4 Subject to the 
probisrons of this ,-\mcndcd and Rcstated Certificate o f  Incorporation and except as otherwise provided by law. the stock o f  the Corporation. 
regardless o f  class, may bc issued for such consideration and for such corporate purposes as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine. 

6 0  CO\IPROMlSE, ARRANGEMENT OR REORGANIZATION Whenever a compromise or arrangement i s  proposed between this 
Corporation Jnd i t s  creditors or m y  class of them and/or between this Corporation and i t s  stockholders or any class o f  them. any court of equitable 
jurisdiction &!thin the State o f  Delaware may, on the application in a summary way of this Corporation or o f  any creditor or stockholder thereof or on 
the applicmon o f  any receibcr or receivers appointed for this Corporation under the provisions o f  Section 291 o f  the General Corporation Law or on 
the application of trustees in dissolution or of any receiver or receivers appointed for this Corporation under the provisions o f  Section 279 o f  General 
Corporation Law order a meeting o f  the creditors or class o f  creditors, andior o f  the stockholders or class o f  stockholders of this Corporation, JS the 
case may be, to be summoned in such manner as the said court directs If a majority in number representing three-fourths in value o f  the creditors or 
class o f  creditors, and/or of the stockholders or class o f  stockholders o f  this Corporation. as the case may be, agree to any compromise or 
arrangement and to any reorganization of this Corporation as a consequence of such compromise or arrangement, the said compromise or 
urangement and the said reorganiLation shall, if sanctioned by the court to which the said application has been made, be binding on al l  the creditors 
or class o f  creditors, and/or on a l l  stockholders or class o f  stockholders o f  this Corporation,' as the case may be, and also on this Corporation 



;ii L.I\IlT..\ i ' I O l  O F  LI;\UIL.IT\'. yo director o f  the Corporation shall be personally liable 10 the Corporation or i t s  stockholdcrj for monctar? 
LlJmdgcs for hrc.ic/i of  fiduci.u> duty as a director. e w p t  for liability ( a )  for any breach of  the director's duty of loyalty to the Corporation or I t j  

Stochholdcrs. ( h j  li)r J u s  or oiiiissions not in good faith or ~vh ich  inL.ol\e intentional misconduct or a knowing violation o f  law, ( c )  under Section 1-4 
o f  thc General C'orporation Laic. or ( d )  for any transaction from which the director derived any improper personal benefits. If the General Corporation 

I S  hcrcaftcr jri,cndcd to Jurhorirc corporate action further eliminating or l imiting the personal liability o f  directors, then the l iabil i ty of  a director 
ot'the Corporation \hall be eliminated or limited to the fullest eytent permitted by the General Corporation Law. as so amended. 

\ n y  rcpcd or modilicJtion of the foregoing paragraph by the stockholders o f  the Corporation shall not adbersely affect any right or protection  of^ 
dircctor of  the CorporJtion existing Jt the time of such repeal or modification 

so I \ D E C1 L I F I CATION 

S I ICDEL lC I  TY L h D E R T A K l h G  To the extent not prohibited by law, the Corporation shall indemnify any person (an 'Eligible Person ' )  \ \ho  
15 or \LJS  m d e .  or threatcncd to be nude. J. p ~ r t y  to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding ( a  "Proceeding'). nhcther c i b  I /  

criminal. JdministrJtibe or in\estigati\e. including, *ithout limitation. an x t i o n  by or in the right o f  the Corporation to procure J judgnient in i t s  
fator, by reson  ot the fact that such person, or a person o f  whom such person i s  the legal representatibe, is or \bas a Director or officer of the 
CorporJtion. or, i th i le a Director or officer o f  the Corporation, i s  or was serving, at the request o f  the Corporation, as a director or officer o f  m y  other 
corporation or in a capx i t y  * i th  comparable authority or responsibilities for any partnership. joint benture. trust. employee benefit plan or other 
enterprise (an ' Other Entity"). Jgainst judgments. fines, penalties, excise taxes, amounts paid in settlement and costs, charges m d  expenses 
(including attorneys' fees, disbursements and other charges) 

8 2 The Corporation shall. from time to time pay to an Eligible Person the funds necessary for payment of 
eypenscs, including attorneys' fees and disbursements, incurred by or on behalf o f  such Eligible Person in connection with any Proceeding, as such 
eypenses Jre incurred in advance o f  the final disposition o f  such Proceeding, provided, however, that, i f  required by the General Corporation Law, 
such expenses incurred by or on behalf o f  such Eligible Person may be paid in advance o f  the final disposition o f  a Proceeding only upon receipt by 
the Corporation o f  an undertaking. by or on behalf o f  such Eligible Person, to repay any such amount so advanced if i t  shall ultimately be determined 
by final judicidl decision from which there i s  no further right o f  appeal that such Eligible Person i s  not entitled to be indemnified for such expenses 

PAYMENT OF EXPENSES 
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5 3  CERTAIN EXCLUSIONS Section 8 1 and 8 2 

shall not include a n \  Proceeding commenced by any Eligible Person ibithout the adkance approbal o f  the Board o f  Directors 

3 4 t j l \DI\(;  I 1 FEC r l-he probisions o f  this Section 8 shall be a contract betueen the Corporation, on the one hand. and each Eligible Person 
on the other h,md pursuant to \ \h ich the Corporation and each such Eligible Person intend to be, and shall be, legally bound \ o  repeal or 
niodificJtion ot rhi5 \ccrion 8 ,hall affect any rights or obligations with respect to any state of facts then or theretofore existing or any procecdiny 
thcrctotore or thcrc$iltcr brought or threatened based in v.hole or in part upon dny such state o f  facts 

S j PROCEDl  R \ L  RIGt1rS The rishts to indemnification and payment o f  evpenses procided by. or granted pursudnt to. this Section 8 shall be 
entorccablc by an Flisiblc Pcr,on entitled to buch indemnification or payment o f  evpenses in any court of competent jurisdiction The burden ot 
probing thdt such indemnification or payment o f  evpenses i s  not appropriate shall be on the Corporation Ueither the failure o f  the Corporation 
(includins the dibintcrestcd Directors on i t s  Board o f  Directors, a committee o f  such disinterested Directors, the Corporation's independent legal 
c o u n x l  m d  i ts  stockholders) to habe made a determination prior to the commencement o f  such action that such indemnification or pakment ot  
cvpenses is proper in the circumstances. nor an actual determination by the Corporation (including the disinterested Directors on i t s  Board of 
Directors. J committee o f  such disinterested Directors, the Corporation's independent legal counsel and i t s  stockholders) that such person i s  not 
entitled to such indemnificdion or payment o f  expenses shall constitute J. defense to the action or create a presumption that such person i s  not so 
entitled Not*ithstanding myth ing  to the contrary in Section 8 3, such Eligible Person shall also be indemnified for any expenses incurred in 
connection with successfully establishing his or her right to such indemnification or payment o f  expenses. in uho le  or in part, in m y  such 
proceeding 

8 6 SERVICE DEEMED A T  CORPORATION'S REQUEST Any Director or officer of the Corporation serving (a)  as a director or officer o f  
another corporation o f  uh i ch  a majority o f  the shares entitled to bote in the election of i t s  directors i s  held, directly or indirectly, by the Corporation 
or (b )  m y  employee benefit p l m  o f  the Corporation or any corporation referred to in clause (a) shall be deemed to be doing so at the request of the 
Corpordtion 

8 7 ELECTION OF APPLICABLE L A W  Any person entitled to be indemnified or to payment of expenses as a matter o f  right pursuant to this 
Section 8 may elect to have the right to indemnification or payment of expenses interpreted on the basis of the applicable law in effect at the time of 
the occurrence of the event or ekents giving rise to the applicable Proceeding, to the extent permitted by law, or on the basis o f  the applicable law in 
ef fect  ~t the time such indemnification or payment o f  expenses is sought Such election shall be made, by a notice in writ ing to the 



Corpordtion. at  t h e  t i m e  ~ndilniniiicution or payment o f  expenses i s  sought; prokidcd. hoL\e\er, that i f  no such notice is Si\en, the right 10 

111dcmnit'ication or p i > i i i c n t  ot'c\pcnjcs shall be determined by the lab\ in effect at the time indeninification or payment of  expenses IS sought. 

8 8 KlGHTS \ O  I ESC'1.I SIVE.  The rights to indemnification and reimbursement or advancement o f  expenses prokided by, or granted pursuant 
to. this Section S shJll not be clccmed exclusive o f  any other rights to ichich a person seeking indemnification or rcimburscment or ad\.ancemcnt of  
c\pcnscs may ha\c or hcrcal'ter be entitled under any statute, this Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the By-laws. any agreement, a n y  \ o r e  o f  
jtockholdcrs or dijiiitcrcstcd Directors or otherwise, both as to action in  h is  or her official capacity and as to action in another capacity \Lhilc holding 
such office. 

S 0 C O L T I L L  \ r lO\ O F  BELEFITS The rights to indemnificdion and reimbursement or adkancement of expenses prokidcd by. or granted 
pursuant to. th is  k c t i o n  b \hail continue as to cl person \\ho has ceased to be a Director or officer (or other person indemnified hereunder) and jhall 
inure to thc benetit ot the e\ccutors. dministrators. legatees and distributees o f  such person 

8 I O  INSLRANCE The Corporation shall ha\e power 

to p u r c h m  m d  minta in  insurance on behalf o f  any person uho is or \bas a director, officer. employee or agent o f  the Corporation. or i s  or \ \JS 

serbing Jt the requcst of the Corpor~tion as a director, officer, employee or Jgent o f  an Other Entity, against any I i ~ b i l i t y  asserted against such person 
m d  incurred by such person in m y  such capacity, or arising out of such person's status as such, Lvhether or not the Corporation \could habe the pother 
to indemnify such person JgJinst such liability under the provisions o f  this Section 8 or under Section I45 of the General Corporation Law or any 
other provision o f  IJW 

90 DIRECTORS 
expressly provided that i t  i s  intended to be in furtherance of and not in limitation or exclusion o f  the powers conferred by Jpplicable law 

This Section i s  inserted for the management o f  the business and for the conduct o f  the affairs o f  the Corporation and i t  i s  

9 I NUMBER, ELECTION, AND TERMS OF OFFICE OF 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS The business of the Corporation shall be managed by a Board of Directors consisting of not less than three or more thm 
15 members The evact number o f  directors within the minimum and maximum limitations specified in the preceding sentence shall be fixed from 
time to time by resolution Jdopted by a majority of the entire Board o f  Directors then in office, whether or not present at a meeting Directors nced 
not be stochholders of the Corporation The directors shall be dikidcd into three classes of approximately equal size with the term o f  office of the f i rs t  
class to expire at the first annual meeting o f  stockholders of the Corporation next following the end o f  the Corporation s f iscal year ending Dcccmber 
3 I, 1008, the tcrm o f  office of the 
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,ccond c lass  tu c \ p i i c  at  (tic tirGt .innual meeting of  stockholders o f  the Corporation next following the end o f  thc Corporation's fi jcal year endins 
L)cccIiibcr 3 I ,  100') . ind  the tcrni ot' office of  the third class to cxpire at the annual meeting o f  stockholders o f  the Corporation next folio\\ ing the end 
o f the  (orporation'\ tiscal >car ending December 3 I .  7000. At  each annual meeting o f  stockholders follouiny such initial election as specified abobe. 
directors elected to \ ~ c c c c d  those directors whose terms expire shall be clccted for a term o f  office to evpire at the third succeeding annual meeting or' 
sroc!,holdcrs after their election. 

\,ot\\ithitanding thc torccoing. nhencver. pursuant to the provisions o f  Section 5 I o f  this Amended dnd Restated Certificate o f  Incorporation. the 
holticrs u fanv  onc or more wries o f  Preferred Stock shall ha\e the right. bating separately as a series or together with holders o f  other such series. to 
elect Directors at .in annual or special meeting of stockholders. the election. term o f  office. f i l l ing o f  kacdncies and other fedtures of such 
directorships shall be p ~ L c r n c d  b \  thc terms of this Amended and Restated Certificdte o f  Incorporation and any certificate o f  designdtions dpplicable 
thereto 

During any period \\hen the holders o f  any series of Preferred Stock have the right to elect additional Directors as probided for or fixed pursuant to 
the pro\ isions of this Amcndcd and Restated Certificate o f  Incorpordtion or any certificate o f  designdtion related thereto, then upon commencement 
d n d  for thc duration o f  the period during bvhich such right continues (I) the then otheruise total authorized number o f  Directors o f  the Corporation 
s h ~ l l  .Iutomatically be rncredsed by such specified number o f  Directors, and the holders o f  such Preferred Stock shall be entitled to elect the 
additiondl Directors so provided for or fived pursuant to said provisions, and ( 1 1 )  edch such additional Director shall scrke unti l such Directors 
successor shdll ha\e been duly elected and qualified, or until such Director's right to hold such office terminates pursuant to w i d  provisions. 
N hichever occurs mrlier. subject to such Director's earlier death, disqualification, resignation or removal Evcept as otherwise pro\ ided by the Board 
in the resolution or resolutions cstdblishing such series. whenever the holders o f  any series o f  Preferred Stock having such right to elect additionJl 
Directors Jre divested o f  such right pursuant to the provisions o f  such stock. the terms o f  office o f  dlI such additional Directors elected by the holders 
of  such stock, or elected to fill m y  vacancies resulting from the death, resignation. disqualification or removal o f  such additional Directors, shall 
forthwith terminate and the total and authorized number o f  Directors o f  the Corporation shall be reduced accordingly 

9 2 TENURE Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary contained herein, ( I )  each director shall hold office until his or her successor IS 

clccted dnd qu~ l i f i ed .  or until the earlier o f  such director's death, resignation or removal and ( 1 1 )  the te rm of  any director u h o  i s  also dn officer o f  the 
Corpordtion shall terminate if he or she ceases to be an officer o f  the Corporation. 



9 3 UELVLY CREATED DIRECTORSHIPS .AhD V.ACASCIES. 
sLl(>,lci.t 10 the rights of the holders o f  m y  series o f  Preferred Stock rhcn outstanding, newly created directorships resultiny from m y  increase in the 
juthor i /cd number of  directors or any I acancies in the Board o f  Directors resulting from death. resignation, retirement. disqualification. renio\ J[ 

from office or other cause shall be ti l led by a ma~or i ty  kote o f  the remaining directors then in office although less than a quorum. or by a j o l t  
rciiiaining director atid directors 5 0  chosen shall hold office for a term expiring at the annual meeting o f  stockholders at which the term o f  the cIJss to 
\ \h lch they hakc hccn c lcc tcd  evpircs or, in each case. until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified. No decrease in the number of  
dlrcctors consritutins the Board of Directors shall shorten the term of  any incumbent director. \.“hen any director shall g i b e  notice of resignjtion 
C f f C c t i \ e  at a futurc da te .  the Board of Directors may f i l l  such vacancy to take effect when such resignation shall become effective. In the e\cnt   of^ 
LJcancy in the Board of  Dircctors. the remaining Directors, except as otherwise provided by law, may exercise the powers o f  the full Board o f  
Directors unti l the LJcancy i s  til led. 

9 -1 
ha\ iny at least a majority in voting power o f  the then issued and outstanding shares o f  capital stock of the Corporation. 

IO0 ACTION B Y  STOCKHOLDERS. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 228 o f  the General Corporation Law (or any successor statute). 
any action required or permitted by the General Corporation Law to be taken at any annual or special meeting o f  stockholders o f  the Corporation may 
be taken only at such an annual or special meeting o f  stockholders and cannot be taken by “ten consent without a meeting. A t  any annual meeting 
or special meeting o f  stockholders of the Corporation, only such business shall be conducted as shall have been brought before such meeting in the 
manner provided by the By-laws. 

REblOV.-\L O F  DIRECTORS. .Any one or more or a11 of the directors may be removed, at any time, but only for cause by the stockholders 



I 1 0  \ [ )O l ) l ' lO \ .  \ \ l f . , \ [ ) \ l E \ ~ r  :\>D'OR R E P E A L  OF BYLAWS The Board of Directors may from time to time Jdopt. anend or r cpc j l  
ILln 5 ,  p r o \  iiicii. tion c\ cr.  rhJt .m> B )  1211 s adopted or amended by thc Board of Directors may be amended or rcpeuled. and m k  i 3 k  IJ\ \s niak 

ddoprcd. b y  J ~ O I C  o ~ ' t h c  stochholdcrs habiny at least t\\o-thirds of the voting power of  the then issued and outstanding shares of capltal stock of  
C'orporJtiun 

I \  \i IT\ESS \L HFREOF. the undersiyned has evecuted this Restated Certification of Incorporation this - day of August, I998 

P.ATHNET, INC. 

sr 
Richard .4 Jalkut President and Chief Evxutive Officer 

A t res t . 

the 
be 

thc 

BL 
Michael 4 Lubin 
Vice President. General Counsel and Secretary 



E\hibit 3 2 
A h I E N D E D  A h D  R E S T A T E D  B Y L A h ' S  

OF 
PATHNET,  ISC. 

4 Delauare CorDoration 
A R T I C L E  1 

D E F I Y I T I O N S  

\ \  uwd in r h c x  13kIdirs tii1Icss the context othenrise requires. the term 

thc Corporation 

thc Corporation. 

I "Assistant Secretary" means an .Assistant Secretary of 

1 - "Assistant Treasurer" means an Assistant Treasurer of 

3 "Board" means the Board o f  Directors of the 
Corporation 

I 4 "Business Day" means any day which i s  not a Saturday, a Sunday, or a day on which banks are authorized to close in the Ci ty o f  New York 

I 5 "Bylaws" mcJns the byldws o f  the Corporation, as amended from time to time 

I 6 "CcrtificJte o f  Incorporation" means the certificate o f  incorporation o f  the Corporation, as amended, supplemented or restated from time to 
time 

1 7  "Cha i r " "  means the Chairman o f  the Board o f  the 
CorporJtion 

] 8 "Chief  Executive Officer" means the Chief Executive 
Officer o f  the Corpordtion 

1 9  "Corporation" means Pathnet, Inc 

I I O  

I I I "Entire Board" means all Directors o f  the 

"Directors" means directors of the Corporation. 

Corporation in 

office, ichcthcr or not present at a meeting o f  the Board, but disregarding vacancies. 
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I 2 "E I~cu~I \  c \ ' I c ~  Prc\idtnt" incans Jn  Euccutive Vice President of the Corporation. 

1 3  "(;cncral Corporation L J ~ '  means the General Corporation Laiv ofthe State of Dehcare. as amended from time to time. 

1-1 "C)t'fico of  thc ('orpuration" means the executive office of the Corporation. anything in Section 131 o f  the General Corporation La\\ to thc 
ontrary not\\ i t hs tm ing .  

I 15 

I I6 

I l i  

1.18 

L l 9  

"President" means the President o f  the Corporation. 

"Secretary" means the Secretary o f  the Corporation. 

"Stockholdcrs" means stockholders o f  the Corporation. 

"Treasurer" means the Treasurer o f  the Corporation. 

"Vice President" means a Vice President o f  the 
1 Corporation 

ARTICLE 2 

STOCKHOLDERS 
2 I PLACE OF )MEETINGS Every meeting of  Stockholders shall be held at the Office o f  the Corporation or at such other place within or without 
the State o f  Delaware ds shall be designated, from time to time, by the Bodrd. the Chairman or the President, and specified or fixed in the notice of  
such mecting or in the waver  of notice thereof 

2 2 ANNLJAL MEETING A meeting o f  Stockholders shall be held annually for the election o f  Directors and the transaction o f  other business at 
such hour and on such business day in  each year as may be determined by resolution adopted by affirmative vote o f  a majority cote of the Entire 
Board and designated in the notice o f  meeting 

2 3 DEFERRED MEETING FOR ELECTION OF DIRECTORS, ETC If the annual meeting o f  Stockholders for the election o f  Directors and the 
transaction o f  other business i s  not held on the date designated therefor or at any adjournment o f  a meeting convened on such date, the B o x d  shJll 
all a mccting o f  Stockholders for the election of Directors and the transaction o f  other business as soon thereafter as convenient 



-I $pEC' I . \L  \ l l . l ~ , T I \ ( - l S  \ special meeting of  Stockholders. unless orhemise prescribed by statute. may be called at any time by the Board. 
the ('hairman or b! tl ic Prczidciit. .it any special meeting o f  Stockholders, no business may be transacted other than ( I )  such business jtJ[cd In the I -  notice thcrcot'gi\ci i pursiiJnt 1 0  Scction 2 . 6  hereof or in any \rai\er o f  notice thereof giken pursuant to Section 2.7 hereof ( i n  a form prepared by the 
Secretary) or ( 1 1 )  Such busincjs JS i s  d a t e d  to the purpose or purposes of such meeting and ibhich IS properly brought before the meeting by or at  the 
direction ot'thc f h r d  

2 S FISING R E C ' O K D  D.l TE .  For the purpose o f  (a )  determining the Stockholders entitled ( I )  to notice o f  or to bote at any meeting of  Stockholders 
or d n y  adjoummcnt thcrcoi or ( i i )  to receive payment o f  any dividend or other distribution or allotment o f  any rights. or to exercise any rights in 
respect o f  a n y  chance. c o n \  crsion or evchange o f  stock: or (b) any other lawful action, the Board may f i x  a record date. hich record date shall not 
prcccdc the date upor  nhich the resolution fixing the record date was adopted by the Board and which record date shall not be ( k )  in the case of  
c l ~ u s e  ( J ) ( I I  abo\c. iiiorc rhJn s i \ t y  nor less  than ten days before the date o f  such meeting and ( y )  in the case o f  clause (a ) ( i i )  or ( b )  abo\.e. more than 
s i x t y  d ~ y s  prior to stlch action. It' no such record date i s  fixed: 

1 5  I the record date for determining Stockholders entitled to notice o f  or to bote Jt J. meeting 
o f  Stochholders shall be at the close o f  business on the day next preceding the dJy on \\hich 
notice i s  gi\en, or, i f  notice i s  habed, at the close o f  business on the day next preceding the dJy 
on which the meeting i s  held, and 

2 5 2 the record date for determining Stockholders entitled to express consent to corporate 
action in writ ing ui thout a meeting (unless otherwise provided in the Certificate o f  
Incorporation), when no prior action by the Board i s  required under the General Corporation LJV,. 
shall be the first day on which a signed written consent setting forth the action taken or 
proposed to be taken i s  delivered to the Corporation by delivery to i t s  registered office in the 
State o f  Delaware, i t s  principal place o f  business, or an officer or agent o f  the Corporation having 
custody o f  the book in which proceedings o f  meetings o f  Stockholders are recorded, and 
u hen prior action by the Board i s  required under the General Corporation Law, the record date 
for determining Stockholders entitled to consent to corporate action in writ ing without a meeting 
shall be at the close o f  business on the date on which the Board adopts the resolution taking 
such prior action, and 

2 5 3 the record date for determining Stockholders for any purpose other than those specified in 
Section 2 5 I and 2 5 2 hereof shall be at the close o f  business on the day on uh ich  the Board 
adopts the resolution relating thereto 



\\. hen J JctermiiiJtion ot \tochholdcrs rntitlcd to notice of or to bote dt any meeting o f  Stockholders has been made JS proLided in th is  Scction 2 5 
,Ll'h dctcrminjtion ,h,i11 ~ p p l y  to J n y  Jdjournment thereof unless the Board f i x e s  a neu record date for the adjourned meeting 

DeliLcry mJdc io ihc Corpordion s registered office in accordance 141th Section 2 5 2 shall be by hand or by certified or rcsistcrcd mil rctum 
receipt requested 

2 6 LOTICE OF L1l ETILGS OF STOCKHOLDERS Except as othemise probided in Section 1 7  hereof, wheneber under the prokisions O f  J n V  

m t t i t c  thc Ccrtiticatc ot IncorporJtion or these B y l ~ u s .  Stockholders Jre required or permitted to take any action at a meeting, Lkritten notice shdl be 
gi \cn  \tJting the p l~ce,  dJte Jnd hour o f  the meeting and, in the case o f  a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for ishich the meeting is cdled 
Ln lcss  othenkise probided bk Jny stdute. the Certificate o f  Incorporation or these By-la\vs, a copy o f  the notice o f  any meeting shall be g i l e n  
personJlly or by mail not le35 t h m  ten nor more thm sigty days before the date o f  the meeting, to each Stockholder entitled to notice o f  or to tote Jt 

wch meeting I f  mJilcd. such notice shall be deemed to be gi\en \\hen deposited in the Lnited States mdil. \vith postage p r e p d .  directed to the 
Stochholder ~t his or her Jddrcss as i t  appears on the records o f  the Corporation 4 n  affidavit o f  the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary or of the 
trmsfcr Jgcnt o f  the CorporJtion thJt the notice required by this Section 2 6 has been giben shall. in the absence o f  fraud. be prima f x i e  e\ idence o f  
the f x t s  stated therein lbhen a meeting i s  adjourned to dnother time or place, notice need not be given o f  the Jdjoumed meeting i f  the time m d  place 
thereofarc announced at thc meeting at which the ~djoumment i s  taken. and at the adjourned meeting m y  business may be transxted thJt might hJkc 
been trJnsacted at the meeting as originally called If. houeber, the Jdjournment i s  for more than thirty days, or i f  after the ~djournment a neu record 
date i s  tixcd for the ~djourned meeting. a notice o f  the adjoumed meeting shall be given to each Stockholder o f  record entitled to kote Jt the meeting 

2 7 WAIVERS OF NOTICE Whenever the giving of any notice i s  required by statute, the Certificate o f  Incorporation or these B y l ~ \ r s .  a v.Ji\er 
thereof, in writing, signed by the Stockholder or Stockholders entitled to said notice, whether before or after the event as to Ichich such notice i s  

required. shall be deemed equibalent to notice Attendance by a Stockholder at a meeting shall constitute a waiver o f  notice of such meeting except 
ichen the Stockholder attends meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning o f  the meeting, to the transaction of m y  business on 
the ground that the meeting has not been lawfully called or convened. 

2 E LIST OF STOCKHOLDERS The Secretary shall prepare and make. or cause to be prepared and made, at least ten days before e\ery meetiny 
of Stockholders. a complete l i s t  of the Stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, arranged in alphabetical 



1 order .ind 4hcning the .iddrcls ot each Stockholder and the number o f  shares registered in the name of each Stockholder I f  m y  Lotiny yroup ~ \ I S ~ S  

,uih l i s t  h l l  be .m,inged b \  bot ing  group and Lbithin e x h  Loting group by series or class of  shares Such l i s t  shdl be open to rhc cuamination o f m b  
Stockholder the Stockholder 5 Jgcnt or attorney, at the Stockholders eupense, for any purpose germane to the meetins during ordinary business 
hours. for J period ot at Icaq ten d ~ y s  prior to the meeting, either at a place uithin the city \$here the meeting is to be held. i\hich place shall bc. 
spcLit'IcC1 in the noti is ot the mccting. or i f  not so specified, at the place uhere the meeting i s  to be held The list shall 3150 be produced and kept Jt 
the tinic m d  p l ~ c c  01 the meeting during the ichole time thereof, and may be inspected by any Stockholder who is present The Corporation shJll 
maintJin the list ot jtochholdcrs in uritten form or in another form capable o f  conLersion into written form within a reasonable time Lpon the 
\ \ i l l fu l  neglect or rctujal ot thc Directors to produce such a l i s t  at any meeting for the election of Directors. they shall be ineligible for election to any  
otf i ic A such meeting The htoch  ledser shall be the only ebidence as to uho  are the Stockholders entitled to examine the stock ledger. the list o f  
StoLhholdcrs or the boohb ot the Corporation. or to bote in person or by proxy at any meeting o f  Stockholders 

2 0 QCORLLI OF STOCKHOLDERS. ADJOLRCMEUT Except as otherwise provided by any statute, the Certificate of Incorporation or these 
B\  h s .  the holders o f  2 majority of a l l  outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote at any meeting of Stockholders, present in person or represented 
bv proxy shall constitute a quorum for the transaction o f  any business at such meeting When a quorum is once present to organize a meeting o t  
Stockholders i t  i s  not broken by the subsequent ~~ i thd rawa l  o f  any Stochholders The holders of a majority o f  the shares o f  stock present in person or 
represented by proxy at any meeting o f  Stockholders, including an adjourned meeting, whether or not a quorum i s  present, may adjoum such meeting 
ro anorher time and place Shares of i ts  own stock belonging to the Corporation or to another corporation. i f a m ~ j o r i t y  o f  the shxes entitled to \ate in 
the eleLtion o f  Directors o f  such other corporation i s  held, directly or indirectly, by the Corporation, shall neither be entitled to bote nor be counted 
for quorum purposes, provided. however, that the foregoing shall not limit the right o f  the Corporation to Lote stock, including but not limited to i t s  
o\vn stock, held by i t  in a fiduciary capacity 

2 I O  VOTlhG, PROYIES Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, every Stockholder of record shall be entitled at ekery 
rnceting of Stockholders to one vote for each share o f  capital stock standing in his or her name on the record of Stockholders determined in 
xcorddnce with Section 2 5 hereof If the Certificate of Incorporation provides for more or less than one vote for any share on any matter, each 
reference in the Bylaws or the General Corporation Law to a majority or other proportion o f  stock shall refer to such majority or other proportion of 
the botes of such stock The provisions o f  Sections 212 and 217 o f  the General Corporation Law shall apply in determining whether m y  shares of 
cJpital stock may be voted and the persons, i f any, entitled to vote such shares, but the Corporation shall be protected in 



d,,~iiiiing tha t  the pcrwn3 in  \bhmc names shares o f  capital stock stand on the stock ledger o f  the Corporation are entitled to late such ,hjrcs 
tloli icrs ut rcdcciii.iblc ,hares ot >tach are not entitled to bote after the notice o f  redemption i s  mailed to such holders and a sum sufficient to rcdccm 
t h e  , t o ~ k b  h,is bccr i  deposited \ \ i th  L bank. trust company. or other financial institution under an IrreLocable obligation to pay the holders thc 
rcdcmption price on urrendcr o t  the shares o f  stock At any meeting ot Stockholders (Jt Ibhich a quorum  as present to organi/e the mccting) ~ 1 1  
I i i j t tcr \  cvLcpt J\ othcr\ti>c probided b y  statute or by the Certificate ot Incorporation or by these Bylaus. shall be decided by a majority o t  the l o t c s  
C,lst J[ z u h  nicctinq bb the holders o f  shares present in person or represented by provy and entitled to bote thereon. ibhether or not a quorum 15  

prcwnt \\hen the i o t c  I >  tahcn \Lhere a separate bote by a class or classes o f  stock i s  required by statute, the Certificate of  Incorporation or these 
1 3 k l c I t \ s  a majoritv o t  the otrt5tanding shares of such class or classes present in person or represented by proxy shall constitute J quorum entitled to 
t ~ k c  aLtion btith rc\pcct to that bote on thLt matter, and such matter shall be decided by a majority o f  the botes of such class or classes present in 
pcrwn or represented bv pro\ \  at the meeting Directors may be elected either by written ballot or by boice cote In boting on any other question on 
\ \ h i c h  a \o re  bv bJllot I>  rcquired b) la$\ or i s  demanded by anv Stockholder entitled to cote. the boring shall be by ballot E x h  ballot shall be >iSncd 
bb thc \tockholdcr Lotins or the Stochholders provy and shall state the number o f  shares boted On al l  other questions. the botiny may be by bo icc  
~ o t c  h c h  Stockholder cntitlcd to kote at a meeting o f  Stockholders may authorize another person or persons to act for such Stockholder by provv 
The ~ a l i d i t y  and enforceability o f  any proxy shall be determined in accordance with Section 212 o f  the General Corporation Law 4 Stockholder m y  
rcbokc m y  provv that i s  not irrcbocable by attending the meeting and voting in person or by fi l ing an instrument in h r i t ing  reboking the provv or bv 
dcli\ering a provy in accordance ui th applicable law bearing a ldter date to the Secretary 

2 I I V O T I N G  PROCEDURES A h D  INSPECTORS OF ELECTION A T  MEETINGS 
OF STOCKHOLDERS The Corporation, in advance o f  any meeting o f  Stockholders, shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting and 
make J bbritten report thereof The Corporation may designate one or more persons as alternate inspectors to replace any inspector who fails to act If 
no inspector or alternate i s  able to act at a meeting, the person presiding at the meeting shall appoint, one or more inspectors to act at the meeting 
Each inspector, before entering upon the discharge o f  his or her duties. shall take and sign an oath faithfully to execute the duties o f  inspector bbith 
strict impartiality and xco rd ing  to the best o f  his or her ability The inspectors shall (a) ascertain the number of shares outstanding and the boting 
pobbcr o f  each. (b )  determine the shares represented at the meeting and the validity o f  proxies and ballots, (c) count all votes and ballots, ( d )  
dctcrminc and retain for a reasondble period a record of the disposition of any challenges made to any determination by the inspectors, and (e)  certify 
their detcrmination o f  the number of shares represented at the meeting and their count o f  all votes and ballots T h e  inspectors may appoint or retain 
other persons or entities to Jssist the inspectors in the performance o f  their duties The date and time o f  the opening and 



[hc clojir lg of the p ) l l s  f'oI c x h  tiidttcr upon ibhich the Stockholders \ \ i l l  bote at a meeting shall be determined by the person presidins ;it the mcctlng 
Jnd SIlJll bc J ~ ~ ~ ~ l l i l C ~ d  at  thc meeting. No ballot. proxies or botes. or any revocation thereof or change thereto. shall be accepted by the injpcctors 
j l ' tcr the cloTing ot'thc polls u n l w  the Court o f  Chancery o f  the State o f  Delaware upon application by a Stockholder shull determine othenr ise.  

2 11 c ()\DLC T 01 LICE TIU(;'5 ( J )  At each meeting o f  Stockholders. the President, or in the absence o f  the President. the C h a i n "  or i f  there I, 
no ( h j i r i n j n  or i t  there be one ,ind the Chairman is absent, an EltecuLibe Vice President, and in case more than one Executice Vice President d u l l  be 
present t h d  tyeLut i ie  \ i i c  President designated by the Board (or in the absence of any such designation. in the order o f  their first election. present) 
o r  I t  thcrc I 5  no Eyccutibe \ i c c  President or i f  there be one and the Executibe Vice President IS absent, a Vice President, and in case more than one 
\ ice  President shall h e  prcbcnt. that L'ice President designated by the Board (or in the absence of any such designation. in the order o f  their first 
election present) h a l l  Jct ~5 ihairmdn o f  the meeting The secretary, or in his or her absence one o f  the Assistant Secretaries. shall act JS sxreturv 
o f  rhc meeting In c a w  none ot the otficers abobe designated to act as chairman or secretary o f  the meeting, respectirelv. shall be presenc. a chairman 
or a secretary of the meetins. as the case may be, shall be chosen by a majority of the bote5 cast at such meeting by the holders of shares of capital 
btock present in person or rcprcscnted by  proxy and entitled to kote at the meeting 

1 13 ORDER OF BLSliuESS The order of business at a l l  meetings o f  Stockholders shall be as determined by the chairman o f  the meeting but the 
order of business to be follorced at any meeting at ~ h i c h  a quorum i s  present may be changed by a majority o f  the Lotes cast at such meetiny b \  the 
holders of shares of  cJpital stock present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to bote at the meeting 

1 1-1 WRITTEN COhSEYT OF STOCKHOLDERS WITHOUT A MEETIYG Unless otherwise prokided in the Certificate o f  Incorporation any 
action required or permitted by the General Corporation Law to be taken at any annual or special meeting of Stockholders may be taken uithout J 

meeting. u i thout prior notice and u ithout a vote, r f a  consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken. shall be signed by the holders of 
outstanding stock having not less than the minimum number o f  cotes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at uh ich  
al l  shares entitled to vote thereon were present and boted and shall be delivered (by hand or by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested) 
to the Corporation by delibery to i ts  registered office in the State o f  Delaware, i t s  principal place of business. or an officer or agent o f  the Corporation 
habing custody of the book in  uh ich  proceedings of meetings o f  stochholders are recorded Ecery written consent shall bear the date of signature o f  
each stockholder u h o  signs the consent and no written consent shall be effective to take the corporate action referred to therein unless, within 60 days 
o f  the earliest dated consent delivered in the manner required by this Section 2 14, ur i t ten consents signed by a 



, ~ l ~ t i ~ l c r l t  niinibcr o t  Stuchtioldcrs to take action are deliLcred to the Corporation as aforesaid. Prompt notice o f  the taking of  the corporlltc Jct lon 
\~I[~loll[ .I nicctiny l c s b  t h m  iinJninious iLritten consent shall be gi \en to those Stochholders who habe not consented in \rrit ing and \\ho. i r t t l c  
Jctlon had bc.cn 1akc.n a[ a riicctiny. \ ~ o u l d  have been entitled to notice o f  the meeting if the record date for such meeting had been thc date that 
tbriiicn consents j1gnc.d by J ,tifticicnt number o f  Stockholders to take the action \\ere deliLcred to the Corporation as aforesaid. 

.ARTICLE 3 

DIRECTORS 
7 I ( , I . \ F R \ l ,  PO\\. F R \  F.\ccpt JS othenwse probided in the Certificate o f  Incorporation. the business and affairs o f  the Corporaion Shall bc 
i1ianJcc.d bv or under the dircLtion o f  the Board The Board may adopt such rules and regulations. not inconsistent n i t h  the Certificate o f  
Incorporation or thcjc BvIa\\h or applicable laws. JS i t  may deem proper for the conduct o f  i t s  meetings and the mmdgement o f  the Corporation In  
addition to the poncrs expressly conferred by these Bylaws, the Board may exercise all polrers and perform a l l  acts that are not required. by these 
BvIabrs or the Certificate ot Incorporation or by statute. to be exercised and performed by the Stockholders 

3 2. \ LL IBER.  QUALIF IC \T IOY.  T E R M  OF OFFICE The Board shall consist o f  not less than three or more t h m  15 members Thc e l a c t  
number of Directors within the minimum and maximum limitations specified in the preceding sentence shall be fixed from time to time by resolution 
adopted by a majority o f  the Entire Board then in office, whether or not present at a meeting Directors need not be Stockholders The Directors shall 
be dibidcd into three cldsses with the te rm o f  office o f  the first class to expire at the first mnual meeting o f  Stockholders o f  the Corporation ne\t 
follo\\ing the end o f  the CorporJtion's fiscal year ending December 31, 1998, the t e r m  o f  office o f  the second class to expire at the first annual 
meeting o f  Stochholders of  the Corporation next following the end o f  the Corporation's fiscal year ending December 31. I990 and the term o f  office 
o f  the third c l m  to expire at the annual meeting o f  Stockholders o f  the Corpordtion next following the end o f  the Corporation's fiscal year ending 
December 31,  2000 At  each mnua l  meeting o f  Stockholders following such initial election as specified above. Directors elected to succeed those 
Dircctors whosc terms expire shall be elected for a term o f  office to expire at the third succeeding annual meeting of Stockholders Jfter their election 

3 3 TEULRE 
elected and qualified, or until the earlier o f  such Director's death, resignation or removal and ( 1 1 )  the 

Uot\\ithstanding m y  provisions to the contrary contained herein. (I) each Director shall hold office until his or her successor i s  



I O  

1 tCrili of  any director n l iu  i'i JIW .in of'ficcr of the Corporation shall terminate i f  he or she ceases to be an officer o f  the Corporation 

3 4 [ 'LECTION I)ircctors shall. cvcept as otherwise required by statute or by the Certificate o f  Incorporation. be rlectcd by il plur j l i tk  o f the  \ O t C j  

cast J [  meeting o f  Stockholders by the holders o f  shares present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to bote in the election 

1 j \EEWLY CRf \TED DlRtCrORSHlPS ACD V A C A h C l E S  Subject to the rights o f  the holders o f  m y  series of preferred stoch of  the 
Corpor j t ion then outctmding. nc\r Iy  created directorships resulting from any increase in the authoriLed number o f  Directors or m y  t ~ c j n c i e s  in thc 
Board resulting troni &Jth rcsisnation, retirement, disqualification, remo\al from office or other cause shall be fi l led by a majority to te  or the 
remaining Director5 then in otfice although ICSS than a quorum. or by a sole remaining Director and Directors so chosen shall hold office for J tcrni 
e lp i r ing  j t  the anntu1 niccting ot' stochholders at Lchich the term of  the class to uh ich  they habe been elected evpires or in each case. unti l their 
rcspccti\e successors Jre did\  electcd and qualified Yo decrease in the number o f  Directors constituting the Board shall bhorten the term of  Jnb 

incumbent Director \i hen any Director shall gibe notice o f  resignation effective at a future date. the Board may fill such Lacmcy to r d e  etfccr \\ hen 
such rcsignjtion shall become etfectibe 

3 6 RESIGhATIOY 4ny Director may resign at any time by * m e n  notice to the Corporation Such resignation shall take e f fec t  at the time 
therein specified. md .  unless othemise specified in such resignation, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be neccssary to mahe i t  e f f cc t i~c  

3 7 R E M O V A L  Any one or more or all o f  the Directors may be removed, at any time. but only for cause by the Stockholders ha\ ing j t  leabt a 
majority in voting power o f  the then issued and outstanding shares o f  capital stock o f  the Corporation If pursuant to the Certificate o f  Incorporation 
Director i s  elected by a boting group o f  Stockholders, only the Stockholders of the voting group may participate in the bote to remove such Director 

3 8 COMPENSATION Each Director. in consideration o f  his or her service as such, may receive from the Corporation such amount per annum or 
such fees for attendance at Directors' meetings. or both. as the Board may from time to time determine, together with reimbursement for the 
reJsondble out-of-pocket eupenses, i f any, incurred by such Director in connection with the performance of his or her duties Each Director Rho shall 
serve as a member o f  any committee of Directors in  consideration of serving as such may receive such additional amount per annum or such fees for 
Jttendance at committee meetings. or both, as the Board may from time to time determine, together with reimbursement for the reasonable out-of- 
pocket expenses, if any, incurred by such Director in the performance of his or her duties Nothing 



ionrji i ied in t h i 5  \s i r ion Z i 1hJil preclude any Director from serving the Corporation or i ts  subsidiaries in any other capacity m d  recei\ing proper 
conipenbJ1ion thew lo r  

3 0 I ILIES A \ D  PI ACES OF LlEETILGS The Boxd  may hold meetings, both regular and special, either icithin or uithout the State o t  DclJnjrc 
The t l m 5  and ~ I J C C S  lor holding mectings of the Board may be fixed from time to time by resolution of the Board or (unless contrary to a resolution 
o t  the Board) in the i iot icc ut the meeting 

3 1 0  - \ \ \ LAL  \ I [  ETI\GS On the day \\hen and at the place \\here the annud meeting o f  Stocbholders for the election o f  Directors i s  held. m d  
J> ,eon JS prJcticJblc thcrcJfter the Board may hold i ts  annual meeting, ivithout notice o f  such meeting probided a quorum shall be present for the 
purposes ot orgJni/ation the c'lection of officers and the transaction o f  other business The annual meeting o f  the Board may be held dt m y  other 
time Jnd p l ~ c c  spccitied in .I nutice s i b e n  JS probided in Section 3 I 2  hereof for special meetings of the Board or in a \+ai\er of notice thereof 

3 I I REGULAR ClEETlLGS 
t ime  be determined by the Board 

3 12. SPECIAL VEETlhGS Special meetings o f  the Board may be called by the President or any Director then serving on Jt least one day s notice 
to c x h  Director g i b e n  by one o f  the means specified in Section 3 I 5  hereof other than by mail. or on at least three days' notice i f  given by mail 

3 13 TELEPHONE MEETINGS Directors or members o f  any committee designated by the Board may participate in a meeting o f  the Board or of 
such committee by means o f  conference telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting 
c m  hear each other, and participation in a meeting pursuant to this Section 3 13 shall constitute presence in person at such meeting 

3 I 4  ADJOURNED MEETIhGS A majority o f  the Directors present at any meeting o f  the Board, including an adjourned meeting, whether or not ;f 
quorum is present, mdy adjourn such meeting to another time and place At least one day's notice o f  any adjourned meeting o f  the Board shall be 
given to c x h  Director whether or not present at the time o f  the adjoumment, if such notice shall be given by one o f  the means specified in Section 
3 I5 hereof other thm by mail, or at least three days' notice i f  by mail Any business may be transacted at an adjourned meeting that might have been 
transacted at the meeting as originally called 

3 15 UOTICE PROCEDURE Subject to Sections 3 13 and 3 16 hereof, whenever, under the provisions o f  any statute, the Certificate of 
IncorporJtion or these Bylaus. notice is required to be given to dny Director, such notice shall be deemed given effectively i f  glben in person or by 
telephone, by mail addressed to such Director at such 

Regular meetings o f  the Board may be held hithout notice at such times and at such places as shall from time to 



[) i rcctor 's ddrcss , I \  ii Jppcars o n  the rccords o f  the Corporation. tt ith postage thereon prepaid. or by telcgram, telev. tclecopy or simijdr mcJnj 
.ddrcs.;cd as  at'orch<iid 

3 10 11 AIL ER OF \OTICE hcneber the gibing of  any notice i s  required by statute. the Certificate o f  Incorporation or these By la i ts  J \ ta i \cr  
thcrcot in i i r i t iny,  \igncd bv the person or persons entitled to said notice. uhether before or after the eient as to which such notice i s  required. s h d  
be ticcmcd cqui\alcnt to noticc Ittendance by a person at a meeting shall constitute a v.ai\cr o f  notice of such meeting except \then the pcrson 
Jttcntis a meeting for the c\prcss purpose of  objecting, at the beginning o f  the meeting. to the transaction of  any business on the ground thJr the 
meeting has not bccn Id\\ tullk called or coniened Ueither the business to be transacted at. nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the 
DircLtors or a coniniittcc ot Directors need be specified in any irritten iiaiber o f  notice unless so required by statute. the Certificae of IncorporJtion 
or [ h e x  B > l ~ t \ s  

3 17 ORGA\IZATIO\  41 each nicetiny o f  the Board. the Chairman, or in the absence of the Chairman, the President. or in the Jbscnce of  the 
President, a chair" chosen by a majority o f  the Directors present, shdl preside The Secretary shall act as secretarv at each meeting o f  thc Boxd  
In C J ~ C  the Secretary ,hall bc absent from m y  meeting of  the Board. a n  Assistant Secretary shall perform the duties of secretary at such meeting, JnJ 
in  the absence from a n y  such mccting o f  the Secretary and a l l  4ssistant Secretaries, the person presiding at the meeting may appoint any person to Jct 
as secretary o f  the meeting 

3 18 Q L O R L M  OF DIRECTORS Except as otherwise expressly probided by statute or the Certificate o f  Incorporation. the presence in person 
o f  J majority o f  the Entire Board shall be necessary and sufficient to constitute a quorum for the transaction o f  business Jt any meeting of the Board. 
but a m j o r i t y  of J smaller number may adjourn any such meeting to a later date 

3 19 ACTIOU B Y  MAJORITY VOTE Except as otherwise evpressly required by statute. the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the act 
o f  a majority o f  the Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum i s  present shall be the act of the Board 

3 20 ACTION WITHOUT MEETING Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws, any action required or 
permitted to be taken dt any meeting of the Board or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if a11 Directors or members of such 
committee. as the case may be, consent thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board or 
committce 

.ARTICLE 4 



I! 
CO\I\IITTEES OF THE BO.iRD 

Thc f h i r d .  b! resolution .idtipred by 2 majorit? of  the Entire Board. may desipate one or more committees. each committee to consist ot' one or 
niorc o~'rhc Directors ut'thc C'orporation. The Board may designate one or inore Directors as alternate members o f  a n y  committee. \ iho ma:, rcplace 
~ n y  .ib.;cnt or disqualificd nicnibcr Jt a n y  meeting of such committee. I f  a member o f a  committee shall be absent from any meeting. or disqualified 
from ioting thcreat. the rcmJining mcmber or members present and not disqualified from \oting. uhether or not such member or members constitute 
J quorum. may. b y  ;I iinaninious \ore. appoint another member of the Board to act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or disqualified 
mciiiber .Any  such committee. to thc extent provided in the resolution o f  the Board or these Bylatbs, shall haLe and may eyercise a11 the poners and 
aiithority of  thc h j r d  in thc management of the business and affairs of the Corporation, and may authorize the seal of the Corporation to be 
impressed on  JII papers that may require it. but no such committee shall hate the potrer or authority o f  the Board in reference to: ( I )  JpproLing. or 
rcconiincnding to the Stockholders, a n y  action that the Delaware General Corporation Law requires to be approved by the Stockholders; ( 1 1 )  filling 
\ ; i cmc ics  on thc Board or on Jn?  of i t s  committees; ( i i i )  amending the Certificate o f  Incorporation: ( i v )  adopting. amending. or repealing thcse 
B~lav,s: ( \  Jppro) ing J p1.m o f  merger not requiring approval of the Stockholders: ( v i )  authorizing or approbing a distribution. except Jxcording to 
a general formula or method prescribed by the Board; or (v i i )  authoriring or approving the issuance or sale or contract for sale o f  sharcs. or determine 
the  i icsigution and relatibe rights. preferences, and limitations of  a class or series o f  shares. except that the Board may authowe a committcc. or ,I 
senior cxecutiLe officer of thc Corporation, to do so trithin limits specitically prescribed by the Board. Unless otherwise specified in the resolution of 
the Board dcsignating a committee. at a l l  meetings of such committee a majority of the total number of  members o f  the committee shall constitute ;1 
quorum for the transaction o f  business. and the vote o f  a majority o f  the members of the conimittee present at any  meeting at u hich there is a quorum 
shall bc the act o f  the committee. Each committee shall keep regular minutes o f  i t s  meetings and report the same to the Board when required. L'nless 
the Board otherwise provides. each committee designated by the Board may make, alter and repeal rules for the conduct of i t s  business. In the 
absence of such rules each committee shall conduct its business in the same manner as the Board conducts its business pursuant to Article 3 of  these 
Bylaws. 

.ARTICLE 5 

0 F FIC E R$ 
5 I POSITIONS The officers of the Corporation shall be a President, a Secretary, a Treasurer and such other officers as the Board may appoint. 
including J Chairman, a Chief Executive Officer, one or more Evecutike Vice Presidents, one or more Vice Presidents and one or 



11101'~ . \s j i j tJnt  Scc rc tJ r l c j  J n d  . \ i j i j tant Treasurers, uho shall exercise such powrs  and perform such duties as shall be determined from time to 
t l i l lc by  the Board I tic Board i i ia>  use dcscripti\e words or phrases to designate the standing. seniority or areas o f  special competence o f  the 1'lc.c 

I'rcjiJcntS clcctcd or appointed by i t .  A n y  number of offices may be held by the same person unless the Certificate of Incorporation or these B?Ia\is 
othcn\ isc pro\ ide 

5 2 .\ppO[\ TLI1.k r 
Board shdl Jetcrniinc 

The otticcrs o f  the Corporation shall be chosen by the Board at i t s  mnual meeting or at such other time or times as the 

5 3 cO\ IPE\SA J IO\ 
OttiLcr ,hall bc prc\cntcd trom rccc i \  ing a saldry or other compensation by reason of the fact that the officer i s  also a Director 

5 -! TERLl  OF OFFICE h c h  otticcr o f  the Corporation shall hold office for the term for which he or she i s  elected and until such officers <ucccssor 
IS choscn and qualities or until such officers earlier death, resignation or remobal Any officer may resign at any time upon ibritten notice to the 
CorporJtion Such rcsignJtion shall take effect at the date o f  receipt o f  such notice or at such later time as i s  therein specified. and. unless othen\isc 
spcciticd the xccptance o f  such resignation shall not be necessary to make i t  effectibe The resignation o f  an officer shall be uithout prejudice to the 
contract rights o f  the Corporation. i f m y  Any officer elected or Jppointed by the Board may be remobed at m y  time. ~41th or icithout cause. by Lotc  
o f  a majority o f  thc Entire Board Any bacancy occurring in any office o f  the Corpordtion shall be filled by the Board The remokal o f  an officer 
nithout cause shall be without prejudice to the officer's contract rights. i f any The election or appointment o f  an officer shall not o f  itsclf create 
contract rights 

5 5 FIDELITY BOhDS The Corporation may secure the fidelity o f  any or a11 o f  i t s  officers or dgents by bond or othemise 

5 6 CHAIRMAN The Chairman shall exercise such duties as are and may be prescribed from time to time by the Board In the absence of or 
disability o f  the Chairman, an officer appointed by the Chairman, or if the Chairman fails to make such appointment, by the Board, shall perform the 
duties and exercise the powers o f  the Chairman The Chairman may sign, execute and deliker, in the name o f  the Corporation, powers o f  attorney. 
contracts, bonds and other obligations which implement policies established by the Board The Chairman shall preside at a l l  meetings the Board at 
v,hich he i s  present. and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board or these Bylaws 

The compcnsdtion of a l l  officers o f  the Corporation shall be fixed by. or in the manner prescribed by the Board \ o  



5 7 ('1IIF.F ESECI .  lVl\'E OFFIC'ER The Chief Executi\e Officer shall exercise such duties as are and may be prescribed from time to time bk the 
Bo j r i f  rhc Chief  F.\ccuti\c Ol'liccr niay - i i y .  evecute and deliker. in the name of the Corporation, po\sers o f  attorney. contrxrs bonds Jnd other 
obli_cJtions nh ich  iii iplcmcnt pol icies established by the Board. 

5 S PRESIDELT The Prcsidcnt >hall be responsible to. m d  shall exercise such duties as are and may be prescribed from time to time b k .  the 
B o x d  The President n u v  sign. execute and deliber, in the name o f the  Corporation. poisers ofattorney. contracts, bonds m d  other obligations hich 
implement policies cbublishcd b? thc Bodrd 

j o LYECLTIC  E \ ICE PRESIDELT In  the absence o f  the President or in the e\ent  o f  his death. inability or refusal to act, the Exccuti\c L ice 
President. i f  any or i n  the c\cnt  there be more than one Executibe L i c e  President. the ExecutiLe Vice Presidents. in the order designated, or in the 
jbscncc of  any designation. then in the order o f  their first election. shJll perform the duties o f  the President. and \\hen so Acting. shall hJ\e JII the 
poncrs o f m d  be iubjcct to JII the restrictions upon the President The Executibe Lice President shall generally assist the President m d  shall perform 
such othcr duties m d  have such other po\+ers as the Board may from time to time prescribe 

5 I O  C ICE PRESIDECT In the absence o f  the ExecutiLe Vice President or in the ebent o f  his death. inability or refusal to act. the C ice President. 
i f  any. or in the e b c n t  there be more t h m  one L i c e  President. the Vice Presidents, in the order designated. or in the Jbscncc of any designation. then 
in the order o f  their first election. shall perform the duties o f  the Executive Vice President, and \\hen so acting, shall habe dI the poikers of  m d  be 
subject to d l  the restrictions upon the Executive Vice President The Vice President shall generally assist the President and shall perform such other 
duties Jnd hJLe such other powers as the Board may from time to time prescribe 

5 I I SECRETARY The Secretary shall attend all meetings o f  the Board and all meetings o f  the stockholders and shall record all the proceedings of  
the meetings o f  the stockholders and of the Board in a book to be kept for that purpose and shall perform like duties for the standing committees 
when requested by such committees The Secretary shall give. or cause to be given, required notice o f  al l  meetings o f  the stockholders and the BoJrd. 
and shall perform such other duties JS may be prescribed by the Board or assigned by the President or Chairman The Secretary shall haLe custody of  
the stock certificate books dnd stockholder records and such other books and records as the Board may direct The Secretary shall hare custody of  the 
corporate seal o f  the Corporation and shall have authority to affix the same to any instrument, and khen so affixed, i t  may be attested by the 
Secretary's signature The Board may g i re  general authority to any other officer to affix the seal o f  the Corporation and to attest the affixing thereof 
by his signature 



I 0 

5 1 2  \SS ISTAhT SEC'RET !RY' Assistant Secretary elected by the Board shall have the same duties as prescribed for the Sccrctar? and shall 
perform such dutics J[ rhc direction of the Secretary, to assist the Secretary. m d  in the absence of  the Secretary, at [he direction o f  the Chairman. th t  
PrcsiJcnt or any L' icc President, Jnd othcnvise as directed from time to time by thc Chairman. the President or the Board. 

5 13 TRE.ASLRER OR CHIEF FIN.ASCI.AL OFFICER. The Treasurer or Chicf Financial Officer shall have the custody o f  the corporate funds 
Jnd jccurities and shdl kecp full Jnd accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Corporation, and shall deposit a l l  
nionc)s and other \ , l l u ~ b l c  ct'fccts in thc name and to the credit of the Corporation in such depositories as may be designated by the Board, and shJll 
disburse thc funds o f  thc Curporation. as may be ordered by the Board. taking proper vouchers for such disbursements. and shall render to the 
C'hjirman. the PresiJcnt and thc Board at i t s  rcgular meetings, or \\hen the Board so requires. an account o f  all his transactions as treasurer and o f  the 
t'inmcial condition ot' the C'orporJtion. m d  shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board. the Chairman or the President 
may from time to time prcscribc 

5 .  I J  ASSISTANT TREASURER. Any  Assistant Treasurer elected by the Board shall hake the same duties as prescribed for the Treasurer and shall 
perform such duties at the direction o f  the Treasurer, to assist the Treasurer, and in the absence o f  the Treasurer. at the direction o f  the Chairman. the 
President or any Vice Presidcnt. and otherwise as directed from time to time by the Chairman. the President or the Board. 

ARTICLE 6 

CONTRACTS, CHECKS. DRAFTS. BAh K ACCOUNTS. ETC. 
6 I EXECUTION OF CONTRACTS The Board, except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, may prospectively or retroactively authorite any 
officer or officers, employee or employees or agent or agents, in the name and on behalf of the Corporation, to enter into any contract or execute m d  
del i rcr  m y  instrument, and m y  such authority may be general or confined to specific instances, or otherwise l imited 

6 2 LOANS The Board may prospectively or retroactively authorize the President or any other officer, employee or agent o f  the Corporation to 
ctfect loans and Jdvmces at m y  time for the Corporation from any bank, trust  company or other institution, or from any firm, corporation or 
individual. and for such loans and advances the person so authorized may make, execute and deliver promissory notes, bonds or other certificates or 
e\ idcnces o f  indebtedness o f  the Corporation, dnd, when authorized by  the Board so to do, may pledge and hypothecate or transfer any securities or 
othcr property o f  the Corporation as security for any such loans or advances Such authority conferred by  the Board may be general or confined to 
spccific instdnces, or othenrise l imited 
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STOCK A N D  DIVIDEhDS 
~ 7 I C t R  JIFICATES REPRESENTIhG S H A R E S  The shares o f  spital stock o f  the Corporation shall be represented by certificates in such form 

(conjistcnt tbith the provisions o f  Section 158 o f  the General Corporation LJW) as shall be approked by the Board Such certificates shall be signed 
by the ChJirmm. the President, an Executive Vice President or a Vice President and by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary or the Treasurer or an 
-\ssistant Tre.surer, m d  may be impressed with the sed  o f  the Corporation or J facsimile thereof I f  the Corporation is u tho r i red  to issue direct 
C ~ J S S C S  of  shares or different series wi th in a class, the designations, relative rights, preferences, and limitations applicable to e x h  class and the 
~ j r i ~ t i o n s  in rights. prcferences, m d  limitations determined for each series (and the authority o f  the Board to determine variations for future series) 
shall be summarized on the front or back o f  each certificate o f  shares o f  such class or series Alternatively, each certificate may state conspicuously 
on i t s  front or back that the Corpordtion *ill furnish the Stockholder this information on request in writ ing and without charge All certificdtes for 
shares shall be consccutibely numbered or otherwise identified The name and address o f  the person to whom the shares represented thereby are 
issued, with the number o f  shares and date o f  issue. shall be entered on the stock transfer books o f  the Corporation The signatures o f  the officers 
upon a certificate may be facsimiles, if the certificate is countersigned, manually or by facsimile signature, by  a transfer agent or registrar other than 
the Corporation itself or i t s  employee I n  case any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed 
upon any certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such certificate is issued, such certificate may, unless 
othemise ordered by the Board, be issued by the Corporation with the same effect as if such person were such officer, transfer agent or registrar 3t 
the date o f  issue 

I ,  3 CtlECKS, DR..\ITS. ETC . A l l  checks. drafts and other orders for the payment o f  money out of  the funds o f  the Corporation and al l  e\ idencc.j of 
incicbtcdncss o f the  ('orporation shall be signed on behalf of  the Corporation in such manner as shall from time to t ime  be determined by rcjolution 
o t  the Board. 

6 -1 DEPOSITS The funds ot the Corporation not othenrise employed shdl  be deposited from time to time to the order o f  rhe CorporJtion l r i th 
suih bmhs trust conipanies in\estment banking firms, f inancid institutions or other depositaries as the Board may select or as m y  be sclccted b\i 
J n  ottiLcr. cmplo\cc or Jgcnt of the Corporation to \rhoin such power to select  m y  from time to time be delegated by the Bodrd 

ARTICLE 7 



I S  

7 2 TR..\\SFER Of: Sll,-\Rl!S 'Ir.in.;fcrs of  shares o f  capital stock of  the Corporation shall be made only on the books o f  the Corporation b! 
hc~li icr thcrcofor bb rhc holder's dul. authorired attorney appointed by a poiter of attorney duly executed and filed Lrith the Sccrctary or transfer 
agent o f  the Corporation. and on surrcnder o f  the certificate or certificates representing such shares o f  capital stock properly endorsed for tranjfcr 
2nd upon payment o f  JII necessary transfer taxes. Ebery certificate cxchanpcd. rcturned or surrendered to the Corporation shall be nldrl\ed 
"(',lncclcd." \bith the [ lute o f  cancellation. by the Secretary or an .Assistant Sccrctary or the transfer agent o f the  Corporation. ,A person in \\hose 
shares o f  capital stock shall stand on the books o f  the Corporation shall be deemed the owner thereof to receibe dibidends. to bote as such onncr jnJ  
for all other purposes as rcspccts the Corporation. No transfer o f  shares of  capital stock shall be valid as against the Corporation. i t s  Stockholders and 
creditors for m y  purpose. clccpt to rcndcr the transferee liable for the debts of the Corporation to the extent provided by law. until such transfer shall 
hakc been entered on the books ot'the Corporation by an entry showing from and to whom transferred. 

7 3 TRALSFER ALD RE(j I5TRY I G E \ T S  The Corporation may from time to time maintain one or more transfer offices or agents and rcgihtry 
offices or Jgcnts dt such place or places JS may be determined from time to time by the Board 

7 -1 LOST, DESTROk E D  STOLEN A 1 D  MUTILATED CERTIFICATES The holder of  any shares o f  capital stock of the Corpordtion hhall 
immediately notify the Corporation o f  any loss. destruction, thcft or mutilation o f  the certificate representing such shares, and the CorporJtion n u \  
issue a neu c e r t i f i c J t e  to replace the certificate alleged to hake been lost, destroyed. stolen or mutilated The Board mJy in i ts  discretion. Js a 
condition to the issue o f  m y  such new certificate, require the owner o f  the lost, destroyed. stolen or mutilated Certificate. or his or her legal 
representatikes. to make proof satisfactory to the Board of such loss, destruction, theft or mutilation and to adLertise such fact in such manner as the 
Board may require, and to give the Corporation and i ts  transfer agents and registrars, or such o f  them as the Board may require, a bond in such form. 
in  such sums and with such surety or sureties as the Board may direct. to indemnify the Corporation and i ts  transfer agents Jnd registrars against any 
claim that mJy be made against any o f  them on account o f  the continued existence of any such certificate so alleged to hake been lost. destroyed, 
stolen or mutilated and against m y  expense in connection k i th such claim 

7 5 RULES A N D  REGULATIONS The Board may make such rules and regulations as it may deem expedient, not inconsistent with these BqIatbs 
or wi th the Certificate o f  Incorporation, concerning the issue, transfer and registration o f  certificates representing shares of i t s  capitdl stock 

7 A RESTRICTION OU TRANSFER OF STOCK A written restriction on the transfer or registration of transfer o f  capital stock o f  the Corporation, 
if permitted by Section 202 of  the General Corporation Law and noted conspicuously on the certificate 



rcpccwiiting such c ~ p i t l l  . ;t~~ch. i i u ?  be enforced a p n s t  the holder o f  the restricted capital stock or any successor or transferee of  the holder. 
IrlciLl~iing Jn cyccutor. dniinistrator. trustee. guardian or other fiduciary entrusted with like responsibility for the person or estate of  the holder 

I1Icss noted conspicuously on the certificate representing such capital stock. a restriction, even though permitted by Section 2 0 2  of the Cjenerjl 
C'c)rporution L w ,  hJ11 be inct'fcctit,c evccpt against a person with actual kno\blcdge of the rcstriction. A restriction on  the transfer or registration of  
tr.inst'cr o f  capital m c k  o f  the Corporation may be imposed either by the Certificate o f  Incorporation or by an agreement among any number o f  
Stockholders or m o i i g  iuch Srochholders and the Corporation. No restriction so imposed shall be binding tcith respect to capital stock issued prior to 
thc dop t ion  o f thc  rcstriction unless the holders o f  such capital stock are parties to an agreement or \oted in favor o f  the restriction. 

7 7 [> IC  IDELDS. j L  R P L l  5. ETC Subject to the proiisions o f  the Certificate of Incorporation and o f  la\v, the Board 

7 7 I may declare m d  p ~ y  ditidends or make other distributions on the outstanding s h m s  of 
ap i ta l  stock in such amounts and at such time or times as i t ,  in i t s  discretion. shd l  deem Jd\isable 
gibing due consideration to the condition of the affairs o f  the Corporation. 

7 7 2 may use and apply, in i t s  discretion. any o f  the surplus o f  the Corporation in purchaing or 
acquiring any shares o f  capital stock o f  the Corporation, or purchase ibdrrants therefor. in 
accordance with law, or any o f  i t s  bonds, debentures, notes. scrip or other securities or eLidences 
o f  indebtedness. and 

7 7 3 may set aside from time to time out o f  such surplus or net profits such sum or sums as. in i t s  

discretion, i t  may think proper, as a resene fund to meet contingencies. or for e q u l i i i n g  
dividends or for the purpose o f  maintaining or increasing the p r o p e q  or business o f  the 
Corporation, or for any purpose i t  may think conducive to the best interests of the Corporation 

ARTICLE 8 

BOOKS AND RECORDS 

8 I BOOKS AND RECORDS There shall be kept at the Office o f  the Corporation correct and complete records and books o f  account recording 
the financid trmsdctions o f  the Corporation and minutes o f  the proccedings of the Stockholders, the Board and any committee o f  the Board Thc 
Corporation shdll keep ,it i t s  principal office, or at the office o f  the transfer agent or registrar o f  the Corporation, a record 



8 2 F O R M  O F  Rt..CORDS ,Any records nuintained by the Corporation in the regular course o f  I ts business. including its stock ledger. bookj  at' 
,iccount. and niinutc boohs. i i u v  he kept on. or be in the form of. punch cards. magnetic tape, photographs. microphotosraphs. or J n y  other 
intornlatlon storayc dcticc,  pro\idcd that the records so kept can be converted into clearly legible {rrittcn form Lbirhin a reasonable time The 
['ol-porjtion shall SO CoiiLcrt any  rccords 50 kept upon the request of any person entitled to inspect the same. 

S 3 IUSPECTION (~ )F  BOOKS ..\\I3 RECORDS. Except 3s otherwise provided by law, the Board shall determine from time to time \\hctht.r. 
J n d ~  i t  ~ l l o \ \ c d .  \L h c n  ~ n d  iinticr \$ h 3 t  conditions and regulations. the accounts, books. minutes and other records of the Corporclrion, or clnv of them. 
.;hull be open to thc Stochholdcrs f o r  inspection. 



' I  

ARTICLE 9 

u 
I \IC cornordte seal. i f  the B o d  clccts to adopt one. shall ha\e inscribed thereon the name o f  the Corporation. the year o f  i t s  orgJni/ation and the 
\\ord, 'Corporate S c ~ l .  DclJiLJrc " The seal may be used by causing i t  or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affived or othencise reproduced 

ARTICLE IO 

FISC,\L Y E A R  
I hc f iscal  )car of the CorporJtion shJll cnd on December 3 I o f  each calendar year, and may be changed, by resolution o f  the Board 

ARTICLE 1 I 

PROXIES A N D  C O N S E N T S  
Lnless othencise directed by the B o v d ,  the Chairman, the President, any Executice Vice President. any Vice President. the Secretary or the 
Treasurer, or any one of them, may execute and deliver on behalf o f  the Corporation proxies respecting any and all shares or other otinership 
interests o f  m y  Other Entity owned by the Corporation appointing such person or persons as the officer executing the same shall deem proper to 
rcpresent and bote the shares or other o ~ n e r s h i p  interests so owned at any and all meetings o f  holders of shares or other ownership interests, bchether 
general or special, and/or to execute and deliver consents respecting such shares or other ownership interests. or any o f  the aforesaid officers may 
attend any meeting of the holders o f  shares or other ownership interests of such Other Entity and thereat vote or exercise any or all other pov+ers o f  
the Corporation as the holder o f  such shares or other ownership interests 

A R T I C L E  I 2  

O F F I C E S  
I:! I KEGISTERED OFFICE 
County of Kent, State of Delaware. The registered agent o f  the corporatlon at such address i s  The Prentice-Hall Corporation System, Inc. 

The registered office of the Corporation shall be at 3 2  Loockeman Square, Suite L-100, in the Ci ty o f  Dober. 



I ?  2 OTl1ER OFf-ICES 
stdtc ot Dcla\tdrc J> the Board of  Directors may from time to time determine or the business o f  the Corporation may require 

The Corporation may also have offices. including i ts  principal office, at such other p l ~ c e s  both Lrithin and ttithout [he 

ARTICLE 13 

E \ I  ERG Eh CY BY LA\\ S 
I n l o s  the C c r t i f i c ~ e  o f  Incorporation probides othenbise. the follo\ving probisions o f  this Article 13 shall be e f fec t i ve  during an enieryencb 
rcsultiny from Jn dtack on the Ln i t cd  Statcs or during m y  nuclear or atomic disaster or during the existence o f  a s i m i l x  catastrophe Duriny 3uch 
cmcrccncy 

I 1  I \OTICE TO BOARD LIELIBERS Any one member o f  the Board or any one o f  the following officers Chairman. President any E\ecuti\e 
\ ice  President. m y  Vice President. Secretary, or Treasurer. may call a meeting o f  the Board Such person shall use reasonable efforts [o notif\ all 
nicmbcrs o f  the Board, but notice o f  such meeting need be giben only to those Directors whom after reasonable effort i t  i s  practicable to r e x h  m d  
may be giben in any practical manner, including by publication and radio Such notice shall be gi\en at least six hours prior to commencement o f  the 
meeting 

13 2 TEMPORARY DIRECTORS A N D  QUORUM One or more officers o f  the Corporation present at the emergency Board meeting, JS i s  
necessary to achieve a quorum. shall be considered to be Directors for the meeting. and shall so serve in order o f  rank, And tbithin the same rank, in 
order o f  seniority In the ebent that less than a quorum o f  the Directors are present (including any officers b h o  are to serve as Directors for the 
meeting). those Directors present (including the officers serving as Directors) shall constitute a quorum Notwithstanding the foregoing. no meeting 
o f  the Board shall take place pursuant to this Article 13 without the presence of at least three Directors (not including officers serving as Directors for 
the meeting) 

13 3 ACTIONS PERMITTED TO B E  T A K E N  The Board as 

constituted in  Section 13 2 hereof, and after notice as set forth in Section 13 I hereof may, 

I3 3 I prescribe emergency powers to any officer of 
the Corporation. 

I3 3 2. delegate to any officer or Director. any of the powers o f  the Board, 



2 3  

I3  3 3 designate lines o f  succession o f  officers Jnd agents. in the ekent that any o f  them are unable to 
discharge their duties. 

I3 3 4 relocate the principal place of  business. or designate successiLe or simultaneous principal places of  
business. and 

13.3 5 take any other action reasonably necessary to carry on the business of the Corporation 

13 4 EFFECTIVENESS OF EMERGENCY B Y L A W S  To the extent that they are not inconsistent \kith the 
pro\isions o f  this Article 13. all other prokisions o f  these Byla\vs shall remain in effect during an emergency 
Lpon  termination o f  the emersency, the provisions of this .Article 13 shall cease to be operdike 

.ARTICLE 14 

Except as otherwise expressly specified in the Certificate o f  Incorporation or these Bylaws. the Board may from time to time adopt. amend or repeal 
the Bylaws. provided, however, that any Bylaws adopted or amended by the Board may be amended or repealed. and any Bylaws m q  be Jdopted b y  
a vote o f  the Stockholders having at least two-thirds o f  the boting power o f  the then issued and outstanding shares o f  capital stock o f  the Corporation 

* * *  

CERTlFlCATlON 
Thc undersigned, in his capacity as Secretary o f  the Corporation. hereby certifies that the foregoing i s  the Amended and Restated Bylaws o f  the 
Corporation adopted by the Board o f  the Corporation on this __ day o f  July, 1998. 

Michael A .  Lubin 
Secretary of Pathnet, Inc 
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Article 3 

3.5 

3.6 

Exhibit I O  I 3 
Amendment $ 5  to Vaster Agreement 

Dated S August. 1997 bcttrcen Pathnet. Inc 
and \EC America. Inc 

conditions of the blaster ,Agreement remain in full force and effect: 

S ~ O D C  of'Contract 

l lod i fy  (J)  to read. "Appendix A - Sellers Quotation, 
DCQo8-L13l)o554A. dated 91 I S  98, excluding General Terms and 
Conditions ' 

Delete 'Subject to Section 3 2, the pricing stated in Appendix 
A i s  ) d i d  for orders placed within three years from the 
signing of  this Agreement and is" and modify first pdragraph 
to read, "Subject to Article 3 2 ,  the pricing stated in 
Appendix A hereto i s  Lalid for orders placed from the date 
91 18/98 for the balance of  the Master Agreement term, 
to Article 3 5 below, as expressed in Article 5 Term and 
Option, and i s  

Delete in i ts entirety 
Agreement with the following, "At the end o f  calendar year 

reach mutually beneficial prices for the balance ofthe 
Agreement term In consideration of the prices stated in 
Appendix A hereto, 
supplier o f  digital microwave 
A with a minimum share of  purchase 
60% with Buyer having a two supplier relationship and 50% with 
Buyer h w n g  a three supplier relationship 

Furthermore, Buyer agrees it shall purchase from Seller, 
Equipment in a cumulative amount o f  no less than 
5200,000,000 00 U S dollars by the end o f  calendar year 2002 
As part of this commitment, Buyer wil l 
procure no less than a quantity of 700 TIR's (digital 
microwave terminals) each six month perlod beginning 911 8/98 
Buyer's fdtlure to meet this TIR commitment level as set forth 
hcrein shall result in the sole and exclusive remedy of Seller 
JS follows Seller shall reserve the right to withdraw the 
pricing levels set forth in this Agreement for subsequent 
purchases of  Equipment " 

subject 

Amendment #3 and replace in the Master 

1999, the Parties agree to have a good faith negotiation to 

Buyer agrees to hold Seller as the primary 
equipment as listed in Appendix 

volume in U S dollars o f  

in good faith effort, 

Modify to rend, 'The pricing set forth in Appendix A hereto i s  
dpplicable to any orders placed after 9118198 " 



\ r t i c l c  37 Product S U D D O ~ T .  Tr;iinine and Other Suooort 

'7 I Product hupport and Training shdl be performed JS stJted in 
Policy in Appendiu A In Jdditron to thc Product L i n e  Support 

this -\ppendix, 
to Buyer on an "JS needed" basis Jt no cost during the term o f  
th i5  Agrement 

Seller shall provide Sdes Ensincering support 

17 2. Scllcr JSrccs to pro1 ide 
bd5is to dny ne\$ Buyer or Buyer Company engineering 
m d  Bubcr opcrJtions personnel Such training can be either at 
Sc l lc r  \ f x i l i t k  in Herndon, V A  or Buyers facilities in 
I\. ashingon. 
or Buyer s Company's fJcility. Buyer Jgrees to reimburse 
Scllcr for the instructor's reasonable traLel Jnd licing 
expense only 

training on an Jgreed upon scheduled 
personnel 

D C or Richardson. Texas For training at Buyer 

27 3 Seller Jgrees to provide Buyer m o  hops o f  radio in 
terminal-terminal arrangement configured as follows I Y I ,  
frequency dicersity/space diversity with switchocer 
processors One hop would be installed in each o f  the Buyer 
facilities in Washington, D C and Richardson, Texas 

27 4 In a good faith effort and to the extent reasonably feasible. 
Seller to provide for Seller radio and multiplexer product - 
including any enhancements or modifications thereto, (I) 
detailed specification for the OS (Operation System) to NE 
(Netuork Element) operations communications pJth This wil l  
include detailed specifications on how the network elements 
may be accessed directly or indirectly by the OS and 
identifying 
to NE operations Conformance statements to all relevant 
protocols at the physical, data link, transport, session, 
presentation and application layer should be provided 
the proprietary or non-standard protocol 
be identified. (11)  a detailed description o f  the management 
interfaces and functionality implemented at the application 
layer described in terms o f  GDMO or TL - I ,  ( i i i )  a technicdl 
contact avaihble to support Buyer during OS development T h i s  
point o f  contact should possess a detailed understanding of 
the protocol interfaces and the network management 
~ p p l  ications implemented on the NE The primary means of 
contact wi l l  be through email to both Wally Strader (Director, 
Systems Engineering) and Robert Lowell (Director, Customer 
Engineering) or their successors, 
i ts response, each such contact should include a priority 
listing ranking o f  either a Level One, Two or Three inquiry 
( L e v e l  One to denote in need of a response within less than a 
ucek Level Two or denote in need of response within one to 
two weeks, and Level Three to denote in need of response 
beyond two weeks), and (IV) notification to Buyer in  the event 
o f  any modifications to the above T M N  interfaces or 
communication protocols for new product releases and the 
appropriate documentation and support provided as describe 
above 

the protocols used for OS to NE operations and NE 

Use o f  
implementations must 

i f  any To assist Seller in 

27 5 In good faith effort and to the extent reasonably feasible, 
Seller wi l l  test the current 2000s radio to Bellcore's Network 
Equipment Building System (NEBS) requirements Such tests 
shall be conducted by either an independent third party 
testing facility or by the manufacturer as witnessed by a 
third party The testing criteria shall be those elements off 
NEBS only that are applicable to the 2000S radio 



cqiripmcnt .md that Seller has stated either meet or may mcct the hEBS standard. Seller's intcntion i s  to asj1St Buycr. 
\\ hcrc m d  hcn practical, in using these tests' results to obtain collocation approval. 

f-urthcrmore. i n  .I good faith effort, Seller \bill design. build m d  make acailable during the term of this Cidster Ageemcnt. J 

ne\\. cnhmccd iersion ofthe 2000s radio This new version \ciII be in significant compliance u i t h  the VEBS' standard 

NEC ,America. Inc. Pathnet, Inc. 

E& s! Dab id Schaeffer 

D Schaeffer 

Title C h a i r "  rltle \GLI. RCSD 

w 11/19 98 Drtte I I  7098  



Evhibit I O  I O  2 
THIRD AXIENDXIENT TO LEASE 

Tt1IS 'THIRD .A?JENDMENT TO LEASE (this "Third Amendment") is entered into as of the 1st day of September 1998 (the "Effectike Date") bc  
and bctibeen G71 5 Kcnilworth Akcnue General Partnership ("Landlord") and Pathnet. Inc. ("Tenant"). 

R E C I T '4 L S 

\ [.milord and Tenant arc parties to that certain Lease Agreement dated August 9, 1997, as amended by that certain Amendmcnt to L e s e  dated 
\larch 5. IO08 m d  that Second Amendment to Ledse dded May I, 1998 (together. the"Lease") 

B Landlord and Tcnanr desire to Jdd certain premises to the Lease and make certain other modifications to the Lease JS more pxticularly set 
forth herein 

NOW, THEREFORE. in  considcration of the mutual promises of the parties and other good and baluable consideration. [he receipt and sufficienc? 
of  u hich are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows 

I PREMISES From and after the Effective Date, the area described in Exhibit A ,  attached hereto md  
incorporated herein, located on the first floor of the building containing the Premises and consisting of approvimmlv 
1,500 square feet, is hereby incorporated into the Premises for all purposes 

2 RENT In  Paragraph 3 of the Lease, as amended by the Second Amendment to Lease. ( I )  the number 
"5305,860 00" i s  hereby deleted and the number "335,860 00" is inserted in its place, and (11) the number "25,488 33 ' is 
hereby deleted, and the number "27,988 00" is inserted in its place 

3 SECURITY DEPOSIT As of the date hereof, Tenant has increased the Security Deposit under the Lease 
by delivering to Landlord, and Landlord hereby acknowledges receipt of, the sum of 52,500 The parties xknohledge  
that the Security Deposit i s  currently 519,393 33 

4 IMPROVEMENTS. The parties acknowledge that certain 
improvements will be constructed in the Premises pursuant to a 

separate agreement. 

5 CAPITALIZED TERMS. All capitalized terms not defined herein 
shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Lease. 

6 RATIFICATION Except as expressly modified herein, the Lease 
remains in full force and effect in accordance with its terms 

[SIGNATURES BEGIN ON FOLLOWING PAGE( 



ESEC'IJED.  undcr scal. 2s o t r h c  day and year first written above 

LANDLORD:  

6715 KENILWORTH A V E N U E  G E N E R A L  PARTNERSHIP 

- BY:  /s/Dnvid Schaeffer 

David Schaeffer 
General Partner 

TENANT 

PATHNET. INC. 

- BY: islWilliam R. Smedberg V 

William R. Smedberg V 
Vice President. Finance and 

Corporate Development 



Eyhibit 2 I .  I 
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COhIP.4NY 

Pathnct Finmce I, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

Pathnet Idaho Po\\cr Liccnsc, LLC, a Delauare limited liability company 

Pathnct/Iddho Pokrer Equipment. LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

Pdhnet BLSF Equipment, LLC. a Delaware limited liability company 

Pathnct Fiber Optics. LLC. J Delaware limited liability company 



\ K l l c l t . s  
LFGELD'  

The xhcdule  contJin5 s u m m q  tindncidl information extracted from the Company's 
bdldncc  bhcet JS o f  Scptcmbcr 30% I908 and the 
ycdr  cndcd December 3 1 1998 and IS qualified in i t s  entirety by reference to 
such f i n m c i d  stdtemcnts 

L k G t h D r  
(CIK- 000 I06 I 148 

L A L I E >  PJthnet, Inc 
\ I \  LTIPLIER> I 000 

Statements of Operations for the 

< P E R I O D - T Y P E >  12-CIOS 
<FISC.AL-YEAR-END> DEC-3 1-19'18 
< P E R I O D - S T A R T >  JAN-OI -1998 
<PERIOD-END> Dec-3 I - I998 
< C A S H >  
<SECURITIES> 
< R E C E I V A B L E S >  
< A L L O W A N C E S >  
< I N V E N T O R Y >  

<PP&E> 
< D E P R E C I A T I O N >  

<CURRENT-ASSETS> 

<TOTAL-ASSETS> 
<CURRENT-LIABILITIES> 
< B O N D S >  

< P R E F E R R E D >  
< C O M M O N >  

< P R E F E R R E D - M A N D A T O R Y >  

< O T H E R - S E >  
<TOTAL-LIABILITY-AND-EQUlTY> 
< S A L E S >  

< C G S >  
< T O T A L - R E V E N U E S  

< T O T A  L-COSTS> 
< O T H E R -  E X P E N S E S  
<LOSS-PROVISION> 
<INTEREST-EXPENSE> 
< I N C O M E - P R E T A X >  
< I N C O M E - T A X >  
< I N C O M E - C O N T I N U I N G >  
< D I S C O N T I N U E D >  
< E X T R A O R D I N A R Y >  
< C H A N G E S >  
< N E T - I N C O M E >  
<EPS-PRIMARY> 
<EPS-DILUTED> 

57.322 
97.896 

3,207 
0 
0 

162.479 
48,760 

789 
365,414 

20,280 
346,2 I2 

35.970 
0 

29 
(3 7,077) 
365,414 

1.584 
1,584 
7,548 
7,548 

0 
0 

32,572 
(36,297) 

0 
(36,297) 

0 
0 
0 

(36,297) 
(12.51) 
( I  2.5 I )  
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D.C. 20549 

FORM 10-Q 
(mark one) I 

[xl QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE 
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

For the quarterly period ended June 30,1999 

OR 

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
[ 3 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE 

For the transition period from ’ to 

Commission File No. 333-53467 

Pathnet, Inc. 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

Delaware 
(State or other jurisdiction of 
incorporation or organhtion) 

IO15 31st Street, N.W. 
Washington, DC 

(Address of principal executive ofkcs) , 

52-1941838 
0.RS. Employer 
Identification No.) 

20007 
(Zip Code) 

(202) 625-7284 
( R e g h ” s  telephone number, ,including area code) 

Not Applicable 
(Formar name, fomer addrws and former fiscal year, if changed since last report) 

Indicate by check mark whether the rcgktmut (1) has filed all reports rquired to be filed by Section 13 
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter 
period that the redstrant was required to fle such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing 
requirements for the past 90 days. 

, 
Yes [XI No[ 1 

As of August 9,1999, there were 2,906,860 s h e s  of the Issuer‘s common stock, par value $.01 per 
share, “ding. 



PATHNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30,1999 
INDEX 

QUARTERLY REPORT ON FORM 10-Q 

Page 
Part I. Financial Information 

Item 1. Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30,1999 (unaudited) and 
December 3 1,1998 3 

Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months 
ended June 30,1999 and 1998 and for the period August 25,1995 (date of 

Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the 
inception) to June 30,1999 4 

three and six months ended June 30,1999 and 1998 and for the period 
August 25,1995 (date of inception) to June 30,1999 5 

Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six 
months ended June 30,1999 and 1998 and for the period August 25,1995 
(date of inception) to June 30,1999 6 

7 Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements 

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 30 

Operations 12 

Part D[. Other Information 

Item 1. Legal Proceedings 
Item 2. Changes in Securities and Use of Proceeds 
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities 
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 
Item 5.  Other Information 
Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K 

Signatures 

Exhibits Index 

31 
31 
31 
31 
31 
31 

33 

34 

2 



I 

Part L Flnmclrl Information 

Item 1. Financial Statementa 

PA'I"ET, INC. AND SUBSI0IARIE-S 
(Development Stage Enterprisu) 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

ASSETS I 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Note receivable 
Interest receivable 
Marketable securities available for sale, at market 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 

Total current ~s9ets 

Property and equipment net 
Deferred financing costs, net 
Restricted cash 
Marketable securities available for sale, at market 
Pledged marketable securities held to maturity 
other lirscts 

Total assets 
LmnrrIEs, MANDATORILY REDEEMABLE PREFERRED STOCK 

AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUTIY (DEF'IClT) 
Accounts payable 
Accrued interest 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilitiw 

Total current liabilities 

respectively 

Total liabilities 

and outstauding at June 30, 1999 and December 31,1998, respectively (liquidation 
preference $1,000,000) 

and outstanding at June 30,1999 and December 31,1998, respectively (liquidation 
prefmnce $5,033,367) 

and outstanding at June 30,1999 and December 31,1998, respectively (liquidation 
preference $30,000,052) 
Total mandatorily mdcunnble preferred stock 

December 31,1998, respeaively, 2,906,860 and 2,902,358 shares issued and 
outstanding at June 30,1999 and December 31,1998, respectively 

12 114% Senior Notes, net ofunamortized bond discount of $3,583,125 and S3,787,875 

Other non-currcnt liabilities 

Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,OOO,OOO shares authorized, issued 

Series B convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,651,046 sham authorized, issued 

Series C convertible pnfared stock, $0.01 par value, 2,819,549 sham authorized, issued 

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 60,OOO,OOO sham authorized at June 30,1999 and 

Deferred compensation 
Additional paid-in capital 
Accumulated other compnhensive (loss) income 
Deficit accumulated during the development stage 

Total stockholders' equity (deficit) 
Total liabilities, mandatorily redeemable preferred stock and stockholders' equity (deficit) 

June 30, 
1999 

(unaudited) 

$ 133,873,303 

1,526,948 
37,139,322 
1,036,6 19 

173,576,192 
83,953,304 
9,980,583 
7,890,070 
33,608,139 
4 1,775,320 

189,646 
$ 350,973,255 

S 19,714,034 
8,932,294 
1,342,003 

29,988,33 1 

346,416,875 
184,388 

376,589,595 

1,000,000 

5,008,367 

29,961,272 
35,969,639 

29,068 
(709,912) 
6,16 1,450 
(121,224) 

(66,945,361) 
(61,585,979) 

S 350,973,255 

The accompanying notes are an tntegral part ofthese consokfated@mciaal #tatement+ 

3 

December 31, 
1998 

S 57,321,887 
3,206,84 1 
3,848,753 
97,895,773 

205,505 

162,478,759 
47,971,336 
10,508,25 1 
10,73 1,353 
71,899,757 
61,824,673 

$ 365,414,129 

$ 10,708,263 
8,932,294 
639,688 

20,280,245 

346,212,125 

366,492,370 

l,OOo,OOO 

5,008,367 

29,961,272 
35,969,639 

29,024 
(978,064) 
6,156,406 
208,2 1 1 

(42,463,457) 
(37,047,880) 

$ 365,414,129 
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PATB1vET, INC AND SUBSIDIARIXS 
(Development Sbp Entuprba) 

CONSOLIDATED SI’ATEMEMS OF OPERATIONS 
(nnindlted) 

For the puled 
A n e m u ,  l99s 

(date of bceptlon) For the three month ended For the six montb ended 
June 30, June 30, to June 30, 

1999 

S 864,815 

2,669,255 
3,507,704 
1,033,300 
7,210,259 

(63545,W 
(~0,060,626) 

3,378,137 

71,631 
S (12,956-1 

S (4.46) 

1998 1999 

S 475,000 S 1,690,919 

3,019,928 5,320,455 
2,473,078 6,303,064 

111,522 1,570,939 
5,604,528 13,194,458 

(5,129,528) (ll,N3,539) 
( 9 , W )  (20,330,837) 
4,488,171 7,192,145 

159,727 
S (10,509,704) S (24,481,904) 

s (3.62) S (8.43) 

2,90533 2902,358 2904,166 

1998 

s 575,OOo 

3,764,507 
4,027,357 

1 11,522 

7.90336 

(9,868J48) 
4,001,189 

(7,328~861 

S (13,194,545) 

s (4.55) 

2,901,693 

1999 

s 3,437,951 

12,868,075 
21,928,413 
2,359,770 

37,156,258 

(33,718,300) 
(53,318,648) 
21,307,981 

( 1 , 3 W W  
157.140 

S (66,926,361) 

S (23.07) 

2,901,214 

! 4 
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PATHNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Development Stage Enterprisu) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSrYE INCOME (LOSS) 
(unaudited) 

For the three months ended For the a i x  months ended 
June 30, June 30, 

1999 1998 1999 1998 

Net loss S (12,956,302) S (10,509,704) S (24,522,639) S (13,194,545) 

Other comprehensive income (loss): 
Net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable 

securities available for sale (195,544) (5 1,855) (329,435) (51,855) 

Comprehensive loss S (13,151,849 S (10,561,559) S (24,852,074) S (13,246,400) 

For the period 
August 25,1995 

(date of inception) 
to June 30, 

1999 

S (66,926,361) 

(121,224) 

S (67,047,585) 

The accompaqying notes are an Inlegral pari of these consolldotedfinanchl statemen&. 

5 



P A T H " ,  INC. AM) SUBSIDIARIES 
@evelopmeat Stage Enterprim) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(Unrndltcd) 

Cash flows ffom operating activities: 
Net loss 
Adjusbnmt to rtconcile net 10s to net cash used in operating pctivitiu 

Depreciation ocpawe 
Amortitation of deferred financing capts 
Larr on disposal of asset 
write-off of d c M  h c i n g  costs 
laterest expcnac resulting &om amortization of discount on the 

Amortization of premium on pledged securitiw 
bonds payable 

Stock b w d  c o m e o n  
Interest eapansc for beneficial ammion feature of bridge IOM ' 

Accrued interest satisfied by CanVaJion of bridge I O M . ~ O  

1 

S a i e s  B w n v d i l e  pnfemd stock 
changed in assets and liabbilities: 

Interest receivable 
Repaid ccpaues and otha ass& 
Accounb payable 
Accrued intarst 
Acaued acpensea and otha liabilities 

Net cuh wd in opaating activities 
carh flow Lom invc3ting activities: 
Eqmditurufornetworkinpmgress 
Expcnditrmsforpropatyandequipmtat 
sale of mPlcetable secrpitrd 
mchrse of rnd&able sccwitia available for sale 
Purchase of mukctable securities - pledged IU collahral 
Maturity and sals of marketable &ties - pledged IU col la td  
Restricted auh 
Repayment of note receivable 

Net cuh provided by (used in) investing activities 

Caah flows &om 6nglcing activities: 
Issurrnoe of voting and non-voting common stock 
PrOceeQ from sale of pnfand stodc 
ProceeQ &om sale of S a i a  B convertible pretemd stock representing the 
conmion of committed but undrawn portion of bridge loan to Seies B 
convertible preferred stodc 

Proceedr6wmbondofTcring 
Rocctdc knn bridge loan 
Emrcise of employw a" s t d c  optiau 
Payment of h c e  cuaa fa prefbrred stock offerings 
Payment of de- finrncine cusia 

Net cuh provided by (uad in) 6nanCiag activities 

Net increw in &and cashcquivalatta 
Cash and ash cquivalenb at the begiMing of period 
Cash and wh c+M&I at the md of Mod 

1999 

S (24,481,904) 

1,570,939 
568,403 

204,750 
315,738 
268,152 

2,321,805 
(83 1,114) 
( ~ , i m )  

348,887 
(20,263,534) 

(27,294, 12 1) 
(355,655) 

98,718,634 

19,733,6 15 
4841,283 
3,206,841 

96,850,597 

5,088 

(40,735) 
(35,647) 

76,551,416 
57,321,887 

S 133,873,303 

For the period 

(date of Inception) 
Auprwt 25,1995 

For the sit months ended 
June 30, June 30, 

1998 1999 

S (13,194,545) S (66,926,361) 

111,522 2,359,770 
278,444 1,411,193 

5,500 
337,9 10 58 1,334 

102,375 51 1,875 
3 15,738 

277,035 969,447 
381,990 

33,367 

(4,371,634) (2,525,147) 
(302,884) (1,036,619) 
140,477 (41,576) 

9,765,973 8,932,294 
1,735,073 988,574 

(5,120,254) (54.03 8,621) 

(6,560,612) 
(1,265,533) 

(157,153,445) 
(80,829,045) 

467,93 1 
9,000 

(24533 1,704) 

(62,653,245) 
(3,561,548) 
98,718,634 

(1 69,587,3 19) 
(83,097,655) 
42,004,796 
(7,890,070) 

9,000 
(186,057,407) 

1,000 
35,000,052 

19,999,998 
350,000,000 

81 
( 2 W W  

(11,301,859) 
358,441,970 

107,990,012 
7,831,384 

S 115,821,396 

300,000 
350,000,000 

700,000 
5,169 

(63,780) 
(1 1,973,110) 
373,969,33 1 

133,873,303 

S 133,873,303 

6 



1. THE COMPANY 

Pathnet, Inc. (Company) is a privately-held carrier’s carrier, providing digital 
telecommunications capacity to under-served and second- and third-tier U.S. markets. Pathnet offers 
telecommunications service to inter-exchange carriers, local exchange carriers, internet service 
providers, Regional Bell Operating Companies, cellular operators and resellers. 

During the second quarter of 1999, Pathnet continued to construct and deploy digital networks 
utilizing both wireless and fiber-optic technologies. Pursuant to its agreement with Worldwide Fiber 
USA (WFI), the Company began to construct and market a multi-conduit fiber-optic network between 
Chicago, Illinois and Denver, Colorado during the second quarter (See note 9 to these Financial 
Statements). 

As of June 30, 1999, the Company had approximately 3,900 route miles of completed network 
and approximately 3,800 route miles of network under construction. 

The Company’s business is funded primarily through equity investments by the Company’s 
stockholders and $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 12 ?4% Senior Notes due 2008 (Senior 
Notes) which have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

A substantial portion of the Company’s activities to date has involved developing strategic 
relationships with railroads, pipelines, utilities and state and local governments (Incumbents) and 
building its network. Accordingly, a majority of its revenues to date reflect only certain consulting and 
advisory services in connection with the design, development and construction of digital microwave 
infrastructure. The remainder of its revenues to date (approximately 34.3 per cent) has been derived 
fiom the sale of bandwidth along the Company’s digital network. The Company has experienced 
significant operating and net losses and negative operating cash flow to date and expects to continue to 
experience operating and net losses and negative operating cash flow until such time as it is able to 
generate revenue sufficient to cover its operating expenses. 

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 

While the Company recently commenced providing telecommunication services to customers 
and recognizing the revenue from the sale of such telecommunication services, its principal activities 
to date have been securing contractual alliances with Incumbents and partners, designing and 
constructing networkpaths, obtaining capital and planning its proposed service. Accordingly, the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements are presented as a development stage enterprise, as 
prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 7, “Accounting and Reporting by 
Development Stage Enterprises.” As a development stage enterprise, the Company has been relying on 
the issuance of equity and debt securities, rather than recurring revenues, for its primary sources of cash 
since inception. 

7 



In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements 
of the Company and its subsidiaries contain all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring 
accruals) necessary to present fairly the Companys consolidated financial position as of June 30,1999, 
and the results of operations and cash flows for the periods indicated. Certain information and footnote 
disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles have been condensed or omitted. These unaudited consolidated financial 
statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included in the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 1998 fled with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission. The results of operations for the h e  and six months ended June 
30,1999 are not necessarily indicative of the operating results to be expected for the full year. 

3. REVENUE RECOGNITION 

The Company earns revenue fiom the sale of telecommunications capacity and for project 
management and consulting services. Revenue from the sale of telecommunications capacity is earned 
when the service is provided. Revenue for project management and consulting services is recognized 
based on the percentage of the services completed. The Company defers revenue when c o n t r a W  
payments are received in advance of the performance of services. 

Revenue fkom the sale of telecommunications capacity includes revenue earned under 
indefeasible right of use agreements. The Company recognizes revenue under such agreements on a 
straight-line basis over their term. 

4. LOSSPERSHARE 
Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted 

average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the applicable period. Diluted earnings 
(loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average common and 
potentially dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding during the applicable period. For each of the 
periods presented, basic and diluted loss per share are the same. The exercise of 3,264,961 employee 
Common Stock options, the exercise of warrants to purchase 1,116,500 shares of Common Stock, and 
the conversion of 5,470,595 shares of Series A, B and C convertible preferred stock into 15,864,7 15 
shares of Common Stock as of June 30,1999, which could potentially dilute basic earnings per share 
in the fbture, were not included in the computation of diluted loss per share for the periods presented 
because to do so would have been antidilutive in each case. 

5. MARKETABLESECURITIES 
Certain of the Company’s marketable securities are considered “available for sale,” and, as such, 

are stated at market value. The net unrealrzed ’ gains and losses on marketable securities are reported as 
part of accumulated other comprehensive income. Realized gains or losses from the sale of marketable 
securities are based on the specific identification method. 

a 



The following is a summary of the investments in marketable securities at June 30, 1999: 

Gross Unrealized 
cost Gains Losses Market Value 

Available for sale securities: 
U.S. Treasury securities and debt securities 

of U S .  Government agencies $ 36,176,664 $ 1,083 $ 51,492 $ 36,126,255 
Certificates of deposit and money market 

h d s  2,882,939 -- 19,64 1 2,863,298 
Corporate debt securities 3 1.809.082 183 51,357 3 1,757.908 

-1.266%122.490- 

Gross realized gains on sales of available for sale securities were approximately $72,000 during 
the three and six months ended June 30, 1999. 
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The amortized cost and estimated fair value of available for sale securities by contractual 
maturity at June 30,1999 is as follows: 

cost Market Value 

Due in one year or less $ 37,191,270 $ 37,139,322 
Due after one year through two years 33,677.415 33.608.139 

L2QdaJU- 
Expected maturities may differ fiom contractual maturities because the issuers of the securities 

may have the right to prepay obligations without prepayment penalties. 

In addition to marketable securities, the Company has investments in pledged marketable 
securities that are pledged as collateral for repayment of interest on the Company’s Senior Notes through 
April 2000 and are classified as non-current assets on the consolidated balance sheet. As of June 30, 
1999, pledged marketable securities consisted of US. Treasury securities classified as held to maturity 
with an amortized cost of approximately $41 .O million and interest receivable on the pledged marketable 
securities of approximately $0.8 million. All of the investments contractually mature by March 3 1, 
2000. 

6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
Property and equipment, stated at cost, is comprised of the following at June 30, 1999 and 

December 3 1 , 1998: 

Network in progress 
Communications network 
Office and computer equipment 
Furniture and fixtures 
Leasehold improvements 

Less: accumulated depreciation 
Property and equipment, net 

June 30, 
1999 

$ 43,927,570 
38,788,289 
2,647,243 
768,528 
18 1,444 

86,3 13,074 
(2,359,7701 

$ 83,953,304 

December 31, 
1998 

$ 38,669,088 
6,890,686 
2,267,647 
766,O 13 
166.733 

48,760,167 
(788.83 1) 

$ 47.971.336 

Network in progress includes (i) all direct material and labor costs incurred on the construction 
of the network together with related allocable interest costs, necessary to construct components of a high 
capacity digital network which is owned and maintained by the Company, and (ii) network related 
inventory of parts and equipment. The Network in progress balance on June 30, 1999 includes 
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approximately $3.1 million for costs incurred under the Company's agreement with WFI to construct 
a digital fiber optic network and $2.4 million for a right of use under an agreement with Northem Border 
Pipeline for microwave access. When a portion of the network has been completed and made available 
for use by the Company, the accumulated costs are transferred from network in process to 
communications network. 

7. RESTRICTED CASH 

Restricted cash comprises amounts held in escrow to secure the Company's obligations under 
certain of its Fixed Point Microwave Services Agreements. The funds in each escrow account are 
available only to fund the project to which the escrow is related until such project has been completed, 
at which time surplus fun& will be returned to the Company. Generally, funds are released fiom escrow 
to pay project costs when such costs incuned and agreed upon under the contract. During the three 
months ended June 30, 1999, approximately $3.1 million was released fiom escrow. 

8. COMMlTMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
As of June 30, 1999, the Company had capital com"ents  of up to approximately 

$87.5 million relating to purchases of telecommunication and transmission equipment and its agreement 
with WFI. (See note 9 to these Financial Statements). 

9. FIBER AGREEMENT 
On March 3 1,1999, the Company signed two agreements with WFI to construct and market a 

multi-conduit fiber-optic network between Chicago, Illinois and Denver, Colorado. The total shared 
projected cost for this project is in excess of $100 million. The 1,100-mile network between Chicago 
and Denver will pass through Des Moines, Iowa; Omaha, Nebraska; and Lincoln, Nebraska. WFI will 
lead-manage the project with construction to be completed in two segments. The first segment, Chicago 
to Omaha, is expected to be complete in late 1999 with the second segment, Omaha to Denver, 
scheduled to come on line in 2000. 

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

On August 6, 1999, the Company announced a co-development agreement with Tri-State 
Generation and Transmission Association, Inc. (Ti-State), to construct a 400-mile fiber network 
connecting Grand Junction, Colorado to Albuquerque, New Mexico. The total projected combined cost 
for this route is approximately $40 million. Tri-State and some of its member cooperatives will 
contribute up to 50% of the network build costs. 
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

Certain statements contained in this item constitute forward-looking statements. See. ‘ ‘Forward- 
Looking Statements” below. 

Overview 

During the first quarter of 1999, Patb.net expanded its business strategy to include construction 
and deployment of digital networks utilizing both wireless and fiber-optic technologies. The decision 
to incorporate fiber-optic technologies into existing plans for a nationwide network was made to satisfy 
demand fiom potential customers for high-bandwidth facilities. 

Due to Pathnet’s focus to date on developing its network, the majority of its revenues to date 
reflect certain consulting and project management services in connection with the design, development 
and construction of digital microwave idkt” . The remaining portion of its revenw has resulted 
from the sale of bandwidth services along its network. The Company has experienced significant 
operating and net losses and negative operating cash flow to date and expects to continue to experience 
operating and net losses and negative operating cash flow until such time as it is able to generate revenue 
sufficient to cover its operating expenses. 

Worldwide Fiber Agreement 

The Company continued to focus on developing its network in the second quarter of 1999. The 
Company entered into agreements with Worldwide Fiber USA (formerly known as Pacific Fiber Lidq 
LLC) (“WFP’) in March 1999 to construct and market a multi-conduit fiber-optic network between 
Chicago, Illinois and Denver, Colorado. The 1,100-mile network will pass through Des Moines, Iowa; 
Omaha, Nebraska, and Lincoln, Nebraska. 

Results of Operations 

During the three months ended June 30,1999, the Company continued to focus on (i) developing 
relationships with railroads, pipelines, utilities and state and local governments (collectively, 
“Incumbents”) and partners, (ii) the buildout of its network and (iii) the development of its hfbstructure 
including the hiring of key management personnel. 

Revenue 

For the three months ended June 30, 1999 and 1998, the Company generated revenues of 
approximately $865,000 and $475,000, respectively. For the three months ended June 30, 1999, the 
Company generated revenue h m  the sale of telecommunications services of approximately $574,000, 
together with revenw firom consulting and advisory services in connection with the design, development 
and construction of digital microwave infrastructure of approximately $291,000. For the three months 
ended June 30, 1998, the Companfs revenue consisted primarily of revenue fiom consulting and 
advisory services, For the six months ended June 30,1999 and 1998, the Company generated revenue 
of approximately $1,691,000 and $575,000, respectively. This increase is attributable to revenues fiom 
telecommunications services, which were $1,150,000 in 1999 with no corresponding revenue in 1998. 
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The Company expects that the majority of fbture revenue will be generated from the sale of 
telecommunications services. 

Operating Expenses 

For the three mosths ended June 30,1999 and 1998, the Company incurred operating expenses 
of approximately $7.2 million and $5.6 million, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 1999 
and 1998, the Company incurred operating expenses of approximately $13.2 million and $7.9 million, 
respectively. The increase in both periods is primarily a result of the continued activity in the buildout 
of the Company’s network and additional staff costs incurred as part the development of the Company’s 
hhstructure. The Company expects selling, g e n d  and administrative expenses to continue to increase 
in the remainder of 1999 as additional staff is added. Cost of revenue reflects direct costs associated 
with performance of construction, management services and costs incurred in connection with the 
provision of telecommunications services. 

Interest Ekpense 
Interest expense for the three months ended June 30, 1999 and 1998 was approximately 

$10.1 million and $9.9 million, respectively. Interest expense for the six months ended June 30, 1999 
and 1998 was approximately $20.3 million and $9.9 million, respectively. Interest expense prharily 
represents interest on the Company’s 12 %% Senior Notes due 2008 issued in April 1998 (the “Senior 
Notes”) together with the amortization expense related to bond issuance costs in respect of the Senior 
Notes. 

Interest Income 
Interest income for the three months ended June 30, 1999 and 1998 was approximately 

$3.4 million and $4.5 million, respectively. The decrease in interest income reflects a decrease in cash 
and cash equivalents and marketable securities as those funds were used in building the Company’s 
network and funding operations. Interest income for the six months ended June 30,1999 and 1998 was 
approximately $7.2 million and $4.0 million, respectively. The increase in interest income is a result 
of the funds from the Senior Notes generating income over a six month period versus a three month 
period in 1998. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
The Company expects to continue to generate cash primarily from external financing and, as its 

network matures, from operating activities. The Company’s primary uses of cash will be to fund capital 
expenditures, working capital and operating losses. Deployment of the Company’s digital network and 
expansion of the Company’s operations and services will require significant capital expenditures. Capital 
expenditures will be used primarily for continued development and construction of its network, 
implementation of the Company’s sales and marketing strategy and constructing and improvement of 
the Company’s Network Operations Center. During the first six months of 1999, cash used in operations 
was $19.5 million; cash provided by investing activities was $96.1 million, including the sale of 
marketable securities of $98.7 million, partially offset by $28.1 million of capital expenditures. 
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As of June 30,1999, the Company had capital commitments of approximately $87.5 million 
relating to  telecommunication^ and transmission equipment and its agreement with WFI. It is anticipated 
that these will be met with current resources of the Company and with the sale of dark and lit fiber 
capacity. 

As of June 30,1999, the Company had approximately $204.6 million of cash, cash equivalents 
and marketable securities classified as available for sale to fund future operations. The Company 
expects these resources will be sufficient to fund the implementation of the Company’s business plan 
through June 30,2000. 

Mer such time, the Company expects to be required to procure additional financing which may 
include commercial bank borrowings, additional vendor h c i n g  or the sale or issuance of equity or 
debt securities. There can be no assurance the Company will be successful in raising suflicient capital 
or in obtaining such financing on terms acceptable to the Company. 

Pursuant to a Commitment Letter between Lucent Technologies, Inc. (“Lucent”) and the 
Company that was executed in connection with the supply agreement between Lucent and the Company 
(the “ C o d t m e n t  Letter”), Lucent may provide iinancing of up to approximately $400 million for fiber 
purchases for the construction of the Company’s network and may provide or arrange financing for 
future phases of such network. Under the terms of the Commitment Letter, the total amount of financing 
provided by Lucent will not exceed $1.8 billion of $e $2.1 billion potential value of the supply 
agreement. Certain material terms of the Company’s agreements with Lucent, including the t e n  of the 
Commitment Letter, are currently under review by Lucent and the Company. There can be no assurance 
that the transactions, including the financing contemplated by Commitment Letter, will be consummated 
at all or consummated on the terms described above. In addition, the Company may require additional 
capital in the future to h d  operating deficits and net losses and for potential strategic alliances, joint 
ventures and acquisitions. 

Because the Company’s cost of designing and building its network and operating its business, 
as well as its revenues, will depend on a variety of factors (including, among other things, the ability of 
the Company to meet its roll-out schedules, its ability to negotiate favorable prices for purchases of 
network equipment, the number of customers and the services and products they purchase, regulatory 
changes and changes in technology), actual costs and revenues will vary fIom expected amounts, 
possibly to a material degree, and such variations are likely to affect the Company’s future capital 
requirements. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the Company’s actual capital requirements 
will not exceed the anticipated amounts described above. 

Year 2000 

The Year 2000 issue exists because many computer systems and software applications use two 
digits rather than four digits to designate an applicable year. As a result, the systems and applications 
may not properly r e c o w  the Year 2000, or process data that includes that date, potentially causing 
data miscalculations or inaccuracies or operational malfunctions or failures. 

In the fourth qua$er of 1998, the Company began a corporate-wide program to ready its 
technology systems and non-technology systems and software applications for the Year 2000. The 
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Company’s objective is to target Year 2000 compliance for a l l  of its systems, including network and 
customer interfking systems, and has grouped these systems into one of six compliance areas: Network 
Architecture, Internal Infhstmctyre, Software Applications, Financial Relationships, Supply-Chain 
Relationships and Customer Relationships. Because the Company has operated for only a few years, 
few legacy systems or applications exist. However, the Company has identified all systems and 
applications that may need to be modified or reprogrammed in order to achieve Year 2000 compliance 
and is working towards implementing any necessary changes and expects to complete this process by 
the end of the third quarter of 1999. 

Inventory, assessment and remediation of mission critical software applications is substantially 
complete. Inventory and assessment of mission critical hardware systems, including network computing 
and network systems engineering, is also substantially complete. Testing and deployment of upgrades 
necessary to complete remediation of mission critical systems is expected to be completed by September 
30, 1999. The Company is currently formulating contingency plans in the event that certain of its 
suppliers or service providers may not be Year 2000 compliant. These plans will continue to be 
developed and tested throughout 1999. 

As part of its Year 2000 plan, the Company has requested confirmation h m  its communications 
equipment vendors and other key suppliers, financial institutions and customers that their systems will 
be Year 2000 compliant. Responses received to-date indicate a high level of Year 2000 compliance at 
these companies, however, there c8fl be no assurance that the systems of companies with which the 
Company does business will be Year 2000 compliant. The Company expects to continue to receive 
additional responses in the next quarter, Ifthe vendors important to the Company fail to provide needed 
products and services, the Company’s network buildout and operations could be affected and thereby 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, liquidity and financial condition. 
Moreover, to the extent that significant customers are not Year 2000 compliant and that affects their 
network needs, the Company’s sales could be lower than otherwise anticipated. 

The Company’s expenditures to implement its Year 2000 plan have not been material to date and 
it does not believe its future expenditures on this matter will be material. Because its existing system 
are relatively new, it does not expect that it will have to replace any of its systems. To the extent it 
would have to replace a significant portion of its technology systems, its expenditures could have 
material adverse effect on the Company. The Company has hired outside consultants to assist it with 
its Year 2000 compliance, but the Company has relied primarily on its existing employees to develop 
and implement its Year 2000 compliance strategy. As a result, its expenditures to ensure Year 2000 
compliance have not been material to date. The Company expects to continue to use existing employees 
for the significant part of its Year 2000 compliance efforts. 

Forward-Looking Statements 

Certain statements in this Report, in fbture filings by the Company with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, in the Company’s press releases and in oral statements made by or with the 
approval of an authorized executive officer of the Company constitute forward-looking statements, 
including statements which can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as 
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"believes," "anticipates," "expects," ''may," "will," or "should" or the negative of such terminology or 
other variations on such terminology or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategies that 
involve risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical fact in this Report, 
including, without limitation, such statements under the caption "Management's Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," regarding the Company or any of the transactions 
described in this Report or the timing, h c i n g ,  strategies and effects of such transaction, are forward- 
looking statements. Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such forward- 
looking statements are reasonable, it can give no assurance that such expectations will prove to be 
correct. Important factors that could cause actual results to m e r  materially f?om expectations include, 
without limitation, those described in conjunction with the forward-looking statements in this Report, 
as well as the amount of capital needed to deploy the Company's network; the Company's substantial 
leverage and its need to service its indebtedness; the restrictions imposed by the Company's current and 
possible future finaucing arrangements; the ability of the Company to successfully " a g e  the cost- 
effective and timely completion of its network and ita ability to attract and retain customers for its 
products and services; the ability of the Company to implement its newly expanded business plan; the 
ability of the Company to retain and attract relationships with the incumbent owners of the 
telecommunications assets with which the Company expects to build its network; the ability of the 
Company to obtain and maintain rights-of-way for the deployment of its network; the Company's ability 
to retain and attract key management and other personnel as well as the Company's ability to manage 
the rapid expansion of its business and operations; the Company's ability to compete in the highly 
competitive telecommunications industry in terms of price, service, reliability and technology; the 
Company's dependence on the reliability of its network equipment, its reliance on key suppliers of 
network equipment and the risk that its technology will become obsolete or otherwise not economically 
viable; and the Company's ability to conduct its business in aregulated environment. The Company does 
not intend to update these forward-looking statements. These and other risks and uncertainties affecting 
the Company are discussed in greater detail in the Company's 1998 Annual Report on Form 1 O-K. 

Rhk Factors 

Limited History of Operations; merating Losses and Negative Cash Flow 

The Company was formed in August 1995 to begin development of ita digital network. As of 
June 30, 1999, the Company had approximately 3,900 route miles of completed network and 
approximately 3,800 route miles of network under construction. In addition, as of June 30,1999, the 
Company was only providing commercial telecommunications service to six customers with several 
additional cusfomcrs awaiting installation. There can be no assurance that the Company will enter into 
any additional contracts with Incumbents or other owners of telecommunications assets to obtain rights- 
of-way or rights to sites, towers and other assets for the construction of additional network or with 
customers for the purchase and sale of bandwidth services, dark or dim fiber or other related services. 
As a result of development and operating expenses, the Company has incurred significant operating and 
net losses to date, The Company's operations have resulted in cumulative net losses of $66.9 million 
and cumulative net losses before interest income (expense) and income tax benefit of $33.7 million fiom 
inception in 1995 through June 30,1999. 
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The Company expects to incur Significant operating losses, to generate negative cash flows h m  
operating activities and to invest substantial h d s  to construct its digital network during the next several 
years. There can be no assurance that the Company will achieve or sustain profitability or generate 
s&icient positive cash flow to meet its debt service obligations, capital expenditure requirements or 
working capital requirements. 

Substantial Leverage; Ability to Service Debt; Restrictive Covenants 

The Company is highly leveraged. As of June 30, 1999, the Company had approximately $377 
million of indebtedness outstanding. The Company will likely incur substantikl additional indebtedness 
(including secured indebtedness) for the development of its network and other capital and operating 
requirements. The level of the Company’s indebtedness could adversely affect the Company in a 
number of ways. For example, (i) the ability of the Company to obtain necessary financing in the h t u e  
for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements or other purposes may be limited; 
(ii) the Company’s level of indebtedness could limit its flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes 
in its business; (iii) the Company will be more highly leveraged than some of its competitors, which may 
place it at a competitive disadvantage; (iv) the Company’s degree of indebtedness may make it more 
vulnerable to a downturn in its business or the economy generally; (v) the terms of the existing and 
hture indebtedness restrict, or may restrict, the payment of dividends by the Company; and (vi) a 
substantial portion of the Company’s cash flow from operations must be dedicated to the payment of 
principal and interest on its indebtedness and will not be available for other purposes. 

The indenture (the “Indenture”) relating to the Senior Notes and certain of the Company’s 
agreements with Incumbents contain, or will contain, restrictions on the Company and its subsidiaries 
that wil l  affect, and in certain cases significantly limit or prohibit, among other things, the ability of the 
Company and its subsidiaries to create liens, make investments, pay dividends and make certain other 
restricted payments, issue stock of subsidiaries, consolidate, merge, sell assets and incur additional 
indebtedness. There can be no assurance that such covenants and restrictions will not adversely affect 
the Company’s ability to finance its hture operations or capital needs or to engage in other business 
activities that may be in the interest of the Company. 

In addition, any future indebtedness incurred by the Company or its subsidiaries is likely to 
impose similar restrictions. Failure by the Company or its subsidiaries to comply with these restrictions 
could lead to a default under the terms of the Senior Notes or the Company’s other indebtedness 
notwithstanding the ability of the Company to meet its debt service obligations. In the event of such a 
default, the holders of such indebtedness could elect to declare all such indebtedness due abd payable, 
together with accrued and unpaid interest. In such event, a significant portion of the Company’s 
indebtedness may become immediately due and payable, and there can be no assurance that the Company 
would be able to make such payments or borrow d c i e n t  funds from alternative sources to make any 
such payments. Even if additional financing could be obtained, there can be no assurance that it would 
be on terms that would be acceptable to the Company. 

The successful implementation of the Company’s strategy, including expanding its digital 
network and obtaining and retaining a sufficient number of customers, and significant and sustained 
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growth in the Company’s cash flow will be necessary for the Company to meet its debt service 
requirements. The Company does not currently, and there can be no assurance that the Company will 
be able to, generate sufficient cash flows to meet its debt service obligations. Ifthe Company is unable 
to generate sufficient cash flows or otherwise obtain funds necessary to make required payments, or if 
the Company otherwise fails to comply with the various covenants under the terms of its existing or 
future indebtedness, it could trigger a default under the terms thereof, which would permit the holders 
of such indebtedness to accelerate the maturity of such indebtedness and could cause defaults under other 
indebtedness of the Company. The ability of the Company to meet its obligations will be dependent 
upon the fiture performance of the Company, which will be subject to prevailing economic conditions 
and to financial, business, regulatory and other factors. 

Signif cant Capital Requirements; Uncertainty of AaZitional Financing 

Deployment of the Company’s network and expansion of the Company’s operations and services 
will require significant capital expenditures, primarily for continued development and construction of 
its network and implementation of the Company’s sales and marketing strategy. The Company will need 
to seek additional financing to fund capital expenditures and working capital to expand its network 
fkrther. The Company may also require additional capital for activities complementary to its currently 
planned businesses. 

The actual amount of the Company’s future capital requirements will depend upon many factors, 
including the costs of network deployment in each of its markets, the speed of the development of the 
Company’s network, the extent of competition and pricing of telecommunications services in its 
markets, other strategic opportunities pursued by the Company and the acceptance of the Company’s 
services. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the actual amount of the Company’s financing 
needs will not exceed, perhaps significantly, the current estimates. 

There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in raising additional capital or 
on terms that it will consider acceptable, that the terms of such indebtedness or other capital tvill not 
impair the Company’s ability to develop its business or that all available capital will be sufficient to 
service its indebtedness. Sources of additional capital may include equipment financing facilities and 
public and private equity and debt financing. Failure to raise suf€icient funds may require the Company 
to m o w ,  delay or abandon some of its planned &tme expansion or expenditures, which could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Risks of Completing the Company’s Network Mmket Acceptance 

The Company’s ability to achieve its strategic objectives will depend in large part upon the 
successfbl, timely and cost-effective completion of its network, as well as on selling a substantial amount 
of its products, including bandwidth services. The successful completion of the Company,’s network 
may be affected by a variety of factors, uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond the 
Company’s control. The Company has gained experience in budgeting and scheduling as it has 
completed segments of its network, and although the Company believes that its cost estimates and 
buildout schedules relating to the currently planned portions of its network are reasonable, only 
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approximately 3,900 route miles under contract have been completed as of June 30,1999. There can 
be no assurance that the Company’s network will be completed as planned at the cost and witbin the time 
frame currently estimated, if at all. In addition, although the Company recently began providing 
commercial telecommunications service to six customers with several additional customers awaiting 
installation, there can be no assurances that the Company wil l  attract additional purchasers of its 
products, including bandwidth services. 

The successll and timely construction of the Company’s network will depend upon, among 
other things, the Company’s ability to (i) obtain substantial amounts of additional capital and financing 
at reasonable cost and on satisfactory terms and conditions, (ii) manage effectively and efficiently the 
construction of its network, (iii) enter into agreements with Incumbents and other owners of 
telecommunications assets that will enable the Company to leverage the assets of Incumbents and of 
other owners of telecommunications assets, (iv) access markets and enter into customer contracts to sell 
bandwidth services and other products on its network, (v) integrate successfully such networks and 
associated rights acquired in connection with the development of the Company’s netwoijc, including 
cost-effective interconnections, (vi) obtain necessary Federal Communication Commission (“FCC”) 
licenses, state Public Service Commission (each a “PSC”) certifications and other approvals and (vii) 
obtain adequate rights-of-way and other property rights necessary to install and operate the fiber portions 
of the Company’s network SuccessM construction of the Company’s network also will depend upon 
the timely performance by third party contractors of their obligations. There can be no assurance that 
the Company will achieve any or all of these objkctives. Any failure by the Company to accomplish 
these objectives may have a material adverse affect on the Company’s business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

The development of the Company’s network and the expansion of the Company’s business may 
involve acquisitions of other telecommunications businesses and assets or implementation of other 
technologies either in lieu of or as a supplement to the technologies contemplated by the Company’s 
current business plan. In addition, the Company may enter into relationships with inter-exchange 
carriers, incumbent local exchange carriers (“LECs”), competitive local exchange carriers (“CLECs”), 
internet service providers, Regional Bell Operating Companies (“RBOCs”), cellular operators and 
resellers (“Telecom Service Providers”) or other entities to manage existing assets or to deploy 
altemative telecommunications technologies. Furthermore, the Company may seek to serve markets 
which are not under-served or second- or third-tier and which may present differing market risks 
(including as to pricing and competition). If pursued, these opportunities could require additional 
financing, impose additional risks (such as increased or different competition, additional regulatory 
burdens and network economics Merent from those described elsewhere herein) and could divert the 
resources and management time of the Company. There can be no assurance that any such opportunity, 
ifpursued, could be successfidly integrated into the Company’s operations or that any such opportunity 
would perform as expected. Furthermore, as the Company builds out its network, there can be no 
assurance that the Company will enter into agreements with the best-suited Incumbents or such other 
owners of telecommunications assets, as the case may be, Moreover, there can be no assurance that the 
resulting network will match or be responsive to the demand for telecommunications capacity or will 
maximize the possible revenue to be earned by the Company. There can be no assurance the Company 
will be able to develop and expand its business and enter new markets currently planned. Failure of 
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the Company to implement its expansion and growth strategy successfully could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

R i s k  Related to Expansion in Strategy. 

On February 3,1999, the Company announced it had expanded its business strategy to include 
construction and deployment of digital networks using both wireless and fiber optic technologies. The 
Company has limited experience in designing and budgeting, deploying, operating and maintaining a 
fiber network. In addition, the Company could encounter customers with preferences in employing one 
technology over another. There can be no assurance the Company will effectively design and budget, 
deploy, operate or maintain such facilities or that it will be able to address such potential customer 
preferences. Further, there can be no assurance that the fiber network deployed by the Company will 
provide the expected fhctionality. 

To the extent that the Company enters into co-development or other partnering arraxigements 
where the Company’s partner has primary responsibility for key network development matters such as 
perfmthg rights-of-way or project management, there can be no assurance that such partners will 
perform such tasks adequately or that any failures in such performance will not adversely effect the 
Company’s financial condition, business or results of operations. 

Dependence on Relationship with Incumbents; Rights of Incumbents to Certain Assets 

There can be no assurance that existing long-term relationships with the Company’s Incumbents 
will be maintained or that additional long-term relationships will result on terms acceptable to the 
Company, or at all. If the Company is not successful in negotiating such agreements, its ability to deploy 
its network would be adversely affected. 

The Company does not typically expect to own the underlying sites and facilities upon which the 
wireless portion of its network is deployed. Instead, the Company has entered into and expects to enter 
into long-term relationships with Incumbents whereby each such Incumbent agrees to grant to the 
Company a leasehold interest in or a similar right to use such Incumbent’s facilities and infrastructure 
as is required for the Company to deploy its network. In some cases, system assets may be held by 
subsidiaries in which both the Company and the Incumbent own an interest. As a result, the Company 
will depend on the facilities and inhstmcture of its Incumbents for the operation of its business. Long- 
term relationships with Incumbents may expire or terminate if the Company does not satis@ certain 
performance targets with respect to sales of telecommunications capacity or fails to commission an 
initial communications system within specified time periods. In such cases, certain equipment relating 
to the initial communications system will be transferred to the Incumbent. Any such expiration of a 
relationship with an Incumbent, and the resulting loss of use of the corresponding system and 
opportunity to utilize such segment of its network, could result in the Company not being able to recoup 
its initial capital expenditure with respect to such segment and could have a material adverse effect on 
the business and financial condition of the Company. In addition, such a loss under certain 
circumstances could result in an event of default under the Company’s debt fhancings. There can be 
no assurance that the Company will continue to have access to such Incumbent’s sites and facilities after 
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the expiration of such agreements or in the event that an Incumbent elects to terminate its agreement 
with the Company. If such an agreement were terminated or expire and the Company were forced to 
remove or abandon a significant portion of its network, such termination or expiration, as the case may 
be, could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company. 

The Company expects to rely significantly on its Incumbents for the maintenance and 
provisioning of circuits on the wireless portion of its network. The Company has entered into 
maintenance agreements with six Incumbents and expects to enter into agreements with additional 
Incumbents pursuant to which, among other things, the Company will pay the Incumbent a monthly 
maintenance fee and a provisioning services fee in exchange for such Incumbent providing maintenance 
and provisioning services for that portion of the Company’s network that primarily resides along such 
Incumbent’s system. Failure by the Company to enter successfulIy into similar agreements with other 
Incumbents or the cancellation or non-renewal of any of such existing agreements could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s business. To the extent the Company is unable to establish similar 
arrangements in new markets with additional Incumbents or establish replacement arrangements on 
systems where a maintenance agreement with a particular Incumbent is canceled or not renewed, the 
Company may be required to maintain its network and provision circuits on its network through 
establishment of its own maintenance and provisioning workforce or by outsourcing maintenance and 
provisioning to a third party. The Company’s operating costs under these conditions may increase. 

Need to Obtain and Maintain Rights-of- Way. 

The Company expects to obtain easements, rights-of-way, fianchises and licenses from various 
private parties, ILECs , utilities, railroads, long distance companies, state highway authorities, local 
governments and transit authorities in order to construct and maintain its fiber optic network If the 
Company were to acquire rights-of-way directly fiom a governmental authority, it would be directly 
affected by state and local law. To the extent that the Company obtains rights-of-way fiom others, it 
would be indirectly affected by state and local law. There is a possibility that disputes may arise with 
the licensing authority or a competitor, the result of which may favor a competitor of the Company. 
Such disputes could impose legal and administrative costs on the Company, including out-of-pocket 
expenses and lost market opportunity because of delays. Further, the Company may be subject to 
franchise fees imposed by state and local governments. In addition, the Company may require pole 
attachment agreements with utilities and ILECs to operate existing and future networks, and there can 
be no assurance that such agreements will be obtained on reasonable terms and in a timely manner. 

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain and maintain the additional 
rights and permits needed to build its fiber optic network and otherwise implement its business plan on 
acceptable terms. The failure to enter into and maintain required arrangements for the Company’s 
network could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results 
of operations. There can be no assurance that, once obtained, the Company will continue to have access 
to existing rights-of-way and fkanchisea af€a the expiration of such agreements. If a fianchise, license 
or lease agreement were terminated and the Company were forced to remove or abandon a sigdicant 
portion of its network, such termination could have a material adverse effect on the Company. 
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Mrmagement of Growth and Rhh Associated with Possible Acquisitions, Strategic Alliances and 
Joint Ventures. 

The Company’s expanded business plan may, if successfully implemented, result in rapid 
expansion of its operations. Rapid expansion of the Company’s operations may place a significant strain 
on the Company’s management, financial and other resources. The Company’s ability to manage fixture 
growth, should it occur, will depend upon its ability to monitor operations, control costs, maintain 
regulatory compliance, maintain effective quality controls and expand signilicantly the Company’s 
internal management, technical, information and accounting systems and to attract and retain additional 
qualified personnel. Furthemore, as the Company’s business develops and expands, the Company will 
need additional facilities for its growing workforce. There can be no assurance that the Company will 
successfully implement and maintain such operational and financial systems or successfully obtain, 
integrate and utilize the employees and management, operational and financial resources necessary to 
manage a developing and expanding business in an evolving and increasingly competitive industry 
which is subject to regulatory change. Any failure to expand these areas and to implement and improve 
such systems, procedures and controls in an efficient manner at a pace consistent with the growth of the 
Company’s business could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results 
of operations of the Company. 

The Company believes that a part of its future growth may come fibm the formation of strategic 
alliances with other telec0”Unications companies designed to assist and accelerate the building of the 
Company’s digital network to provide senices to customers of the Company which are complementary 
to those provided by the Company. The Company intends to pursue joint ventures with, or acquisitions 
of, companies that have an existing network infhtmcture or customer base in order to increase the 
Company’s penetration of its markets or accelerate entry into new markets. Limitations under the 
Indenture may significantly limit the Company’s ability to make acquisitions and to incur indebtedness 
in connection with acquisitions. Such transactions commonly involve certain risks, including, among 
others: the dif?lculty of assimilating the acquired operations and personnel; the potential disruption of 
the Company’s ongoing business and diversion of resources and management time; the possible inability 
of management to maintain uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies; the risks of entering 
markets in which the Company has little or no direct prior experience; and the potential impairment of 
relationships with employees or customers as a result of changes in management There can be no 
assurance that any acquisition or joint venture will be made, that the Company will be able to obtain 
additional financing needed to finance such acquisitions and joint ventures and, if any acquisitions are 
so made, that the acquired business will be successfully integrated into the Company’s operations or that 
the acquired business will perform as expected. The Company has no definitive agreement with respect 
to any acquisition, although it has had discussions with other companies and will continue to assess 
opportunities on an ongoing basis. 

Dependence on Key Personnel; Need for Additional Personnel 

The success of the Company will depend to a significant extent upon the abilities and continued 
efforts of its senior management, particularly members of its senior management team, including Richard 
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A. J a h t ,  President and Chief Executive Officer, Kevin J. Bemh, Executive Vice President serving as 
President of the Company’s Communications Services Division, William R. Smedberg V, Executive 
Vice President, Corporate Development, Robert A. Rouse, Executive Vice President, serving as 
President of the Company’s Network Services Division, James Craig, Executive Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer and Michael L. Brooks, Vice President of Network Development, Other than 
its Employment Agreements with Richard A. Jalkut and Robert A. Rouse, the Company does not have 
any employment agreements with, nor does the Company maintain “key man” insurance on, these 
employees. The loss of the Services of any such individuals could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. The success of the Company will 
also depend, in part, upon the Company’s ability to identifl, hire and retain additional key management 
personnel, including the senior management, who are also being sought by other businesses. 
Competition for qualified personnel in the telecommunications industry is intense. The inability to 
identify, hire and retain such personnel could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
Gnancial condition and results of operations. 

Competition; Pricing Pressures 

The telecommunications industry is highly competitive. In particular, price competition in the 
carrier’s carrier market has generally been intense and is expected to increase. The Company competes 
and expects to compete with numerous competitors who have substantially greater financial and 
technical resources, long-standing relationships with their customers and potential to subsidize 
competitive services from less competitive service revenua and fiom federal universal service subsidies, 
Recent and anticipated industry consolidation will strengthen the position of some competitors. In 

addition, some potential competitors, such as RBOCs or foreign carriers may no longer face regulatory 
or legal obstacles that have kept them out of the market. These competitors may be operators of existing 
or newly deployed wireline or wireless telecommunications networks. The Company will also face 
intense competition due to an increased supply of telecommunications capacity, the effects of 
deregulation and the development of new technologies, including technologies that will increase the 
capacity of existing networks. In addition, Federal legislation or regulations could be approved that 
would expand competition and increase pricing pressures, which could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s business, h c i a l  condition and results of operations. 

Reliance on Equipment Suppliers for the Wlreless Portion of the Company’s Network 

The Company cumntly purchases most of its telecommunications equipment pursuant to an 
agreement with NEC Corporation (“NEC”) from whom the Company has agreed to purchase $200 
million of’equipment by December 3 1,2002 and has entered into an equipment purchase agreement with 
Andrew Corporation (“Andrew”). Any reduction or interruption in supply from either supplier or any 
increase in prices for such equipment could have a disruptive effect on the Company. Currently NEC 
and Northern Telecom Ltd. are the only manufacturers of SONET radios that are compatible with the 
Company’s proposed system design and reliability standards relating to the wireless portion of its 
network, although Harris Corporation and Alcatel Alsthom Compagnie Generale d’Electricite SA are 
in the process of developing and testing similar and compatible products. Further, the Company does 
not manufacture, nor does it have the capability to manufacture, any of the telecommunications 
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equipment used on its network As a result, the failure of the Company to procure sufficient equipment 
at reasonable prices and in a timely manner could adversely s e c t  the Company's successful deployment 
of its network and results of operations. 

Reliance on Lucent; Lucent Agreements. 

The Company and Lucent have entered into a supply agreement under which Lucent will provide 
and wil l  deploy personnel to assist in, among other things, the design and marketing of the Company's 
network. Any failure or inability by Lucent to perform these functions could cause delays or additional 
costs in providing services to customers and building out the Company's network in specific markets. 
Any such failure could materially and adversely a f f ec t  the Company's financial condition, business and 
results of operations. 

The Company and Lucent have entered into the Commitment Letter which is contingent upon 
various conditions, including the execution of a definitive financing agreement, compliance with 
financial covenants, completion of due diligence and the absence of any material adverse change in the 
Company. There can be no assurance that a definitive agreement will be executed with respect to the 
financing contemplated by the Commitment Letter or that the financing contemplated by the 
Commitment Letter will be consummated. Any failure to consummate the financing contemplated by 
the Commitment Letter could materiaUy and adversely effect the Company's financial condition, 
business and results of operations. 

Technical Limitations of the Wireless Network 

The Company will not be able to offer route diversity until such time as it has completed a 
substantial portion of its mature network. In addition, the wireless portion of the Company's network 
requires a direct line of sight between two antennae (each such interval comprising a "path") which is 
subject to distance limitations, freespace fade, multipath fade and rain attenuation. In order to meet 
industry standards for reliability, the maximum length of a single path similar to those being designed 
by the Company is generally limited to 40 miles and, as a result, intermediate sites in the form of back- 
to-back temzinafs or repeaters are required to pennit digital wireless 'on beyond this limit based 
on the climate and topographic conditions of each path. In the absence of a direct line of sight, additional 
sites may be required to circumvent obstacles, such as tall buildings in urban areas or mountains in rural 
areas. Topographic conditions of a path and climate can cause reflections of signals from the ground, 
which can affect the transmission quality of digital wireless services. In addition, in areas of heavy 
rainfall, the intensity of rainfall and the size of the raindrops can affect the transmission quality of digital 
wireless services. Paths in these areas are engineered for shorter distances to maintain transmission 
quality and use space diversity, frequency diversity, adaptive power control and forward error correction 
to "ize t r a n s d o n  enors. The use of additional sites and shorter paths to overcome obstructions, 
multipath fade or rain attenuation will increase the Company's capital costs. While these increased costs 
may not be significant in all cases, such costs may render digital wireless services uneconomical in 
certain circumstances. 

* 

Due to line of sight limitations, the Company currently installs its antennae on towers, the 
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rooftops of buildings or other tall structures. Line of sight and distance limitations generally do not 
present problems because Incumbents have already selected, developed and constructed unobstructed 
transmission sites. In certain instances, however, the additional frequencies required for the excess 
capacity to be installed by the Company may not be available from Incumbents’ existing sites. In these 
instances, the Company generally expects to use other developed sites already owned or leased by such 
Incumbent. In some instances, however, the Company has encountered, and may in the fkture encounter, 
line of sight, frequency blockage and distance limitations that cannot be solved economically. While the 
effect on the financial condition and results of operations of the Company resulting from such cases has 
been minimal to date, there can be no assurance that such limitations will not be encountered more 
frequently as the Company expands its network. Such limitations may have a material adverse effect on 
the Company’s future development costs and results of operations. In addition, the current lack of 
compression applications for wireless technology limits the Company’s ability to increase capacity on 
the wireless portion of its network without significant capital expenditures for additional equipment. 

Risks Relating to Interconnection and Collocation 

In order to obtain the necessary access to insdl its radios, antennae and other equipment and to 
collocate such equipment required for interconnection of the Company’s network to the public switched 
telephone network or to POPS of the Company’s customers, the Company must acquire the necessary 
rights and enter into the arrangements to secure such interconnections and collocations and deploy and 
operate such interconnection equipment. There can be no assurance that the Company will succeed in 
obtaining the rights necessary to secure such interconnections and collocations and to deploy its 
interconnection equipment in its market areas on acceptable terms, if at all, or that delays in or terms for 
obtaining such rights will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s development or results 
of operations. These interconnection arrangements are govemed by federal and state law, and the 
Company has no assurance that the regulations requiring EECS to provide interconnections and 
collocations will remain in place or will be favorable to the Company. 

Dependence on Information and Processing @stems 

Sophisticated information and processing systems are vital to the Company’s growth and its 
ability to monitor network performance, provision customer orders for telecommunications capacity, bill 
customers accurately, provide high-quality customer service and achieve operating efficiencies.. As the 
Company grows, any inability to operate its billing and information and processing systems, or to 
upgrade internal systems and procedures as necessary, could have a material adverse impact on the 
Company’s abiliv to reach its objectives, or on its business, financial condition and r d t s  of operations, 

Risk of Rapid Technological Changes 

The telecommunications industry is subject to rapid and significant changes in technology. 
Although the Company has expanded its business plan to include fiber optic technologies, which may 
divers* the Company’s exposure to the risk of such technological changes, their effect on the business 
of the Company cannot be predicted. There can be no assurance that (i) the Company’s network will 
not be economically or technically outmoded by technology or services now existing or developed and 
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implemented in the future, (i) the Company wil l  have sufficient resources to develop or acquire new 
technologies or to introduce new services capable of competing with future technologies or service 
offerings or (iii) the cost of the equipment used on its network will decline as rapidly as that of 
competitive alternatives. The occurrence of any of the foregoing events may have a material adverse 
effect on the the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Uncertain Federal and State Tax and Other Surcharges on the Company’s Services 

Telecommunications providers pay a variety of surcharges and fees on their gross revenues from 
interstate services and intrastate services. Interstate surcharges include Federal Universal Service Fees, 
Common Carrier Regulatory Fees and TRS Fund fees. In addition, state regulators impose similar 
surcharges and fees on intrastate services. The division of the Company’s services between interstate 
services and intrastate services is a matter of interpretation and may in the future be contested by the 
FCC or relevant PSCs. A change in the characterization of the jurisdiction of the Company’s services 
could cause its payment obligations pursuant to the relevant surcharges to increase. In addition, pursuant 
to the periodic revisions by state and federal regulators of the applicable surcharges, the Company may 
be subject to increases in the surcharges and fees currently paid. 

Regulation 

General regulations, regulatory actions and court decisions have had, and in the future may have, 
both positive and negative effects on the Company and its ability to compete. Although, the recent trend 
in both federal and state regulation of telecommunications service providers has been in the direction 
of lessened regulation, there can be no assurance that hture regulatory, judicial and legislative changes 
will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of 
operations. 

The Company is currently subject to federal and state government regulation of its 
telecommunications services. The FCC and relevant PSCs have the authority to regulate interstate and 
intrastate rates, respectively, ownership of transmission facilities, and the terms and conditions under 
which the Companfs services are provided. In general, neither the FCC nor the relevant state PSCs 
exercise direct oversight over cost justification for the Companfs services or the company’s profit 
levels, but either or both may do so in the firture. However, at the Federal level, the Company is required 
to file interstate tariffs listing the currently effective rates, terms and conditions for those services. 
Although the FCC eliminated the tariffing requirements for interstate non-dominant carriers, such 
carriers must continue to file interstate tarif% while the FCC’s decision is reviewed upon appeal. In order 
to provide intrastate long distance and local exchanges senices the Company generally is also required 
to obtain certification fkom the relevant state PSC prior to the initiation of intrastate service and, in 
certain cases, required to file tarifi with the such states listing the currently effective rates, terms and 
conditions for those services. Any failure to maintain proper state and Federal tariffing or certification 
or any difficulties or delays in obtaining required authorization could have a material adverse effect on 
the Company’s business, *cial condition and results of operations. 

The FCC and certain state agencies also impose prior approval requirements on transfers of 
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control, including pro forma transfers of control and corporate reorganizations, and assignments of 
regulatory authorizations. Such requirements may delay, prevent or deter a change in control of the 
Company. In addition, in those instances where the Company provides sen ice  on an intrastate basis, the 
Company may be required to obtain authorizations from or notify such states with respect to certain 
transfers or issuances of capital stock, bonds or other indebtedness of the Company, 

The FCC and state PSCs generally retain the right to sanction a carrier, impose forfeitures, 
mandate refunds or impose other penalties in the event of non-compliance by a carrier. There can be no 
assurance that firture regulatory, judicial or legislative activities will not have a material adverse effect 
on the business, financial condition or results of operations of the Company or that regulators or third 
parties will not raise material issues with regard to the Company's compliance or non-compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations. 

Risks Relating to Regulation of Fiber Network Pursuant to the interconnection provisions of 
the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (the "1 996 Telecom Act"), the FCC identified a minimum list of 
unbundled network elements (''UNEs") that ILECs must make available to other telecommunications 
carriers, The FCC declined to include incumbent ILECs' dark fiber in this list, finding that it did not 
have adequate infomation to determine whether dark fiber qualifies as a network element. The FCC 
indicated that is would continue to review or revise its rules regarding UNEs as necessary. State 
commissions, however, have the authority to impose additional unbundling requirements so long as the 
requirements are consistent with the 1996 Telecom Act and the FCC's requirements, which could include 
requiring incumbent ILECs to unbundle their dark fiber. 

In the recent Supreme Court decision regarding the FCC's interconnection and unbundling rules, 
the Supreme Court vacated the FCC's rule establishing the list of UNEs. The Supreme Court found that 
the FCC had not interpreted the terms of the 1996 Telecom Act regarding an incumbent ILEC's duty to 
provide network elements in a reasonable fashion. The Supreme Court found that the FCC had given 
telecommunications carriers complete access to UNEs without appropriate analysis and justification. 
The statute limits telecommunications carriers' access to network elements to those that are "necessary" 

or to those where failure to have access would "impair the ability of the telecommunications carrier" to 
provide services it seeks to offer. The FCC is now reviewing its requirements regarding UNES in light 
of the ''necessary and impair" standard in the 1996 Telecom Act. The FCC has indicated that it will 
attempt to complete this proceeding by the end of this year, but the Company can give no assurance as 
to what the FCC will decide or when. 

A decision by the FCC or states to require unbundling of incumbent ILECs' dark fiber could 
increase the supply of dark fiber and decrease demand for the Company's dark fiber, and thereby have 
an adverse effect on the Company' business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Rish Relating to Regulation ofAccess Services and Interconnection The 1996 Telecom Act 
introduced widespread changes in the regulation of the telecommunications industry, including the 
digital access senices segment in which the Company operates. Among other things, the 1996 Telecom 
Act removed barriers to entry in the local exchange telephone mark& by preempting state and local laws 
that restrict competition and by providing competitors interconnection,.access to UNEs and retail 
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services at wholesale rates. The FCC's primary rules interpreting the 1996 Act concerning pricing, UNE 
combination, non discrimination and other regulations were upheld by the Supreme Court, but the FCC's 
definition of UNES is subject to further review, as set forth above. The Company is in the process of 
entering into competitive interconnection agreements using the federal guidelines established in the 
FCC's interconnection order. 

In August 1998, the FCC proposed new rules that would allow ILECs to provide their own DSL 
services free fiom ILEC regulation through a separate affiliate. If adopted, these new rules would make 
it easier for RBOCs to offer digital services to consumers, though the Company cannot predict when the 
FCC will act or what d e s  it will adopt. The FCC has also recently adopted additional rules requiring 
ILECs to provide collocation and loops to CLECs such as the Company on more favorable terms to the 
CLECs than previously prescribed by the FCC. These new rules are subject to revision on appeal or 
reconsideration, and the Company has no assurance that the rules will be upheld or that they will be 
implemented in a timely manner. 

R i s h  Relating to Regulation of Wireless Network The Company's arrangements with 
Incumbents contemplate that the wireless portion of the Company's digital network will provide largely 
"common carrier fixed point-to-point microwave" telecommunications services under Part 101 ("Part 
10lfI) of the rules of the FCC, which services are subject to regulation by federal, state and local 
governmental agencies. Changes in existing federai, state or local laws and regulations, including those 
relating to the provision of Part 101 telecommunications services, any failure or significant delay in 
obtaining (or complying with the terms of) necessary licenses, permits or renewals, or any expansion of 
the Company's business that subjects the Company to additional regulatory requirements could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, and results of operations. 

FCC License Requirements. Prior to applying to the FCC for authorization to use portions of 
the 6 GHz band for microwave services, the Company must COordiDate its use of the hquency with any 
existing licensees, permittees, and applicants in the same area whose facilities could be subject to 
interference as a result of the Company's proposed use of the spectrum. There can be no assurance in 
any particular case that the Company will not encounter other entities and proposed uses of the desired 
spectrum that would interfere with the Company's planned use, and that the Company will be able to 
coordinate successfully such usage yith such entities. In addition, as part of the requirements of 
obtaining a Part 101 license, the FCC requires the Company to demonstrate the site owner's compliance 
with the reporting, notification and technical requirements of the Federal Aviation Administration 
("F&I") with respect to the construction, installation, location, lighting and painting of transmitter 
towers and antennae, such as those to be used by the Company in the operation of its network. 
Furthermore, in order to obtain the Part 101 licenses necessary for the operation of its network, the 
Company, and in some cases Incumbents, must file applications with the FCC for such licenses and 
demonstrate compliance with routine technical and legal qualification to be an FCC licensee. The 
Company must also obtain FCC authorization before transfenring control of any of its licenses or making 
certain modifications to a licensed facility. There can be no assurance that the Company or any 
Incumbent who desires to be the licensee with respect to its portion of the Company's network will 
obtain all of the licenses or approvals necessary for the operation of the Company's business, the transfer 
of any license, or the modification of anyfacility, or that the FCC will not impose burdensome 
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conditions or limitations on any such license or approval, 

Foreign Ownership. As the licensee of facilities designated for common carriage, the Company 
is subject to Section 3 10(b)(4) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended (the "Communications 
Act"), which by its terms restricts the holding company of an FCC common carrier licensee (the 
Company is such a holding company, because it expects to hold all FCC licenses indirectly, through 
subsidiaries) to a maximum of 25% foreign ownership andor voting control. The FCC has determined 
that it will authorize a higher level of foreign ownership (up to 100%) on a streamlined basis where the 
indirect foreign investment in the common carrier licensee is by citizens of, or companies organized 
under the laws of World Trade Organidon ('VTOII) member countries. Where the foreign ownership 
is by citizens or corporations of non-WTO nations, FCC authorization to exceed the 25% limitation must 
be obtained on a non-streamlined basis and the licensee must meet a more demanding public interest 
showing. The Company is presently within the 25% foreign ownership ljmitation. In connection with 
any future financings, the Company will have to monitor foreign investment to ensure that its foreign 
ownership does not exceed the 25% limitation. If it appeared that foreign ownership of the Company 
was coming close to exceeding this benchmark, the Company would have to obtain FCC authorization 
prior to exceeding the 25% limitation. In addition, if any Incumbent elects to be the licensee on the 
portion of the Company's network relating to its system, such Incumbent would also be subject to such 
foreign ownership restrictions. If such analysis showed that such Incumbent had more than 25% foreign 
ownership, the Incumbent would have to seek authorization from the FCC to exceed the 25% limitation 
or it would have to reduce its foreign ownership. 

In the event that an Incumbent were to choose to hold the relevant Part 101 license itself, and not 
through a holding company, that Incumbent would be subject to Section 310(b)(3) of the 
Communications Act, which limits direct foreign ownership of FCC licenses to 20%. The FCC does not 
have discretion to waive this limitation. If an Incumbent exceeded the 20% limitation it would be 
required to reduce its foreign ownership in order to obtain or retain its Part 101 license. 

Investment Company Act Considerations, The Company has substantial cash, cash equivalents 
and short-term investments. The Company has invested and intends to invest the proceeds of its 
financing activities so as to preserve capital by investing primarily in short-term instruments consistent 
with prudent cash management and not primarilr for the purpose of achieving investment retums. 
Investment in securities primarily for the purpose of achieving investment returns could result in the 
Company being treated as an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the 
" 1940 Act"). The 1940 Act requires the registration of, and imposes various substantive restrictions on, 
investment companies that are, or hold themselves out as being, engaged primarily, or propose to engage 
primarily in, the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities, or that fail certain statistical 
tests regarding the composition of assets and sources of income and are not primarily engaged in 
businesses other than investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading securities. 

The Company believes that it is primarily engaged in a business other than investing, reinvesting, 
owning, holding or trading securities and, therefore, is not an investment company within the meaning 
of the 1940 Act. If the Company were required to register as an investment company under the 1940 
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Act, it would become subject to substantial regulation with respect to its capital structure, management, 
operations, transactions with affiliated persons (as defined in the 1940 Act) and other matters, 
Application of the provisions of the 1940 Act to the Company would have a material adverse effect on 
the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk I 

The Company is exposed to the impact of interest rate changes and changes in the market value 
of its investments. As of June 30, 1999, the Company’s investments include certificates of deposit, 
money market h d s ,  US. Government obligations (primarily f3ed income securities) and high-quality 
debt securities, The Company employs established policies and procedures to manage its exposure to 
changes in the market risk of its marketable securities, which are classified as available for sale as of 
June 30, 1999. The Company’s Senior Notes have fixed interest rates and the fair value of these 
instruments is affected by changes in market interest rates. The Company has not used derivative 
financial instruments in its investment portfolio. 

Investments in fixed rate interest eaming instruments cany a degree of interest rate risk. The fair 
market value of these securities may be adversely impact due to a rise in interest rates. Investments in 
certificates of deposit and money market funds may adversely impact future earnings due to a decrease 
in interest rates. Due in part to these fhctors, the Company’s future investment income may all short of 
expectations due to changes in interest rates or the Company may suffer losses in principal if forced to 
sell securities that have declined in market value due to changes in interest rates. As of June 30, 1999, 
a 10% increase or decline in interest rates would not have a material impact on the Company’s future 
earnings, fair values, or cash flows related to investments in certificates of deposit or interest earning 
marketable securities. In addition, as of June 30,1999, a 10% decrease in market values would not have 
a material impact on the Company’s future earnings, fair values, financial position or cash flows related 
to investments in marketable securities. 
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Part II. Other Information 

Item 1. Legal Proceedings 

None 

Item 2, Changes in Securities and Use of,Proceeds 

None 

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities 

None 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 

On April 13, 1999, the Company solicited written consents from the holders of the 
Company's common stock, par value $.01 per share (the "Common Stock"), Series A 
Convertible Preferred Stock, Series B Convertible Preferred Stock and Series C Convertible 
Preferred Stock (collectively the "Stockholders") to approve the co-development transaction with 
WFI. Effective April 13, 1999, the Company received written consents approving such 
proposals fiom Stockholders representing 12,54 1,329 votes with Stockholders representing 
6,230,246 votes abstaining. 

On May 13,1999, the Company solicited written consents fiom the holders of its Series 
A Convertible Preferred Stock, Series B Convertible Preferred Stock and Series C Convertible 
Preferred Stock (collectively, the "Preferred Stockholders") to (i) approve the removal and 
appointment of certain executive officers of the Company, (ii) approve a transaction with Nortel 
Telecom, Inc., (iii) approve a transaction with Public Service of New Mexico, (iv) approve an 
amendment to the Company's 401K Plan, (v) approve and appoint authorized signatories to the 
Company's bank accounts, (vi) approve certain grants of stock option awards, (vii) approve 
certain new hires by the Company and (viii) approve the payment of certain outside counsel fees. 
Effective May 13,1999, the Company received written consents approving such proposals fiom 
Prefened Stockholders representing 14,622,147 votes with Preferred Stockholders representing 
1,242,568 votes abstaining. 

Item 5. Other Information 
None 

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K 

(a) Exhibits 
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Exhibit Index 

(b) Reports on Form 8-K 

None 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

PATHNET, INC., 
a Delaware corporation 

(Registrant) 

Date: August 9, 1999 

Date: August 9, 1999 

3 3  

By: /s/ Richard A. Jallcut 
Richard A. Jallcut . 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

By: /s/ James M. Craia 
James M. Craig 
Executive Vice-president, Chief . 

Financial Officer (Principal Accounting 
& Financial Officer) 



EXBIBITINDEX 
Pursuant to Item 60 1 of Regulation S-K 

Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit 

10.1 

27.1 

99.1 

Letter Agreement between Pathnet, Inc. and Robert A. Rouse dated 
April 7, 1999, relating to Mr. Rouse’s employment with the 
Company. 
Financial Data Schedule for the six months ended June 30,1999. 

Press release dated August 6, 1999 announcing the Company’s results 
for the second quarter of 1999. 
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Exhibit 10.1 

April 7,1999 

VIA FACSIMILE & FEDERAL EXPRESS 
Mr. Robert Rouse 
1307 Alhambra Drive 
Apollo Beach, Florida 33572 

Dear Bob: 

It is with great pleasure that I offer you the position of Executive Vice President and President, 
You will report directly to me and be based in our Washington, DC Network Services of Pathnet. 

headquarters office beginning on a date mutually agreeable to both of us. 

Your salary will be at the annual rate of $275,000 to be paid in equal installments twice each month. 
As part of the executive team, you will be eligible to participate in the executive bonus plan, which is under 

development and will be completed this year. It is expected that the bonus will be in the 2040% range. You 
will also be granted an option to purchase 350,000 s h e s  of common stock at $.01 par value at an exercise 
price of $5.20 per share. The option vests over a period of four years in equal installments. The vesting 
schedule commences with your date of hire. 

In the event of the announcement of a change in control if you are terminated without cause all of 
your unvested options will accelerate and become exercisable as of the termination date. 

In the event of a change in control all of your unvested options will accelerate and become 
exercisable as of the change in control datehlosing date. 

h the event that you are terminated without cause resulting in your being asked to leave Pathnet with 
a satisfactory or better current appraisal, your options for that option year will be deemed proportionately 
earned and accelerated through the last month you are on the payroll. In addition, you will be entitled to 
one year's severance pay equal to your annual salary at that time payable in accordance with Pathnet's 
regular payroll procedures. 

In the event that you are terminated with cause (cause is defined as set forth in Amendment No. 1 
of the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan which you have received under separate cover), then no additional 
compensation or vesting shall occur after the termination date. 

You will be eligible for three (3) weeks of vacation annually and Company-paid parking. In 
addition, Pathnet will pay for all reasonable closing costs on your Florida home and the relocation of your 
personal belongings to Virginia Additionally, Pathnet will reimburse you for up to 60 days of reasonable 
expenses in connection with your commutation and living arrangements while you are relocating to Virginia. 
All expenses mtist be approved before they are incurred. 
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Robert Rouse 
April 7,1999 
Page Two 

Pathnet offers a health and dental insurance package through Phoenix Group Services, It is a PPO 
(Preferred Provider Organization) plan. Employees can elect individual coverage for $50 per pay period. 
The Company will provide employee lifdaccidental death and dismemberment, long term and short term 
disability insurance at no cost to you Supplemental life insurance coverage is also available for purchase. 
You will be eligible to participate in our 401(k) Plan and Flexible Spending Account Plan as well. Enclosed 

you will find a summary of Pathnet’s benefit plan, a summary plan description and PPO directories for our 
health and dental plan. If you are interested in dependent insurance premium rates or have questions about 
the benefit plan, please contact Tara Merkel at (202) 295-3126. Please note that the benefit plan is subject 
to change. 

Our Board of Directors requires that you sign a Non-Disclosure, Assignment of Inventions and 
Non-Competition Agreement as a condition of your employment with Pathnet. A copy of the agreement 
is enclosed, with an extra copy for your records. Please bring one signed copy with you on your first day 
of employment. On or about your hrst day of employment you will also be required to provide proof of 
employment eligibility in the United States. Please call Tara Merkel if you have any questions about 
eligibility documents. 

This letter is an employment agreement between both parties. Other benefits to which all Pathnet 
employees are entitled are outlined elsewhere and are in addition to the provisions of this agreement. 

Please call me if you have any questions. 

We look forward to having you join us in building our Company. 

Is/ Richard A. Jalkut 
Richard A. Jalkut 
President and CEO 

Acknowledged and Agreed: 

/s/ RobertRouse 
Robert Rouse 

Enclosures 

Cc: Tara Merkel, Director of Human Resources 
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Exhibit 27.1 

.4-.J%BLD 
<PAGE, 
<ARTICLE> 5 
<LEGEND> 
The schedule contains summary financial infomation extracted &om the Company’s balance sheet as of June 3 1,1999 and the 
Statements of Operations for the six months ended June30, 1999 and is qualified in its entirety by reference to such financial 
statements. 
</LEGEND> 
<CM> 0001061148 
<NAME> Pathnet, lac. 
<MULTIPLIER> 1,000 

<s> <(3 
<PERIOD-TYPE> dM0S 
<FISCAL-YEAR-END> DEC-3 1-1999 
<PERIODSTART> JAN1999 
<PERIODEND> JUNE-30- 1999 

<CASW 
<SECURITIES> 
<RECEIVABLES 
<ALLOWANCES 
< I ” T O R T >  
<CURRENT-ASSETS 
<PPCD 
<DEPRECIATION> 
eOTAL-ASSETS> 
<CuRRENT-LIABILITIES 
<BONDS> 
<PREFERRED-MANDATOR- 
<PREFERRED> 
<COMMON? 
<oTHER-sE, 
eOTAL-LIAEILI’IY-AND-EQvrry> 
< S A L E S  
<TOTAL-REVENUES 
<Cff S 
.=rmAL-cosTs 
<OTHER-EXPENSED 
<LOSS-PROVISIOW 
<INTEREST-EXPENSD 
<INcoME-PRETm 
<INCOMETAX> 
<lNcoME-coNTI”c)> 
<DISCONTINUED> 
~EXTRAORDINARP 
<CHANGED 
<NET-INcoMD 
<EPS-PRIMART> 
<EPS-DILUTED> 

133,873 
70,747 

0 
0 
0 

173,576 
86,3 13 
2,360 

350,973 

346,417 
35,970 

0 
29 

(61,614) 
350,973 

1,691 
1,691 
5,320 

13,194 
0 
0 

20,33 1 
(24,482) 

0 

0 
0 
0 

(24.482) 
(8.43) 
(8.43) 

29,988 

(24,482) 



Exhibit 99.1 

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
Contact Becky Haight 

Investor Relations 
Pathnet 

investor@pathnet.net 
877 227-5600 

Kye Presley-Dowd 
Media Relations 
Pathnet 

kpresleydowd@path.net net 
202 295-3286 

PATHNET REPORTS SECOND QUARTER RESULTS 

WASHINGTON, DC, AUGUST 6 , 1 9 9 s  Pathnet, Inc., a privately-held carrier’s , 

carrier of digital telecommunications capacity to under-served and second- and third-tier 
markets, today announced revenues of $865,000 for the quarter ended June 30,1999, an 
82% increase over 1998 second quarter revenues of $475,000. The majority of the 
company’s revenues for the quarter were derived h m  telecommunication services, with 
the remainder coming fiom construction management services for strategic partners. 
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) for the quarter 
were a loss of $5.3 million, essentially flat with a loss of $5.0 &on in the year-ago 
quarter. 

“We’re very pleased with our recent progress in executing our business plan of bringing 
needed bandwidth to under-served markets,” said president and chief executive officer 
Richard A. Jah t .  “In terms of developing supply, our recently announced h d  
Junction to Albuquerque route provides an excellent example of our strategy of 
capitalizing on opportunities in smaller markets that have been overlooked. We’re also 
moving forward rapidly on our fiber build fiom Denver to Chicago and, on the demand 
side of the equation, we’re clearly encouraged by a recently signed memorandum of 
understanding for $5 million in dark fiber on that route,” he added. 

The increase in gross plant and equipment for the second quarter of $1 5.9 million, 
bringing total plant and equipment acquired to $86.3 million. Depreciation and 
amortization expenses for the quarter were $1 .O million, compared to $0.1 million for the 
second quarter 1998. 

“We’ve made excellent progress in recent months,” said Robert A. Rouse, Pathnet 
president of network services. “We now have network available in 18 states with 1,900 
additional route miles completed in this quarter alone. We’re on schedule with all of our 



network construction and with over 30 interconnection projects into under-served areas.” 

Second Quarter Hi@ghtS and Recent DeveloDments 

0 Announced 400-mile fiber route fiom Grand Junction to Albuquerque 

0 Construction initiated on 1 , 100 mile Denver to Chicago fiber route 

0 $5 million memorandum of understanding signed for delivery of dark fiber to a major 

inter-exchange carrier 

0 Increased total route miles of network completed to 3,900 

0 On target for over 30 city interconnections by end of year 1999 

0 Robert A. Rouse, president of network services, and James M. Craig, chief financial 

officer, joined senior management team 

Pathnet is a carriers’ canier providing high capacity, fiber and wireless bandwidth to 
under-served and second- and third-tier U.S. markets. It provides service to inter- 
exchange carriers, local exchange carriers, Intemet service providers, Regional Bell 
Operating Companies, cellular operators and resellers. As of June 30,1999, P a b e t  had 
3,900 route miles of completed network, 3,800 route miles of network under construction 
and 7,700 route miles of network under commitment. The company’s headquarters are 
located in Washington, D.C., at 1015 31st Street, NW, Washington, D.C., 20007. For 
additional information about Pathnet, visit the company Web site at www.uathnet.net. 

The stateme- mas% by Pathnet in thir pres release may be forward looking in nature. No assurance can be given 
that fkture results will be achieved. actual r d &  may dffer materiallypom tharr projected in fonvard looking 
statements. Pathnet belbes  that i&prlmcvy h k  factors incluak, but an not limited to: signing d i t iona l  agreements 
with private network operators and others; offering services to telecom service providars; entering into partnering 
arrangements; and building a digital network AaMtfonal i$ormation concerning these and other potential important 
foctors can be fd within Pathnet ‘spublicfilrnss with the US. Securities and Exchange Commtssion Statements in 
thb release should be evaluated in light of these important factors. 



PATHNET, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (unaudited) 

(In thousands except per share data) 

Revenue 
Expenses: 

Cost of revenue 
Selling, general and administrative 
Depreciation 

Net operating loss 
Interest expense 
Interest income 
Initial public offering costs 
Other income, net 

Net loss 
Basic and diluted loss per 

Weighted average number of 

Total expenses 

Common share 

Common shares outstanding 

Other Data: 
EBITDA (1) 

For the period 
August 25,1995 

For the three months ended (date of inception) 
June 30, to June 30, 

1999 - 1998 - 1999 
$ 865 $ 475 $ 3.438 
- 

2,669 3,020 12,868 
3,508 2,473 21,928 
1.033 112 2.360 
7.210 5.605 37.156 

(6,345) (5,130) (33,718) 
(10,06 1) (9,868) (53,3 18) 

3,378 4,488 21,308 

(1,355) 
72 157 

D P ( 6 6 . 9 2 6 1  

(1) EBITDA comprises earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 



PATHNET, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

I (In thousands, except route miles) 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Interest receivable 
Marketable securities available for sale, at market 

June 30, 

(Unaudited) 
- 1999 

$ 133,873 
1,527 

37,139 
Other current assets 1.031 

173,576 
Property and equipment, net 83,953 
Deferred financing costs, net 9,98 1 
Restricted cash 7,890 
Marketable securities available for sale, at market 33,608 
Pledged marketable securities held to maturity 41,775 
Other Assets 19Q 

Total cum& assets 

Total assets - 
LIABILITIES, MANDATORILY REDEEMABLE 

PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY (DEFIClT) 
Accounts payable S 19,714 
Accrued interest 8,932 
Other current liabilities 1.342 

Total current liabilities 29,988 
Bonds payable, net of unamortized bond discount of $3,685 346,417 
Other n o n m e n t  liabilities 184 
Total mandatorily redeemable preferred stock 35,970 
Total stockholders' equity (deficit) (61 S86) 

Total liabilities, mandatorily redeemable preferred stock and 
stockholders' equity (deficit) LLuQm 

December 31, 
- 1998 

$ 57,322 
3,849 

97,896 
3.412 

162,479 
47,97 1 
10,508 
10,73 1 
71,900 
6 1 , 825 

$ 10,708 
8,932 

640 
20,280 

346,212 

35,970 
(37.0481 

Selected statistical data: 
Route miles under construction 3,800 
Route d e s  complete 3,900 



Pathnet, Inc. 
(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
as of December 31 , 1997 and 1996, and for 

the years ended December 31,1997 and 1996, and for the period 
August 25,1995 (date of inception) to December 31, 1997 

I AND 

REPORT THEREON 
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Report of Independent Accountants 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Pathneg h c .  

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Pathnet, Inc. (A 
Development Stage Enterprise) as of December 3 1, 1997 and 1996, and the related statements of 
operations, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for the years ended December 3 1,1997 
and 1996, and for the period August 25, 1995 (date of inception) to December 3 1, 1997. These 
financial statements are the responsibihy of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are h e  of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examinin& on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
signikant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall h c i a l  statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the h a n d  position of Pathnet, Inc. as of December 3 1, 1997 and 1996, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 3 1 , 1997 and 1996, 
and the period August 25, 1995 (date of inception) to December 31, 1997, in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles. 

McLean, Vuginia 
February 20,1998 



Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Balance Sheets 

ASSETS 

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 

Total current assets 

Property and equipment, net 
Deferred financing costs 
Restricted cash 

December 31 December 31, 
1997 1996 

$ 7,831,384 $ 2,318,037 
48,571 1,695 

7,879,955 2,319,732 

7,207,094 46,180 
250,428 
760,211 

Total assets $ 16.097.688 3 2. 365.912 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Current liabilities: 
Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 
Deferred revenue 

Total current liabilities 
Commitments and contingencies 
Stockholders' equity: 
Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value 1,000,000 
shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31 , 1997 
and 1996, respectively (liquidation preference $1,000,000) 

Series B convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,651,046 
shares authorized; 1,651,046 and 1,041,290 shares issued and 
outstanding at December 31, 1997 and 1996, respectively 
(liquidation preference $5,033,367) 

Series C convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 2,819,549 
shares authorized; 939,850 shares issued and outstanding at 
December 31, 1997 (liquidation preference $1 0,000,054) 

Voting common stock, $0.01 par value, 7,500,000 shares 
authorized; 1,000,000 shares issued and outstanding at 
December 31, 1997 and 1996, respectively 

Common stock subscription receivable 
Additional paid-in capital 
Deficit accumulated during the development stage 

- 

Total stockholders' equity 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 

$ 5,592,918 $ 114,799 
30,217 

300,000 

5,892,918 145,016 

1,000,000 1,000,000 

5,008,367 3,008,367 

9,961,274 - 

10,000 10,000 
(9 , 000) (9,000) 

381,990 381,990 
(6.1 47,861) (2,170,461) 

10,204,770 2,220,896 

$ 16.097.688 $ 2.365.912 

The accompanying notes are an ihtegral part of these financial statements. 
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Revenue 

Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Statements of Operations 

Expenses: 
General and administrative 
Research and development 
Legal and consulting 
Total expenses 

Net operating loss 

Interest expense 
Loss on disposal of asset 
Interest and other income 

Net loss 

For the period 
August 25, 1995 

For the year For the year (date of 
ended ended inception) to 

December31, Dembx31, December31, 
1997 1996 1997 

$ 162,500 $ 1,000 $ 163,500 

3,537,926 91 3,646 4,741,890 - 226,021 245,059 
755,817 202,651 1,078,551 

4,293,743 1,342,318 6,065,500 
(4,131,243) (I ,341,318) (5,902,000) 

(41 5,357) (415,357) 

159,343 13,040 174,996 
(5,500) - (5,500) 

$ (3,977,400) $ (1,743,635) $ (6,147,861) 

m e  accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity 

for the period August 25,1996 (date of inception) to December 31,1995 and 

for the years ended December 31,1996 and 1997 

Balance, August 25.1995 
Issuance ol V o w  common dock 
Issuance of Non-voting common stock 
Sale 01 Swles A comrarlMe preferred slock 
Ne1 loss 
Balance, December 31.1005 
Sale of Series A c m a i a l e  prafmed slock 

Issuance of Voting common slock 
Sab of Series B converliMs prefmed dock. net 01 issuance costs 
Converslon of bridge ban plus accrued lnteresl lo Series B 

Sale of Serbs B convertible preferred stock represenllng 

C~ncellauon 01 Non-voling c0mm0n Slwk 

converbis pefened s k k  

lhe Mlmnllled but unclraw p H o n  of brldge ban to Series B 
eonverUMe preletred slock 

Net loss 
Balance, December 31,1008 
Sale d Sdss B c m d e  prefetred stock 
sale d Serles C convwlb(B peltaired stock, ne1 of Issuance coals 
Ne1 loss 
Balance. December 31.1097 

Deklt 
COmmOn ACcunulated 

Serbs A Series B serles c Stock A d d l t h l  Dulngths 
Prehed Sbck Ptelenad Stock Prelened Stock Common Slack SubsulpUon pakl-In Devekpmenl 

~ ~ ~ - - - _ _ _ - ~  Shares knounl Shares Amounl Shares Amounl Shares Amount Recehmble capital Slaw Totel 

- s  - - s  - - s  - 

500,000 m.000 - 
---___-- 

5M1.000 500.000 - 
500.000 500.000 - 

- 809,758 1.975.000 - 
- 308.242 733,387 - 

- 125.202 300,000 - 
---I___-- 

1,OOO.WO 1.000.WO 1.041.290 3.008.387 - 
- 609,756 2,000,000 - 

- 030,850 0,061,274 
------ 
1.OOO.OOO f l.OW.03 1.851.048 f5.008.367d 039.850 ) 0.081.274 

- s - s  - s - s  - s - 
500.000 5.000 (4.500) - 600 

(4.soO) - MI0 500,000 6,000 
M10.000 - (428.828) (428I826) 
74.174 

-- 
1.00o.OOO 1o.OOo (9,000) - (428.828) 

S00,ooo 
(soo.000) (5.000) (5.000) 
600.000 6,000 5.000 

1,976,000 

- 271.107 1,004,474 

- 110.883 410.883 
- (1,743,635) (1,743,835) -- 

1.OOO.OOO 10.000 (9,000) 381.@90 (2,170,461) 2.220.698 . -  
2,000,000 
9,961,214 

- (3,677,400) (3,977,400) -- 
1.000.000 $ 1O.OOO $ ~0,OOO) U6.147.86r) $10.204.770 

The accompanying notes are an integral pad of rhese flnanclal stalements. 
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Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Statements of Cash Flows 

Fa the penod 

1995 (date of 
mception) to 
December31, 

1997 

~usust 25, 
For the year 

ended 
December 31, 

1996 

Fa the year 
ended 

-31, 
1997 

cash flows tun operating activiik: 
Net loss 
Adjusbent to reconcile net loss to net cash used in ope~ating activhs: 

h = = h e w = e  
Loss on dsposal of asset 
lntena expense recognbed on the &counted conversion of Mdge loan to Series B 

prefured stpck and the discounted conversion of the commitled but unchaw w o n  
Ofbfldplovl 

Acaued intomst saljsiied by conv- ofbndge loan to Series B pnfemd stock 
Cash llow fmn operatmg achitks resulting from changes in assets and Wies: 

Prepaxi e x p m s  and other c m t  assek 
Deferred revenue 
Accounkpsyable -- 

Net cash used in opcrsting activks 

S (1,743,635) $ (6,147,861) 

46,642 
5,500 

9,024 56,018 
5,500 

31,990 
33,367 

381,990 
33.367 

(46,876) 
300,000 
386,106 

(1,695) 

110,094 

(48,571) . 
300,000 
500,905 

(30,217) 
(3,316,245) 

17,572 
(1,193,283) (4,918,652) 

cash flaws f” investing activbs: 
Expenbhrcrsfa~andequlpment 
Exp” for neW construction in progess 
Restricted cash 

Net cash used in investjng activities 

(381,261) (46.653) (436,817) 
(1,739,782) (1,739,7821 

(760,211) (760,211) 
(2,881 254) (46,653) (2,936,810) 

Cash flows fran financing activities: 
Issuance of voting and nonvoting m o n  stock 
Proceeds fmn sale of Series Apreferred stock 

Proceeds han sale of Series B prefmed stock representing the conversion of can” 
Proceeds fmn sale of Series B preferred StDdC 

Proceeds fmn sale of Series C prefened stock 1O,OOO,C54 
Issuance costs (38,w 
Financing cask (250,428) 
Roceedsfmkidgeban 

11,710,846 

2,000,000 

but un&awn porbon of aidge loan to Series B preferred stock 

Net cash pmvided by financing activities 

500,000 
2,000,000 

300,000 300,000 
10,000,054 

(63,780) 
(250,428) 

(25,000) 

700,000 
3,475,000 

700,000 
15,686,846 

Net inaease in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at the begnnbg ofperiod 
Cash and cash equhlenk at the end dpenod 

5,513,347 2935,064 7,831,384 
2,318,037 82,973 

$ 7.831.384 $ 2.318.037 $ 7.831.384 

Supplemental disclosrpe: 
Noncash transactions: 

Convenion dWge ban plus a m e d  interest to Series B prefenwl stock 733.367 733.367 
Conversion of mvoting m o n  stock to voting common sbxk 
Issuance of vo* and nowvoting c m  StDCk t c m  
Acquisibon of network equment s- s51osr,or3 

k b 5 - 5 6 6  

The accompanying notes are an integml part of these financial statements. 
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Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 
Notes to Financial Statements 

1. Business and Financing 

Pathnet, Inc. (the Company) was incorporated in the State of Delaware on August 25, 
1995. On August 28, 1995. Path Tel, Inc. (Path Tel) was merged with and into the 
Company, with the Company being the surviving corporation. The sole owner of Path Tel 
was the founder (Founder) of the Company. The business of the Company is to aggregate 
and build a high capacity, digital microwave network through strategic alliances with 
enterprises operating private microwave networks (incumbents) not currently connected 
to the public switched telephone network. 

The Company acts as a turnkey provider for incumbents by providing transition services 
which include the procurement of equipment, system design, and network construction 
management. In return for these services, the Company will receive the exclusive 
contractual right to market excess capacity created and aggregated on the network. The 
revenue generated from this activity may be shared with the incumbents. 

The Company has in place contracts requiring them to provide transitioning services which 
are in process. In addition, the Company is currently in the process of negotiating with 
several national long distance carriers who will likely be purchasers of the excess capacity 
created. Management believes the fist network upgrade will be completed by March 3 1, 
1998 and it is likely the Company will receive a contract to purchase the excess capacity 
created on this network. However, the outcome is uncertain and depends on a variety of 
factors, some of which are beyond the Company’s control. The Company is dependent 
upon the network upgrades to achieve its objective. Management’s plans to fbnd 
operations and the transitioning services will potentially include public and private sources 
and strategic corporate alliances. 

The Company has incurred an accumulated deficit of $6,147,861 for the period August 
25, 1995 (date of inception) to December 31, 1997. Management believes that as of 
December 31, 1997, the Company has adequate hding due to the preferred stock 
offerings consummated during 1997 (Note 3) to h d  operations through the first quarter 
of 1999. The Company will need to achieve positive operational cash flow or complete 
additional equity or debt hancings to find operations beyond the first quarter of 1999. 

Continued 
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Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Accountinq 

The Company's activities to date principally have been securing contractual alliances with 
incumbents, designing and constructing network segments, marketing the 
telecommunications capacity, obtaining capital and planning its proposed service. 
Accordingly, the Company's financial statements are presented as a development stage 
enterprise, as prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 7, 
"Accounting and Reporting by Development Stage Enterprises." As a development stage 
enterprise, the Company has been relying on the issuance of preferred stock rather than 
recurring revenues, for its primary sources of cash since inception. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that S e c t  
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. The estimates 
involve judgments with respect to, among other things, various hture factors which are 
difficult to predict and are beyond the control of the Company. Therefore, actual amounts 
could M e r  *om these estimates. 

Cash Eauivalents 

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with an original maturity of three 
months or less to be cash equivalents. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit 
risk consist of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. The Company has invested 
its excess cash in a money market fbnd with a commercial bank. The money market find 
is collateralized by the underlying assets of the hnd. The Company's restricted cash is 
maintained in an escrow account (see Note 4) at a major bank. The Company has not 
experienced any losses on its cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. 

Continued 
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Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

ProDertv and EauiDment 

Property and equipment, consisting of office and computer equipment, W t u r e  and 
fixtures, leasehold improvements and network construction costs, is stated at cost, 
Depreciation of the office and computer equipment and furniture and fixtures is computed 
using the straight-line method, generally over three to five years, based upon estimated 
useful lives, commencing when the assets are available for service. Leasehold 
improvements are amortized over the lesser of the useful lives of the assets or the lease 
term. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Network 
construction costs incurred during development are capitalized. Depreciation of the 
network construction costs begins when the network equipment is ready for its intended 
use and will be amortized over its estimated useful life. When assets are retired or 
disposed, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation are removed fiom the 
accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in operations for the period. 

impairment of Lona-Lived Assets 

The Company periodically evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets. This 
evaluation consists of a comparison of the carrying value of the assets with the asset's 
expected future undiscounted cash flows without interest costs. Estimates of expected 
future cash flows are to represent management's best estimate based on reasonable and 
supportable assumptions and projections. If the expected hture cash flow, undiscounted 
and without interest charges, exceeds the carrying value of the asset, no impairment is 
recognized. If the carrying value of the asset exceeds the expected fbture cash flows, 
undiscounted and without interest charges, an impairment exists. No impairment was 
recognized during the years ended December 3 1, 1997 and 1996. 

Deferred Income Taxes 

The Company accounts for income taxes by the liability method. Under this method 
deferred income taxes are recognized for tax consequences in future years of differences 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their fhancial reporting amounts at each 
year-end, based on enacted laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which 
the differences are expected to aff'ect taxable income. Valuation allowances are 
established, when necessary, to reduce net deferred tax assets to the amount expected to 
be realized. The provision for income taxes consists of the Company's current provision 
for federal and state income taxes and the change in the Company's net deferred tax assets 
and liabilities during the period. 

Continued 
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Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Stock-Based Compensation 

In October 1996, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued the Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, (SFAS 123), Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 3 1, 1995. 
SFAS 123 allows companies to either account for stock-based compensation under the 
new provisions of SFAS 123 or under the provisions of Accounting Principles Board 
Opinion No. 25, (APB 25), Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, but requires pro 
forma disclosure in the footnotes to the financial statements as if the measurement 
provisions of SFAS 123 had been adopted. The Company has continued to account for its 
stock based compensation in accordance with the provisions of APB 25. 

Revenue 

The Company eams revenue for project management and consulting services. 
Company defers and recognizes revenue ratably over the related project period. 

The 

Deferred Financina Costs 

The Company has incurred costs related to obtaining debt financing arrangements. When 
the financing is obtained, the costs will be amortized over the term of the financing 
mangement. Ifthe financing is not obtained, the costs will be expensed. 

Reclassification 

Certain amounts in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to 
the presentation used in 1997. 

Continued 
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Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

3. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment, stated at 'cost, is comprised of the following at December 3 1, 
1997 and 1996: 

December31, December31, 
1997 1996 

Network construction in progress $6,831,795 $ - 
office and computer equipment 248,880 31,006 
Furniture and fixtures 120,093 24,550 
Leasehold improvements 62,344 - 

7,2633 12 55,556 
Less accumulated depreciation (56,018) (9,376) 

46.180 Property and equipment, net $7,207,094 S 

Network construction costs include all direct material and labor costs necessary to 
construct components of a high capacity digital microwave network which is owned and 
maintained by the Company. Network construction in progress includes approximately 
$5,100,000 of telecommunications equipment obtained ftom NEC Industries, Inc. (NEC). 
As the Company has not yet paid for this equipment, a corresponding amount is included 
in accounts payable at December 3 1, 1997. 

4. Restricted Cash 

On June 3, 1997, the Company signed the Agreement to Create and Manage a High 
Capacity Telecommunications System (the Agreement) with Texaco Pipeline, Inc. 
(Texaco). To assure performance of the installation services to be provided by the 
Company under the Agreement, Texaco and the Company entered into an Escrow 
Agreement which required the Company to make an initial cash deposit of $750,000 with 
a financial institution plus accrued interest. Upon providing documentation to Texaco 
showing expenses related to the installation, the Company obtains approval fiom Texaco 
to draw down a corresponding amount from the escrow balance to fbnd the network 
constnrction in progress. Thjs balance is wholly restricted and may not be used for any 
other purpose. 

Continued 
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Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

5. Capital Stock Transactions 

Common Stock 

The initial capitalization of the Company on August 28, 1995 occurred through the 
issuance of 500,000 shares of Voting common stock and 500,000 shares of Non-voting 
common stock. The shares of both the Voting and Non-voting common stock are owned 
by the Founder of the Company. In February 1996, the Founder returned 500,000 shares 
of Non-voting common stock in exchange for 500,000 shares of voting common stock. 

Convertible Preferred Stock 

As part of its initial capitalization, on August 25, 1995, the Company initiated a private 
offering of 1,000,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock for $1,000,000. 
Pursuant to the terms of the Investment and Stockholders' Agreement, the offering was 
closed in two phases of $500,000. As of the signing of the Investment and Stockholders' 
Agreement, the Company received $500,000, representing the first closing on this 
offering. 

In February 1996, the Company issued 500,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred 
stock to the original investors in exchange for $500,000, representing the second closing 
of the Investment and Stockholders' Agreement. In August 1996, the Company drew 
$700,000 on a bridge loan with the origml investors. 

On December 23, 1996, the Company consummated a private offering of 609,756 shares 
of Series B convertible preferred stock for $2,000,000 less issuance costs of $25,000. In 
addition, the $700,000 bridge loan plus $33,367 of accrued interest was converted into 
306,242 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock and the Company recognized 
$271,107 of interest expense to account for the conversion of the bridge loan into 
preferred stock at a discounted rate. In addition, $300,000 representing the committed but 
undrawn portion of the bridge loan, was paid to the Company for the sale of 125,292 
shares of Series B convertible preferred stock at a discounted rate. The Company 
recognized $110,883 of interest expense to account for the discounted conversion 
and issuance of the committed but undrawn bridge loan at a discounted conversion rate. 
On June 18, 1997, the Company received an additional $2,000,000 in a second closing in 
exchange for 609,756 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock. There were no 
issuance costs associated with the second closing. 

- 
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Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

On October 31, 1997, the Company consummated a private offering of 939,850 shares of 
Series C convertible preferred stock for $10,000,054 less issuance costs of $38,780. The 
Company will receive an additional $19,999,998 in a second closing in exchange for 
1,879,699 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock upon the occurrence of the 
following: (l)(a) the Company has executed definitive agreements, having terms and 
conditions which are approved by a majority of the directors designated by the holders of 
the preferred stock, with NEC or the Prudential Insurance Company of America 
(Prudential) and New York Life Insurance Company (New York Life), relating to credit 
facilities between the Company, and NEC or Prudential and New York Life, respectively 
or (b) the Company closes a private offering of high yield debt, having terms and 
conditions which are approved by a majority of the directors designated by the holders of 
the preferred stock (2) the Company has executed Fixed Point Microwave Services 
Agreements or Agreements to Create and Manage a Telecommunications Network with at 
least four incumbents, (3) if neither the Company nor the Founder are then in breach of 
any material terms of the Series A, Series B or Series C Investor and Stockholder 
Agreements and (4) all conditions of purchase set forth in the Series C convertible 
preferred stock Investors and Stockholders' Agreement have been fulfilled. As of 
December 31, 1997, the Company had executed Fixed Point Microwave Services 
Agreements or Agreements to Create and Manage a Telecommunications Network with 
four incumbents in satisfaction of item (2) above. None of the other events have occurred. 

Each share of Series A, Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock entitles each 
holder to a number of votes per share equal to the number of shares of Common Stock 
into which each.share of Series 4 Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock is 
convertible. 

The holders of the convertible preferred stock are entitled to receive dividends in 
preference to and at the same rate as dividends are paid with respect to the common stock. 
In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether 
voluntary or involuntary, holders of each share of Series A, Series B and Series C 
convertible preferred stock outstanding are entitled to be paid before any payment shall be 
made to the holders of any class of common stock or any stock ranking on liquidation 
junior to the convertible preferred stock, an amount, in cash, equal to the original purchase 
price paid by such holder plus any declared but unpaid dividends. 

Continued 
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Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

The liquidation preferences of the outstanding shares of Series A, Series B and Series C 
convertible preferred stock are $1,000,000, $5,033,367, and $10,000,054, respectively, as 
of December 3 1 ,  1997. In the event, the assets of the Company are insufficient to pay 
liquidation preference amounts, then all of the assets available for distribution shall be 
distributed pro rata so that each holder receives that portion of the assets available for 
distribution as the number of shares of convertible preferred stock held by such holder 
bears to the total number of shares of convertible preferred stock then outstanding. 

Shares of the Series 4 Series By and Series C convertible preferred stock may be 
converted at any time, at the option of the holder, into Voting common stock. The 
number of shares of Voting common stock entitled upon conversion is the quotient 
obtained by dividing the canying value of the Series A, Series B and Series C convertible 
preferred stock by the Applicable Conversion Rate, defined as the Applicable Conversion 
Value of $1.00, $3.28 or $10.64 adjusted for additional common stock issued, by the 
number of shares of S h e s  4 Series B and Series C convertible prefened stock, 
respectively, being converted. 

Each share of convertible preferred stock shall automatically be converted into the number 
of shares of Voting common stock which such shares are convertible upon application of 
the Applicable Conversion Rate immediately upon the closing of an underwritten public 
offering covering the offer and sale of capital stock in which (i) the Company is valued on 
a pre-money basis at greater than $50,000,000, (ii) the gross proceeds received by the 
Company exceed $20,000,000, and (i) the Company uses a nationally recognized 
underwriter approved by holders of a majority interest of the convertible preferred stock, 

Ifthe Company issues any additional shares of common stock of any class at a price less 
than the Applicable Conversion Value, in effect for the Series 4 Series B or Series C 
convertible preferred stock immediately prior to such issuance or sale, then the Applicable 
Conversion Value shall be adjusted accordingly. 

In the event a q u a e d  public offering has not occurred prior to December 23, 2000, the 
holder of shares of Series A or Series B preferred stock can require held by such holder 
the Company to redeem the shares of Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock. 
M e r  receipt from any one holder of an election to have any shares redeemed, the 
Company is required to send a notice to the Series A and Series B preferred stockholders 
on December 24, 2000 of the redemption price. If after sending the redemption notice to 
Series A and Series B preferred stockholders, the Company receives requests for 

Continued 
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Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

redemption on or prior to January 1 1,2001, fiom the holders of at least 67% of the Series 
A and Series B convertible preferred stock taken together, the Company must redeem all 
shares of Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock. Payment of the redemption 
price is due on January 23,2001, for a cash price equal to the o r i g d  purchase price paid 
by such holders for each share of Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock as 
adjusted for any stock split, combined consolidation or stock distniution or stock 
dividends with respect to such shares. 

In the event that a qualified public offering has not occurred prior to November 3, 2001, 
the holder of shares of Series C preferred stock can require the Company to redeem the 
shares of Series C convertible preferred stock then held by such holder. After receipt from 
any one holder of an election to have any shares redeemed, the Company is required to 
send a notice to the Series C preferred stockholders on November 4, 2001 of the 
redemption price. E after sending the redemption notice to Series C preferred 
stockholders, the Company receives requests for redemption on or prior to November 21, 
2001, from the holders of at least 67% of the Series C convertible preferred stock, the 
Company must redeem all shares of Series C convertible preferred stock. Payment of the 
redemption price is due on December 3, 2001 for a cash price equal to the o r i g d  
purchase price paid by such holders for each share of Series C convertible preferred stock 
as adjusted for any stock split, combined consolidation or stock distribution or stock 
dividends with respect to such shares. 

6. Stock Options 

On August 28, 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan (1995 Plan), 
under which incentive stock options and n o n - q d e d  stock options may be granted to 
the Company’s employees and certain other persons and entities in accordance with law. 
The Compensation Committee, which administers the 1995 Plan., determines the number 
of options granted, the vesting period and the exercise price. The 1995 Plan will terminate 
August 28,2005 unless terminated earlier by the Board of Directors. 

As of December 3 1 , 1997, 420,189 shares of common stock are reserved for issuance of 
awards under the 1995 Plan. Options granted to date under the 1995 Plan generally vest 
over a three period and expire either 30 days after tennination of employment or 10 years 
after date of grant. As of December 31, 1997, a total of 26,829 non-quali6ed stock 
options and 146,342 incentive stock options were issued at an exercise price of $0.10 per 
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Pathnet, Inc. 
(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

share, an amount estimated to equal or exceed the per share fhir value of the common 
stock at the time of any such grant. 

On August 1, 1997, the Company adopted the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (1997 Plan), 
under which incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation 
rights, restricted stock, performance awards and cextain other types of awards may be 
granted to the Company's employees and certain other persons and entities in accordance 
with law. To date, only non-qualified stock options have been granted. The 
Compensation Committee, which administers the 1997 Plan, determines the number of 
options granted, the vesting period and the exercise price. The 1997 Plan will terminate 
July 3 1,2007 unless terminated earlier by the Board of Directors. 

As of December 3 1, 1997, 727,682 shares of common stock are reserved for issuance of 
awards under the 1977 Plan. Options granted under the 1997 Plan generally vest over a 
three to seven period and expire either (1) ten years after the date of grant, (2) two years 
after the date of the participant's termination without cause, disability or death, (3) three 
months after the date of the participant's resignation, (4) the date of the participant's 
termination with cause or ( 5 )  the date of any material breach of any confidentiality or 
non-competition covenant or agreement entered into between the pahcipant and the 
Company. As of December 31, 1997, a total of 444,540 non-qualified options were 
issued, 296,122 at $3.28 and 148,418 at $10.64. Management estimates that the exercise 
price of the options issued in 1997 is greater than the estimated per share value of the 
common stock. The options issued at $10.64 vest on October 31, 2004 provided, 
however (i) if the Company has met 80% of its revenue and Earnings Before Interest, 
Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA) budget for the calendar year ending 
December 3 1, 1998, which budget is approved by the Board of Directors of the Company, 
50% of the shares covered by the options shall vest and become exercisable on January 1 , 
1999, (i) if the Company has met 80% of its revenue and EBITDA budget for the 
calendar year ending December 3 1 , 1999, which budget is approved by the Board of 
Directors of the Company, the remaining 50% of the shares covered by the options shall 
vest and become exercisable on January 1,2000, and (i) in the event that the fust 50% of 
the shares covered by the options did not vest on January 1, 1999 as set forth in (i) above 
and the Company not only meets 80% of its revenue and EBITDA budget for the year 
ending December 3 1, 1999 but exceeds 80% of its revenue and EBITDA budget for the 
year ending December 31, 1999, which budget is approved by the Board of Directors of 
the Company, in an amount at least equal to the deficiency that occurred in the year 
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Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 
Notes to Financial Statements 

ending December 3 1, 1998, 100% of the shares covered by the options shall vest and 
become exercisable on January 1,2000. 

Stock option activity for the period fiom the August 25, 1995 (date of inception) to 
December 3 1, 1997 was as follows: 

1995 Plan 1997 Phn 
Non- Non W*td 

Incentive cpdikd sualm Av&ge 
stock S W  Stpdc Exercise 

Options Optiom Rice Options Price Price -- 
Options outstanding, August 25,1995 
Granted 141,464 24,390 $0.10 $0.10 
Exefcised 
Cancslcd 

Options outstanding, Dacembar31,1995 141,464 24,390 $0.10 $4.10 
Granted 4,878 2,439 $4.10 $4.10 
E x m  
Canceled 

Options wtstandng, December 31,1996 146,342 26,829 $0.10 $0.10 
Granted 444,540 $0.10 $0.10 
Exercised 
Canceled 

Options ootstandng, December 31,1997 146.342 - 26.829 $0.10 444.540 $0.10 $0.10 

At December 3 1, 1997, 141,463 options were exercisable. The weighted-average fair 
value of options granted during the years ended December 3 1,  1997 and 1996, was $0.00 
and $0.03, respectively, based on an option pricing model. 
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Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

The Company accounts for the fair value of its grants in accordance witl APB - -  
compensation cost has been recognized for the stock options as all options have been 
granted at the estimated per share fair value of the stock to employees or directors of the 
Company. Hap compensation cost for the Company’s stock option plan been determined 
based on the fair value at the grant date for awards under the plan consistent with the 
method of SFAS 123, the Company’s net loss would have been increased to the pro forma 
amounts indicated below: 

1997 1996 

Net loss as reported 
Pro forma net loss 

$3,381,680 $1,743,635 
$3,382,444 $1,747,570 

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using a type of 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions 
used for grants during the year ended December 3 1, 1995, and the eleven months ended 
December 3 1, 1997, respectively: dividend yield of 0% and 0%, expected volatility of 
0% and 0%, risk-fiee interest rate of 6.35% and 6.55% and expected terms of 5.8 and 
5.01 years. 

As of December 3 1, 1997, the weighted average remaining contractual life of the options 
is 9.21 years. 

As of December 3 1, 1997 and 1996, the pro forma tax effects would include an increase 
to the deferred tax asset and the valuation allowance of $298 and $1,535, respectively; 
therefore, there is no pro forma tax effect related to SFAS 123. 

8. Commitments and Contingencies 

The Company maintains office space in Washington, D.C., Texas, Kansas and California. 
The most signiscant lease relates to the Company’s headquarters facility in Washington, 
D.C. The partnership leasing the space in Washington, D.C. is controlled by the Founder 
of the Company. The lease expires on August 3 1,1998, and is renewable by the Company 
for two additional years. Rent paid to this related party during the year ended December 
3 1, 1997, was approximately $60,980. The Company has $0 included in accounts payable 
to the related party as of December 31, 1997. 
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Pathnet, Inc. 

(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

The Company’s hture minimum rend  payments under noncancell&,z operating leases are 
as follows: $215,222 in 1998, $79,491 in 1999, $58,155 in 2000, and $1,354 in 2001. 
Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1996, was $114,673 and 
$4,399, respectively. 

9. Income Taxes 

The tax effect of tempo- differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferr-J 
tax asset at December 3 1 , 1997 and 1996, is as follows: 

December31, December31, 
1997 I996 

Deferred revenue $ 117,000 $ - 
Capita I ked start-up costs 1,271,227 661,000 

Net operating loss canyforwatd 754,458 14,000 
2,222,018 675,000 

Capitalized research and development costs 79,333 - 

Less valuation allowance 
Net deferred tax asset 

(2,222,018) (67S;OOO) 
s - s  - -- 

CapitaIited costs represent expenses ~ ~ W I T H ~  in the organization and start-up of the 
Company. For federal income tax purposes, these costs will be amortized over s ix ty  
months once business operations commence. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
PathNeG Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of P W e t ,  Inc. (A 
Development Stage Enterprise) as of December 31,1995 and 1996, and the related statements of 
operations, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for the period August 25,1995 (date 
of inception) to December 3 1, 1995, the year ended December 3 1 , 1996 and for the period 
August 25, 1995 (date of kqtion) to December 31, 1996. These financial statements are the 
responsiiltity of the Company's managme Our respom'bility is to express an opinion on these 
mcial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits m accordance with g e n d y  accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the 6rmcial statements are free of mated  misstatement. An audit 
includes on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
5nand statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
si@cant estimaies made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for om opinion. 

In our opinioq the financial statements dmed to above presest fairly, m all  
material respects, the f i n a n d  position of PathNet, Inc. as of December 3 1,1995 and 1996, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period August 25,1995 (date of inception) 
to December 31, 1995, and the year ended December 31, 1996 and the period August 25, 1995 
(date of inception) to December 31, 1996, in conformity with generally accepted acto- 
principles. 

M c L e a n , V i  
May 19, 1997 
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ASSETS 

1995 1996 

$ 82,973 $ 2,318,037 - 1,695 

Total currmt asscts 82,973 2,3 19,732 

Equipment: 
officeandcomputerequipment 
Less lrnlmulated depreciation 

Equipmag net 
Total assets 

8,903 55,556 
( 352) (9,376) 
835 1 46,180 

$ 91 524 A S 2,365,912 _._ 
LIABILTlrl[EsAND sTocKBoLDERs' EQurry 

cUmmliab&.ies: 
Accountspayable $ 4,705 S 114,799 
m e d e x p e n s e s  1Z645 30,217 

Total liabilities 17,350 145,016 

commitmarts and contingmdes 

Stockholders' equity: 
Series A convertible prefirred sto& $0.01 par value 
1,OOO,OOO a u t b o M  500,000 and I,OOO,OOO issued and 
outstanding at Dccemba 31,1995 and 1996, respectivdy 
(liquidation prefhence Sl,00O,OOO) 5,000 l0,Ooo 

Series B convertible pnsemd stock, $0.01 par value, 
1,651,046 authorized; 0 and 1,041,290 issued and 
outstandingatDecanber31,1995and 1996,nspectiVefy 
(liquiddon pnference $3,033,367) - 10,413 

Voting commoll stock, $0.001 par due,  4,500,000 shares 
authorized; 500,000 and l,OOO,OOo shares issued and 
outstandingatDearnba31,1995 and 1996, 500 1,000 

December 31,1995 and 1996, m p e d d y  500 - 
Non-voting common stock, $0.00 1 par value, 500,000 shans 
authorized; 500,000 and 0 issued and outsfandiag at 

Additional paid-in capital 495,000 4,369,944 
Ddcit accumulated during the development stage (426,826) (2,170,461) 

Totalstockfiolders' eqa 

Total liabilities and stockholden' equity 

74,174 2,220,896 

$ 91,524 $ 2365912 -____c_ 

The accompanying notes an an integai part ofthese h c i a l  statmm~. 
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PathNq Inc. 
(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Statements Of Operations 

Expenses: 
Gcneralandadmbhmh 
Research and development 
Legalandconsalting 
Total expenses 
Net aperating loss 

Interestwrpense 
Other income 

For the For the 
period pviod 

August 25, August 2% 
1995(dateof Forthe 1995 (date of 
inCcpti0n)to yearended in0eption)to 
December Drrmrbcr31, D ~ c e m b ~ 3 1 ,  
31,1995 19% 19% 

s - s  1,Ooo s 1 ,Ooo 

290,318 913,646 1,203,964 
19,038 226,021 245,059 

429,439 1,342,3 18 1,77 1,757 
(429.439) (1,341,3 18) (1,770,757) 

120,083 202,65 1 3 a 7 3 4  

. . -  

- (415,357) (415,357) 
2,613 13,040 15,653 

Net loss S (426,826) S (1,743,635) S (2,170.461) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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PatliNet, Inc. 
(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Statements Of Change3 In Stockholders' Equity 
for the period August 25, 1995 (date of inception) to Decunber 31, 1995 and 

for the year ended December 3 I ,  1996 

Balance. August25,1995 
Issuance of Voting common stock 
Iuuanca of Non-voting common stock 
Sals of Series A convcdible preferred stock 
Net loss 
Balance, Deccmbcr 31, 1995 

Deficit 
accumulated 

Series A Series B Additional during IIie 
P d e m d  stock Prefurcd stock Common Stock Paid-in development 

Sharu Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital stage Total 

S -  s -  - s -  s -  s -  s -  
500,000 500 - so0 
m.000 SO0 500 

500,000 5,000 495,000 s00.000 
(426,826) (426,826) 

m,000 5,000 1,ooo.o0O ~ ,OOo 495,000 (426,826) 74, I74 

Sale of Series A convedible prefixred stock 500,000 5,000 495.000 500,000 

- 500 lssu~ncc of Voting comnion stock m o o 0  500 
Sale of Series B convedible preferred 
Sale of Serlu B convedible preferred stock, net of issuance a b  609,156 6.098 1,968.902 1,975,000 
Conversion of bridge loan plur accrucd interest to Series B 

convertible preferred stock 306.242 3,062 1.00 1.4 I 2  1,004,474 
$alc of Series B convcdible preferred stock representing 

llre committed but undrawn podion of bridge loan to Series B 
convertible preferred stock 

000) Cancellation of Non-voting common stock ~500.000) (500) 

125,292 1.253 409,630 410,883 
Net loss (1,743,635) (1,743,635) 
Balance, December 31.1996 I,OOO,O00 $ 10,000 1,041,290 Sl0,413 - S 1,000 S4,369,944 $(2,170,469 $2,220,896 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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PathNqInC. 
(A Development Stage Entap&) 

Statements OfCashFlows 

S (426,a) S (1,743,635) S (2,170,461) 

381,990 381,990 

33367 3337 

12649 rim 
(409.124) (1.193283) (1.60Z407) 

(8903) (46,6533) (55J56) 
(893) (46,653) (55.556) 

300.000 300,000 
" 0 1  (25.000) 
ioo;m- ioo;000- 

501,ooo 3,475,000 3976,000 

82.973 2235.064 23 18.037 ~. .~ 
a973 

2318037 S 2,318.037 S a s  

- s 733367 -= S s 733367 

S - s  5 0 0 s  500 -- 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these h a n d  statanenrs. 
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PathNet, Inc. 
(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

1. Business and Financing: 

PathNet, Inc. (the Company) was incorporated in the State of Delaware on August 25, 
1995. On August 28, 1995. Path Tel, Inc. (path Tel) was merged with and into the 
Company, with the Company being the surviving corporation The sole owner of Path Tel 
was the founder (Founder) of the Company. The business of the Company wiU be to 
aggregate and build a high capacity, digital microwave network talang advantage of the 
Federal Co"unications Commission's (FCC) mandate requiring hundreds of private 
microwave users (imcumbents) to reconfigure and update their networks because of 
Personal C o d d o n  Services (PCS) microwave relocation and the desire to move to 

The Company will act as a turnkey provider for incumbents by providing transition- 
Senices which include the procurement of equipment, system design, and network 
construction management In return for these services, the Company will receive the 
exclusive contractd right to market to existing long-distance caniers excess capacity 
created and aggregated on the network. The m e m e  generated fiom this activity will be 
shared with the incumbents. 

The Company has in place contracts requiring them to provide transitioning services which 
are in process. In addition, the Company is currently in the process of negotiating with 
several national long distance carriers who will be likely purchasers of the excess capacity 
created. Management believes the fkst network upgrade will be completed by March 3 1, 
1998 and it is likely the Company will receive a contract to purchase the excess capaci~ 
created on this network. However, the outcome is uncertain and depends on a variety of 
fktors, some of which are beyond the Company's control. The Company is dependent 
upon the network upgrades to achieve its objective. Management's plans to h d  
operations and the transitioning services will potentially include public and private sources 
and strategic corporate alliances. 

digital systems. 

The Company has incurred an accumulated deficit of $2,170,461 for the period August 
25, 1995 (date of inception) to December 31, 1996. Management believes that as of 
December 31, 1996, the Company has adequate funding due to the preferred stock 
offerings consummated during 1996 (Note 3) to fbnd operations through the fkst quarter 
of 1998. The Company will need to achieve positive operational cash flow or complete 
additional equity or debt b c i n g s  to fund operations beyond the kst quarter of 1998. 

Continued 
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2. 

PathNe rnc. 
(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

s u m ”  of S i d c a n t  account in^ Policies: 

Basis of Accounting: 

The Companfs activities to date principally have been initiating research and 
development, mark&& securing capital and planning its proposed service and network 
development. Accordingly, the Companfs hncia l  statements are presented as a 
development stage enterprise, as prescnied by Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 7, “Accounting and Reporting by Development Stage Enterprises.” As a 
development stage enterprise, the Company has been relying on the issuance of prefkred 
stock rather than recurring revenues, for its primary sources of cash since inception 

Use of Estunat e#: 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that agect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. The estimates 
involve judgments with respect to, among other things, various fbture factors which are 
“ l t  to predict and are beyond the control of the Company. Therefore, actual amounts 
could diffk fiom these estimates. 

Cash Equivalents: 

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with an original maturity of three 
months or less to be cash equivalents. 

Concentration of Credit Risk: 

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit 
risk consist of cash and cash equivalents. The Company has invested its excess cash in a 
money market f b d  with a commercial bank. These investments are collateralized by the 
underlying assets of the h d .  The Company has not experienced any losses on its cash 
and cash equivalents. 

Continued 
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2. 

PathNet, Inc. 
(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 

d, S of Si continued: 

ReclassScAon 

Certain prior year amounts in the fkncial statements have been reclassSed to conform to 
the presentation used in 1996. 

EauiDment: 

Equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated on the straight-line method over four years 
based upon estimated usdid lives. When assets are retired or disposed, the cost and the 
related accumulated depreciation are removed fiom the accounts, and any resulting gain or 
loss is recognized in operations for the period. 

Deferred Income Taxes: 

The Company accounts for income taxes by the liability method. Under this method 
deferred income taxes are recognized for tax consequences in fbture years of differences 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial reporting amounts at each 
year-end, based on enacted laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which 
the di&rences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are 
established, when necessary, to reduce net deferred tax assets to the amount expected to 
be realized. The provision for income taxes consists of the Companys current provision 
for federal and state income taxes and the change in the Company’s net deferred tax assets 
and liabilities during the year. 

S toc k-Based Compensation 

In October 1996, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued the Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, (SFAS 123), Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 1995. 
SFAS 123 allows companies to either account for stock-based compensation under the 
new provisions of SFAS 123 or under the provisions of Accounting Principles Board 
Opinion No. 25, (APB 25), Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, but requires pro 
forma disclosure in the footnotes to the financial statements as if the measuremed 
provisions of SFAS 123 had been adopted. The Company has continued to account for its 
stock based compensation in accordance with the provisions of APB 25. 

Continued 
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3. 

PathNet, Inc. 
(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 

Capital Stock Transactioq: 

Common Stock: 

The initial capitalization of the Company on August 28, 1995 occurred through the 
issuance of 500,000 shares of Voting common stock and 500,000 shares of Non-voting 
cOmon stock. The shares of both the Voting and Non-voting common stock are owned 
by the Founder of the Company. In February 1996, the Founder returned 500,000 shares 
of Non-voting "man stock in exchange for 500,000 sham of voting common stock. 

Convertible Preferred Stock 

As part of its initial capitalization, on August 28, 1995 the Company initiated a private 
offering of 1,000,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock for $1,OOO,OOO. 
pursuant to the terms of the I n v m e n t  and Stockholders' Agreement (Agreement), the 
private offering was closed in two phases. As of the signins of the Agreement, the 
Company received $500,000, representing the first closing on this offering. In addition to 
the second closing for $500,000, the Agreement provided for a convertible bridge loan in 
the amount of $1,000,000 to be available at the time of the second closing or any time 
during the one year period following the second closing. The bridge loan accrues interest 
at a rate of 12% per a" and is due and payable in fbll on the eartier to occur of the 
anniversary date of the bridge loan issuance or the closing date of the Companys next 
equity financing. In the event the Company consummates a round of equity h c i n g  
subsequent to the date of issuance of the bridge loan which results in aggregate proceeds 
to the Company of $500,000, all principal and interest accrued on the loan shall, at the 
option of the holders of the bridge loan, be convertible into equity at seven@-three percent 
of the price of the security issued in the equity financing. In the event the bridge loan is 
repaid in fbll and a new round of equity financing is consummated within 180 days of such 
repayment, the holders of the bridge loan may purchase an amount of equity equal to the 
outstanding principal balance plus accrued interest immediately prior to such repayment at 
the price equal to seventythree percent of the price of the security issued in such new 
round of equity financing. 

In February 1996, the Company issued 500,000 additional shares to the original investors 
in exchange for $500,000, representing the second closing of the Agreement. In August 
1996, the Company drew $700,000 on the bridge loan. 

Continued 
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P a m *  Inc. 
(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 

3. CaDital Stock Transactions, continued: 

In December 1996, the Company consummated a second private offering of 609,756 
shares of Series B convertible preferred stock for $2,000,000 less issuance costs of 
$25,000. In addition, the $700,000 bridge loan plus $33,367 of accrued interest was 
converted into 306,242 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock and the Company 
recognized $271,107 of interest expense to account for the conversion of the bridge loan 
into preferred stock at a discounted rate. In addition, $300,000 representing the 
committed but undrawn portion of the bridge loan, was paid to the Company for the sale 
of 125,292 shares of Series B Convertible prefmed stock at a discounted rate. The 
Company recognized $110,883 of inteteSt expense to account for the discounted 
conversion and issuance of the committed but undrawn bridge loan at a discounted 
conversion rate. 

The Company will receive an additional $2,000,000 in a second closing in exchange for 
609,756 shares of Series B corrvertiile prefkred stock upon the occurrence of the 
following: (1) the Company hires a CEO that is acceptable to the Board of Directors or 
(2) the Company obtains a de&itive work order to build a material network approved by 
the Board of Directors and (3) neither the Company nor the founder is in breach of the 
terms of the agreement. As of December 3 1, 1996, these events have not occurred. 

'Each share of Series A and Series B convertible prderred stock entitles each holder to 
such number of votes per share equal to the number of shares of Common Stock into 
which each share of Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock is convertible. 

The holders of the convertible preferred stock are entitled to receive dividends at the same 
rate as dividends are paid with respect to the common stock. In the event of any 
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, 
holders of each share of Series A and Series B convertible prefmed stock outstanslmg are 
entitled to be paid before any payment shall be made to the holders of any class of 
common stock or any stock ranlang on liquidation junior to the convertible preferred 
stock, an amount, in cash, equal to the original purchase price paid by such holder plus 
any declared but unpaid dividends. The liquidation preference of the Series A convertible 
preferred stock is $2,000,000, which represents the proceeds fkom sale of Series A 
convertiile preferred stock. The liquidation preference of the Series B convertible 
preferred stock is $3,033,367, which represents the proceeds from sale of Series B 

Continued 
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PathNet, Inc. 
(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 

3. CaDital Stock Transactions, continued: 

preferred stock, the proceeds from sale of Series B preferred stock representing the 
committed but undrawn portion of bridge loan to Series B preferred stock and the 
conversion of bridge loan plus m e d  interest to Series B prefmed stock. In the event, 
the assets of the Company are insufficient to permit payment to such stockholders of the 
111 preferential &mounts, then all of the assets available for distribution shall be distriiuted 
pro rata so that each holder receives that portion of the assets available for distriiution as 
the number of shares of convertible preferred stock held by such holder bears to the total 
number of shares of convertible prefmed stock then outstanding. 

3. CaDital Stock Transactions, continued: 

Shares of the Series A and Series B convertible prefmed stock may be converted at any 
time, at the option of the holder, into Voting common stock The number of shares of 
Voting common stock entitled upon conversion is the quotient obtained by dividing the 
WTYing value of the Series A and Series'B convertible pr&ed stock by the Applicable 
Conversion Rate, defined as the Applicable Conversion Value of $1.00 or $3.28 adjusted 
for additional common stock issued, by the number of shares of Series A or Series B 
convertiile prefmed stock, respectively, being converted. 

Each share of convertiile preferred stock shall automatically be converted into the number 
of shares of Voting common stock which such shares are convertible upon application of 
the Applicable Conversion Rate immediately upon the written election by holders of the 
majoriw in interest of the convertible preferred stock or the closing of an underwritten 
public offering covering the offer and sale of capital stock in which (i) the Company is 
valued on a pre-money basis at greater than $50,000,000, (ii) the gross proceeds received 
by the Company exceed $20,000,000, and (ii) the Company uses a nationally recognized 
underwriter approved by holders of a mjorily interest of the convertible preferred stock. 

If the Company issues any additional shares of common stock of any class at a price less 
than the Applicable Conversion Value, in effkct for the Series A or Series B convertible 
preferred stock immediately prior to such issuance or sale, then the Applicable Conversion 
Value shall be reduced to the lower price. 

Continued 
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PathNet, Inc. 
(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 

3. Caoital Stock Transactions, continued: 

In the event that a qualified public offering has not occurred prior to December 23,2000, 
the Company will redeem all shares of convemile preferred stock then outstanding. 
Payment of the redemption price is due on January 23,2001 for a cash price equal to the 
on@ purchase price paid by such holders for each share of convertible preferred stock. 

On August 28, 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan ("1995 Plan"), 
under which incentive stock options and n o n - M e d  stock options may be granted to 
the Company's employees and members of the Broad of Directors. Both incentive stock 
options and options that are not qualSed under Sedon 422 of the Internal Revenue Code 
of 1986, as amended ("nonqualified options") are available under the 1995 Plan. The 
Compensation Committee, which administers the 1995 Plan, determines the number of 
options granted to employees and other persons, the vesting period and the exercise price 
provided that it is not below market value. The 1995 Plan will terminate August 28,2005 
unless terminated earlier by the Board of Directors. 

The 1995 Plan allows for the issuance of 439,024 shares of common stock. Options 
granted under the 1995 Plan generally vest over a three to four year period and expire 
either 30 days after termination of employment or 10 years after date of grant. As of 
December 31, 1996, a total of 51,219 nonquaWd options and 146,342 incentive stock 
options were issued at $0.10 per share, the estimated per share fiir value of the stock by 
the Compensation Committee. 

Continued 
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P a m e  Inc. 
(A Development Stage Enterprise) ' 

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 

4. Stock Options, continued: 

Stock option activity for the period fiom the 1995 Plan's inception to December 3 1, 1996 
was as follows: 

Options outstauding August 25,1995 - - - 
Granad 165,845 $0.10 $0.10 
Exercised - - - 
cancelled - - - 
Ophons outstanding Deamber 31,1995 165,854 $0.10 $0.10 
Granted 31,707 $0.10 $0.10 
Exucised - - - 
canctlled - - - 
Options outstaading December 3 1,1996 197,561 $0.10 $0.10 

At December 3 1, 1996,112,195 options were exercisable. The weighted-average fair 
value of options granted during 1995 and 1996 was $0.02 and $0.03, respectively, based 
on an option pricing model. 

The Company accounts for the fhk value of its grants in accordance with APE 25. 
No compensation cost has been recognized for the stock options as all options have been 
granted at the estimated per share fhir value of the stock to employees or directors of the 
Company. Had compensation cost for the Company's stock option plan been 
based on the fair value at the grant date for awards under the plan consistent with the 
method of SFAS 123, the Company's net loss would have been increased to the proforma 
amounts indicated below: 

1995 1996 

Net loss as reported 
Pro forma net loss ' 

Continued 
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PathNet, Inc. 
(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued 

4. Stock Options, continued: 

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using a type of 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions 
used for grants during the period ended December 31, 1995 and December 31, 1996, 
respectiveiy: dividend yield of O%, expected vola* of O%, risk-free interest rate of 
6.01% and 6.35% and expected terms of 4.6 and 5.8 years. 

As of December 3 1, 1996, the weighted average remaining corrtractual life of the options 
is 8.64 years. ' 

As of December 31, 1995 and 1996, the pro forma tax effects would include an increase 
to the deferred tax asset and the valuation allowance of $377 and $1,535, respectively; 
therefore, there is no proforma tax &kct related to SFAS 123. 

5 .  

On September 1, 1995, the Company entered into a month to month lease for its 
corporate offices in a building owned by the Founder. The monthly rent charged for this 
space is $10.00 per month. During 1996, the Company entered into two opera- leases 
for office space in Kansas and Texas. The Kansas office lease expires in May 2000 and 
the Texas office lease expires in September 1997. The Companvs future minimum rental 
payments under operating leases are as follows: $22,687 in 1997, $9,432 in 1998, $9,648 
in 1999, and $3,240 in 2000 Rent expense for the period ended December 31, 1995 and 
1996 was $40 and $4,399, respectively. 

Continued 
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PathNet, Inc. 
(A Development Stage Enterprise) 

Notes to F i n a n d  Statements, Continued 

6. Income Taxes: 

The tax eff' of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred 
tax asset at December 3 1,1995 and 1996, is as follows: 

1995 1996 

Capitalized costs 
Net operating loss carryforward 

Less valuation allowance 
Net deferred tax asset 

$ 141,000 $661,000 
1.000 14.000 

142,000 675,000 
(142.000) [675.000) 
% % 

Capitalized costs represent expenses incurred in the organization and start-up of the 
Company. For Wed income tax purposes, these costs will be amortized over sixty 
months once business operations commence. 
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DESCRIPTION OF PATHNET'S 
MANAGERIAL AND TECHNICAL RESOURCES 

Pathnet is a carrier's carrier providing high quality, low-cost, digital 
telecommunications capacity to under-served and second- and third-tier U.S. markets. 
Using an integrated strategy, Pathnet is building its digital network employing both 
wireless and fiber-optic technologies. Pathnet's digital network provides: 

0 

0 

Low Cost: Pathnet gives carriers a low-cost access option. 
High Quality: The network is designed and engineered to deliver greater than 
99.999% network reliability on any individual path with an average bit error rate 
of no greater than 
National Network: Pathnet currently has 2,100 route miles of completed network, 
4,600 route miles of network under construction and 7,800 route miles of network 
under commitment. 
Unique Rights-of-way: Strong affiliations with owners of telecommunications 
assets provide Pathnet's unique route paths. 
Access to New Markets: Provides under-served and second- and third-tier markets 
with a robust digital infrastructure enhancing capacity for telecommunications 
services. 

0 

0 

0 

Founded in 1995, Pathnet's wireless network evolved out of a FCC regulatory action 
that required hundreds of private microwave network operators to reconfigure their 
networks by relocating to a different part of the spectrum. Pathnet partnered with owners 
of telecommunications assets, including utility, pipeline and railroad companies, to 
upgrade and aggregate existing infrastructure to a state-of-the-art SONET network. 

Due to demand and opportunity, Pathnet recently expanded the scope of its initial 
business strategy to include fiber. The company continues to rely on its traditional 
partnering approach for rights-of-way throughout the U.S. By broadening these 
partnering arrangements to include fiber, Pathnet is able to offer customized builds to 
service providers. Pathnet's fiber product line delivers bandwidth services, as well as dark 
or dim fiber to customers requiring dedicated network services in under-served and 
second- and third-tier markets. Pathnet offers telecommunications service to inter- 
exchange carriers, local exchange carriers, Internet service providers, Regional Bell 
Operating Companies, cellular operators and resellers. 

ADplicant's Management Team: 

Richard A. Jalkut, President and Chief Executive Officer: Richard Jalkut has 
over 30 years experience in the telecommunications industry, most recently as President 
and Group Executive of NYNEX Telecommunications, where he oversaw a team of more 
than 60,000 employees and more than $12 billion in revenue. Mr. Jalkut began his career 
in 1966 at New England Telephone and served in a variety of positions, including 
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. In 1990, Mr. Jalkut was named 
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of New York Telephone Co., Inc., 



the predecessor to NYNEX Telecommunications Group. He was appointed President and 
Chief Executive Officer in 1991. In 1995, Mr. Jalkut assumed responsibility for the entire 
"EX Telecommunications Group where he served as President and Group Executive. 
He retired from NYNEX in August 1997. 

James M. Craig, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and 
Treasurer: James Craig brings 22 years of accounting and finance experience to Pathnet 
with 15 years specifically in the telecommunications industry. Formerly the Senior 
Director of Treasury Management for Omnipoint Communications, Mr. Craig was 
responsible for corporate planning and forecasting. He also served as a point of contact 
for investment banks, sell-side analysts and rating agencies. Prior to that, Mr. Craig 
assisted in the launch of two start-up telecommunications companies, UniSite and 
National Telecom PCS, Inc. As part of his role with UniSite, he established regional and 
national alliances between UniSite and telecommunications tower owners. Mr. Craig also 
spent a total of 11 years with MCI, holding positions such as Director of Wireless 
Communications, Director of Corporate Development, Director of Telecommunications 
Group Planning and Director of Corporate Treasury Group. 

Kevin J. Bennis, Executive Vice President, President of Communications 
Services: Kevin Bennis brings over 23 years of sales, marketing, customer/technical 
services and regulatory experience to Pathnet. Most recently, he served as President of 
Frontier Communications, where he was responsible for long distance sales, marketing 
and customer service activities of 3,500 employees for the long distancehtegrated 
communications division. Prior to Frontier, he spent 21 years with MCI, serving as 
President of the Integrated Client Services Division (ICSD), and as the first 
PresidentKhief Operating Officer of Avantel, a joint telecommunications venture in 
Mexico. During his tenure as head of business marketing, MCI introduced the first 
bundled inbound/outbound long distance service. 

Robert A. Rouse, Executive Vice President, President of Network Services: 
Robert Rouse joins Pathnet with over 30 years experience in the telecommunications 
industry. Prior to Pathnet, Mr. Rouse was Executive Vice President of Intermedia 
responsible for network services, engineering and systems. Prior to that, he spent over 10 
years with MCI - the last three as Senior Vice President of Network Services for 
MCIKoncert. In this position, he was responsible for integrating the network and product 
functionality between MCI and British Telecom as well as building global networks. 
Before joining MCI in 1986, Mr. Rouse spent a total of 17 years with Frontier where he 
was involved in a series of their unregulated start-up business ventures, including a key 
role in developing Frontier's long distance company. 

William R. Smedberg V, Executive Vice President of Corporate 
Development: William Smedberg joined Pathnet as a consultant in 1996 and was named 
Vice President, Finance and Corporate Development in January 1997. Before Pathnet, 
Mr. Smedberg served in various financial planning positions at the James River 
Corporation of Virginia, Inc., for nine years. In particular, he served as Director, Strategic 
Planning and Corporate Development for Jamont, a European consumer products joint 
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venture among Nokia Oy, Montedison S.p.A. and James River, where he was responsible 
for Jamont's corporate finance, strategic planning and corporate development. Earlier, 
Mr. Smedberg worked in the defense industry as a consultant and engineer for TRW, Inc. 

Michael A. Lubin, Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary: Michael 
Lubin has served as Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of Pathnet since its 
inception. Before joining Pathnet, Mr. Lubin was an attorney-at-law at Michael A. Lubin, 
P.C., a law firm he founded in 1985. Mr. Lubin has experience in telecommunications 
matters, copyright and intellectual property matters, corporate and commercial law, 
construction claims adjudication and trial work. Earlier, he served as a Federal Prosecutor 
with the Fraud Section, Criminal Division, United States Department of Justice. 

Robert C. Ferry, Chief Information Officer: Robert Ferry brings to Pathnet 
over 16 years of telecommunications, technology and corporate development experience. 
Formerly the Chief Technology Officer for Sector Communications, he set the technical 
direction for two European-based subsidiaries (telecommunications services and systems 
management software), managed the local area network and data communications 
systems, and oversaw the North American marketing and sales efforts. Prior to Sector, 
Mr. Ferry founded and was President of the technology consulting firm, Insight 
Information, and served as Director of Information Systems for Temps & Co. 

William E. Cotta, Vice President of Operations: William Cotta has over 25 
years experience in the telecommunications industry in the areas of network operations, 
customer service support, billing system operations, network construction and 
engineering. Prior to joining Pathnet, Mr. Cotta was Vice President and General Manager 
at Nynex where he managed a 2,500 person business unit with responsibilities for 
business and residential service operations, construction, engineering as well as business 
unit profitability. 

Joseph A. Mastrogiorgio, Vice President of Marketing: Joseph Mastrogiorgio 
is a 19-year telecommunications industry veteran who comes to Pathnet after 10 years at 
MCI in  sales and marketing. At MCI, he served as Managing Director of Enterprise 
Solutions for MCI Systemhouse and directed business development activities for new 
product solutions, leveraging MCI and Systemhouse core capabilities. Prior to working 
with Systemhouse, he was Director of Channel Management for MCI's Integrated 
Services Division and responsible for managed data network sales. 

Michael R. Van Zetta, Vice President of Sales: Michael Van Zetta joined 
Pathnet with over 19 years of sales and marketing experience in communications and the 
media technologies industry. Before joining Pathnet, Mr. Van Zetta was Regional Vice 
President of Carrier Sales at Frontier Corporation, Vice President of Sales for Winstar 
and Comsat, and Director of Sales and National Accounts Marketing at MCI. Mr. Van 
Zetta's media, long distance, wireless and data experience helps Pathnet fi l l  the market 
demand for SONET-based wireless solutions. 
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Tara L. Merkel, Director of Human Resources: Tara Merkel has 10 years 
experience in human resources and operations in the communications industry. Before 
joining Pathnet, Ms. Merkel was Director of Human Resources at CNN-Washington, DC 
and Operations Manager for Potomac Televisions Services, Inc. at CNN. A Certified 
Professional in Human Resources (PHR), she has a broad range of experience in line 
management, employee/labor relations, training development, benefits and payroll 
administration. 

Applicant's Technical Resources: 

Pathnet is engineering its network for maximum system reliability by using only 
the best system components and incorporating the latest technological standards. 
Applicant's network is designed and engineered to achieve greater than 99.999% network 
reliability on any individual path with an average bit error rate of no greater than 
and conforms to the most stringent industry standards. All of Applicant's vendor partners 
have passed Pathnet's stringent quality threshold requirements. Applicant's two primary 
vendors are Lucent Technologies and NEC. 

Lucent Technologies True Wave@ RS Fiber 
Application Based Fiber Design for Long Distance, High Bit Rate Systems 

Lucent Technologies TrueWaveB RS (reduced slope) single optical fiber with 
reduced dispersion slope is the industry's first nonzero-dispersion fiber (NZDF) designed 
specifically for long distance, high bit rate systems supporting the maximum number of 
channels operating in both the third and fourth wavelength windows. Today's optically 
amplified dense wavelength division multiplexing (DWDM) systems operate in the 1530 
to 1620 nm window while emerging systems are also likely to utilize the 1565 to 1620 
n m  window. 

The low dispersion slope of TrueWave RS fiber allows both today's and emerging 
systems to take maximum advantage of the intrinsic capacity of fiber by supporting the 
largest number of channels in each wavelength band over very long distances. 

With TrueWave RS Fiber, Lucent Technologies continues its technology innovation 
Wave that began with the patented and award winning TrueWave fiber. Specifically, 
TrueWave RS fiber is unique from other nonzero-dispersion fibers by having: 

0 

0 

0 

Lowest dispersion slope across the third and fourth windows 
Half the dispersion variation of large area NZDF's 
Best performance for long distance systems with large numbers of channels 

These characteristics translate into greater information capacity for the network. 
When installing for today's network, you need fiber that can optimally operate with 
transmission systems available today and those being demonstrated in research 
laboratories. Lucent Technologies has demonstrated 1000 Gb/s transmission on 
TrueWave fiber using wavelengths up to 1620 nm. 
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True Wave@ is a registered trademark of Lucent Technologies Inc. 

NEC 2000 Series SONET Digital Microwave Radios 

NEC's 2000 Series SONET digital microwave radios have a unique 
implementation of a protection scheme which provides the most capacity available in the 
smallest amount of space. Commonly referred to as lxN, this protection scheme utilizes 
one RF channel to back-up multiple operational channels. NEC's implementation of this 
protection scheme provides one protection channel for seven operational channels in just 
two bays of equipment. One radio bay only occupies a 23" x 12" footprint. Each 
operational channel carries an OC-3 signal, or the equivalent of 2,016 simultaneous voice 
channels. In a 1x7 configuration, this translates to 14,112 simultaneous voice channels. 

Another feature that attracted Pathnet to the NEC 2000 Series is its unique cross 
polarization interference canceller (XPIC) feature. Through proprietary engineering 
advancements, NEC's digital microwave radio provides greater cross polarization 
discrimination, allowing for the transmission of two OC-3 signals on the same frequency 
pair by using opposite polarities. Now, instead of being limited to seven RF channels 
carrying one OC-3 per channel in the 6GHz band, NEC's radios provide up to 14 O C - ~ S ,  
doubling capacity in an already small space. 

0 SONET/SDH platform 
0 Greater than 99.999% path reliability, Bellcore Industry Standard 
0 More cost effective than fiber in certain target markets 
0 1 x N  protection creating maximum availability and survivability 
0 Modular system, allowing for easy upgrades and maintenance while providing 

multiple OC-3 RF channels in one standard bay 
0 Each node, which is typically 25 miles apart, is capable of drophnsert 

multiplexing 
0 Both frequency and space diversity is incorporated into the network 
0 The network platform is designed for maximum flexibility for voice, data and 

video services 

Network Operations Center 

Once a network is operational, Pathnet's 24-hour, 7-day-a week Network 
Operations Center (NOC) begins monitoring each route. The installed 
surveillance and alarm system ensures the equipment operates with maximum 
reliability. 

0 Single point of contact with technical service consultant 

0 Tier 2 technical support utilizing co-located equipment lab 

0 Tier 3 technical help desk 

0 Both fault and performance analysis positions staffed in the NOC 
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0 

0 

0 Redundant Data Telemetry Network 

0 Monitored from NOC 

0 Frame relay/Cisco routers 

Proactive customer notification and network events 

TMN Compliant Element Management System 

0 

0 Disaster Recovery NOC established 

NOC supported by dedicated onsite backup generator 
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I certify from the records of this office that PATHNET, INC. doing business in 
Florida as PATHNET COMMUNICATIONS, INC., is a corporation organized 
under the laws of Delaware, authorized to transact business in the State of 
Florida, qualified on August 1 1 , 1998. 

The document number of this corporation is F98000004582. 

I further certify that said corporation has paid all fees and penalties due this office 
through December 31 , 1998, and its status is active. 

i further certify that said corporation has not filed a Certificate of Withdrawal. 

CR2E022 (2-95) 

Given under my hand and the 
42msdd~bwd- 

at Tallahassee, the Capitol, this the 
Fourteenth day of August, 1998 




